SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

FORM 10-Q

Quarterly report pursuant to sections 13 or 15(d)

Filing Date: 2021-11-15 | Period of Report: 2021-09-30 SEC Accession No. 0001410578-21-000261

(HTML Version on secdatabase.com)

FILER

GPB Automotive Portfolio, LP

CIK:1578742| IRS No.: 000000000 | State of Incorp.:DE | Fiscal Year End: 1231 Type: 10-Q | Act: 34 | File No.: 000-56285 | Film No.: 211409288 SIC: 5500 Auto dealers & gasoline stations Mailing Address 159 NORTHERN BLVD GREAT NECK NY 11021 Business Address 159 NORTHERN BLVD GREAT NECK NY 11021 877-489-8484

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

☑ OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2021

OR

□ OF 1934

For the transition period from to Commission File Number: 000-56285

GPB Automotive Portfolio, LP

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) 535 W. 24th Street, 6th Floor New York, NY (Address of principal executive offices) 35-2484347 (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

> 10011 (Zip Code)

(877) 489-8484

Registrant's telephone number, including area code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

Title of each class	Trading Symbol(s)	Name of each exchange on which each class is registered
None	None	None

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. \Box Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). I Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company," and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer□Accelerated filer□Non-accelerated filer☑Smaller reporting company□

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes $\square No$

Table of Contents

GPB AUTOMOTIVE PORTFOLIO, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES

Table of Contents

Daga

PARTI	FINANCIAL INFORMATION	
Item 1	Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	2
	Consolidated Ralance Sheets as of Sentember 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020	າ
	and 2020	Λ
	Consolidated Statements of Partners' Canital for the three and nine months ended Sentember 30	5
	Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020	6
	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	7
Item ?	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	27
Item 3	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	36
Item 4	Control and Procedures	36
PART II.	OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1	Legal Proceeding	38
Item 1 A	Rick Factors	45
Item ?	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	45
Item 6	Fyhihite	46
	Signatures	47

PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.

GPB AUTOMOTIVE PORTFOLIO, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Dollars in thousands) (Unaudited)

	September 30,	December 31,	
	2021	2020	
Assets			
Current assets:			
Cash	\$ 148,155	\$ 120,985	
Contracts in transit	17,840	38,464	
Receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts	19,889	36,441	
Assets held for sale	3,396	94,532	
Due from related parties, current portion	4,929	4,943	
Inventories	128,895	260,116	
Leased rental/service vehicles	10,755	12,463	
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	19,000	11,814	
Total current assets	352,859	579,758	
Non-current assets:			
Restricted cash, net of current portion	14,322	14,427	
Property and equipment, net	238,605	248,613	
Goodwill	142,065	142,065	
Franchise rights	126,139	126,139	
Right-of-use assets - operating	47,725	51,479	
Right-of-use assets - finance	24,468	25,953	
Other assets	12,617	10,538	
Total non-current assets	605,941	619,214	
Total assets	\$ 958,800	\$ 1,198,972	

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets (Continued)

(Dollars in thousands) (Unaudited)

	September 30,			cember 31,
		2021		2020
Liabilities and Partners' Capital				
Liabilities:				
Current liabilities:				
Floorplan payable	\$	104,040	\$	280,953
Accounts payable		32,640		35,246
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities		41,762		32,080
Liabilities held for sale				2,340
Notes payable - related party, current portion		962		12,308
Long-term debt, current portion		6,719		21,119
Operating lease liabilities, current portion		4,604		4,532
Finance lease liabilities, current portion		1,432		1,471
Leased vehicle liability		10,755		12,510
Redeemable non-controlling interests, current portion		24,943		18,450
Due to related parties		3,973		2,471
Total current liabilities		231,830		423,480
Non-current liabilities:				
Long-term debt, net of current portion		137,197		242,913
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion		45,088		48,354
Finance lease liabilities, net of current portion		25,102		26,237
Notes payable - related party, net of current portion		14,667		2,871
Redeemable non-controlling interests, net of current portion		4,903		9,973
Other liabilities		2,655		5,205
Total non-current liabilities		229,612		335,553
Total liabilities		461,442		759,033
Commitments and contingencies (see Footnote 11)				
Partners' capital:				
Partners' capital attributable to the Partnership		343,165		308,865
Non-controlling interests		154,193		131,074
Total partners' capital		497,358		439,939
Total liabilities and partners' capital	\$	958,800	\$ 1	1,198,972

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations

(Dollars in thousands) (Unaudited)

	Three Months Ended September 30,			Nine Months Ended September 30,				
		2021		2020		2021		2020
Revenues:								
New vehicle retail sales	\$	244,159	\$	368,116	\$	823,145	\$	935,038
Used vehicle retail sales		165,812		209,088		482,784		531,866
Used vehicle wholesale sales		26,859		28,949		77,765		72,816
Service, body, and parts sales		61,635		80,574		177,416		213,136
Finance and insurance sales		21,339		26,762		67,832		73,158
Total revenues		519,804		713,489		1,628,942		1,826,014
Costs of sales:								
New vehicle retail cost		213,851		340,470		742,435		877,507
Used vehicle retail cost		151,456		190,707		443,958		492,884
Used vehicle wholesale cost		23,946		26,832		68,853		69,606
Service, body, and parts cost		26,194		35,137		75,778		95,050
Total cost of sales		415,447		593,146		1,331,024		1,535,047
Gross profit		104,357		120,343		297,918		290,967
Operating expenses:								
Selling, general and administrative expenses		78,935		89,366		223,755		240,655
Loss (gain) on sale of dealerships, property and								
equipment, net		281		4,299		(2,180)		4,273
Managerial assistance fee, related party		3,235		3,233		9,702		9,700
Rent expense		2,543		2,226		6,350		6,148
Asset impairment						867		
Depreciation and amortization		2,584		2,994		7,854		8,110
Total operating expenses		87,578		102,118		246,348		268,886
Operating income		16,779		18,225		51,570		22,081
Other income (expense):								
Floorplan interest		(614)		(1,920)		(2,772)		(9,385)
Interest expense		(1,927)		(2,388)		(5,849)		(11,300)
Interest expense to related parties		(744)		(1,195)		(2,208)		(4,738)
Other income, primarily gain on forgiveness of debt		148		673		19,246		1,644
Total other income (expense), net		(3,137)		(4,830)		8,417		(23,779)
Net income (loss)		13,642		13,395		59,987		(1,698)
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests		6,745		8,352		25,662		9,233
Net income (loss) attributable to the Partnership	\$	6,897	\$	5,043	\$	34,325	\$	(10,931)

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Partners' Capital

(Dollars in thousands)

(Unaudited)

	GPB Auto SLP, LLC	Class A Limited Partners	Class A-1 Limited Partners	Class B Limited Partners	Class B-1 Limited Partners	Total Controlling Interests	Non- Controlling Interests	Total
Partners' capital - December 31, 2019	\$	\$ 188,951	\$85,151	\$ 38,429	\$ 16,061	\$ 328,592	\$124,226	\$452,818
Partners' capital	Ψ	ψ100, <i>75</i> 1	ψ05,151	ψ 50,427	ψ10,001	\$J20,3J2	ψ12 1 ,220	ψ+ <i>52</i> ,010
contributions							80	80
Unit issuance costs	_		_	(71)	(20)	(91)		(91)
Distributions	_	_	_	_		_	(3)	(3)
Net loss		(6,805)	(3,039)	(1,368)	(548)	(11,760)	(450)	(12,210)
Partners' capital - March 31, 2020	\$ —	\$182,146	\$82,112	\$36,990	\$15,493	\$316,741	\$123,853	\$440,594
Partners' capital								
contributions	—	—	—				84	84
Unit issuance costs		(2.4(0))	(1.070)	(88)	(36)	(124)	1 221	(124)
Net (loss) income		(2,469)	(1,078)	(487)	(180)	(4,214)	1,331	(2,883)
Partners' capital - June 30, 2020	\$ —	\$179,677	\$81,034	\$36,415	\$15,277	\$312,403	\$125,268	\$437,671
Partners' capital								
contributions	—		—	(70)	(24)	(104)	95	95
Unit issuance costs Distributions				(70)	(34)	(104)	(2)	(104)
Net income	_	2,806	1,374	572	291	5,043	(2) 8,352	(2) 13,395
Partners' capital -		2,000	1,574		291		0,332	15,575
September 30, 2020	<u>\$ </u>	\$182,483	\$82,408	\$36,917	\$15,534	\$317,342	\$133,713	\$451,055
Partners' capital - December 31, 2020	\$ —	\$177,570	\$80,294	\$35,883	\$15,118	\$308,865	\$131,074	\$439,939
Partners' capital								
contributions	—	—	—	—	—		98	98
Unit issuance costs	—			(16)	(9)	(25)		(25)
Net income (loss)		3,064	1,497	1,026	(91)	5,496	7,519	13,015
Partners' capital - March 31, 2021	\$ —	\$180,634	\$81,791	\$36,893	\$15,018	\$314,336	\$138,691	\$453,027
Partners' capital								
contributions							130	130
Distributions		10.501		2 570	1.074	21.022	(36)	(36)
Net income Partners' capital - June		12,521	5,759	2,578	1,074	21,932	11,398	33,330
30, 2021	\$ —	\$193,155	\$87,550	\$39,471	\$16,092	\$336,268	\$150,183	\$486,451
Partners' capital	ψ —	ψ175,155	<i>w</i> 07,330	φ37, + /1	φ10,0 <i>9</i> 2	φ <i>33</i> 0,200	φ150,105	φτου,τυι
contributions							114	114
Distributions	_	_	_	_	_	_	(2,849)	(2,849)
Net income	—	3,997	1,732	813	355	6,897	6,745	13,642
Partners' capital - September 30, 2021	\$	\$197,152	\$89,282	\$40,284	\$16,447	\$343,165	\$154,193	\$497,358

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Copyright © 2021 <u>www.secdatabase.com</u>. All Rights Reserved. Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Dollars in thousands)

(Unaudited)

	Nine Months En	Nine Months Ended Septem			
	2021		2020		
Cash flows from operating activities:	• • • • • • •		(1.600		
Net income (loss) Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:	\$ 59,987	\$	(1,698		
Depreciation	6,369		6,598		
Amortization of right-of-use assets - finance	1,485		1,512		
Amortization of right-of-use assets - operating	3,693		3,500		
Amortization of capitalized guarantee costs in interest expense to related party	62		95		
Amortization of debt issuance costs in interest expense to related party	392		1,636		
Amortization of debt issuance costs in interest expense	1,418		1,075		
Asset impairment	867				
(Gain) loss on disposal of property and equipment, net	(3,877)		357		
Loss on disposal of dealerships, net	1,697		3,916		
(Decrease) increase in interest rate swap liability in interest expense	(526)		1,014		
Bad debt recovery, net	(709)		(105		
Forgiveness of debt	(19,811)		_		
Other adjustments to reconcile net income (loss)	237		(113		
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:					
Contracts in transit	20,624		16,762		
Receivables	17,261		(7,623		
Due from related parties	73		2,828		
Inventories	135,485		205,119		
Prepaid expenses and other current assets Leased rental/service vehicles	(7,260)		12,147		
	1,708		2,438		
Other assets	(2,140)		549		
Floorplan payable, trade, net	(6,891)		(37,482		
Accounts payable	(2,606)		26,115		
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities Payments on lease liabilities - operating	11,081		(16,126		
Due to related parties	(3,443) 704		(3,268 3,210		
Leased vehicle liability	(1,754)		(2,389		
Redeemable non-controlling interests	1,115		(2,589		
Other liabilities	806		(861		
Net cash provided by operating activities	216,047		219,206		
Cash flows from investing activities:	210,047		219,200		
Purchase of property and equipment	(16,821)		(2,278		
Proceeds from disposition of property and equipment	48,138		30,331		
Proceeds from disposition of property and equipment	40,640		18,279		
(Payment) from note receivable from related party			(3,700		
Net cash provided by investing activities	71,957	_	42,632		
Cash flows from financing activities:	/1,55/		42,052		
Payments of floorplan debt, non-trade, net	(155,708)		(169,085		
Proceeds from long-term debt	(155,700)		33,148		
Payments of long-term debt	(99,007)		(26,102		
Payments of finance lease liabilities	(1,175)		(1,029		
Payments of deferred financing costs	(2,190)		(782		
Payments of notes payable to related parties	(2,1)0)		(15,412		
Capital contributions from non-controlling interests	342		259		
Capital contributions from redeemable non-controlling interests			3,700		
Unit issuance costs	(25)		(319		
Distributions to partners and non-controlling interests	(2,885)		(5		
Distributions to mandatorily redeemable capital	(291)				
Net cash used in financing activities	(260,939)		(175,627		
Net increase in cash	27,065		86,211		
Cash, beginning of period	135,412		67,686		
Cash, end of period	\$ 162,477	\$	153,897		
· ·					
Supplemental cash flow information:					
Reconciliation of cash and restricted cash					
Cash	\$ 148,155	\$	131,940		
Restricted cash, current portion			7,500		
Restricted cash, net of current portion	14,322		14,457		
Total cash and restricted cash	\$ 162,477	\$	153,897		
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:					
Cash payments for interest	\$ 10,943	\$	27,248		

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

1. Organization, Basis of Presentation, and Liquidity

Correction of an immaterial error for the three months ended March 31, 2020

During the financial statement preparation of the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, management identified a classification error between revenue and cost categories in its Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2020, previously reported in the Partnership's Form 10/A (as described below). The gross profit reported for the three months ended March 31, 2020, was unaffected. Management concluded that this classification error did not materially affect the previously reported consolidated financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2020. As a result, in accordance with ASC 250, "Accounting Changes and Error Corrections," a reclassification was recorded to correct the immaterial error and is reflected in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 presented herein. Effects of the reclassification are as follows:

	Three m	onths ended	Three months ended	
(Dollars in thousands)		31, 2020 As lly Reported	(Increase) Decrease	March 31, 2020 As Adjusted
New vehicle retail sales	\$	288,025	\$ 6,522	\$ 281,503
Service, body, and parts sales		80,327	2,055	78,272
Finance and insurance sales		13,603	(7,387)	20,990
Total revenues		572,035	1,190	570,845
New vehicle retail cost		268,195	1,190	267,005
Total cost of sales		482,156	1,190	480,966
Gross profit		89,879		89,879

Organization

GPB Automotive Portfolio, LP (the "Partnership", "we", or "our") is a holding company which was organized as a Delaware limited partnership on May 27, 2013 and commenced operations on that date. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC ("General Partner", "Capital Holdings" or "GPB"), a Delaware limited liability company and registered investment adviser, is the Partnership's general partner pursuant to the terms of the Fifth Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement dated April 27, 2018 (as the same may be amended from time to time, the "LPA"). Pursuant to the LPA, GPB, through its affiliation with Highline Management, Inc., conducts and manages our business. The Partnership has no material assets or standalone operations other than its ownership in its consolidated subsidiaries.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements as of September 30, 2021, and for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP") for interim financial information and in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and notes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements. Additionally, operating results for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results that can be expected for a full year. The unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements herein should be read in conjunction with our audited Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto included in Amendment No. 3 to the Form 10 filed with the SEC on September 9, 2021 (the "Form 10/A").

Principles of Consolidation

The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Partnership and its subsidiaries in which we have a controlling interest. Upon consolidation, all intercompany accounts, transactions, and profits are eliminated. The Partnership has a controlling interest when it owns a majority of the voting interest in an entity or when it is the

primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity ("VIE"). When determining which enterprise is the primary beneficiary, management considers (i) the entity's purpose and design, (ii) which variable interest holder has the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the entity's economic performance, and (iii) the obligation to absorb losses of the entity or the right to receive benefits from the entity that could potentially be significant

to the VIE. When certain events occur, the Partnership reconsiders whether it is the primary beneficiary of that VIE. A VIE is an entity in which the equity investment holders have not contributed sufficient capital to finance its activities or the equity investment holders do not have defined rights and obligations normally associated with an equity investment.

Nature of Business

The Partnership's principal business is the retail sale of automobiles in the northeast United States. The Partnership offers a diversified range of automotive products and services, including new vehicles, used vehicles, parts and service and automotive finance and insurance products, which include vehicle service and other protection products, as well as the arranging of financing for vehicle purchases through third party finance sources.

Recent Events

Pending sale of the business

On September 12, 2021, GPB Portfolio Automotive, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, Capstone Automotive Group, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, Automile Parent Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and Automile TY Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, which are direct or indirect subsidiaries of the Partnership, (the "Selling Entities") entered into a Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") with Group 1 Automotive, Inc., (the "Purchaser"). The Selling Entities agreed to sell substantially all of the assets of the Selling Entities, including, but not limited to the Selling Entities' real property, vehicles, parts and accessories, goodwill, permits, intellectual property and substantially all contracts, that relate to their automotive dealership and collision center businesses, and excluding certain assets such as cash and certain receivables (collectively, the "Transaction") for a cash purchase price of approximately \$880.0 million, subject to certain customary adjustments described in the Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Price").

At the closing of the Transaction, \$45.0 million of the Purchase Price will be deposited into escrow as a contingent reserve to be used, if necessary, to compensate the Purchaser for any post-closing indemnifiable losses pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement, with 50% to be released to the Selling Entities 12 months after the closing of the Transaction and the remainder to be released to the Selling Entities 24 months after the closing of the Transaction, subject to pending claims, if any.

The closing of the sale is expected to be substantially completed by year-end, and is subject to various closing conditions, such as receipt of approval or expiration of the waiting period required by the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and the approval of the court-appointed monitor overseeing GPB. The closing of the Transaction is not conditioned upon the Purchaser's ability to obtain financing. The Purchase Agreement also contains certain termination rights of the Purchaser and the Sellers. As of the date of this filing, the Monitor has approved the Transaction, and the requisite waiting period of the HSR Act has expired.

The completion of the pending sale of the business may have an impact on several of the legal matters disclosed. See "Footnote 11. Commitments and Contingencies".

Federal Matters

On February 4, 2021, the SEC filed a contested civil proceeding against GPB; Ascendant Capital, LLC ("Ascendant"), GPB's placement agent for the investments in question; Ascendant Alternative Strategies ("AAS"), which marketed the investments in question; David Gentile, the founder, owner and Chief Executive Officer of GPB; Jeffry Schneider, owner and CEO of Ascendant; and Jeffrey Lash, former managing partner of GPB, in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York (the "EDNY Court" and the "SEC Action"). No GPB-managed Partnership was sued. The SEC Action alleges several violations of the federal securities laws, including securities fraud. The SEC is seeking disgorgement and civil monetary penalties, among other remedies.

Also, on February 4, 2021, the United States Attorney's Office for the Eastern District of New York (the "USAO") brought a criminal indictment against Mr. Gentile, Mr. Schneider, and Mr. Lash. The indictment in the criminal case alleges conspiracy to commit securities fraud, conspiracy to commit wire fraud, and securities fraud against all three individuals. Mr. Gentile and Mr. Lash were also charged with two counts of wire fraud. The USAO intends to seek criminal forfeiture. Mr. Gentile resigned from all management and board

positions with GPB, the GPB-managed funds, including the Partnership, and subsidiaries of the Partnership, promptly following his indictment.

State Matters

On May 27, 2020, the Massachusetts Securities Division of the Office of the Secretary of the Commonwealth ("Massachusetts") filed an Administrative Complaint against GPB for alleged violations of the Massachusetts Uniform Securities Act. No GPB-managed fund is a named defendant. The Complaint alleges, among other things, that the offering documents for several GPB-managed funds, including the Partnership, included material misstatements or omissions. Massachusetts is seeking both monetary and administrative relief, including disgorgement and rescission to Massachusetts residents who purchased the GPB-managed funds. This matter is currently stayed, pending resolution of the Criminal Case.

On February 4, 2021, seven State securities regulators (from Alabama, Georgia, Illinois, Missouri, New Jersey, New York, and South Carolina, collectively the "States") each filed suit against GPB. No GPB-managed fund is a named defendant in any of the suits. Several of the suits also named Ascendant, AAS, Mr. Gentile, Mr. Schneider, and Mr. Lash as defendants. The States' lawsuits allege, among other things, that the offering documents for several GPB-managed funds, including the Partnership, included material misstatements and omissions. The States are seeking both monetary and administrative relief, including disgorgement and rescission. The cases brought by Alabama, Georgia, Illinois, Missouri, New York, and South Carolina have been stayed pending the conclusion of the related Criminal Case. The State of New Jersey has voluntarily dismissed its case, without prejudice to re-file it following the conclusion of the Criminal Case.

Appointment of Monitor

On February 11, 2021, the EDNY Court in the SEC Action appointed Joseph T. Gardemal III as an independent monitor over GPB (the "Monitor") (the "Order") until further Order of the Court. Pursuant to the Order, Capital Holdings shall (i) grant the Monitor access to all non-privileged books, records and account statements for the GPB-managed Funds, including the Partnership, as well as their portfolio companies; and (ii) cooperate fully with requests by the Monitor reasonably calculated to fulfill the Monitor's duties. As noted below, the Order was amended on April 14, 2021

The Monitor is required to assess the Partnership's operations and business, and make recommendations to the EDNY Court, which may include continuation of GPB's operations subject to the Monitorship, a liquidation of assets, or filing for reorganization in bankruptcy. The Order provides that the Monitor will remain in place until terminated by order of the EDNY Court, and grants the Monitor the authority to approve or disapprove proposed material corporate transactions by GPB, the Partnership or its subsidiaries, extensions of credit by them outside the ordinary course of business, decisions to resume distributions to the limited partners of the Partnership, or any decision to file any bankruptcy or receiver petition for any of them, among other actions. The Monitor is not required to approve the issuance of these consolidated financial statements nor has management sought or obtained approval from the Monitor.

On April 14, 2021, the EDNY Court entered an Amended Order, providing that, in addition to the SEC and GPB, certain State regulators will receive access to the periodic reports filed by the Monitor pursuant to the Order. See "Footnote 11. Commitments and Contingencies" for more information on the appointment of the Monitor.

Liquidity

The accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. Accordingly, the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability of assets and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Partnership be unable to continue as a going concern.

Copyright © 2021 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved. Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

Upon issuance of the Partnership's most recent audited financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, Management had determined that the following factors existed that raised substantial doubt about the Partnership's ability to continue as a going concern:

• As of December 31, 2020, the Partnership and its subsidiaries had total cash and restricted cash of \$135.4 million, of which \$3.5 million was held directly by and available to satisfy general obligations of the Partnership. Included in total cash on hand was \$26.9 million held by certain subsidiaries of the Partnership that was available for use and upstreaming without restriction. The balance of \$105.0 million was held by GPB Prime Holdings, LLC ("GPB Prime"), (the Partnership's largest subsidiary) and was restricted to use and upstreaming to the Partnership pursuant to restrictions imposed by its lender. At December 31, 2020, obligations of the Partnership and its subsidiaries, excluding GPB Prime, due within one year exceeded its available cash on hand.

• The Partnership relies on its ability to upstream funds from its operating subsidiaries to meet its obligations in the normal course of business and also to allocate to other subsidiaries in need. The Partnership and GPB Prime are party to financing agreements with M&T Bank as part of an eight-member credit syndication (the M&T Credit Agreement). Borrowings under the M&T Credit Agreement are available for the purposes of financing the purchase of new, used and loaner vehicles, and for providing operational liquidity in the form of mortgages and term debt. Amendments to the M&T Credit Agreement dated September 21, 2018 and June 14, 2019 restricted GPB Prime's ability to pay distributions, make additional requests for delayed draw loans, make any additional acquisitions (other than those already in process at that date) greater than \$2.0 million, or to make any distribution to the Partnership as well as pay any put, redemption, or equity recapture options or agreements to any person. Our ability to meet our obligations over the shorter and longer term is dependent upon freeing up the restrictions that currently do not allow the upstreaming of funds from certain of our operating subsidiaries and negotiating extensions or replacement of our subsidiaries' financing arrangements.

• GPB Prime's M&T Credit Agreement was set to expire and become fully due and payable in February 2022.

The M&T Credit Agreement was Amended and Restated (Eleventh Amendment) on June 24, 2021. This Eleventh Amendment alleviated the conditions which previously caused management to conclude that substantial doubt existed about the Partnership's ability to continue as a going concern. Specifically, the Eleventh Amendment provides for the following amended terms:

• The Partnership is entitled to a distribution of up to approximately \$10.0 million previously restricted cash held at GPB Prime. As of September 30, 2021, \$5.7 million of the \$10.0 million was distributed to and held by the Partnership and is available to satisfy its general obligations.

• The maturity date of the M&T Credit Agreement was extended from February 24, 2022 until December 31, 2022.

Based on these amended terms, and the improved liquidity they provide the Partnership, Management concludes that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its financial obligations for the period of at least 12 months from November 15, 2021 (management's assessment date), and therefore further concludes that there is no longer substantial doubt about the Partnership's ability to continue as a going concern. See also "Footnote 11. Commitments and Contingencies" for discussion of the role of the Monitor with respect to the Partnership's use of cash as well as indemnification obligations to GPB.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

The significant accounting policies used in preparation of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are disclosed in our annual consolidated financial statements included in the Form 10/A, and there have been no changes to the Partnership's significant accounting policies during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021.

PPP Loan Forgiveness

In 2020, the Partnership's subsidiaries entered into Paycheck Protection Program loans ("PPP Loans"), for a total initial amount of \$20.0 million across 30 loans. Interest accrues at 1% per annum. Per H.R. 7010, the Paycheck Protection Program Flexibility Act of 2020, all payment of principal, interest, and fees is deferred until the date on which the amount of loan forgiveness, as determined by the SBA, is

remitted to the lender. Twenty-nine loans have been approved for forgiveness in whole or in part. For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, \$0.5 million and nil, respectively, was forgiven and is included in other (expense) income on the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, \$19.8 million and nil, respectively, was forgiven and is included in other (expense) income on the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Risks and Uncertainties

We are subject to a number of legal proceedings at both the Partnership and dealerships, as described in "Footnote 11. Commitments and Contingencies." While we are vigorously defending our position in these proceedings, there is uncertainty surrounding their related outcomes and timing. The cost to defend and the outcomes of these proceedings could affect the liquidity of the Partnership and the use of available cash, and the assessment of our ability to continue as a going concern.

We purchase substantially all of our new vehicles and inventory from various manufacturers at the prevailing prices charged by auto manufacturers to all franchised dealers. Our new vehicle sales could be impacted by the auto manufacturers' inability or unwillingness to supply dealerships with an adequate supply of popular models. Our concentration of new vehicle sales has not materially changed from the percentages reported for the year ended December 31, 2020.

We depend on our manufacturers to provide a supply of vehicles which supports expected sales levels. In the event that manufacturers are unable to supply the needed level of vehicles, our financial performance may be adversely impacted.

We depend on our manufacturers to deliver high-quality, defect-free vehicles. In the event that manufacturers experience future quality issues, our financial performance may be adversely impacted.

We are subject to a concentration of risk in the event of financial distress, including potential reorganization or bankruptcy, of a major vehicle manufacturer. Our sales volume could be materially adversely impacted by the manufacturers' or distributors' inability to supply the dealerships with an adequate supply of vehicles. We also receive incentives and rebates from our manufacturers, including cash allowances, financing programs, discounts, holdbacks, and other incentives. These incentives are recorded as receivables in our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets until payment is received. Our financial condition could be materially adversely impacted by the manufacturers' or distributors' inability to continue to offer these incentives and rebates at substantially similar terms, or to pay our outstanding receivables.

The Partnership and GPB Prime are party to financing agreements with M&T Bank as part of an eight-member credit syndication, including three manufacturer-affiliated finance companies (the M&T Credit Agreement). These financial institutions provide vehicle financing for new and used vehicles, term loans, mortgage loans and a delayed draw facility. The M&T Credit Agreement is the primary source of floor plan financing for our new and used vehicle inventory for GPB Prime. The Partnership also relies on its ability to upstream funds from GPB Prime and its other operating subsidiaries to meet its obligations in the normal course of business and also to allocate to other subsidiaries in need.

The term of the M&T Credit Agreement was extended on June 24, 2021 through December 2022 (see also "Footnote 1. Organization, Basis of Presentation, and Liquidity" to these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements), in conjunction with the Eleventh Amendment. Our financial condition could be materially adversely impacted if we are unable to extend or renew the M&T Credit Agreement or reach agreements with other third party lenders to meet some or all of our liquidity needs on terms and conditions that are acceptable to us. Because the term of the M&T Credit Agreement extends beyond the going concern assessment's look-forward period, it alone does not raise substantial doubt about the Partnership's ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, absent any other condition or event, substantial doubt is not raised because it is not probable we will be unable to meet our obligations during the look-forward period. Additionally, our financial condition could be materially adversely impacted if we fail to comply with our contractual covenants. Our lenders could terminate or adversely modify our financing arrangements which could cause us to sell one of our dealerships or group of dealerships below what we perceive to be fair value in an effort to access capital. There

can be no assurances that the Partnership and/or GPB Prime will be able to obtain sufficient additional liquidity or renew its debt on terms acceptable to them or us.

We enter into Franchise Agreements with the manufacturers. The Franchise Agreements generally limit the location of the dealership and provide the auto manufacturer approval rights over changes in dealership management and ownership. The auto manufacturers are also entitled to terminate the Franchise Agreement if the dealership is in material breach of the terms. Our ability to expand operations depends, in part, on obtaining consents of the manufacturers for the acquisition of additional dealerships.

We are currently party to litigation with two manufacturers arising from the termination of the former Chief Operating Officer ("Former CEO of Automile") (David Rosenberg) of Automile Parent Holdings, LLC, a dealership group acquired in 2017 with a concentration in the northeastern United States, and have resolved a dispute with a third manufacturer arising from the same termination by divesting two dealerships selling such manufacturer's vehicles and resolved a dispute with a fourth manufacturer by divesting one dealership selling such manufacturer's vehicles. Following the developments on February 4, 2021, including the indictment of the owner and former officer of GPB, the filing by the SEC and other government agencies of litigations against GPB, and the appointment of the Monitor, we received additional termination notices from a manufacturer representing two existing dealerships and two planned new dealerships subject to letters of intent, which were settled and these termination notices were withdrawn. If termination notices are issued by any manufacturer and are not resolved, it could lead to litigation between the affected dealerships and those manufacturers in which our dealerships would protest the terminations under state law. If, as a result of any termination notices, we are required to sell one of our dealerships or group of dealerships, we may be unable to realize what we perceive to be fair value or may be required to dispose of dealerships at depressed prices. The loss of franchise rights due to terminations could also lead to lenders terminating or adversely modifying our financing arrangements, other vendors terminating or adversely modifying business relationships, loss of employees and other adverse results, including on our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and business operations.

The Monitor is required to assess certain aspects of the Partnership's operations and make recommendations to the Court which may include continuation or expansion of the Monitorship, conversion of the Monitorship to a Receivership, and/or filing a bankruptcy petition. The Monitor's initial recommendation and report was filed with the court on April 12, 2021, and the Monitor recommended the monitorship continue for 180 days. On April 12, 2021, the court entered an amended order providing that the Monitor will remain in place until terminated by order of the court, and granting the Monitor the authority to approve or disapprove proposed extensions of credit outside the ordinary course of business, decisions to resume distributions to the limited partners of the Partnership, or any decision to file any bankruptcy or receiver petition for any of them, among other actions, by GPB, the Partnership or its subsidiaries.

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a "Public Health Emergency of International Concern." The outbreak of COVID-19 has contributed to, and will likely continue to contribute to, volatility in financial markets, including changes in interest rates. Additionally, COVID-19 has posed significant challenges for supply chains globally, affecting automobile inventory shortages in both the new and used markets. COVID-19 and other outbreaks like it have negative impacts on economic fundamentals and consumer confidence, may increase the risk of default of particular dealerships, reduce the availability of debt financing to the Partnership, and potential purchasers of dealerships, negatively impact market values, cause credit spreads to widen, and impair liquidity and capital resources. While the Partnership's operations have rebounded from the 2020 COVID-19 related dealership shutdowns with an increase in revenue and gross profit for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, no assurance can be given as to the effect of these COVID-19 related events on the value of the Partnership's investments in the future. The impact of a public health crisis such as COVID-19 (or any future pandemic, epidemic or other outbreak of a contagious disease) is difficult to predict, which presents material uncertainty and risk with respect to the long-term performance of the Partnership.

3. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2020-04, "Reference Rate Reform" (Topic 848): The ASU provides optional expedients and exceptions for companies that have contracts, hedging relationships and other transactions that reference LIBOR or other reference rates expected to be discontinued because of reference rate reform. The optional expedients and exceptions apply during the transition period and are intended to ease the financial reporting burdens mainly related to contract modification accounting, hedge accounting and lease accounting. The transition period is effective as of March 12, 2020 and will apply through December 31, 2022. LIBOR is used as an interest rate "benchmark" in the majority of the Partnership's floorplan notes payable, as well as its mortgages, other debt and lease contracts. Additionally, the Partnership's derivative instruments are benchmarked to LIBOR. The Partnership is currently working with its lenders to determine the impact of the discontinuation of LIBOR on the Partnership's Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

4. Dispositions

See Pending Dispositions in "Footnote 1. Organization, Basis of Presentation, and Liquidity" for more information on a material pending disposition.

In April 2021, GPB Prime sold the Prime Chevrolet Hyannis and Prime Subaru Hyannis dealerships to a third-party. The Partnership received net proceeds of \$6.6 million, and recognized a net loss on disposal of the dealership of \$0.6 million recorded in gain on sale of dealerships, property and equipment, net in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2021. The proceeds relating to this disposition were used to pay down debt.

In March 2021, GPB Prime sold Prime Toyota Boston to a third-party. The Partnership received net proceeds of \$10.3 million, and recognized a net loss on disposal of the dealership of \$0.4 million recorded in loss (gain) on sale of dealerships, property and equipment, net in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for nine months ended September 30, 2021. The proceeds relating to this disposition were used to pay down debt.

In March 2021, GPB Prime sold Hyannis Toyota and Orleans Toyota dealerships and the related real estate to a thirdparty. The Partnership received net proceeds of \$23.8 million and \$16.6 million, respectively, and recognized a net loss on disposal of the dealership of \$0.7 million and a net gain on disposal of related real estate of \$1.4 million, respectively, recorded in loss (gain) on sale of dealerships, property and equipment, net in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2021. The proceeds relating to this disposition were used to pay down debt.

In September 2020, Capstone Automotive Group, LLC, a holding company subsidiary of the Partnership ("Capstone"), sold all of the remaining FX Caprara dealerships and the related real estate to a third-party. The Partnership received net proceeds of \$1.6 million and \$5.6 million, respectively, and recognized a net loss on disposal of the dealership and related real estate of \$0.8 million and \$0.8 million, respectively, recorded in loss (gain) on sale of dealerships, property and equipment in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2020.

In September 2020, Capstone sold four of the Kenny Ross Auto Group ("KRAG") dealerships and the related real estate to a third-party. The Partnership received net proceeds of \$16.7 million and the related real estate for net proceeds of \$23.6 million, respectively, and recognized a net loss on disposal of the dealership and related real estate of \$2.3 million and \$0.3 million, respectively, recorded in loss (gain) on sale of dealerships, property and equipment in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2020.

All of the dispositions that have closed during the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were in the ordinary course of business within the mandate for the automotive strategy outlined in the Private Placement Memorandum ("PPM"), and thus were not considered a strategic shift in the Partnership's operation and as such, are not considered discontinued operations.



5. Receivables, Net

Receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts, consisted of the following:

September 30,		Dee	cember 31,	
	2021		2020	
\$	9,986	\$	22,633	
	6,918		9,682	
	3,618		5,866	
	20,522		38,181	
	(633)		(1,740)	
\$	19,889	\$	36,441	
		2021 \$ 9,986 6,918 3,618 20,522 (633)	2021 \$ 9,986 \$ 6,918 3,618 20,522 (633)	

6. Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following:

	Se	ptember 30,	December 31,
(Dollars in thousands)		2021	2020
Inventories			
New vehicles	\$	35,109	\$ 167,018
Used vehicles		59,215	61,344
Parts and accessories		12,922	10,115
Rental/service loaner vehicles, net		21,649	21,639
Total inventories, net	\$	128,895	\$ 260,116

As of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, nil and \$21.8 million, respectively, of inventory was re-classified into assets held for sale. See "Footnote 9. Assets Held for Sale".

7. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

	September 30,		De	ecember 31,
(Dollars in thousands)		2021		2020
Property and Equipment				
Land	\$	110,275	\$	121,106
Buildings and improvements		124,556		145,918
Construction in progress		5,196		7,605
Furniture, fixtures and equipment		28,900		27,515
Total		268,927		302,144
Less: Accumulated depreciation		(26,926)		(24,331)
Total property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation		242,001		277,813
Less: property and equipment reclassed to assets held for sale		(3,396)		(29,200)
Total	\$	238,605	\$	248,613

In May 2021, GPB Prime, sold a parcel of land relating to the Prime Toyota Boston, to a third-party. The Partnership received net proceeds of \$16.1 million, and recognized a net gain on disposal of the real estate of \$4.0 million recorded in loss (gain) on sale of dealerships, property and equipment, net in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations. The proceeds relating to this disposition were used to pay down debt.



In April 2021, the Partnership, sold the remaining KRAG related real estate to a third-party. The Partnership received net proceeds of \$11.8 million, and recognized a net loss on disposal of the real estate of \$0.5 million recorded in loss (gain) on sale of dealerships, property and equipment, net in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations. The proceeds relating to this disposition were used to pay down debt.

In March 2021, the Partnership sold a vacant parcel of real estate for net proceeds of \$2.9 million and a net loss of \$0.1 million recorded in loss (gain) on sale of dealerships, property and equipment, net in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations. The proceeds were used in part to repay all outstanding debt relating to real estate.

8. Goodwill and Franchise Rights

The carrying values of goodwill and franchise rights were \$142.1 million and \$126.1 million, respectively as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, there were no triggering events that would require an interim impairment test to be performed and as such no impairment charges were recorded to the carrying values.

9. Assets Held for Sale

During the nine months ended September 30, 2021, GPB's Acquisition Committee committed to a plan to dispose of two properties, KRAG related real estate and 750 Bridgeport Ave. As part of the required evaluation under the held for sale guidance, the Partnership determined that the approximate fair value less costs to sell the property did not exceed the net assets.

For the three months ended September 30, 2021 there were no additional plans to dispose of assets that met the criteria to be classified as assets held for sale. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, property and equipment re-classified to assets held for sale was impaired by nil and \$0.9 million, respectively, to adjust to fair value which has been recorded as a component of asset impairment on the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, there was no impairment recorded for the Partnership.

As of September 30, 2021, a parcel of real estate, 750 Bridgeport Ave, remained in assets held for sale on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The following table reconciles the major classes of assets classified as held for sale as part of continuing operations as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets:

	September 30,		December 31,		
(Dollars in thousands)	2021			2020	
Assets held for sale					
Inventories	\$		\$	21,780	
Franchise rights				23,720	
Goodwill				17,559	
Property and equipment		3,396		29,200	
Right of use assets				2,273	
Total assets held for sale	\$	3,396	\$	94,532	
Liabilities held for sale					
Operating lease liabilities	\$		\$	(2,340)	

Copyright © 2021 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved. Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

10. Related Party Transactions

FEES AND EXPENSES

The Partnership has incurred the following fees and expenses:

Managerial Assistance Fee

Per the LPA and PPM, GPB is entitled to receive an annualized managerial assistance fee (the "Managerial Assistance Fee"), for providing managerial assistance services to the Partnership and the dealerships. Those services include the identification, management and disposition of underlying portfolio companies and/or dealerships, and other duties assumed and stated under the LPA. The Managerial Assistance Fee does not include expenses related to in-house services and operations support services provided to the Partnership or its operating companies. Such expenses are in addition to, and not in lieu of, the Managerial Assistance Fee. The Managerial Assistance Fee is payable by the Partnership quarterly in advance at 2.0% per annum for Class A and B Units and 1.75% per annum for Class A-1 and B-1 Units calculated on each Limited Partners' Gross Capital Contributions. GPB, in its sole discretion, may defer, reduce or waive all or a portion of the Managerial Assistance Fee with respect to one or more Limited Partners for any period of time (and intends to waive the Managerial Assistance Fee scharged to expense and included in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were \$3.2 million and \$3.2 million, respectively. Managerial Assistance Fees charged to expense and included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were \$9.7 million and \$9.7 million, respectively.

Partnership Expenses

The Partnership pays its own operating expenses. GPB is responsible for its or its affiliates' general and administrative costs and expenses and its day-to-day overhead expenses of managing the Partnership and is not entitled to be reimbursed by the Partnership for such expenses other than for the portion of the total compensation of GPB's or its affiliates (including holding companies) officers and employees relating to the time such officers or employees provide In-House services or Operations Support Services to the Partnership or its dealerships. Such expenses are in addition to, and not in lieu of, the Managerial Assistance Fee. "In-House services" include but are not limited to accounting, legal, compliance, information technology, human resources, and operational and management services to the Partnership or the dealerships. Operations Support Services include but are not limited to operational support and consulting services and similar services to, or in connection with, the identification, acquisition, holding and improvement of the dealerships. In addition, GPB pays expenses on the Partnership's behalf when operationally feasible and obtains reimbursement. Partnership expenses included as a component of selling, general and administrative expenses in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were \$2.8 million and \$0.3 million, respectively. Partnership expenses included as a component of selling, general and administrative expenses in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were \$5.5 million and \$1.6 million, respectively. The balance associated with Partnership expenses payable was \$1.2 million and \$0.7 million as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively, and was included as a component of due to related parties in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

TRANSACTIONS WITH FORMER MEMBERS AND MANAGER

In 2014, the Partnership entered into an agreement with Patrick Dibre ("Former Manager"), who at the time was a manager and 15% interest holder of one of the operating subsidiaries of the Partnership and one of the operating subsidiaries of GPB Holdings, LP, another GPB-managed partnership. The Partnership advanced the Former Manager, in the form of a convertible loan, \$10.8 million towards the Partnership's purchase of a dealership owned by the Former Manager.

On December 9, 2015, the purchase agreement with the Former Manager was amended to provide that the target dealership pay an annual interest rate of 8% from December 9, 2015, through the date of the dealership's sale to the

Partnership. Prior to December 9, 2015, the dealership paid the Partnership its net cash flows pursuant to the terms of the agreement.

On November 14, 2016, the purchase agreement with the Former Manager was amended to, among other things, 1) terminate the convertible loan and convert the original principal amount into a deposit, 2) change the initial target dealership to a new target dealership, Honda of Aventura ("HOA") that was to be acquired by the Partnership, 3) provide the acquisition price and terms for HOA, and 4) provide that the Former Manager would surrender all of his membership interests in the GPB entities noted above effective immediately.

This arrangement is currently the subject of ongoing litigation, see "Footnote 11. Commitments and Contingencies." As part of the legal proceedings, the Partnership has charged legal expenses included as a component of selling, general and administrative expenses on the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 of \$0.0 million and \$0.0 million, respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Partnership has charged legal expenses included as a component of selling, general and administrative expenses on the Condensed legal expenses included as a component of selling, general and administrative expenses on the Condensed legal expenses included as a component of selling, general and administrative expenses on the Condensed Statement of Operations of \$0.0 million and \$0.1 million, respectively. These expenses were paid for by GPB on behalf of the Partnership and the unpaid reimbursement was recorded as a component of due to related parties on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 for \$0.8 million and \$0.7 million, respectively.

NOTES PAYABLE TO RELATED PARTIES

In October 2015, the Partnership entered into a loan agreement with GPB Borrower LLC, an affiliate of the General Partner, and received proceeds in the form of a loan of \$12.0 million, maturing in October 2019. The loan accrued interest and was paid monthly in arrears at 13.5% per annum. In August 2016, the note was restructured and certain incremental procurement costs incurred at the loan's inception were added to the existing principal, increasing the principal balance to \$15.4 million ("AISF Note 1"). As part of the restructuring, AISF Note 1 was assigned by GPB Borrower LLC to an affiliate of the Partnership, GPB Automotive Income Sub-Fund, Ltd. ("GPB AISF"). GPB AISF is an offshore financing facility formed primarily for the benefit of the Partnership.

The increase in principal of \$3.4 million represented the incremental procurement costs directly related to the issuance of the note and was classified as debt issuance costs on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. These costs, along with the change in interest rate, were accounted for as a modification to the existing debt with no gain or loss recognized. It was subsequently determined that the actual debt issuance costs on AISF Note 1 totaled \$2.1 million. The difference was applied to AISF Note 2 (defined below) and a note issued to HA (defined below) for which the debt issuance costs relate. The \$2.1 million was capitalized as debt issuance costs and is being amortized over the four-year life of the note using the effective interest rate method.

In 2016, the Partnership entered into three loan agreements ("AISF Note 2, AISF Note 3, and AISF Note 4") with GPB AISF for a total of \$18.0 million and incurred debt issuance costs of \$2.9 million. In 2017, the Partnership entered into two loan agreements ("AISF Note 5 and AISF Note 6") with GPB AISF for a total of \$11.8 million and incurred debt issuance costs of \$2.0 million. In 2019, the Partnership entered into one loan agreement ("AISF Note 7") with GPB AISF for \$3.3 million and incurred debt issuance costs of \$0.6 million.

Each AISF note matures four years from the issuance date, and accrues interest at 8.75% per annum, payable monthly in arrears. In July 2021, AISF Note 5 and AISF Note 6 were amended to increase the interest rate to 12.5% and to extend the maturity date to December 2022. Interest expense relating to these loans reflected as a component of interest expense to related parties on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 was \$0.4 million and \$0.9 million, respectively. Interest expense relating to these loans reflected as a component of interest expense of interest expense to related parties on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 was \$0.4 million and \$0.9 million and \$3.1 million, respectively. The amortization of the capitalized debt issuance costs reflected as a component of interest expense to related parties on the Condensed September 30, 2021 and 2020 was \$0.1 million, respectively. The amortization of the capitalized debt issuance costs reflected as a component of interest expense to related parties in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 was \$0.0 million and \$0.5 million, respectively. The amortization of the capitalized debt issuance costs reflected as a component of interest expense to related parties in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 was \$0.0 million and \$0.5 million, respectively. The amortization of the capitalized debt issuance costs reflected as a component of interest expense to related parties in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 was \$0.4 million and \$1.6 million, respectively. The balance of accrued interest associated with these loans was \$0.1 million and

\$0.1 million as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively, and was included as a component of due to related parties in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

AISF Note 1 matured in August 2020 and was repaid in full in September 2020. AISF Note 2 and AISF Note 3 matured in September 2020 and October 2020, respectively, and both were repaid in full in October 2020. AISF Note 4 was repaid in full by the

Partnership prior to maturity in October 2020. AISF Note 5, AISF Note 6, and AISF Note 7 entered into default in 2021. In August 2021, a waiver for the event of default was issued and the interest payments have been deferred until December 2022 for AISF Note 5, AISF Note 6, and AISF Note 7.

In October 2017, a subsidiary of the Partnership entered into a loan agreement with GPB Holdings II, LP, another GPBmanaged partnership, for \$0.7 million (the "DSR Note"). The loan bears interest at 12% annually, payable monthly in arrears. All outstanding principal and unpaid interest was originally due and payable on October 11, 2018, but was extended until June 30, 2019. As of December 31, 2019, the loan and accrued interest had not yet been repaid as a result of a repayment restriction pursuant to an amendment to a credit agreement dated June 14, 2019 (see Note 11). However, the loan continues to accrue interest at the stated rate. The outstanding note payable balance, including accrued interest, was \$1.0 million and \$0.9 million, as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively, which is included as a component of due to related parties in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Notes payable - related party consisted of the following:

(Dollars in thousands)			Sept	tember 30,	De	cember 31,
Note	Face Value	Maturity Date		2021		2020
AISF Note 5	6,556	12/31/2022		6,556		6,366
AISF Note 6	5,203	12/31/2022		5,126		5,039
AISF Note 7	3,272	4/24/2023		2,985		2,871
DSR Note	652	6/30/2019		962		903
Total				15,629		15,179
Less: current portion				962		(12,308)
Total Notes payable - related party, net of						
current portion			\$	14,667	\$	2,871

DUE FROM AFFILIATED COMPANIES

The Partnership incurred expenses for payroll and employee benefits, professional fees, consulting and outside services, and other services on behalf of affiliated entities. These expenses were initially paid by the Partnership and then charged on a pro-rata basis to each of the other limited partnerships managed by GPB, which operate dealerships. The Partnership had non-interest-bearing receivables from these holding companies for allocated expenses of \$1.5 million and \$1.4 million on September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively, which are included as a component of due from related parties in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. The receivables as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, are gross of a \$1.2 million allowance for doubtful accounts.

OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, certain dealerships owned by the Partnership purchased vehicles from dealerships owned by an affiliate, GPB Holdings, LP totaling nil and nil, respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, certain dealerships owned by the Partnership purchased vehicles from dealerships owned by an affiliate, GPB Holdings, LP totaling nil and \$0.9 million, respectively.

For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, certain dealerships owned by the Partnership purchased vehicles from a dealership owned by an affiliate, GPB Holdings II, LP totaling \$0.7 million and \$0.3 million, respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, certain dealerships owned by the Partnership purchased vehicles from a dealership owned by an affiliate, GPB Holdings II, LP totaling \$1.4 million and \$1.2 million, respectively.

For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, certain dealerships owned by the Partnership sold vehicles to a dealership owned by GPB Holdings II, LP totaling \$0.3 million and \$0.1 million, respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, certain dealerships owned by the Partnership sold vehicles to a dealership owned by GPB Holdings II, LP totaling \$0.9 million and \$0.4 million, respectively.

For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Partnership made a distribution of redeemable noncontrolling interests to be used for tax payments totaling nil and nil, respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Partnership made a distribution of redeemable non-controlling interests totaling \$0.2 million and nil, respectively.

GPB's principals, certain other individuals and entities that have assisted and may in the future assist in our operations are and / or will be members in GPB Auto SLP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the "Special LP"). The Special LP will receive a profit allocation, commonly referred to as "carried interest", from the Partnership in accordance with the waterfall provisions in the LPA. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 there have been no profit allocations allocated to the Special LP.

As compensation for the services to be rendered by Highline, the Partnership pays an operation service provider fee ("OSP") to Highline for an annual amount agreed to by GPB and Highline, subject to the Highline Board's approval, following Highline's delivery of the annual written budget to GPB detailing the fees, costs and expenses that will be incurred by Highline in providing its Services. The Partnership recorded OSP fees as a component of selling, general and administrative expenses in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations of \$1.0 million and \$3.1 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 respectively. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 there were no OSP fees recorded for the Partnership.

From commencement of operations through December 31, 2018, there have been various amendments in the LPA and PPM relating to the redemption terms for Limited Partners. Those changes resulted in differentiated redemption terms and calculations. Following the advice of outside legal counsel, the General Partner made the decision to apply the redemption provision that was most beneficial to the redeeming investors who made a redemption request prior to the suspension of redemptions. This analysis was completed in 2019 and based on the final calculations, if a Limited Partner was originally overpaid, the General Partner will reimburse the Partnership and will not seek to claim those funds back from the Limited Partner. During the period from August 2015 through September 2018, the Partnership overpaid applicable redeeming investors \$0.3 million and underpaid applicable redeeming investors \$0.3 million. The balance of the receivable from the General Partner was \$0.3 million as of December 31, 2020 and was included as a component of due to related parties in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. In June 2021, the balance was repaid in full.

Guarantees

The member of the General Partner (David Gentile, "Member") provided personal guarantees on certain floorplan and real estate loans prior to 2018. The initial amounts guaranteed totaled \$48.7 million. Pursuant to the PPM, the Member of the General Partner can charge a fee to the Partnership for providing such guarantee services. The guarantee fees payable to the Member of the General Partner was calculated at \$1.0 million based on 1.99% of the amount of the loans initially guaranteed. \$1.0 million was due and payable to the Member of the General Partner which is reflected as a component of due to related parties in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020. The guarantee fees are amortized over the life of the loans. The unamortized portion of the guarantee fee asset of \$0.1 million and \$0.1 million is included as a component of other assets on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.

11. Commitments and Contingencies

We, our General Partner, and our dealerships are involved in a number of regulatory, litigation, arbitration and other proceedings or investigations many of which exposes us to potential financial loss. We are indemnifying officers, directors and representatives of the dealerships, as well as GPB, its principals, representatives, and affiliates, for any costs they may incur in connection with such disputes as required by various agreements or governing law. This indemnification does not cover any potential future outcomes or settlements that result from these disputes.

We establish reserves or escrows for legal actions when potential losses associated with the actions become probable and the costs can be reasonably estimated. The actual costs of resolving legal actions may be substantially higher or lower than the amounts reserved or placed in escrow for those actions. Distributions may be delayed or withheld until such reserves are no longer needed or the escrow period expires. If liabilities exceed the amounts reserved or placed in escrow, Limited Partners may need to fund the difference by refunding some or all distributions previously received. For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Partnership recorded \$1.7 million and nil of legal indemnification expenses in selling, general and administrative expenses in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Partnership recorded \$3.7 million

and nil of legal indemnification expenses in selling, general and administrative expenses in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations.

With respect to all significant litigation and regulatory matters facing us, our General Partner, and our dealerships, we have considered the likelihood of an adverse outcome. It is possible that we could incur losses pertaining to these matters that may have a material adverse effect on our operational results, financial condition or liquidity in any future reporting period. We understand that the General Partner is currently paying legal costs associated with these actions for itself and certain indemnified parties. The Partnership expects to provide partial reimbursement to the General Partner as required by various agreements or governing law, but the amount is not reasonably estimable at this time.

Regulatory and Governmental Matters

GPB and certain of its principals and affiliates face various regulatory and governmental matters. GPB seeks to comply with all laws, rules, regulations and investigations into any potential or alleged violation of law. In such situations where GPB disagrees with the allegations made against it, GPB intends to vigorously defend itself in court. These matters could have a material adverse effect on GPB and the Partnership's business, acquisitions, or results of operations.

Appointment of Monitor

On February 11, 2021, the EDNY Court, in the SEC Action, appointed Joseph T. Gardemal III as an independent Monitor over GPB (the "Monitor") (the "Order") until further Order of the Court. Pursuant to the Order, Capital Holdings shall (i) grant the Monitor access to all non-privileged books, records and account statements for the GPB-managed Funds, including the Partnership, as well as their portfolio companies, and (ii) cooperate fully with requests by the Monitor reasonably calculated to fulfill the Monitor's duties. As noted below, the Order was amended on April 14, 2021

The Monitor has the authority to approve or disapprove the following actions: (i) any proposed material corporate transactions by Capital Holdings and/or Highline, the GPB-managed funds, including the Partnership, or the Portfolio Companies (as defined in the Order), or any other proposed material corporate transactions as the Monitor may, in the Monitor's sole discretion, deem appropriate. The Monitor will negotiate a protocol with Capital Holdings for the review of information concerning proposed material transactions; (ii) any extension of credit by Capital Holdings, Highline, the GPB-managed funds, or the Portfolio Companies outside the ordinary course of business, or to a related party, as defined under the federal securities laws. The Monitor will negotiate a protocol with Capital Holdings for the review of information concerning such extensions of credit; (iii) any material change in business strategy by Capital Holdings or any of the GPB-managed funds; (iv) any material change to compensation of any executive officer, affiliate, or party of Capital Holdings or Highline; (v) any retention by Capital Holdings or Highline of any management-level professional or person (with the exception of any professional retained in connection with litigation commenced prior to this Order, over which approval shall not be required), subject to an acceptable procedure agreed to with the Monitor; (vi) any decision to resume distributions to investors in any of the GPB-managed funds, consistent with the investment objectives of the GPB-managed funds; and (vii) any decision to file, or cause to be filed, any bankruptcy or receivership petition for Capital Holdings or Highline, or for the Portfolio Companies.

The Monitor is authorized and empowered to: (i) review the finances and operations of the GPB-managed funds and, if necessary, individual Portfolio Companies and will negotiate a protocol with Capital Holdings for the review of this information; (ii) review historical corporate transactions by GPB and/or Highline, the GPB-managed funds or the Portfolio Companies, to the extent covered by Capital Holdings' forthcoming audited financial statements and any restatements covered therein, for the purposes of executing the authority discussed above, and consistent with the authority to share any findings, documents, or information with the SEC, provided, however, the Monitor will not interfere with ongoing audits and will negotiate a protocol with Capital Holdings for the review of this information; (ii) review historical compensation of all executive officers or affiliates of Capital Holdings or Highline; (iv) review the retention of all consultants currently retained by Capital Holdings; (v) review audited financial statements of the GPB-managed funds, which Capital Holdings will promptly deliver to the Monitor upon completion; (vi) review the minutes of all meetings of all boards of directors of the Portfolio Companies, Highline, and the GPB-managed funds; (vii) review the

status of all litigation involving Capital Holdings or Highline, and the status of any litigation outside the ordinary course of business involving any of the Portfolio Companies; (viii) review any commencement or settlement of any litigation involving Capital Holdings and Highline, and any commencement or settlement of any litigation outside of the ordinary course of business involving any of the Portfolio Companies; (ix) review any material

changes to material leases or real estate holdings, including the signing of any new leases, the termination of leases, material changes to lease terms, or the purchase or sale of any material property by Capital Holdings, Highline, or any of the Portfolio Companies, provided, however, if the material change involves a Capital Holdings, Highline, or Portfolio Company related party or affiliate, the Monitor shall have the power to approve or disapprove of the material change; (x) review insurance policies covering Highline, Capital Holdings, and the GPB-managed funds, as well as affiliates, officers, and directors of such entities; and (xi) review promptly and approve any investor-wide communications intended to be sent by Capital Holdings to investors in the GPB-managed funds.

Within 30 days after the end of each calendar quarter, the Monitor is required to file with the Court under seal or in redacted form to protect sensitive, proprietary information, a full report reflecting (to the best of the Monitor's knowledge as of the period covered by the report) the status of the reviews contemplated in the Order.

The Monitor was required to submit a report to the court within 60 days of his appointment recommending either continuation of the monitorship, converting it to a receivership, and/or filing of bankruptcy petitions for one or more of the various entities. The Monitor submitted this report on April 12, 2021, and recommended continuation of the Monitorship.

On April 14, 2021, the EDNY Court entered an Amended Order, providing that, in addition to the SEC and GPB, certain State regulators will receive access to the periodic reports filed by the Monitor pursuant to the Order.

Federal Matters

On February 4, 2021, the SEC filed a contested civil proceeding against GPB, Ascendant, AAS, David Gentile, Jeffry Schneider and Jeffrey Lash in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of New York (the previously-defined the "EDNY Court" and the "SEC Action"). No GPB-managed partnership was sued. The SEC Action alleges several violations of the federal securities laws, including securities fraud. The SEC is seeking disgorgement and civil monetary penalties, among other remedies.

Also, on February 4, 2021, the USAO brought a criminal indictment against Mr. Gentile, Mr. Schneider, and Mr. Lash (the "Criminal Case"). The indictment in the Criminal Case alleges conspiracy to commit securities fraud, conspiracy to commit wire fraud, and securities fraud against all three individuals. Mr. Gentile and Mr. Lash were also charged with two counts of wire fraud. The USAO intends to seek criminal forfeiture. Mr. Gentile resigned from all management and board positions with GPB, and the GPB-managed funds, including the partnership, and subsidiaries of the partnership, promptly following his indictment.

State Matters

On May 27, 2020, the Massachusetts Securities Division of the Office of the Secretary of the Commonwealth ("Massachusetts") filed an Administrative Complaint against GPB for alleged violations of the Massachusetts Uniform Securities Act. No GPB-managed fund is a named defendant. The Complaint alleges, among other things, that the offering documents for several GPB-managed funds, including the Partnership, included material misstatements or omissions. Massachusetts is seeking both monetary and administrative relief, including disgorgement and rescission to Massachusetts residents who purchased the GPB-managed funds. This matter is currently stayed, pending resolution of the Criminal Case.

On February 4, 2021, seven State securities regulators (from Alabama, Georgia, Illinois, Missouri, New Jersey, New York, and South Carolina, collectively the "States") each filed suit against GPB. No GPB-managed fund is a named defendant in any of the suits. Several of the suits also named Ascendant, AAS, Mr. Gentile, Mr. Schneider, and Mr. Lash as defendants. The States' lawsuits allege, among other things, that the offering documents for several GPB-managed funds, including the Partnership, included material misstatements and omissions. The States are seeking both monetary and administrative relief, including disgorgement and rescission. The cases brought by Alabama, Georgia, Illinois, Missouri, New York, and South Carolina have been stayed pending the conclusion of the related Criminal Case. The State of New Jersey has voluntarily dismissed its case, without prejudice to re-file it following the conclusion of the Criminal Case.

Actions Asserted Against GPB and Others, Not Including the Partnership

Ismo J. Ranssi, derivatively on behalf of Armada Waste Management, LP, v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. (New York County, Case No. 654059/2020)

In August 2020, plaintiffs filed a derivative action against GPB, Ascendant Capital, Ascendant AAS, Axiom, David Gentile, Mark D. Martino, and Jeffry Schneider in New York Supreme Court. The Partnership is not a named defendant. The Complaint alleges, among other things, that the offering documents for certain GPB managed funds include material misstatements and omissions. The plaintiffs are seeking disgorgement, unspecified damages, and other equitable relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Galen G. Miller and E. Ruth Miller, derivatively on behalf of GPB Holdings II, LP, v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. (New York County, Case No. 656982/2019)

In November 2019, plaintiffs filed a derivative action against GPB, Ascendant, AAS, Axiom, Michael Cohn, Steven Frangioni, David Gentile, William Jacoby, Minchung Kgil, Mark D. Martino, and Jeffry Schneider in New York Supreme Court. The Partnership is not a named defendant. The Complaint alleges, among other things, that the offering documents for certain GPB-managed funds include material misstatements and omissions. The plaintiffs are seeking disgorgement, unspecified damages, and other equitable relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Actions Asserted Against GPB and Others, Including the Partnership

For all matters below in which the Partnership is a defendant, we intend to vigorously defend against the allegations, however no assurances can be given that we will be successful in doing so.

Michael Peirce, derivatively on behalf of GPB Automotive Portfolio, LP v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, Ascendant Capital, LLC, Ascendant Alternative Strategies, LLC, Axiom Capital Management, Inc., Steven Frangioni, David Gentile, William Jacoby, Minchung Kgil, Mark D. Martino and Jeffry Schneider, -and- GPB Automotive Portfolio, LP, Nominal Defendant (New York County, Case No. 652858/2020)

In July 2020, plaintiff filed a derivative action in New York Supreme Court against GPB, Ascendant, AAS, Axiom, Steve Frangioni, David Gentile, William Jacoby, Minchung Kgil, Mark Martino, and Jeffry Schneider. The Complaint alleges various breaches of fiduciary duty, aiding and abetting the breaches of fiduciary duty, breach of contract, and unjust enrichment, among other claims. Plaintiffs are seeking declaratory relief and unspecified damages, among other forms of relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Alfredo J. Martinez, et al. v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC (Delaware Chancery Court, Case No. 2019-1005)

In December 2019, plaintiffs filed a civil action in Delaware Court of Chancery to compel inspection books and records from GPB, as general partner, and from the Partnership, GPB Holdings I, GPB Holdings II, and GPB Waste Management. In June 2020, the court dismissed plaintiffs' books and records request, but allowed a contract claim for specific

performance to proceed as a plenary action. The plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages and penalties. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Alfredo J. Martinez and HighTower Advisors v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. (Delaware Chancery Court, Case No. 2020-0545)

In July 2020, plaintiff filed a complaint against GPB, Armada Waste Management GP, LLC, Armada Waste Management, LP, the Partnership, GPB Holdings II, LP, and GPB Holdings, LP in the Delaware Court of Chancery to compel inspection of GPB's books and records based upon specious and unsubstantiated allegations regarding GPB's business practices, among other things. The plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages and penalties. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Lance Cotton, Alex Vavas and Eric Molbegat v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, Automile Holdings LLC D/B/A Prime Automotive Group, David Gentile, David Rosenberg, Philip Delzotta, Joseph Delzotta, and any other related entities (Nassau County, Case No. 604943/2020)

In May 2020, plaintiffs filed a civil action in New York Supreme Court against GPB, Automile Holdings LLC d/b/a Prime Automotive Group, David Gentile, David Rosenberg, Philip Delzotta, Joseph Delzotta, and any other related entities. The complaint alleges that defendants engaged in systematic fraudulent and discriminatory schemes against customers and engaged in retaliatory actions against plaintiffs, who were employed by Garden City Nissan from August until October 2019. The plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages and penalties. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Monica Ortiz, on behalf of herself and other individuals similarly situated v. GPB Capital Holdings LLC; Automile Holdings, LLC d/b/a Prime Automotive Group; David Gentile; David Rosenberg; Philip Delzotta; Joseph Delzotta; and other affiliated entities and individuals (Nassau County, Case No. 604918/2020)

In May 2020, plaintiffs filed a class action in New York Supreme Court against GPB, Automile Holdings LLC d/b/a Prime Automotive Group, David Gentile, David Rosenberg, Philip Delzotta, Joseph Delzotta, and other affiliated entities and individuals. The Complaint alleges deceptive and misleading business practices of the named Defendants with respect to the marketing, sale, and/or leasing of automobiles and the financial and credit products related to the same throughout the State of New York. The plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages and penalties. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

In re: GPB Capital Holdings, LLC Litigation (formerly, Adam Younker, Dennis and Cheryl Schneider, Elizabeth Plaza, and Plaza Professional Center Inc. PFT Sharing v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. and Peter G. Golder, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. (New York County, Case No. 157679/2019)

In May 2020, plaintiffs filed a consolidated class action complaint in New York Supreme Court against GPB, GPB Holdings, GPB Holdings II, GPB Holdings III, the Partnership, GPB Cold Storage, GPB Waste Management, David Gentile, Jeffrey Lash, Macrina Kgil, a/k/a Minchung Kgil, William Edward Jacoby, Scott Naugle, Jeffry Schneider, Ascendant Alternative Strategies, Ascendant Capital, and Axiom Capital Management. The Complaint alleges, among other things, that the offering documents for certain GPB-managed funds, include material misstatements and omissions. The plaintiffs are seeking disgorgement, unspecified damages, and other equitable relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Phillip J. Cadez, et al. v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. (Delaware Chancery Court, Case No. 2020-0402)

In May 2020, plaintiffs filed a derivative action in Delaware Court of Chancery against GPB, David Gentile, Jeffrey Lash, and Jeffry Schneider, Defendants, and GPB Holdings I, and the Partnership, as nominal defendants. Previously, plaintiffs had filed a complaint to compel inspection of books and records, which had been dismissed without prejudice.

In the current action, plaintiffs are alleging various breaches of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment, and with regard to GPB, breach of the Partnerships' LPAs. Plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages, declaratory, and equitable relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Jeff Lipman and Carol Lipman, derivatively on behalf of GPB Holdings II and Auto Portfolio v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. (Delaware Chancery Court, Case No. 2020-0054)

In January 2020, plaintiffs filed a derivative action in Delaware Court of Chancery against GPB, David Gentile, Jeffrey Lash, and Jeffry Schneider. The Complaint alleges various breaches of fiduciary duty, fraud, gross negligence, and willful misconduct. The plaintiffs seek unspecified damages among other forms of relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Mary Purcell, et al. v. GPB Holdings II, LP, et al. (Cal. Supreme Court, Orange County, Case No. 30-2019-01115653-CU-FR-CJC)

In December 2019, plaintiffs filed a civil action in Superior Court in Orange County, California against Rodney Potratz, FSC Securities Corporation, GPB Holdings II, the Partnership, GPB, David Gentile, Roger Anscher, William Jacoby, Jeffrey Lash, Ascendant, Trevor Carney, Jeffry Schneider, and DOES 1 - 15, inclusive. The Complaint alleges breach of contract, negligence, fraud and breach of fiduciary duty. Plaintiffs are seeking rescission, unspecified damages, and other equitable relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Stanley S. and Millicent R. Barasch Trust and Loretta Dehay, individually and on behalf of others similar situated v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. (W.D. Texas, Case No. 19 Civ. 1079)

In November 2019, plaintiffs filed a putative class action in the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas against, certain limited partnerships, including the Partnership, for which GPB is the general partner, AAS, and Ascendant, as well as certain principals of the GPB-managed funds, auditors, a fund administrator, and individuals. (Please note that the original Complaint named Millicent R. Barasch as the plaintiff, but since her death, her trust has successfully moved to substitute for all purposes in this litigation.) The Complaint alleges civil conspiracy, fraud, substantial assistance in the commission of fraud, breach of fiduciary duty, substantial assistance in the breach of fiduciary duty, negligence, and violations of the Texas Securities Act. The plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages, declaratory relief, among other forms of relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Barbara Deluca and Drew R. Naylor, on behalf of themselves and other similarly situated limited partners, v. GPB Automotive Portfolio, LP et al. (S.D.N.Y., Case No. 19-CV-10498)

In November 2019, plaintiffs filed a putative class action complaint in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against GPB, GPB Holdings II, the Partnership, David Gentile, Jeffery Lash, AAS, Axiom, Jeffry Schneider, Mark Martino, and Ascendant. The Complaint alleges, among other things, fraud and material omissions and misrepresentations to induce investment. The plaintiffs are seeking disgorgement, unspecified damages, and other equitable relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Kinnie Ma Individual Retirement Account, et al., individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, v. Ascendant Capital, LLC, et al. (W.D. Texas, Case No. 19-CV-1050)

In October 2019, plaintiffs filed a putative class action in the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas against GPB, certain limited partnerships, including the Partnership, for which GPB is the general partner, AAS, and Ascendant, as well as certain principals of the GPB-managed funds, auditors, broker-dealers, a fund administrator, and other individuals. The Complaint alleges violations of the Texas Securities Act, fraud, substantial assistance in the commission of fraud, breach of fiduciary duty, substantial assistance in breach of fiduciary duty, and negligence. The plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages and certain equitable relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

GPB Capital Holdings, LLC et al. v. Patrick Dibre (Nassau County, Case No. 606417/2017)

In July 2017, GPB, the Partnership, GPB Holdings I, GPB Holdings Automotive, LLC, and GPB Portfolio Automotive, LLC filed suit in New York State Supreme Court against Patrick Dibre, one of their former operating partners, for breach of contract and additional claims arising out of the Defendant's sale of certain automobile dealerships to the

GPB Plaintiffs. Mr. Dibre answered GPB's Complaint, and asserted counterclaims alleging breach of contract and unjust enrichment.

Both parties are currently engaged in court-supervised mediation and are negotiating a potential partial settlement. However, there can be no assurance that the parties will reach a settlement on any of the issues raised in the litigation. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Concorde Investment Services, LLC v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. (New York County, Index No. 650928/ 2021)

In February 2021, Concorde Investment Services, LLC filed suit in New York State Supreme Court against GPB, certain limited partnerships for which GPB is the general partner, and others. The Complaint alleges breaches of contract, fraudulent inducement, negligence, interference with contract, interference with existing economic relations, interference with prospective economic advantage, indemnity, and declaratory relief, and includes a demand for arbitration. Plaintiff's demands include compensatory damages of at least \$5.0 million and a declaration that Concorde is contractually indemnified by the Defendants.

In October 2021, the Supreme Court ordered the action be stayed so that the Plaintiffs could pursue claims in arbitration. By the same Order, the Court denied the Defendants' motions to dismiss the Complaint. Any potential losses associated with this action cannot be estimated at this time.

Dealership Related Litigation

David Rosenberg, et al. v. GPB Prime Holdings LLC et al. (Case No. 1982CV00925)

In June 2019, the former COO of GPB Prime, David Rosenberg, brought a breach of contract action against GPB Prime and Automile Parent Holdings, LLC in Massachusetts Superior Court. In November 2019, an amended complaint was filed, naming GPB Prime, LLC, Automile Parent Holdings, LLC, Automile Holdings, LLC ("Automile"), Automile TY Holdings, LLC, David Gentile, Jeffrey Lash, Kevin Westfall, Jovan Sijan, James Prestiano, Manuel Vianna, Nico Gutierrez and Michael Frost. The amended complaint alleges breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, breach of fiduciary duty (both direct and derivatively), aiding and abetting the breach of fiduciary duty, fraud, conspiracy, conversion, and equitable relief/specific performance.

Mr. Rosenberg's breach of contract claims relating to his employment agreement with Automile Holdings, LLC were submitted to Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services, Inc. ("JAMS") for binding arbitration.

In November 2021, the parties to both actions involving Mr. Rosenberg agreed to a full and final settlement of the pending litigation and arbitration of \$30.0 million, which resulted in an additional accrual of \$6.0 million recorded in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, to cover the excess over the redeemable non-controlling interest already recorded in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet, and to a full release from any and all pending claims. Upon full execution of the settlement, the parties filed a joint stipulation, dismissing with prejudice the pending litigation in Massachusetts, and withdrawing from the JAMS arbitration.

VWoA v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC (S.D.N.Y., Case No. 1:20-cv-01043)

On or about February 7, 2020, Volkswagen of America ("VWoA") filed a complaint against GPB in the Southern District of New York.

VWoA seeks declaration that: (a) GPB's change of directors entitles VWoA to the remedies agreed upon by the parties in the Business Relationship Agreement, as Amended ("BRA"), which allegedly includes a requirement for GPB to cause the divestiture of the Volkswagen dealerships owned by the Partnership upon certain events; (b) GPB's removal and/ or termination of David Rosenberg is an event under the BRA that enables VWoA to enforce the requirement that the Partnership divest all ownership interests in the dealerships; (c) GPB failed to abide by the BRA's divestiture requirement, thus entitling VWoA to enforce the termination remedy; (d) a declaration that: (1) GPB caused, directed or permitted its dealerships to file the Arbitration Action; (2) the filing of the Arbitration Action is a breach of GPB's covenant not to contest or sue; and (3) VWoA is entitled full enforcement of the BRA, including enforcement of its right to recoup all

attorney fees and costs associated with the defense of this proceeding and the Arbitration Action, and that GPB is required to indemnify and hold VWoA harmless from any monetary damages, equitable judgments, or fees and costs resulting from any legal, administrative, or (4) equitable proceeding; (e) judgment awarding VWoA specific performance of the BRA, including ordering GPB to cause the Dealership Agreements for the Prime, Caprara, and Norwood dealerships to be terminated; (f) judgment awarding

VWoA relief from the Arbitration Action, including but not limited to ordering GPB to cause the dealer to dismiss the Arbitration Action with prejudice; and (g) judgment awarding VWoA all of its attorneys' fees and legal costs incurred in this proceeding and also in defense of VWoA's rights regarding the Arbitration Action.

This lawsuit has been amended although it has not been filed against the Volkswagen dealerships owned by the Partnership, and is not a lawsuit against those dealerships to terminate the relevant Volkswagen Franchise Agreements. VWoA has filed this suit to try to avoid arbitration sought by the dealerships, despite VWoA's dealership agreement having provisions to allow a dealer to seek arbitration, and to enforce alleged contract rights against the Partnership. GPB filed an answer generally denying the allegations. The parties are engaged in discovery. The Caprara Volkswagen dealership was sold for commercial reasons unrelated to this litigation in 2020. In April 2020, Saco Auto Holdings VW, LLC d/b/a Prime Volkswagen ("Prime VW"), the entity operating the Volkswagen dealership in Saco, Maine, filed a separate action before the Maine Motor Vehicle Franchise Board protesting VWoA's efforts to cause GPB to divest the Volkswagen dealerships, which would result in the effective termination of that dealership. Consistent with the legal position being taken by GPB in the SDNY case, Prime VW contends that VWoA's efforts to cause the divestiture of the dealership in Maine's Motor Vehicle Franchise Board. Plaintiffs have not tendered a monetary value on relief sought. GPB believes VWoA's allegations have little to no basis and has been and will continue to vigorously defend itself in this matter. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time. The completion of the pending sale of the business may cause this matter to be dismissed without prejudice.

AMR Auto Holdings – PA, LLC d/b/a Westwood Audi v. Audi of America, Inc., an operating unit of Volkswagen Group of America, Inc. (Dist. of Massachusetts, No. 1:20-cv-10861)

AMR Auto Holdings – PA, LLC (a subsidiary of the Partnership), is a Massachusetts based motor vehicle dealership with a franchise to sell and service new Audi products. This dealership entity is wholly owned by Automile Holdings, LLC. On September 16, 2019, the Board of Managers of Automile Holdings, LLC, terminated its Chief Executive Officer for cause and communicated its action to the various motor vehicle manufacturers and distributors with which it or its subsidiaries have franchises, including Audi of America, Inc. ("AoA"). Certain manufacturers, including AoA, raised concerns that various provisions of underlying agreements had been breached by terminating the CEO without providing prior notice and receiving prior consent from the distributor. On February 5, 2020, AoA sent a notice of termination, seeking to terminate AMR Auto Holdings-PA LLC's franchise agreement. On April 3, 2020, AMR Auto Holdings – PA, LLC, filed a lawsuit in the Superior Court of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, Norfolk County, protesting Audi's notice of termination which, by agreement with Audi, stays termination of the franchise pending resolution of the lawsuit. The case was removed in May 2020 to, and is presently pending in, the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts. As of July 2021, the parties have been engaged in discovery, which they anticipate to continue into 2022. AMR Auto Holdings – PA, LLC, is and will continue to vigorously protest AoA's notice of termination through this litigation. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Certain of these outstanding matters include speculative, substantial or indeterminate monetary amounts. We record a liability when we believe that it is probable a loss will be incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. If we determine that a loss is reasonably possible and the loss or range of loss can be estimated, we disclose the reasonably possible loss. We evaluate developments in our legal matters that could affect the amount of liability that has been previously accrued, if any, and the matters and related reasonably possible losses disclosed, and make adjustments as appropriate. Significant judgement is required to determine both the likelihood of there being and the estimated amount of a loss related to such matters. The completion of the pending sale of the business may cause this matter to be dismissed without prejudice.

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements under the sections entitled "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the "Safe Harbor" provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements are not historical facts, but rather are based on current expectations, estimates and projections about our company, our current and prospective portfolio companies, our industry, our beliefs and opinions, and our assumptions. Words, such as "anticipates," "expects," "intends," "plans," "will," "may," "continue," "believes," "seeks," "estimates," "would," "could," "should," "targets," "projects," "outlook," "potential," "predicts" and variations of these words and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors, some of which are beyond our control and difficult to predict and could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or forecasted in the forward-looking statements. Examples of forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q include, among others, statements we make regarding:

- The declines in sales and service revenue and ongoing disruptions in our operations, the operations of our vehicle and parts manufacturers and other suppliers, vendors and business partners, and the global economy in general due to the COVID-19 pandemic;
- Our ability to generate or obtain necessary funds for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, debt service payments and other purposes;
- Our expected parts and service revenue due to, among other things, improvements in vehicle technology;
- Manufacturers' continued use of incentive programs to drive demand for their product offerings;
- Our capital allocation strategy, including as it relates to acquisitions and divestitures, distributions and capital expenditures;
- The growth of the brands that comprise our portfolio over the long-term;
- Changes in general economic and business conditions, including changes in employment levels, consumer demand, preferences and confidence levels, the availability and cost of credit in a rising interest rate environment, fuel prices, levels of discretionary personal income and interest rates;
- The impact of pending governmental actions and investigations on our general partner and its ability to continue to provide management services to us;
- Our ability to attract and retain skilled employees;
- Adverse conditions affecting the vehicle manufacturers whose brands we sell, and their ability to design, manufacture, deliver and market their vehicles successfully;
- Changes in the mix and total number of vehicles we are able to sell;
- High levels of competition in our industry, which may create pricing and margin pressures on our products and services;
- Our relationships with manufacturers of the vehicles we sell and our ability to renew and enter into new framework and dealer agreements with vehicle manufacturers whose brands we sell on terms acceptable to us;
- Our ability to resolve pending disputes with certain manufacturers that have sought to terminate our dealer agreements with them;
- The availability of manufacturers' dealer incentive programs and our ability to earn these incentives;
- Failure of our management information systems or any security breaches;
- Changes in laws and regulations governing the operation of automobile franchises, including trade restrictions, consumer protections, accounting standards, taxation requirements and environmental laws;
- Changes in, or the imposition of, new tariffs or trade restrictions on imported vehicles or parts;

• Adverse results from litigation or other similar proceedings involving us;

- Our ability to consummate planned acquisitions and dispositions, including the Transaction
- Any disruptions in financial markets that, may impact our ability to access capital;
- Our ability to comply with the terms of our credit facilities and forbearance agreements, the impact of financial covenants and other terms of our credit facilities and forbearance agreements on our operations and financial flexibility and our relationships with our lenders;
- Significant disruptions in the production and delivery of vehicles and parts for any reason, including natural disasters, product recalls, work stoppages or other occurrences that are outside of our control;
- The increased demands placed on our management and resources by the requirements of being a public entity;
- Our ability to comply with the internal control requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the "Sarbanes-Oxley Act"); including our ability to identify and remediate material weaknesses;
- Our ability to successfully integrate businesses we may acquire, and the possibility that any business we acquire may not perform as we expected at the time we acquired it;
- Impairment we may be required to recognize on our goodwill and other intangible assets, which comprise a significant portion of our total assets;
- Our ability to generate sufficient cash flow to make distributions to limited partners after payment of advisory fees and other amounts due to the general partner;
- Conditions in the market for the purchase and sale of retail automotive dealerships that impact our acquisition strategy; and
- The impact of actual or potential conflicts of interest between the general partner and us, and the extent to which such conflicts of interest will be ameliorated by our and the general partners' corporate governance structure.

For purposes of this Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations section, we use the terms the "Partnership", "we", "us", "our" or "Registrant" to refer to the business of GPB Automotive Portfolio, LP and its consolidated subsidiaries, unless otherwise indicated.

OVERVIEW

The Partnership is a holding company which was organized as a Delaware limited partnership on May 27, 2013 and commenced operations on that date. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC ("GPB") is the Partnership's general partner pursuant to the terms of the LPA. Pursuant to the LPA, GPB, through its affiliation with Highline, conducts and manages our business.

We own and operate retail automotive dealerships, including in most cases their related real estate, and seek to further develop their operations to increase cash flow and income from operations on behalf of the limited partners (the "Limited Partners").

We report all of our businesses as a single segment for accounting purposes based on how our Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") views the operating results and financial position of the Partnership.

Our principal business is the retail sale of automobiles in the northeastern United States. We offer a diversified range of automotive products and services, including new vehicles, used vehicles, parts and service and automotive finance and insurance products, which include vehicle service and other protection products, as well as the arranging of financing for vehicle purchases through third party finance sources.

Our primary objective is to create value and generate cash flow from operations for our Limited Partners by building an industry-leading automotive retail company. Our operating strategy is focused on creating a customer centric car buying experience, acquiring a diversified portfolio of dealerships and brands, and standardizing business processes across our dealerships' operations to create economies of scale. Our performance depends substantially on our ability to attract and retain high quality managerial talent to oversee the effective operation of our dealerships.

Pending sale of the business

On September 12, 2021, GPB Portfolio Automotive, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, Capstone Automotive Group, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, Automile Parent Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and Automile TY Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, which are direct or indirect subsidiaries of the Partnership, (the "Selling Entities") entered into a Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") with Group 1 Automotive, Inc., (the "Purchaser"). The Selling Entities agreed to sell substantially all of the assets of the Selling Entities, including, but not limited to the Selling Entities' real property, vehicles, parts and accessories, goodwill, permits, intellectual property and substantially all contracts, that relate to their automotive dealership and collision center businesses, and excluding certain assets such as cash and certain receivables (collectively, the "Transaction") for a cash purchase price of approximately \$880.0 million, subject to certain customary adjustments described in the Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Price").

At the closing of the Transaction, \$45.0 million of the Purchase Price will be deposited into escrow as a contingent reserve to be used, if necessary, to compensate the Purchaser for any post-closing indemnifiable losses pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement, with 50% to be released to the Selling Entities 12 months after the closing of the Transaction and the remainder to be released to the Selling Entities 24 months after the closing of the Transaction, subject to pending claims, if any.

The closing of the sale is expected to be substantially completed by year-end, and is subject to various closing conditions, such as receipt of approval or expiration of the waiting period required by the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and the approval of the court-appointed monitor overseeing GPB. The closing of the Transaction is not conditioned upon the Purchaser's ability to obtain financing. The Purchase Agreement also contains certain termination rights of the Purchaser and the Sellers. As of the date of this filing, the Monitor has approved the Transaction, and the requisite waiting period of the HSR Act has expired.

The completion of the pending sale of the business may have an impact on several of the legal matters disclosed. See "Footnote 11. Commitments and Contingencies".

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The Partnership's core strategy is to maximize value to the Limited Partners. Our dealership operations are organized into geographic market-based dealership groups. Our CODM has been determined to be the members of our automotive strategy team and are employees of GPB and Highline. We report all of our business operations as a single segment for accounting purposes based on the financial information that is available and reviewed by the CODM in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance of the Partnership. The CODM does not actively participate in the day-to-day operations of the dealerships.

29

The following table summarizes the results of our operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020.

(D. 11								
(Dollars in thousands)	Three Months Ended September 30,				Nine Mont	the Ended		
tilousailus)								
	Septen	iber 30,		%	Septemb	er 30,		0/
			Increase	% Increase			Increase	% Increase
	2021	2020			2021	2020		
D	2021	2020	(Decrease)	(Decrease)	2021	2020	(Decrease)	(Decrease)
Revenues:								
New vehicle	¢ 244 150	\$ 368,116	¢ (122.057)	(22.7)0/ \$	823,145	\$ 935,038	¢ (111.202)	(12.0))/
retail sales Used vehicle	\$ 244,159	\$ 308,110	\$ (123,957)	(33.7)% \$	825,145	\$ 935,038	\$ (111,893)	(12.0)%
retail sales	165,812	209,088	(43,276)	(20.7)%	482,784	531,866	(49,082)	(9.2)%
Used vehicle	105,012	209,000	(+3,270)	(20.7)70	402,704	551,000	(4),002)	().2)/0
wholesale sales	26,859	28,949	(2,090)	(7.2)%	77,765	72,816	4,949	6.8 %
Service, body,	20,007	20,9 19	(2,0)0)	(/)/3	//,/00	, 2,010	.,,, .,,	010 / 0
and parts sales	61,635	80,574	(18,939)	(23.5)%	177,416	213,136	(35,720)	(16.8)%
Finance and	,	,	())	()	,	,	(<i>'</i> , <i>'</i> , <i>'</i> ,	
insurance sales	21,339	26,762	(5,423)	(20.3)%	67,832	73,158	(5,326)	(7.3)%
Total revenues	519,804	713,489	(193,685)	(27.1)%	1,628,942	1,826,014	(197,072)	(10.8)%
Gross profit:								
New vehicle								
retail	30,308	27,646	2,662	9.6 %	80,710	57,531	23,179	40.3 %
Used vehicle								
retail	14,356	18,381	(4,025)	(21.9)%	38,826	38,982	(156)	(0.4)%
Used vehicle								
wholesale	2,913	2,117	796	37.6 %	8,912	3,210	5,702	177.6 %
Service, body,	25 441	45 427	(0,000)	(22.0)0/	101 (20	110.007	$(1 \leftarrow 1 \land 0)$	(12.0)0/
and parts	35,441	45,437	(9,996)	(22.0)%	101,638	118,086	(16,448)	(13.9)%
Finance and insurance	21,339	26,762	(5,423)	(20.3)%	67,832	73,158	(5,326)	(7.3)%
Total gross profit	104,357	120,343	(15,986)	(13.3)%	297,918	290,967	6,951	2.4 %
iotai gioss piont	104,557	120,545	(15,500)	(15.5)/0	277,710	270,707	0,751	2.4 /0
Gross profit								
margin								
percentage:								
New vehicle								
retail	12.4 %	6 7.5 %	4.9 %		9.8 %	6.2 %	3.6 %	
Used vehicle								
retail	8.7 %	6 8.8 %	(0.1)%		8.0 %	7.3 %	0.7 %	
Used vehicle								
wholesale	10.8 %	6 7.3 %	3.5 %		11.5 %	4.4 %	7.1 %	
Service, body,								
and parts	57.5 %	6 56.4 %	1.1 %		57.3 %	55.4 %	1.9 %	
Finance and	100.0.0				100.0.0/	100.0.0/		
insurance	100.0 %	<u> </u>	%		100.0 %	100.0 %	%	
Total gross profit	20.1.0	160.0/	2.2.0/		10.2.0/	15.0.0/	24.0/	
margin	20.1 %	<u> </u>	3.2 %	· ·	18.3 %	15.9 %	2.4 %	
Operating	87,578	102,118	(14,540)	(14.2)%	246 249	268,886	(22 528)	(8.4)%
expenses Operating	87,578	102,118	(14,540)	(14.2)%	246,348	208,880	(22,538)	(8.4)%
income	16,779	18,225	(1,446)	(7.9)%	51,570	22,081	29,489	133.5 %
Total other	10,777	10,225	(1,110)	(1.))/0	51,570	22,001	27,707	155.5 70
(expense)								
income, net	(3,137)	(4,830)	1,693	35.1 %	8,417	(23,779)	32,196	135.4 %
Net income			<u> </u>		<u> </u>		<u> </u>	
(loss)	\$ 13,642	\$ 13,395	\$ 247	1.8 % \$	59,987	(1,698)	61,685	3,632.8 %

Acquisitions and Dispositions

Acquisitions

Growth through acquisitions has been a key component of our long-term strategy that enabled us to increase our network of locations, support maintaining a diverse franchise and geographic mix and improve our ability to serve customers through wider selection and improved proximity. Within our targeted geographic market in the northeastern United States, our acquisition strategy was to focus on brands which we believe can generate solid returns and provide diversification to our existing dealership portfolio. We have acquired interests in individual dealerships and groups of dealerships.

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Partnership did not acquire any dealerships.

Dispositions

Additionally, the Partnership has disposed of certain dealerships outside of our geographic focus.

Net proceeds received from dispositions, as well as other certain disposition-related information is presented below:

	onths Ended						
	September 30,		Nine Months Ended September 30,				
(Dollars in thousands)	2021	2020	202	1		2020	
Number of dealerships disposed		8		5		8	
Number of franchises disposed	_	5		5		5	
Net proceeds from disposition of							
dealerships	\$ —	\$18,279	\$ 40),640	\$	18,279	

Comparison of the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020

Revenues

For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Partnership generated revenues of \$519.8 million and \$713.5 million, respectively. This represents a decrease of \$193.7 million, or 27.1%, in total revenues across all revenue streams.

The decrease in total revenue, across all revenue streams, was primarily attributed to the Partnership's disposition of three of its dealership groups, FX Caprara, Ron Carter, and KRAG in September and October 2020, which accounted for revenue reductions of \$36.5 million, \$48.8 million, and \$65.3 million, respectively totaling \$150.6 million. In addition, there was a \$42.4 million decrease revenue, attributed to our existing dealerships, as a result of lower vehicle inventory related to the COVID-19 pandemic supply chain shortages.

Gross Profit

For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, our gross profit was \$104.4 million and \$120.3 million, and our gross profit margin was 20.1% and 16.9%, respectively. This represents a decrease of \$15.9 million, or 13.3%, in total gross profit across all revenue streams and an increase in gross profit margin of 3.2 percentage points.

The decrease in gross profit was primarily attributed to reduction in revenue from the Partnership's disposition of the FX Caprara, Ron Carter, and KRAG dealerships which reduced gross profit by \$17.6 million. This was offset by an increase in gross profit from the existing dealerships of \$3.0 million. The increase in profit margin for the three months ended September 30, 2021 in comparison to 2020, can be explained by the demand in the automotive industry due to decreased supply of inventory as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. COVID-19 shut down many manufacturers for a period of time, and as a result inventory was lower, thus creating more demand and higher prices which drove up the profit margin on sales. This was coupled with an increase in used vehicle wholesale driven by demand due to shortages in new vehicle inventory, resulting in higher per unit prices.

Operating Expenses

For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, operating expenses were \$87.6 million and \$102.1 million, respectively. This represents a decrease of \$14.5 million or 14.2%.

This decrease in operating expenses is primarily attributed to a \$17.3 million reduction in selling, general and administrative expenses as a result of the disposition of the FX Caprara, Ron Carter and KRAG dealership groups. This was coupled with a decrease in loss on sale of dealerships, property and equipment, net of \$4.0 million as a result of the disposition of FX Caprara group and the majority of the KRAG dealerships. This reduction was offset by an increase of \$7.0 million in remaining dealership selling, general and administrative expenses as a result of legal matters settled during the period and increased professional fees.

Operating Income

For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, operating income was \$16.8 million and \$18.2 million, respectively. This represents a decrease of \$1.4 million, or 7.9%.

This decrease is explained by a decrease in gross profit of \$15.9 million offset by a decrease in operating expenses of \$14.5 million as described above.

Other (Expense) Income, net

For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, other (expense) income, net was \$(3.1) million and \$(4.8) million, respectively. This represents a decrease in expenses of \$1.7 million, or 35.1%.

This decrease in other (expense) income is primarily attributed to the decrease of floorplan interest expense by \$1.3 million from the existing dealerships as a result of COVID-19 related inventory supply chain shortages and as a result of the disposition of the FX Caprara, Ron Carter and KRAG dealership groups for the three month period ended September 30, 2021.

Net Income (Loss)

As a result of the above factors, our overall net income was \$13.6 million and \$13.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. This represents an increase of \$0.2 million or 1.8%.

This increase is primarily explained by the decrease in operating income of \$1.4 million and a decrease in expenses in other (expense) income, net of \$1.7 million.

Comparison of the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020

Revenues

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Partnership generated revenues of \$1,628.9 million and \$1,826.0 million, respectively. This represents a decrease of \$197.1 million, or 10.8%, in total revenue across all revenue streams.

The decrease in total revenue, across all revenue streams, was primarily attributed to the Partnership's disposition of three of its dealership groups, FX Caprara, Ron Carter, and KRAG in September and October 2020, which accounted for revenue reductions of \$104.6 million, \$140.4 million, and \$177.6 million, respectively totaling \$422.6 million. These reductions were offset by \$227.1 million in incremental revenue attributed to our remaining dealerships, as a result of increased demand after the peak of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Gross Profit

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, our gross profit was \$297.9 million and \$291.0 million, and our gross profit margin was 18.3% and 15.9%, respectively. This represents an increase of \$6.9 million, or 2.4%, in total gross profit across all revenue streams and an increase in gross profit margin of 2.4 percentage points.

The increase in gross profit was driven by the increase in revenue from same store dealerships which accounted for a gross profit increase of \$62.2 million. This increase was offset by the reduced gross profit of \$52.9 million as a result of the Partnership's disposition of the FX Caprara, Ron Carter, and KRAG dealerships. The increase in profit margin for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 in comparison to 2020, can be explained by the demand in the automotive industry after the three month period of reduced sales activity

during the COVID-19 pandemic from March to June 2020. COVID-19 shut down many manufacturers for a period of time, and as a result, inventory was lower, thus creating more demand and higher prices which drove up the profit margin on sales. This was coupled with an increase in used vehicle wholesale driven by demand for used vehicles due to shortages in new vehicle inventory, resulting in higher per unit prices.

Operating Expenses

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, operating expenses were \$246.3 million and \$268.9 million, respectively. This represents a decrease of \$22.6 million, or 8.4%

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased due to the disposition of the FX Caprara, Ron Carter, and KRAG dealership groups totaling \$11.2 million, \$13.8 million, and \$23.2 million, respectively, year over year. This was offset by an increase of \$23.7 million in remaining dealership expenses as a result of legal matters settled during the period, increased professional fees, greater sales commissions related to revenue increases, and the incremental compensation from 1,000 furloughed employees directly related to the COVID-19 pandemic in April 2020 whom have now returned to work.

Operating Income (Loss)

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, operating income was \$51.6 million and \$22.1 million, respectively. This represents an increase of \$29.5 million, or 133.5%

This increase is explained by an increase in gross profit of \$6.9 coupled with a decrease in operating expenses of \$22.6 million as described above.

Other Income (Expense), net

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, other income (expense), net was \$8.4 million and \$(23.8) million, respectively. This represents an increase in income of \$32.2 million, or 135.4%.

This increase is primarily explained by \$19.8 million of PPP Loan forgiveness income in 2021. This was coupled with a reduction in floorplan interest expense and interest expense totaling \$11.5 million directly attributed to the dispositions of the FX Caprara, Ron Carter, and KRAG dealership and COVID-19 related inventory supply chain shortage for the remaining dealerships.

Net (Income) Loss

As a result of the above factors, our net income was \$60.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 as compared to a loss of \$1.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. This represents an increase of \$61.7 million, or 3,632.8%.

This increase is primarily explained by the increase in operating income of \$29.5 million and other income (expense), net of \$32.2 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We manage our liquidity and capital resources to fund our operating, investing and financing activities. In 2018, we primarily relied on raising capital from Limited Partners in the amounts of \$185.4 million. Capital raising activities were suspended in June 2018. Subsequently, the Partnership relied primarily on cash on hand, cash flows from operations, floorplan lines of credit and borrowings under our credit facilities as the main sources for liquidity. We use those funds to invest in capital expenditures, increase working capital and fulfill contractual obligations. Remaining funds can be used for acquisitions, debt retirement, distributions and general business purposes.

We continually evaluate our liquidity and capital resources based upon (i) our cash on hand at the Partnership and its subsidiaries, (ii) the cash flow that we expect to generate through future operations, (iii) current and expected borrowing availability under GPB Prime's credit agreement with M&T Bank Corporation, as amended (the "M&T Credit Agreement"), as further defined below, and our subsidiaries' other floorplan facilities, (iv) amounts in our subsidiaries' new vehicle floorplan notes payable offset accounts,

(v) compliance with applicable loan covenants at our subsidiaries and the ability to access unrestricted cash, (vi) the potential impact of our capital allocation strategy and any contemplated or pending future transactions, including, but not limited to, financings, acquisitions, dispositions, equity and/or debt repurchases, distributions and/or redemptions, or other capital expenditures, and (vii) the potential impact of a negative outcome with regard to class action lawsuits and other pending litigation.

The Partnership's subsidiaries are party to financing agreements with M&T Bank (as part of an eight member syndicate), J.P. Morgan Chase ("Chase"), Ford Motor Credit Company ("FMCC"), Ally Bank and Ally Financial ("Ally"), GM Financial ("GMF"), and Truist Financial (formerly Branch Banking and Trust Partnership) for the purpose of financing the purchase of new, used and loaner vehicles for certain brands, in addition to providing operational liquidity in the form of mortgages and term debt.

The maximum financing available under these agreements was \$274.0 million and \$362.1 million, for new vehicles, including loaner vehicles, and \$61.8 million and \$50.3 million, for used vehicles, as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively. Financing available for new vehicles, including loaner vehicles, and used vehicles combined is \$206.9 million and \$131.5 million as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively. Amounts outstanding under these agreements may at times exceed the stated limits on a temporary basis. Interest rates are based on the U.S. Prime Rate or the LIBOR plus an applicable margin. The interest rates ranged from 1.43% to 3.25% on September 30, 2021 and 1.49% to 3.75% on December 31, 2020. One of the floorplan agreements with GMF is guaranteed by the Member of GPB and the Partnership. Certain of the agreements have financial covenants relating to maximum leverage ratios and fixed charge coverage ratios. These covenants limit, among other things, our ability to incur certain additional debt and make certain payments, including distributions to shareholders.

The accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. Accordingly, the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability of assets and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Partnership be unable to continue as a going concern.

Upon issuance of the Partnership's most recent audited financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, Management had determined that the following factors existed that raised substantial doubt about the Partnership's ability to continue as a going concern:

• As of December 31, 2020, the Partnership and its subsidiaries had total cash and restricted cash of \$135.4 million, of which \$3.5 million was held directly by and available to satisfy general obligations of the Partnership. Included in total cash on hand was \$26.9 million held by certain subsidiaries of the Partnership that was available for use and upstreaming without restriction. The balance of \$105.0 million was held by GPB Prime Holdings, LLC ("GPB Prime"), (the Partnership's largest subsidiary) and was restricted to use and upstreaming to the Partnership pursuant to restrictions imposed by its lender. At December 31, 2020, obligations of the Partnership and its subsidiaries, excluding GPB Prime, due within one year exceeded its available cash on hand.

• The Partnership relies on its ability to upstream funds from its operating subsidiaries to meet its obligations in the normal course of business and also to allocate to other subsidiaries in need. The Partnership and GPB Prime are party to financing agreements with M&T Bank as part of an eight-member credit syndication (the M&T Credit Agreement). Borrowings under the M&T Credit Agreement are available for the purposes of financing the purchase of new, used and loaner vehicles, and for providing operational liquidity in the form of mortgages and term debt. Amendments to the M&T Credit Agreement dated September 21, 2018 and June 14, 2019 restricted GPB Prime's ability to pay distributions, make additional requests for delayed draw loans, make any additional acquisitions (other than those already in process at that date) greater than \$2.0 million, or to make any distribution to the Partnership as well as pay any put, redemption, or equity recapture options or agreements to any person. Our ability to meet our obligations over the shorter and longer term is dependent upon freeing up the restrictions that currently do not allow the upstreaming of funds from certain of our operating subsidiaries and negotiating extensions or replacement of our subsidiaries' financing arrangements.

• GPB Prime's M&T Credit Agreement was set to expire and become fully due and payable in February 2022.

Copyright © 2021 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved. Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

The M&T Credit Agreement was Amended and Restated (Eleventh Amendment) on June 24, 2021. This Eleventh Amendment alleviated the conditions which previously caused management to conclude that substantial doubt existed about the Partnership's ability to continue as a going concern. Specifically, the Eleventh Amendment provides for the following amended terms:

• The Partnership is entitled to a distribution of up to approximately \$10.0 million previously restricted cash held at GPB Prime. As of September 30, 2021, \$5.7 million of the \$10.0 million was distributed to and held by the Partnership and is available to satisfy its general obligations.

• The maturity date of the M&T Credit Agreement was extended from February 24, 2022 until December 31, 2022.

Based on these amended terms, and the improved liquidity they provide the Partnership, Management concludes that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its financial obligations for the period of at least 12 months from November 15, 2021 (management's assessment date), and therefore further concludes that there is no longer substantial doubt about the Partnership's ability to continue as a going concern.

Nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to September 30, 2020

On September 30, 2021, the Partnership had cash and restricted cash of approximately \$162.5 million as compared to approximately \$135.4 million as of December 31, 2020 representing an increase of \$27.1 million. This increase can be explained by net cash provided by operating activities of \$216.0 million, primarily attributed to a decrease in inventory of \$135.5 million related to the ongoing chip-shortage in 2021 and net income of \$60.0 million; cash provided by investing activities of \$72.0 million is primarily attributed to proceeds from the disposition of dealerships and property and equipment of \$88.8 million; offset by net cash used in financing activities of \$260.9 million, primarily attributed to the pay down of long-term debt of \$99.0 million related to the dealership and property and equipment sales and the reduction of floorplan debt, non-trade, net of \$155.7 million as a result of sales of existing inventory not being replenished due to an inventory shortage. On September 30, 2021, our working capital was \$121.0 million.

Cash provided by operating activities decreased from \$219.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 to \$216.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021. This decrease of \$3.2 million is primarily attributed to a reduction in inventory of \$69.6 million due to 2020 manufacturer shut-downs resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic and a decreased supply of inventory as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic supply chain shortages in 2021. This is offset by increased net income of \$63.2 million as a result of the increased demand and profit margins.

Cash from investing activities increased from net cash provided of \$42.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 to \$72.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021. This increase of \$29.4 million is primarily attributed to the change in proceeds from the purchase of property and equipment and the disposal of dealerships and related real estate for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2020.

Cash used in financing activities increased from \$175.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 to \$260.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021. This increase of \$85.3 million is primarily attributed to the pay down of long-term debt and floor plan debt, non-trade, in 2021.

Contractual Payment Obligation

As of September 30, 2021, there have been no material changes to the contractual payment obligations table included in the Form 10/A filed with the SEC on September 9, 2021.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a material current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

Copyright © 2021 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved. Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

Critical Accounting Estimates

As of September 30, 2021, there have been no material changes to the critical accounting estimates included in the Form 10/A filed with the SEC on September 9, 2021.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

There have been no material changes in our reported market risks or risk management policies since the filing of our Registration Statement on Form10/A, which was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 9, 2021.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

The Partnership's management, with the participation of Rob Chmiel, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of GPB, has evaluated the effectiveness of the Partnership's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")) as of September 30, 2021. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer has concluded that as of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, due to the existence of the material weaknesses in the Partnership's internal control over financial reporting described below, the Partnership's disclosure controls and procedures were not effective.

Notwithstanding such material weakness in internal control over financial reporting, our management concluded that our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q present fairly, in all material respects, the Partnership's financial position, results of operations and cash flows as of the dates, and for the periods presented, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP") for interim financial information and in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Material Weaknesses

In connection with the filing of our Form 10/A, we have concluded that there are pervasive material weaknesses in our system of internal control over financial reporting ("IFCR"), which if not remediated could materially and adversely affect our ability to timely and accurately report our results of operations and financial condition.

We have identified weaknesses, or a combination of significant deficiencies, relating to risk assessment, control activities and monitoring of the Partnership's control environment that have been determined to be material weaknesses in our internal controls. These identified weaknesses are attributed, in part, to the Partnership acquiring groups of dealerships with different systems and processes in place and the challenge of effectively placing them under one control umbrella.

Remediation Plan

Our management is committed to maintaining a strong internal control environment and implementing measures designed to help ensure that the material weaknesses are remediated as soon as possible. With respect to the material weakness pertaining to risk assessment, control activities and monitoring of the control environment components of the Internal Control - Integrated Framework (1992) issued by COSO, management is in the process of developing and implementing remediation plans to address these material weaknesses. Such plans will include, among other things:

- hiring experienced professionals trained in developing and maintaining effective internal control environments,
- establishing a hierarchy of review with the appropriate complement of management employees,
- implementing intensive review policies and procedures conducted at an appropriate level of precision, and
- monitoring the operation of third party service provider user controls to ensure they are operating effectively.



Management believes the measures described above and others that will be implemented will remediate the material weaknesses that we have identified. As management continues to evaluate and improve ICFR, we may decide to take additional measures to address control deficiencies or determine to modify, or in appropriate circumstances not to complete, certain of the remediation measures described above.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting

Other than the remediation plan set forth above, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in management's evaluation pursuant to Rules 13a-15(d) or 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures

In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls, procedures, and internal control over financial reporting, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs.

37

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

Commitments and Contingencies

We, our General Partner, and our dealerships are involved in a number of regulatory, litigation, arbitration and other proceedings or investigations many of which exposes us to potential financial loss. We are indemnifying officers, directors and representatives of the dealerships, as well as GPB, its principals, representatives, and affiliates, for any costs they may incur in connection with such disputes as required by various agreements or governing law. This indemnification does not cover any potential future outcomes or settlements that result from these disputes.

We establish reserves or escrows for legal actions when potential losses associated with the actions become probable and the costs can be reasonably estimated. The actual costs of resolving legal actions may be substantially higher or lower than the amounts reserved or placed in escrow for those actions. Distributions may be delayed or withheld until such reserves are no longer needed or the escrow period expires. If liabilities exceed the amounts reserved or placed in escrow, Limited Partners may need to fund the difference by refunding some or all distributions previously received. For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Partnership recorded \$1.7 million and nil of legal indemnification expenses in selling, general and administrative expenses in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Partnership recorded \$3.7 million and nil of legal indemnification expenses in selling, general and administrative expenses in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations.

With respect to all significant litigation and regulatory matters facing us, our General Partner, and our dealerships, we have considered the likelihood of an adverse outcome. It is possible that we could incur losses pertaining to these matters that may have a material adverse effect on our operational results, financial condition or liquidity in any future reporting period. We understand that the General Partner is currently paying legal costs associated with these actions for itself and certain indemnified parties. The Partnership expects to provide partial reimbursement to the General Partner as required by various agreements or governing law, but the amount is not reasonably estimable at this time.

Regulatory and Governmental Matters

GPB and certain of its principals and affiliates face various regulatory and governmental matters. GPB seeks to comply with all laws, rules, regulations and investigations into any potential or alleged violation of law. In such situations where GPB disagrees with the allegations made against it, GPB intends to vigorously defend itself in court. These matters could have a material adverse effect on GPB and the Partnership's business, acquisitions, or results of operations.

Appointment of Monitor

On February 11, 2021, the EDNY Court, in the SEC Action, appointed Joseph T. Gardemal III as an independent Monitor over GPB (the "Monitor") (the "Order") until further Order of the Court. Pursuant to the Order, Capital Holdings shall (i) grant the Monitor access to all non-privileged books, records and account statements for the GPB-managed Funds, including the Partnership, as well as their portfolio companies, and (ii) cooperate fully with requests by the Monitor reasonably calculated to fulfill the Monitor's duties. As noted below, the Order was amended on April 14, 2021

The Monitor has the authority to approve or disapprove the following actions: (i) any proposed material corporate transactions by Capital Holdings and/or Highline, the GPB-managed funds, including the Partnership, or the Portfolio Companies (as defined in the Order), or any other proposed material corporate transactions as the Monitor may, in the Monitor's sole discretion, deem appropriate. The Monitor will negotiate a protocol with Capital Holdings for the review of information concerning proposed material transactions; (ii) any extension of credit by Capital Holdings, Highline, the GPB-managed funds, or the Portfolio Companies outside the ordinary course of business, or to a related party, as defined under the federal securities laws. The Monitor will negotiate a protocol with Capital Holdings for the review of information concerning such extensions of credit; (iii) any material change in business strategy by Capital Holdings or any of the GPB-managed funds; (iv) any material change to compensation of any executive officer, affiliate, or party of Capital Holdings or Highline; (v) any retention by Capital Holdings or Highline of any management-level professional or person (with the exception of any professional retained in connection with litigation commenced prior to this Order, over

which approval shall not be required), subject to an acceptable procedure agreed to with the Monitor; (vi) any decision to resume distributions to investors in any of the GPB-managed

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

funds, consistent with the investment objectives of the GPB-managed funds; and (vii) any decision to file, or cause to be filed, any bankruptcy or receivership petition for Capital Holdings or Highline, or for the Portfolio Companies.

The Monitor is authorized and empowered to: (i) review the finances and operations of the GPB-managed funds and, if necessary, individual Portfolio Companies and will negotiate a protocol with Capital Holdings for the review of this information; (ii) review historical corporate transactions by GPB and/or Highline, the GPB-managed funds or the Portfolio Companies, to the extent covered by Capital Holdings' forthcoming audited financial statements and any restatements covered therein, for the purposes of executing the authority discussed above, and consistent with the authority to share any findings, documents, or information with the SEC, provided, however, the Monitor will not interfere with ongoing audits and will negotiate a protocol with Capital Holdings for the review of this information; (iii) review historical compensation of all executive officers or affiliates of Capital Holdings or Highline; (iv) review the retention of all consultants currently retained by Capital Holdings; (v) review audited financial statements of the GPBmanaged funds, which Capital Holdings will promptly deliver to the Monitor upon completion; (vi) review the minutes of all meetings of all boards of directors of the Portfolio Companies, Highline, and the GPB-managed funds; (vii) review the status of all litigation involving Capital Holdings or Highline, and the status of any litigation outside the ordinary course of business involving any of the Portfolio Companies; (viii) review any commencement or settlement of any litigation involving Capital Holdings and Highline, and any commencement or settlement of any litigation outside of the ordinary course of business involving any of the Portfolio Companies; (ix) review any material changes to material leases or real estate holdings, including the signing of any new leases, the termination of leases, material changes to lease terms, or the purchase or sale of any material property by Capital Holdings, Highline, or any of the Portfolio Companies, provided, however, if the material change involves a Capital Holdings, Highline, or Portfolio Company related party or affiliate, the Monitor shall have the power to approve or disapprove of the material change; (x) review insurance policies covering Highline, Capital Holdings, and the GPB-managed funds, as well as affiliates, officers, and directors of such entities; and (xi) review promptly and approve any investor-wide communications intended to be sent by Capital Holdings to investors in the GPB-managed funds.

Within 30 days after the end of each calendar quarter, the Monitor is required to file with the Court under seal or in redacted form to protect sensitive, proprietary information, a full report reflecting (to the best of the Monitor's knowledge as of the period covered by the report) the status of the reviews contemplated in the Order.

The Monitor was required to submit a report to the court within 60 days of his appointment recommending either continuation of the monitorship, converting it to a receivership, and/or filing of bankruptcy petitions for one or more of the various entities. The Monitor submitted this report on April 12, 2021, and recommended continuation of the Monitorship.

On April 14, 2021, the EDNY Court entered an Amended Order providing that, in addition to the SEC and GPB, certain State regulators will receive access to the periodic reports filed by the Monitor pursuant to the Order.

Federal Matters

On February 4, 2021, the SEC filed a contested civil proceeding against GPB, Ascendant, AAS, David Gentile, Jeffry Schneider and Jeffrey Lash in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of New York (the previously-defined the "EDNY Court" and the "SEC Action"). No GPB-managed partnership was sued. The SEC Action alleges several violations of the federal securities laws, including securities fraud. The SEC is seeking disgorgement and civil monetary penalties, among other remedies.

Also, on February 4, 2021, the USAO brought a criminal indictment against Mr. Gentile, Mr. Schneider, and Mr. Lash (the "Criminal Case"). The indictment in the Criminal Case alleges conspiracy to commit securities fraud, conspiracy to commit wire fraud, and securities fraud against all three individuals. Mr. Gentile and Mr. Lash were also charged with two counts of wire fraud. The USAO intends to seek criminal forfeiture. Mr. Gentile resigned from all management and board positions with GPB, and the GPB-managed funds, including the partnership, and subsidiaries of the partnership, promptly following his indictment.

State Matters

On May 27, 2020, the Massachusetts Securities Division of the Office of the Secretary of the Commonwealth ("Massachusetts") filed an Administrative Complaint against GPB for alleged violations of the Massachusetts Uniform Securities Act. No GPB-managed fund is a named defendant. The Complaint alleges, among other things, that the offering documents for several GPB-managed funds, including the Partnership, included material misstatements or omissions. Massachusetts is seeking both monetary and administrative

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

relief, including disgorgement and rescission to Massachusetts residents who purchased the GPB-managed funds. This matter is currently stayed, pending resolution of the Criminal Case.

On February 4, 2021, seven State securities regulators (from Alabama, Georgia, Illinois, Missouri, New Jersey, New York, and South Carolina, collectively the "States") each filed suit against GPB. No GPB-managed fund is a named defendant in any of the suits. Several of the suits also named Ascendant, AAS, Mr. Gentile, Mr. Schneider, and Mr. Lash as defendants. The States' lawsuits allege, among other things, that the offering documents for several GPB-managed funds, including the Partnership, included material misstatements and omissions. The States are seeking both monetary and administrative relief, including disgorgement and rescission. The cases brought by Alabama, Georgia, Illinois, Missouri, New York, and South Carolina have been stayed pending the conclusion of the related Criminal Case. The State of New Jersey has voluntarily dismissed its case, without prejudice to re-file it following the conclusion of the Criminal Case.

Actions Asserted Against GPB and Others, Not Including the Partnership

Ismo J. Ranssi, derivatively on behalf of Armada Waste Management, LP, v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. (New York County, Case No. 654059/2020)

In August 2020, plaintiffs filed a derivative action against GPB, Ascendant Capital, Ascendant AAS, Axiom, David Gentile, Mark D. Martino, and Jeffry Schneider in New York Supreme Court. The Partnership is not a named defendant. The Complaint alleges, among other things, that the offering documents for certain GPB managed funds include material misstatements and omissions. The plaintiffs are seeking disgorgement, unspecified damages, and other equitable relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Galen G. Miller and E. Ruth Miller, derivatively on behalf of GPB Holdings II, LP, v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. (New York County, Case No. 656982/2019)

In November 2019, plaintiffs filed a derivative action against GPB, Ascendant, AAS, Axiom, Michael Cohn, Steven Frangioni, David Gentile, William Jacoby, Minchung Kgil, Mark D. Martino, and Jeffry Schneider in New York Supreme Court. The Partnership is not a named defendant. The Complaint alleges, among other things, that the offering documents for certain GPB-managed funds include material misstatements and omissions. The plaintiffs are seeking disgorgement, unspecified damages, and other equitable relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Actions Asserted Against GPB and Others, Including the Partnership

For all matters below in which the Partnership is a defendant, we intend to vigorously defend against the allegations, however no assurances can be given that we will be successful in doing so.

Michael Peirce, derivatively on behalf of GPB Automotive Portfolio, LP v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, Ascendant Capital, LLC, Ascendant Alternative Strategies, LLC, Axiom Capital Management, Inc., Steven Frangioni, David Gentile, William Jacoby, Minchung Kgil, Mark D. Martino and Jeffry Schneider, -and- GPB Automotive Portfolio, LP, Nominal Defendant (New York County, Case No. 652858/2020)

In July 2020, plaintiff filed a derivative action in New York Supreme Court against GPB, Ascendant, AAS, Axiom, Steve Frangioni, David Gentile, William Jacoby, Minchung Kgil, Mark Martino, and Jeffry Schneider. The Complaint alleges various breaches of fiduciary duty, aiding and abetting the breaches of fiduciary duty, breach of contract, and unjust enrichment, among other claims. Plaintiffs are seeking declaratory relief and unspecified damages, among other forms of relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Alfredo J. Martinez, et al. v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC (Delaware Chancery Court, Case No. 2019-1005)

In December 2019, plaintiffs filed a civil action in Delaware Court of Chancery to compel inspection books and records from GPB, as general partner, and from the Partnership, GPB Holdings I, GPB Holdings II, and GPB Waste Management.

In June 2020, the court dismissed plaintiffs' books and records request, but allowed a contract claim for specific performance to proceed as a plenary action.

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

The plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages and penalties. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Alfredo J. Martinez and HighTower Advisors v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. (Delaware Chancery Court, Case No. 2020-0545)

In July 2020, plaintiff filed a complaint against GPB, Armada Waste Management GP, LLC, Armada Waste Management, LP, the Partnership, GPB Holdings II, LP, and GPB Holdings, LP in the Delaware Court of Chancery to compel inspection of GPB's books and records based upon specious and unsubstantiated allegations regarding GPB's business practices, among other things. The plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages and penalties. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Lance Cotton, Alex Vavas and Eric Molbegat v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, Automile Holdings LLC D/B/A Prime Automotive Group, David Gentile, David Rosenberg, Philip Delzotta, Joseph Delzotta, and any other related entities (Nassau County, Case No. 604943/2020)

In May 2020, plaintiffs filed a civil action in New York Supreme Court against GPB, Automile Holdings LLC d/b/a Prime Automotive Group, David Gentile, David Rosenberg, Philip Delzotta, Joseph Delzotta, and any other related entities. The complaint alleges that defendants engaged in systematic fraudulent and discriminatory schemes against customers and engaged in retaliatory actions against plaintiffs, who were employed by Garden City Nissan from August until October 2019. The plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages and penalties. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Monica Ortiz, on behalf of herself and other individuals similarly situated v. GPB Capital Holdings LLC; Automile Holdings, LLC d/b/a Prime Automotive Group; David Gentile; David Rosenberg; Philip Delzotta; Joseph Delzotta; and other affiliated entities and individuals (Nassau County, Case No. 604918/2020)

In May 2020, plaintiffs filed a class action in New York Supreme Court against GPB, Automile Holdings LLC d/b/a Prime Automotive Group, David Gentile, David Rosenberg, Philip Delzotta, Joseph Delzotta, and other affiliated entities and individuals. The Complaint alleges deceptive and misleading business practices of the named Defendants with respect to the marketing, sale, and/or leasing of automobiles and the financial and credit products related to the same throughout the State of New York. The plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages and penalties. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

In re: GPB Capital Holdings, LLC Litigation (formerly, Adam Younker, Dennis and Cheryl Schneider, Elizabeth Plaza, and Plaza Professional Center Inc. PFT Sharing v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. and Peter G. Golder, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. (New York County, Case No. 157679/2019)

In May 2020, plaintiffs filed a consolidated class action complaint in New York Supreme Court against GPB, GPB Holdings, GPB Holdings II, GPB Holdings III, the Partnership, GPB Cold Storage, GPB Waste Management, David Gentile, Jeffrey Lash, Macrina Kgil, a/k/a Minchung Kgil, William Edward Jacoby, Scott Naugle, Jeffry Schneider, Ascendant Alternative Strategies, Ascendant Capital, and Axiom Capital Management. The Complaint alleges, among other things, that the offering documents for certain GPB-managed funds, include material misstatements and omissions. The plaintiffs are seeking disgorgement, unspecified damages, and other equitable relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Phillip J. Cadez, et al. v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. (Delaware Chancery Court, Case No. 2020-0402)

In May 2020, plaintiffs filed a derivative action in Delaware Court of Chancery against GPB, David Gentile, Jeffrey Lash, and Jeffry Schneider, Defendants, and GPB Holdings I, and the Partnership, as nominal defendants. Previously, plaintiffs had filed a complaint to compel inspection of books and records, which had been dismissed without prejudice.

In the current action, plaintiffs are alleging various breaches of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment, and with regard to GPB, breach of the Partnerships' LPAs. Plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages, declaratory, and equitable relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Jeff Lipman and Carol Lipman, derivatively on behalf of GPB Holdings II and Auto Portfolio v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. (Delaware Chancery Court, Case No. 2020-0054)

In January 2020, plaintiffs filed a derivative action in Delaware Court of Chancery against GPB, David Gentile, Jeffrey Lash, and Jeffry Schneider. The Complaint alleges various breaches of fiduciary duty, fraud, gross negligence, and willful misconduct. The plaintiffs seek unspecified damages among other forms of relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Mary Purcell, et al. v. GPB Holdings II, LP, et al. (Cal. Supreme Court, Orange County, Case No. 30-2019-01115653-CU-FR-CJC)

In December 2019, plaintiffs filed a civil action in Superior Court in Orange County, California against Rodney Potratz, FSC Securities Corporation, GPB Holdings II, the Partnership, GPB, David Gentile, Roger Anscher, William Jacoby, Jeffrey Lash, Ascendant, Trevor Carney, Jeffry Schneider, and DOES 1 - 15, inclusive. The Complaint alleges breach of contract, negligence, fraud and breach of fiduciary duty. Plaintiffs are seeking rescission, unspecified damages, and other equitable relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Stanley S. and Millicent R. Barasch Trust and Loretta Dehay, individually and on behalf of others similar situated v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. (W.D. Texas, Case No. 19 Civ. 1079)

In November 2019, plaintiffs filed a putative class action in the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas against, certain limited partnerships, including the Partnership, for which GPB is the general partner, AAS, and Ascendant, as well as certain principals of the GPB-managed funds, auditors, a fund administrator, and individuals. (Please note that the original Complaint named Millicent R. Barasch as the plaintiff, but since her death, her trust has successfully moved to substitute for all purposes in this litigation.) The Complaint alleges civil conspiracy, fraud, substantial assistance in the commission of fraud, breach of fiduciary duty, substantial assistance in the breach of fiduciary duty, negligence, and violations of the Texas Securities Act. The plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages, declaratory relief, among other forms of relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

42

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Barbara Deluca and Drew R. Naylor, on behalf of themselves and other similarly situated limited partners, v. GPB Automotive Portfolio, LP et al. (S.D.N.Y., Case No. 19-CV-10498)

In November 2019, plaintiffs filed a putative class action complaint in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against GPB, GPB Holdings II, the Partnership, David Gentile, Jeffery Lash, AAS, Axiom, Jeffry Schneider, Mark Martino, and Ascendant. The Complaint alleges, among other things, fraud and material omissions and misrepresentations to induce investment. The plaintiffs are seeking disgorgement, unspecified damages, and other equitable relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Kinnie Ma Individual Retirement Account, et al., individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, v. Ascendant Capital, LLC, et al. (W.D. Texas, Case No. 19-CV-1050)

In October 2019, plaintiffs filed a putative class action in the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas against GPB, certain limited partnerships, including the Partnership, for which GPB is the general partner, AAS, and Ascendant, as well as certain principals of the GPB-managed funds, auditors, broker-dealers, a fund administrator, and other individuals. The Complaint alleges violations of the Texas Securities Act, fraud, substantial assistance in the commission of fraud, breach of fiduciary duty, substantial assistance in breach of fiduciary duty, and negligence. The plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages and certain equitable relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

GPB Capital Holdings, LLC et al. v. Patrick Dibre (Nassau County, Case No. 606417/2017)

In July 2017, GPB, the Partnership, GPB Holdings I, GPB Holdings Automotive, LLC, and GPB Portfolio Automotive, LLC filed suit in New York State Supreme Court against Patrick Dibre, one of their former operating partners, for breach of contract and additional claims arising out of the Defendant's sale of certain automobile dealerships to the GPB Plaintiffs. Mr. Dibre answered GPB's Complaint, and asserted counterclaims alleging breach of contract and unjust enrichment.

Both parties are currently engaged in court-supervised mediation and are negotiating a potential partial settlement. However, there can be no assurance that the parties will reach a settlement on any of the issues raised in the litigation. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Concorde Investment Services, LLC v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. (New York County, Index No. 650928/ 2021)

In February 2021, Concorde Investment Services, LLC filed suit in New York State Supreme Court against GPB, certain limited partnerships for which GPB is the general partner, and others. The Complaint alleges breaches of contract, fraudulent inducement, negligence, interference with contract, interference with existing economic relations, interference with prospective economic advantage, indemnity, and declaratory relief, and includes a demand for arbitration. Plaintiff's demands include compensatory damages of at least \$5.0 million and a declaration that Concorde is contractually indemnified by the Defendants.

In October 2021, the Supreme Court ordered the action be stayed so that the Plaintiffs could pursue claims in arbitration. By the same Order, the Court denied the Defendants' motions to dismiss the Complaint. Any potential losses associated with this action cannot be estimated at this time.

Dealership Related Litigation

David Rosenberg, et al. v. GPB Prime Holdings LLC et al. (Case No. 1982CV00925)

In June 2019, the former COO of GPB Prime, David Rosenberg, brought a breach of contract action against GPB Prime and Automile Parent Holdings, LLC in Massachusetts Superior Court. In November 2019, an amended complaint was filed, naming GPB Prime, LLC, Automile Parent Holdings, LLC, Automile Holdings, LLC ("Automile"), Automile TY Holdings, LLC, David Gentile, Jeffrey Lash, Kevin Westfall, Jovan Sijan, James Prestiano, Manuel Vianna, Nico

Gutierrez and Michael Frost. The amended complaint alleges breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, breach of fiduciary duty (both direct and derivatively), aiding and abetting the breach of fiduciary duty, fraud, conspiracy, conversion, and equitable relief/specific performance.

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Mr. Rosenberg's breach of contract claims relating to his employment agreement with Automile Holdings, LLC were submitted to JAMS for binding arbitration.

In November 2021, the parties to both actions involving Mr. Rosenberg agreed to a full and final settlement of the pending litigation and arbitration of \$30.0 million, which resulted in an additional accrual of \$6.0 million recorded in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, to cover the excess over the redeemable non-controlling interest already recorded in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet, and to a full release from any and all pending claims. Upon full execution of the settlement, the parties filed a joint stipulation, dismissing with prejudice the pending litigation in Massachusetts, and withdrawing from the JAMS arbitration.

VWoA v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC (S.D.N.Y., Case No. 1:20-cv-01043)

On or about February 7, 2020, Volkswagen of America ("VWoA") filed a complaint against GPB in the Southern District of New York.

VWoA seeks declaration that: (a) GPB's change of directors entitles VWoA to the remedies agreed upon by the parties in the Business Relationship Agreement, as Amended ("BRA"), which allegedly includes a requirement for GPB to cause the divestiture of the Volkswagen dealerships owned by the Partnership upon certain events; (b) GPB's removal and/ or termination of David Rosenberg is an event under the BRA that enables VWoA to enforce the requirement that the Partnership divest all ownership interests in the dealerships; (c) GPB failed to abide by the BRA's divestiture requirement, thus entitling VWoA to enforce the termination remedy; (d) a declaration that: (1) GPB caused, directed or permitted its dealerships to file the Arbitration Action; (2) the filing of the Arbitration Action is a breach of GPB's covenant not to contest or sue; and (3) VWoA is entitled full enforcement of the BRA, including enforcement of its right to recoup all attorney fees and costs associated with the defense of this proceeding and the Arbitration Action, and that GPB is required to indemnify and hold VWoA harmless from any monetary damages, equitable judgments, or fees and costs resulting from any legal, administrative, or (4) equitable proceeding; (e) judgment awarding VWoA specific performance of the BRA, including ordering GPB to cause the Dealership Agreements for the Prime, Caprara, and Norwood dealerships to be terminated; (f) judgment awarding VWoA relief from the Arbitration Action, including but not limited to ordering GPB to cause the dealer to dismiss the Arbitration Action with prejudice; and (g) judgment awarding VWoA all of its attorneys' fees and legal costs incurred in this proceeding and also in defense of VWoA's rights regarding the Arbitration Action.

This lawsuit has been amended although it has not been filed against the Volkswagen dealerships owned by the Partnership, and is not a lawsuit against those dealerships to terminate the relevant Volkswagen Franchise Agreements. VWoA has filed this suit to try to avoid arbitration sought by the dealerships, despite VWoA's dealership agreement having provisions to allow a dealer to seek arbitration, and to enforce alleged contract rights against the Partnership. GPB filed an answer generally denying the allegations. The parties are engaged in discovery. The Caprara Volkswagen dealership was sold for commercial reasons unrelated to this litigation in 2020. In April 2020, Saco Auto Holdings VW, LLC d/b/a Prime Volkswagen ("Prime VW"), the entity operating the Volkswagen dealership in Saco, Maine, filed a separate action before the Maine Motor Vehicle Franchise Board protesting VWoA's efforts to cause GPB to divest the Volkswagen dealerships, which would result in the effective termination of that dealership. Consistent with the legal position being taken by GPB in the SDNY case, Prime VW contends that VWoA's efforts to cause the divestiture of the dealership in Maine's Motor Vehicle Franchise Board. Plaintiffs have not tendered a monetary value on relief sought. GPB believes VWoA's allegations have little to no basis and has been and will continue to vigorously defend itself in this matter. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time. The completion of the pending sale of the business may cause this matter to be dismissed without prejudice.

AMR Auto Holdings – PA, LLC d/b/a Westwood Audi v. Audi of America, Inc., an operating unit of Volkswagen Group of America, Inc. (Dist. of Massachusetts, No. 1:20-cv-10861)

AMR Auto Holdings – PA, LLC (a subsidiary of the Partnership), is a Massachusetts based motor vehicle dealership with a franchise to sell and service new Audi products. This dealership entity is wholly owned by Automile Holdings, LLC. On September 16, 2019, the Board of Managers of Automile Holdings, LLC, terminated its Chief Executive Officer

for cause and communicated its action to the various motor vehicle manufacturers and distributors with which it or its subsidiaries have franchises, including Audi of America, Inc. ("AoA"). Certain manufacturers, including AoA, raised concerns that various provisions of underlying agreements had been breached by terminating the CEO without providing prior notice and receiving prior consent from the distributor. On February 5, 2020, AoA sent a notice of termination, seeking to terminate AMR Auto Holdings-PA LLC's franchise agreement. On April 3, 2020, AMR Auto

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Holdings – PA, LLC, filed a lawsuit in the Superior Court of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, Norfolk County, protesting Audi's notice of termination which, by agreement with Audi, stays termination of the franchise pending resolution of the lawsuit. The case was removed in May 2020 to, and is presently pending in, the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts. As of July 2021, the parties have been engaged in discovery, which they anticipate to continue into 2022. AMR Auto Holdings – PA, LLC, is and will continue to vigorously protest AoA's notice of termination through this litigation. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Certain of these outstanding matters include speculative, substantial or indeterminate monetary amounts. We record a liability when we believe that it is probable a loss will be incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. If we determine that a loss is reasonably possible and the loss or range of loss can be estimated, we disclose the reasonably possible loss. We evaluate developments in our legal matters that could affect the amount of liability that has been previously accrued, if any, and the matters and related reasonably possible losses disclosed, and make adjustments as appropriate. Significant judgement is required to determine both the likelihood of there being and the estimated amount of a loss related to such matters. The completion of the pending sale of the business may cause this matter to be dismissed without prejudice.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Except as set forth below, there have been no material changes from the risk factors disclosed in the Form 10/A, under "Risk Factors" in Item 1A, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 9, 2021, which are incorporated herein by reference.

Failure to complete the sale to Group 1 Automotive, Inc. could negatively impact us and our business, prospects, financial condition, cash flow or results of operations.

On September 12, 2021, we entered into an Purchase Agreement to sell substantially all of the assets or equity of the Selling Entities , including, but not limited to the Selling Entities' real property, vehicles, parts and accessories, goodwill, permits, intellectual property and substantially all contracts, that relate to their automotive dealership and collision center businesses, and excluding certain assets such as cash and certain receivables to Group 1 Automotive, Inc. (the "Transaction"). If the Transaction does not close as expected, it could likely have a negative impact on our ability to sell dealership assets to another buyer, to retain dealership employees, and to maintain existing relationships with manufacturers and lenders, and an adverse effect on our business, prospects, and results of operations.

Additionally, such sale is subject to closing conditions, some of which are out of our control, and there can be no assurances that the Transaction will be completed in the expected timeline. Substantial resources have been diverted and will continue to be diverted toward the completion of the Transaction, for which we will have received little benefit if the Transaction does not close. We have incurred, and expect to incur, significant costs, expenses and fees for professional services and other transaction and transition costs in connection with the Transaction. We must pay these costs whether or not the sale is completed, and they could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

None.

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit Number	Exhibit Description
+2.1	Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 12, 2021, by and between GPB Portfolio Automotive,
	LLC, Capstone Automotive Group, LLC, Capstone Automotive Group II, LLC, Automile Parent
	Holdings, LLC, Automile TY Holdings, LLC, Prime Real Estate Holdings, LLC and Group 1
	Automotive, Inc.
+10.1	Consent Letter modifying the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated October 8, 2021,
	among Automile Holdings, LLC and the other undersigned borrowers, as Borrowers, GPB Prime
	Holdings, LLC and Automile Parent Holdings, LLC, the lenders party thereto, Manufactures and
	Traders Trust Company, as Administrative Agent, and the other parties named therein.
10.12	Eleventh Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement and Amendment to Security
	Agreement, by and between GPB Prime Holdings, LLC, Automile Parent Holdings, LLC,
	Automile TY Holdings, LLC, AMR Real Estate Holdings, LLC and M&T Bank Corporation dated
	June 2021. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 filed with the Partnership's Registration
21.1	Statement on Form 10 filed on August 16, 2021).
31.1	Certification of Principal Executive Officer filed pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and
	<u>15d-14(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the</u> Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
21.0	<u>Certification of Principal Financial and Accounting Officer filed pursuant to Exchange Act Rules</u>
31.2	<u>13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 as adopted pursuant to</u>
	Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1*	Certification by Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
52.1	pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2*	Certification by Principal Financial and Accounting Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
52.2	adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS	Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data
10111102	File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.
101.SCH	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
104	Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document).
*	This certification is deemed not filed for purposes of section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of
	1934, as amended (Exchange Act), or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, nor shall it
	be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended
	or the Exchange Act.
+	Schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. The registrant hereby
	undertakes to furnish copies of any of the omitted schedules upon request by the U.S. Securities
	and Exchange Commission ("SEC").

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

GPB Automotive Portfolio, LP (Registrant)

By: /s/ Michael Frost

Michael Frost President Highline Management Inc (Principal Executive Officer)

By: /s/ *Robert Chmiel* Robert Chmiel

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Date: November 15, 2021

47

PURCHASE AGREEMENT

by and among

GROUP 1 AUTOMOTIVE, INC.,

GPB PORTFOLIO AUTOMOTIVE, LLC,

CAPSTONE AUTOMOTIVE GROUP, LLC,

CAPSTONE AUTOMOTIVE GROUP II, LLC,

AUTOMILE PARENT HOLDINGS, LLC,

AUTOMILE TY HOLDINGS, LLC

and

PRIME REAL ESTATE HOLDINGS, LLC

Dated as of September 12, 2021

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Article I

Page

Definitions; Interpretation

SECTION 1.01.	Definitions	1
SECTION 1.02.	Other Defined Terms	14
SECTION 1.03.	Interpretation	17

Article II

Purchase and Sale; Assumption of Liabilities

SECTION 2.01.	Purchase and Sale	18
SECTION 2.02.	Purchased Assets; Excluded Assets	19
SECTION 2.03.	Assumed Liabilities; Excluded Liabilities	22
SECTION 2.04.	Non-Transferable Assets	24
SECTION 2.05.	Purchaser's Recording and Similar Responsibilities	25
SECTION 2.06.	Payment of Closing Purchase Price	25
SECTION 2.07.	Closing Purchase Price Adjustment	25
SECTION 2.08.	Withholding	27
SECTION 2.09.	Holdback Amount	27
SECTION 2.10.	Deposit	28

Article III

Closing; Closing Deliveries

SECTION 3.01.	Closing	28
SECTION 3.02.	Delayed Closing	28
SECTION 3.03.	Effectiveness	29
SECTION 3.04.	Transactions to be Effected at the Closing	29
SECTION 3.05.	Allocation of Closing Purchase Price	30
	Article IV	

Representations and Warranties of the Seller Parties

SECTION 4.01.	Organization; Standing	31
SECTION 4.02.	Authority; Enforceability; Noncontravention	31
SECTION 4.03.	Governmental Approvals	32
SECTION 4.04.	Capitalization; Title to Transferred Interests	32
SECTION 4.05.	Title to Tangible Property	32
SECTION 4.06.	Sufficiency of Assets	33
SECTION 4.07.	Financial Statements	33
SECTION 4.08.	Absence of Certain Changes	33
SECTION 4.09.	Legal Proceedings	33
SECTION 4.10.	Compliance with Laws; Permits	34
SECTION 4.11.	Tax Matters	34
SECTION 4.12.	Employee Benefits	35

TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

SECTION 4.13.	Labor Matters	36
SECTION 4.14.	Environmental Matters	36
SECTION 4.15.	Intellectual Property	37
SECTION 4.16.	Transferred Real Property	38
SECTION 4.17.	Manufacturers; Warranties; Customer Deposits; We Owes	39
SECTION 4.18.	Contracts	40
SECTION 4.19.	Insurance	42
SECTION 4.20.	Brokers and Other Advisors	42
SECTION 4.21.	No Other Representations or Warranties	42

Article V

Representations and Warranties of the Purchaser

SECTION 5.01.	Organization; Standing	42
SECTION 5.02.	Authority; Noncontravention	43
SECTION 5.03.	Governmental Approvals	43
SECTION 5.04.	Financial Ability to Perform	43
SECTION 5.05.	Solvency	44
SECTION 5.06.	Investment Representation	45
SECTION 5.07.	Brokers and Other Advisors	45
SECTION 5.08.	Legal Proceedings	45
SECTION 5.09.	Manufacturer Approval	45
SECTION 5.10.	No Other Representations or Warranties; Non-Reliance	45

Article VI

Covenants Relating to Conduct of Business

SECTION 6.01.	Conduct of Business Before the Closing	4	6

Article VII

Additional Covenants of the Parties

SECTION 7.01.	Efforts	49
SECTION 7.02.	Public Announcements	50
SECTION 7.03.	Access to Information; Confidentiality; Property Inspection Period	51
SECTION 7.04.	Bulk Sale	53
SECTION 7.05.	Insurance	54
SECTION 7.06.	Employee Matters	54
SECTION 7.07.	COBRA Indemnification and Information	57
SECTION 7.08.	Post-Closing Access	58
SECTION 7.09.	Fees and Expenses	58
SECTION 7.10.	Intercompany Accounts; Affiliate Agreements	58
SECTION 7.11.	Tax Matters	59
SECTION 7.12.	Transfer of Intellectual Property	60
SECTION 7.13.	Replacement of Seller Guarantees	60

TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

Payments from Third Parties	61
Further Assurances	61
Correspondence	61
Transition Services	61
Financing Matters	61
Title Insurance and Real Property Cooperation	65
Use of Name	66
Manufacturer Payments	66
PPP	66
Chargebacks	67
ROFR Exercise	67
Customer Deposits; We Owes; Material Business Contracts	67
Capital Improvements	67
Notice of Certain Events	67
Article VIII	
Conditions to Closing	
Conditions to Each Party's Obligations to Effect the Closing	67
Additional Conditions to Obligations of the Purchaser	67
Additional Conditions to Obligations of the Seller Parties	68
	Further Assurances Correspondence Transition Services Financing Matters Title Insurance and Real Property Cooperation Use of Name Manufacturer Payments PPP Chargebacks ROFR Exercise Customer Deposits; We Owes; Material Business Contracts Capital Improvements Notice of Certain Events Article VIII Conditions to Closing Conditions to Each Party's Obligations to Effect the Closing Additional Conditions to Obligations of the Purchaser

Article IX

SECTION 8.04. Frustration of Closing Conditions

68

Termination

SECTION 9.01.	Termination	68
SECTION 9.02.	Effect of Termination	69

Article X

Indemnification

SECTION 10.01.	Survival	69
SECTION 10.02.	Indemnification by the Selling Entities	70
SECTION 10.03.	Indemnification by the Purchaser	70
SECTION 10.04.	Indemnification Procedures	71
SECTION 10.05.	Calculation of Indemnity Payments	72
SECTION 10.06.	Environmental Matters	72
SECTION 10.07.	Additional Matters	73
SECTION 10.08.	Adjustment to Purchase Price	73
SECTION 10.09.	Order of Recourse; Sole and Exclusive Remedy	73

TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

Article XI

Miscellaneous

SECTION 11.01.	Notices	74
SECTION 11.02.	Amendment	75
SECTION 11.03.	Extension; Waiver	75
SECTION 11.04.	Severability	75
SECTION 11.05.	Counterparts	75
SECTION 11.06.	Entire Agreement; Third-Party Beneficiaries	75
SECTION 11.07.	Governing Law	76
SECTION 11.08.	Assignment	76
SECTION 11.09.	Enforcement; Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process; Waiver of Jury Trial	76
SECTION 11.10.	No Recourse Against Nonparty Affiliates	77
SECTION 11.11.	Legal Representation	78
SECTION 11.12.	Schedules	79

Exhibits

- EXHIBIT A Purchase Price Calculation/Accounting Principles
- EXHIBIT B Form of Bill of Sale and Assignment and Assumption Agreement
- EXHIBIT C Form of Assignment Agreement for Transferred Interests
- EXHIBIT D Form of Intellectual Property Assignment Agreement
- EXHIBIT E Form of Purchase Price Allocation
- EXHIBIT F Debt Commitment Letter
- EXHIBIT G Form of Certificate of Non-Foreign Status
- EXHIBIT H Form of Escrow Agreement
- ANNEX A Non-Dealership Lessees
- ANNEX B Non-Business Entities
- ANNEX C Dealerships

iv

This PURCHASE AGREEMENT, dated as of September 12, 2021 (this "<u>Agreement</u>"), is made by and among Group 1 Automotive, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "<u>Purchaser</u>"), GPB Portfolio Automotive, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, Capstone Automotive Group, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, Capstone Automotive Group, Automile Parent Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and Automile TY Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (each, a "<u>Seller</u>" and collectively, the "<u>Sellers</u>"), and Prime Real Estate Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the "<u>Real Estate Equity Seller</u>"). The Sellers and the Real Estate Equity Seller are collectively referred to herein as the "<u>Seller Parties.</u>" Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein have the meanings set forth in <u>Section 1.01</u>.

WHEREAS, the Sellers conduct the Business directly or indirectly through certain of their respective Subsidiaries;

WHEREAS, the Real Estate Equity Seller holds equity interests in Subsidiaries that own certain real estate or real property interests used in connection with the Business;

WHEREAS, the Seller Parties directly or indirectly through the other Selling Entities own or have rights to the Purchased Assets (including the Transferred Interests); and

WHEREAS, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, the Seller Parties and the other Selling Entities desire to sell, transfer, assign and deliver to the Purchaser, and the Purchaser desires to (a) purchase, acquire, assume and accept from the Seller Parties and the other Selling Entities all of their respective right, title and interest in and to all of the Purchased Assets and (b) assume the Assumed Liabilities; and

WHEREAS, in connection with the purchase of the Purchased Assets, the Purchaser or its Affiliate is willing to employ Business Employees immediately following the Closing or Delayed Closing, as applicable, as set forth in <u>Section 7.06</u> herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the Purchaser and each Seller Party hereby agrees as follows:

Article I

Definitions; Interpretation SECTION 1.01. Definitions.

"<u>Affiliate</u>" means, as to any Person, any other Person that, directly or indirectly, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, such Person. For this purpose, "control" (including, with its correlative meanings, "controlled by" and "under common control with") shall mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of management or policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of securities or partnership or other ownership interests, by Contract or otherwise.

"<u>Ancillary Agreements</u>" means the Bill of Sale and Assignment and Assumption Agreement, the Assignment Agreements for Transferred Interests, the Intellectual Property Assignment Agreement and the Escrow Agreement.

"<u>Antitrust Laws</u>" means the Sherman Act, the Clayton Act, the HSR Act (as defined below), the Federal Trade Commission Act, and all other applicable Laws issued by a Governmental Authority that are designed or intended to prohibit, restrict or regulate actions having the purpose or effect of monopolization or restraint of trade or lessening of competition through merger or acquisition.

"<u>Asset Taxes</u>" means ad valorem, property, excise, sales, use and similar Taxes based upon the operation or ownership of the Purchased Assets, the assets of the Transferred Entities or the Business, but excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, Income Taxes and Transfer Taxes.

"Automile" means Automile Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

"Balance Sheet Date" means July 31, 2021.

"Business" means the business of the Selling Entities operated at or with respect to the Dealerships and relating to the sale and distribution of automobiles and other related equipment, components, spare parts and accessories at or with respect to the Dealerships and repair and maintenance services provided with respect to automobiles and related activities conducted at or with respect to the Dealerships, the business of the Transferred Entities of owning and leasing real estate to the Dealerships and certain other Persons set forth on <u>Annex A</u> and the business of the Selling Entities of owning and operating collision centers. For avoidance of doubt, none of the entities set forth on <u>Annex B</u> is or will be deemed to be engaged in the Business.

"<u>business day</u>" means a day except a Saturday, a Sunday or other day on which banks in the State of New York are authorized or required by Law to be closed.

"<u>Business Employee</u>" means each employee of Automile who is set forth in Section 1.01(a) of the Disclosure Letter (by such employee's associate ID number and location), including each such employee who is on leave of absence (including medical leave, personal leave, extended COVID-19-related leave, military leave, workers compensation leave, short-term disability and long-term disability) or paid or unpaid time-off, as such list may be updated in accordance with <u>Section 7.06(a)</u>.

"<u>Capital Improvements Reimbursement Amount</u>" means (x) the aggregate amount of actual costs and expenses incurred and paid by the Selling Entities prior to the Closing with respect to each capital improvement project related to certain Transferred Real Property, which projects are each described on Section 1.01(b) of the Disclosure Letter, including (i) the project name and location, (ii) the actual costs incurred to date and (iii) the maximum amount budgeted for each such project less (y) the actual amounts paid to the applicable Selling Entity under the Financial Assistance Letter of Agreement, dated September 15, 2020 between Mazda Motor of America, Inc. and AMR Auto Holdings-MN, L.L.C.

"<u>Cash</u>" means all cash and cash equivalents, net of uncleared checks outstanding and in process wire transfers, of a Person but excludes security deposits and damage deposits (including under any leases of Real Property), and Customer Deposits (which for the avoidance of doubt are dealt with in Closing Current Assets and Closing Current Liabilities).

"<u>Closing Cash</u>" means, in each case determined as of 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on the day immediately preceding the Closing Date in accordance with the Purchase Price Calculation/Accounting Principles, all Cash of the Transferred Entities.

"<u>Closing Current Assets</u>" means, in each case as determined as of 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on the day immediately preceding the Closing Date, the current assets of the Business that are specifically listed by type as set forth in Section 1.01(c)-1 of the Disclosure Letter, calculated in accordance with the Purchase Price Calculation/ Accounting Principles or, with respect to Taxes, the Tax Allocation Principles.

"<u>Closing Current Liabilities</u>" means, in each case as determined as of 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on the day immediately preceding the Closing Date, the current Liabilities of the Business that are specifically listed by type as set forth in Section 1.01(c)-2 of the Disclosure Letter, calculated in accordance with the Purchase Price Calculation/Accounting Principles or, with respect to Taxes, the Tax Allocation Principles.

"<u>Closing Debt</u>" means all Indebtedness owed in respect of the applicable bank financing used to purchase the vehicle inventory of the Seller Group and secured by such vehicle inventory or financing used to purchase Transferred Owned Real Property and secured by such Transferred Owned Real Property.

"Closing Debt Amount" means the total amount of Closing Debt as of immediately prior to the Closing.

"<u>Closing Demonstrator Vehicles Price</u>" means, in each case determined as of 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on the day immediately preceding the Closing Date in accordance with the Purchase Price Calculation/ Accounting Principles, the aggregate value of all Demonstrator Vehicles of the Business included in the Purchased Assets.

"<u>Closing Loaner Vehicles Price</u>" means, in each case determined as of 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on the day immediately preceding the Closing Date in accordance with the Purchase Price Calculation/Accounting Principles, the aggregate value of all Loaner Vehicles of the Business included in the Purchased Assets.

"<u>Closing Manufacturer Parts and Accessories Price</u>" means, in each case determined as of 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on the day immediately preceding the Closing Date in accordance with the Purchase Price Calculation/Accounting Principles, the aggregate value of all Manufacturer Parts and Accessories of the Business included in the Purchased Assets.

"<u>Closing New Vehicles Price</u>" means, in each case determined as of 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on the day immediately preceding the Closing Date in accordance with the Purchase Price Calculation/Accounting Principles, the aggregate value of all New Vehicles of the Business included in the Purchased Assets.

"<u>Closing Non-Manufacturer Parts and Accessories Price</u>" means, in each case determined as of 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on the day immediately preceding the Closing Date in accordance with the Purchase Price Calculation/Accounting Principles, the aggregate value of all Non-Manufacturer Parts and Accessories of the Business included in the Purchased Assets.

"<u>Closing Other Assets</u>" means, in each case determined as of 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on the day immediately preceding the Closing Date in accordance with the Purchase Price Calculation/Accounting Principles, the aggregate value of all other assets of the Business included in the Purchased Assets and not otherwise included in Closing Purchase Price under another category.

"<u>Closing Supplies Price</u>" means, in each case determined as of 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on the day immediately preceding the Closing Date in accordance with the Purchase Price Calculation/Accounting Principles, the aggregate value of all Supplies of the Business included in the Purchased Assets.

"<u>Closing Tires Price</u>" means, in each case determined as of 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on the day immediately preceding the Closing Date in accordance with the Purchase Price Calculation/Accounting Principles, the aggregate value of all Tires of the Business included in the Purchased Assets.

"<u>Closing Used Vehicles Price</u>" means, in each case determined as of 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on the day immediately preceding the Closing Date in accordance with the Purchase Price Calculation/Accounting Principles, the aggregate value of all Used Vehicles of the Business included in the Purchased Assets.

"<u>Closing Work in Process Price</u>" means, in each case determined as of 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on the day immediately preceding the Closing Date in accordance with the Purchase Price Calculation/Accounting Principles, the aggregate value of all Work in Process of the Business included in the Purchased Assets.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

3

"Conforming Estoppel" means a written estoppel certificate, addressed to the Purchaser and the Purchaser's lenders, executed by the landlord, sublandlord or licensor under each of the Material Transferred Real Property Leases, which shall be in form and substance mutually acceptable to the Purchaser and the Seller Parties, shall be dated no earlier than thirty (30) days prior to the Closing Date, shall include statements certifying that such Material Transferred Real Property Lease is unmodified (except as identified in the estoppel certificate and which contains no material modifications that have not been made available to Purchaser by Sellers) and is in full force and effect, setting forth the rent and other charges and describing the dates to which rent and other charges have been paid, and setting forth the dates of commencement and expiration of the term thereof, shall certify that there is no material default on the part of either the Selling Entity or Transferred Entity party to such Material Transferred Real Property Lease, on the one hand, or on the part of such landlord, sublandlord or licensor, on the other hand, under such Material Transferred Real Property Lease, and no event has occurred that would constitute a material default upon either or both of the passage of time or giving of notice under such Material Transferred Real Property Lease on the part of either the Selling Entity or Transferred Entity that is party thereto or on the part of such landlord, sublandlord or licensor thereunder, and shall contain such other statements, certifications, and representations on the part of the part of such landlord, sublandlord or licensor as may be reasonably requested by the Purchaser or its lenders, provided that the foregoing requirements are subject to and may be limited by any relevant estoppel provisions in the Material Transferred Real Property Leases. For the purposes hereof, a "material default" on the part of the Selling Entity or Transferred Entity that is party to a Material Transferred Real Property Lease is a default or breach that, if not cured, confers to the landlord, sublandlord or licensor thereunder, pursuant to the express terms of the applicable Transferred Real Property Lease, the right or option to terminate such Transferred Real Property Lease.

"<u>Consent</u>" means any consent, approval or authorization of, notice to or designation, registration, declaration or filing with, any third party, including Permits.

"<u>Contract</u>" means any legally binding contract, agreement, deed, mortgage, lease, sublease, license, sublicense, purchase order, statement of work or commitment, instrument, or arrangement.

"<u>Controlled Group Liability</u>" means any and all Liabilities under any "multiemployer plan" (as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA), under Title IV of ERISA, under Section 302 of ERISA or Sections 412, 430(k), and 4971 of the Code, and as a result of the failure to comply with the continuation of coverage requirements of ERISA Section 601 et seq., and Section 4980B of the Code.

"<u>COVID-19</u>" means SARS-CoV-2 or COVID-19, and any evolutions or mutations thereof or related or associated epidemics, pandemic or disease outbreaks.

"<u>COVID-19 Measures</u>" means any quarantine, "shelter in place," "stay at home," workforce reduction, social distancing, shut down, closure, sequester, safety or similar Laws, directives, guidelines or recommendations promulgated by any Governmental Authority, including the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the World Health Organization, or related requirements, guidelines or recommendations of any customer of the Seller Group, in each case, in connection with or in response to COVID-19, including the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act and the Families First Act.

"Dealerships" means the dealerships listed on <u>Annex C</u> hereto.

"<u>Debt Financing</u>" means any debt financing incurred or intended to be incurred by the Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries in order to finance all or a portion of the Closing Purchase Price and the other amounts required to be paid by the Purchaser to consummate the Transactions, including but not limited to the debt financing contemplated by the Debt Commitment Letter.

"<u>Delayed Business Employee</u>" means, to the extent a Dealership becomes a Delayed Closing Dealership, (i) any Business Employee whose primary employment location is at such Dealership or (ii) any other Business Employee who the parties reasonably agree in writing to designate as a Delayed Business Employee.

"<u>Demonstrator Vehicles</u>" means each of the Selling Entities' untitled vehicles used as demonstrator vehicles of the Dealerships.

"<u>Employee</u>" means the Business Employees and any employee of the Seller Group whose employment therewith terminated prior to the date hereof or terminates prior to the Closing Date.

"Environmental Assessment" means all or any portion of the following tasks: site inspections at reasonable times of any and all Transferred Real Properties and improvements, buildings, fixtures and equipment thereon; review and copy of any and all Records, including environmental files, environmental site assessment reports, records, and correspondence; interviews with the owners, operators and occupants of the Transferred Real Properties and improvements, buildings, fixtures and equipment thereon as well as any of their respective employees, agents and representatives that may have Knowledge of environmental matters; interviews with Governmental Authority personnel and review of Governmental Authority records; evaluation of existing, or performance of new, environmental site assessments, including a so-called Phase I environmental site assessment; and sampling, testing, boring, drilling or other invasive investigation activities, including a so-called Phase II environmental site assessment (collectively, "<u>Phase II Activities</u>") at, on, under, or about any or all of the Transferred Real Properties and improvements, buildings, fixtures and equipment thereon.

"<u>ERISA</u>" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and the applicable rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

"<u>ERISA Affiliate</u>" means, with respect to any Person, any entity, trade or business that is a member of a group described in Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code or Section 4001(b)(l) of ERISA that includes such Person, or that is a member of the same "controlled group" as such Person pursuant to Section 4001(a)(14) of ERISA.

"Escrow Agent" means Bank of America, National Association.

"<u>Escrow Agreement</u>" means that certain Escrow Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date, by and among the Seller Parties, the Purchaser and the Escrow Agent, in substantially the form set forth as <u>Exhibit H</u>.

"<u>Excluded Tax Returns</u>" means all Tax Returns of the Seller Group other than a Tax Return of a Transferred Entity or Tax Returns for Asset Taxes of any member of the Seller Group other than the a Selling Entity of a Transferred Entity.

"<u>Final Purchase Price</u>" means the Closing Purchase Price (as hereafter defined) as finally adjusted pursuant to <u>Section 2.07</u> to reflect the Final Closing Amounts.

"Financial Statements" means the following financial statements (in each case, along with the notes and schedules thereto): the audited consolidated balance sheets of GPB Prime Holdings, LLC and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, and the related audited consolidated statements of income, statements of members' capital and statements of cash flows of GPB Prime Holdings, LLC and its subsidiaries for the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019; the unaudited consolidated balance sheet of GPB Prime Holdings, LLC and its subsidiaries as of July 31, 2021, and the related unaudited consolidated statement of operations, unaudited consolidated statement of members' equity and unaudited consolidated statement of cash flows for period ended July 31, 2021; the audited combined balance sheet of the New York Metro Dealerships as of December 31, 2020, and related audited combined statements of income, statements of members' equity and statements of cash flows of the New York Metro Dealerships for the year ended December 31, 2020; and the unaudited combined balance sheet of the New York Metro Real Estate & Dealerships as of July 31, 2021, and related unaudited combined statement of operations of the New York Metro Real Estate & Dealerships for period ended July 31, 2021.

"<u>Financing Sources</u>" means the Persons who have provided, provide or will provide the Debt Financing, including any Persons named in any debt commitment letters, joinder agreements, indentures or credit agreements or similar agreements entered into in connection therewith or relating thereto and each such Persons' Affiliates, officers, directors, employees and representatives, advisors, counsels and consultants and their successors and assigns.

"<u>Fixed Assets</u>" means all fixed assets owned and used in the Business, including furniture, shop equipment, parts and accessories, equipment, machinery, lifts, compressors, alignment racks, computer equipment, in each case used in the Business and located at the Transferred Real Property; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, it shall exclude all other leasehold improvements, and other Real Property improvements (including any construction in progress) and vehicles of any type.

"<u>Fixed Assets Price</u>" means the aggregate value of all Fixed Assets, calculated in accordance with the Purchase Price Calculation/Accounting Principles.

"Fraud" shall mean an actual and intentional fraud by a Person with respect to the making of the representations and warranties made pursuant to <u>Article IV</u> or <u>Article V</u>, as applicable; <u>provided</u>, that at the time such representation or warranty was made such representation or warranty was materially inaccurate, such Person had actual knowledge (and not imputed or constructive knowledge), without any duty of inquiry or investigation, of the material inaccuracy of such representation or warranty, such Person had the specific intent to deceive another Person to enter into this Agreement and the other Person has acted in justifiable reliance to its detriment on such materially inaccurate representation or warranty and suffered or incurred financial injury or other damages as a result of such reliance; <u>provided</u> that, with respect to the representations and warranties of the Seller Parties contained in <u>Article IV</u>, the phrase "by a Person" in the preceding clause shall only include the individuals set forth on Section 1.01(d) of the Disclosure Letter under the caption "Knowledge of the Sellers" in their respective capacities as employees and/or officers of the applicable Seller Parties. For the avoidance of doubt, "Fraud" shall not include any claim for equitable fraud, promissory fraud or any tort (including a claim for fraud) based on negligence, recklessness or a similar theory under Delaware law.

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States.

"<u>Governmental Authority</u>" means any government, court, regulatory, taxing or administrative agency, commission or authority or other legislative, executive or judicial governmental entity (in each case including any self-regulatory organization), whether federal, state or local, domestic, foreign or multinational.

"<u>Hazardous Materials</u>" means any material, substance, chemical, or waste (or combination thereof) that is listed, defined, designated, regulated or classified as hazardous, toxic, radioactive, dangerous, a pollutant, a contaminant, petroleum, oil, or words of similar meaning or effect under, or as to which liability might arise pursuant to, any Environmental Law, including, but not limited to, asbestos or asbestos containing materials, radioactive materials, lead, polychlorinated biphenyls, per and polyfluoroalkyl substances, petroleum or petroleum products, solid waste, toxic mold, and radon gas.

"Highline" means Highline Management, Inc., an Affiliate of the Seller Group.

"<u>Holdback Amount</u>" means an amount equal to \$45 million subject to a proportionate reduction for any ROFR Assets.

"<u>HSR Act</u>" means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

"Income Taxes" means any income, capital gains, franchise and similar Taxes.

6

"Indebtedness" means, with respect to any Person, without duplication, and including all accrued and unpaid interest thereon, premiums and penalties or other amounts owing in respect of: (a) all indebtedness of such Person for borrowed money, (b) all obligations of such Person evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures or other similar instruments, (c) all reimbursement obligations of such Person under letters of credit, bank guarantees or similar facilities, but only to the extent drawn upon, (d) all obligations of such Person as lessee that are capitalized in accordance with GAAP; provided, that none of the Transferred Real Property Leases shall be deemed to be leases required to be capitalized for purposes of this Agreement and shall be treated as operating leases hereunder, (e) all obligations of such Person issued or assumed as the deferred purchase price of property, all conditional sale obligations of such Person and all obligations of such Person under any title retention agreement, (f) all obligations of such Person under interest rate or currency swap transactions or commodity hedges (valued at the termination value thereof), (g) all Indebtedness of any other Person referred to in clauses (a) through (f) above the payment of which such first Person is responsible or liable, directly or indirectly, as obligor, guarantor, surety or otherwise, including guarantees of such obligations. For avoidance of doubt, Indebtedness shall not include any (1) reimbursement obligations for finance, insurance and other aftermarket products (also known as "chargebacks") sold by the Seller Group prior to the Closing Date ("<u>Chargebacks</u>") or (2) We Owes.

"<u>Independent Expert</u>" means Dixon Hughes Goodman LLP, or if such Person is unable or unwilling to serve or is no longer independent from each of the parties at the time of its appointment, another nationally recognized independent public accounting firm reasonably agreed upon by the Purchaser and the Sellers in writing.

"Information Security and Privacy Requirements" means all applicable Laws concerning the privacy, data protection or security of Personally Identifiable Information or the Selling Entities or Transferred Entities' IT Systems or data, including the following Laws and their implementing regulations, in each case to the extent applicable: the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, the CAN-SPAM Act, the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, state data security Laws, state data breach notification Laws, and Laws governing online marketing or telemarketing; the Selling Entities' and Transferred Entities' privacy policies; the requirements of any agreements or codes of conduct to which the Selling Entities or Transferred Entities' and Transferred Entities' IT Systems or data; and the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards and, to the extent the Selling Entities or Transferred Entities or any other industry standards.

"Insured Transferred Real Property" means those parcels of Transferred Real Property with respect to which the Purchaser elects to purchase title insurance at Closing.

"Intellectual Property" means all industrial and intellectual property rights of any kind, including rights in and to: patents and patent applications, together with all reissuances, divisionals, revisions, extensions, reexaminations, provisionals, continuations and continuations-in-part with respect thereto (collectively, "Patents"), trademarks, service marks, trade names, service names, trade dress, logos, internet domain names, and other identifiers of source, and all applications, registrations and renewals therefor, together with the goodwill associated with any of the foregoing (collectively, "Trademarks"), all copyrights, database rights, and other rights in works of authorship, and all applications and registrations therefor (collectively, "Copyrights"), and trade secrets and other proprietary information and know-how.

"<u>Intellectual Property Assignment Agreement</u>" means the intellectual property assignment agreement to be entered into between the applicable Selling Entities and the Purchaser with respect to the assignment of the Transferred Intellectual Property to the Purchaser, in substantially the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit D</u>.

"IRS" means the U.S. Internal Revenue Service.

"<u>IT Systems</u>" means all computing and/or communications systems and equipment, including any internet, intranet, extranet, e-mail, or voice mail systems and the hardware associated with such systems; all software, the tangible media on which it is recorded (in any form) and all supporting documentation, data and databases; and all peripheral equipment related to the foregoing, including printers, scanners, switches, routers, network equipment, and removable media.

"<u>Knowledge</u>" means with respect to the Purchaser for any matter in question, the actual knowledge of the individuals listed on Section 1.01(d) of the Disclosure Letter under the caption "Knowledge of the Purchaser" and with respect to the Seller Parties for any matter in question, the actual knowledge of the individuals listed on Section 1.01(d) of the Disclosure Letter under the caption "Knowledge of the Sellers".

"Liabilities" means any debts, damages, fines, liabilities, obligations, commitments or claims (whether direct or indirect, accrued or unaccrued, known or unknown, fixed or contingent, matured or unmatured, disputed or undisputed, liquidated or unliquidated, due or to become due, determined or determinable or otherwise, and whether in contract, tort, strict liability or otherwise) and including all costs and expenses relating thereto (including all fees, disbursements and expenses of legal counsel, experts, engineers and consultants and costs of investigation).

"Lien" means any pledge, lien, charge, encumbrance, security interest, option, hypothecation, mortgage, deed of trust, reservation, conditional sale or other title retention agreement, easement, right-of-way, servitude, restrictive covenant or any other similar restriction or limitation, and whether arising by Contract, Law or otherwise.

"Loaner Vehicles" means each of the Selling Entities' vehicles that are either untitled or registered in any Manufacturer loaner vehicle program (e.g., "TRAC").

"Loss" means any loss, Liability, Tax, damage, penalty, fine, judgment, suit, action, cause of action, assessment, award, cost or expense (including amounts paid in settlement or compromise) incurred or suffered, including reasonable legal fees and expenses (including reasonable costs of investigation and defense and reasonable attorneys' and other professionals' fees), whether or not involving a third-party claim.

"Manufacturer" means any Person set forth on Section 1.01(e) of the Disclosure Letter.

"<u>Manufacturer Agreement</u>" means any framework agreement, dealer agreement, retailer agreement, letter agreement, franchise agreement, sales and service agreement or security agreement between a Manufacturer and a Selling Entity or Transferred Entity, as applicable (or, with respect to <u>Section 3.02</u>, the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates).

"<u>Manufacturer Parts and Accessories</u>" means all of the Selling Entities' inventory of parts and accessories from the Manufacturers held for sale at the Dealerships.

"Material Adverse Effect" means any effect, change, occurrence, circumstance or event that has, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations or financial condition of the Business, the Purchased Assets and the Transferred Entities, taken as a whole; provided, however, that no effect, change, occurrence, circumstance or event arising out of, attributable to, or resulting from, the following matters (either alone or in combination) shall constitute or (except as expressly described below) be taken into account in determining whether a Material Adverse Effect has occurred, is continuing or would reasonably be expected to occur: (a)(i) the economic, business, financial, political or regulatory environment generally affecting the industry in which the Business operates or (ii) the economy, credit or financial or capital markets, in the United States or elsewhere in the world, including changes or prospective changes in interest or exchange rates, commodity prices, monetary policy or inflation or in government spending and budgets (including any government shutdown), or (b)(i) changes or prospective changes in Law or in GAAP or in accounting standards, or any changes or prospective changes in the interpretation or enforcement of any of the foregoing, (ii) the negotiation, execution, announcement or performance of this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents or the consummation or the pendency of the Transactions, including the impact thereof on relationships, contractual or otherwise, with customers, Manufacturers, suppliers, distributors, partners, employees or regulators, or any Action arising from or relating to this Agreement, any other Transaction Document or the Transactions (provided, that the provisions of this clause (ii) shall not apply to the representations and warranties in Section 4.02(b) or Section 4.03)), (iii) acts of war (whether or not declared), military activity, sabotage, cyber-intrusion, civil disobedience or domestic or international terrorism, or any escalation or worsening or de-escalation or improvement thereof, (iv) pandemics (including COVID-19), epidemics, disease outbreaks or other public health conditions (or COVID-19 Measures or other restrictions that relate to, or arise out of, a pandemic, epidemic or disease outbreak), earthquakes, floods, hurricanes,

wildfires, blackouts, tornados or other natural disasters, weather-related events, or any similar force majeure events, or any escalation or worsening in each case thereof, (v) any action taken by the Seller Group that is required by this Agreement or any other Transaction Document or taken at the Purchaser's written request, or the failure to take any action by the Seller Group if that action is not permitted by this Agreement or any other Transaction Document, (vi) any change resulting or arising from the identity of, or any facts or circumstances relating to, the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates, (vii) any change or prospective change in the credit ratings of the Seller Group or any of their Affiliates, (viii) any failure by the Business to meet any internal or external projections or forecasts for any period (it being understood that the exceptions in clauses (vii) and (viii) shall not prevent or otherwise affect a determination that the underlying cause of any such failure (if not otherwise falling within any of the exceptions provided by clause (a) and clauses (b)(i) through (vi) hereof) is a Material Adverse Effect) or (ix) any provision by any Manufacturer of any termination or divestment notices with respect to any Manufacturer Agreement (or enforcement of any such notices previously received by the Seller Group or its Affiliates) or any notice of exercise or intent to exercise any right of first refusal or similar right; provided further that any effect, change or event referred to in clause (a) may be taken into account in determining whether there has been a Material Adverse Effect to the extent such effect, change or event has a material disproportionate adverse effect on the Business, the Purchased Assets and the Transferred Entities, taken as a whole, as compared to other participants in the industry in which the Business operates (in which case only such incremental disproportionate impact or impacts may be taken into account in determining whether there has been a Material Adverse Effect).

"<u>Material Environmental Defect</u>" means, at any individual piece of the Transferred Real Property or any operations thereon, a condition or occurrence on or before the date of this Agreement that is identified as a result of any Environmental Assessment activities conducted by or on behalf of the Purchaser and indicates either any violation of or noncompliance with Environmental Laws; or a liability or obligation under applicable Environmental Law to perform any investigation, remediation, monitoring, corrective or curative action, treatment, clean-up, abatement, containment, removal, mitigation, or response or restoration work with respect to Hazardous Materials, taking into consideration the use of the property by the Business as of the date hereof (excluding any Permitted Lien) for which the aggregate Material Environmental Defect Estimated Costs to cure such condition(s) or defect(s) exceeds \$250,000; provided, only a condition or defect that individually exceeds \$25,000 shall be considered in the calculation of the whether the \$250,000 threshold is met.

"<u>Material Environmental Defect Estimated Costs</u>" means the reasonable estimated costs associated with a Material Environmental Defect.

"<u>Material Transferred Real Property Lease</u>" means any Transferred Real Property Lease that covers or is for the principal premises of a Dealership, or is for a parking lease or license that is necessary to meet manufacturer guidelines under a Manufacturer Agreement.

"<u>New Vehicles</u>" means each of the Selling Entities' new, untitled, unregistered and unused 2021 and subsequent model years Manufacturer vehicles including vehicles in transit.

"<u>Non-Manufacturer Parts and Accessories</u>" means all of the Selling Entities' inventory of parts and accessories (other than those that are Manufacturer Parts and Accessories) held for sale at the Dealerships.

"<u>Owned Real Estate Price</u>" means the aggregate value of all Transferred Owned Real Property (including, for avoidance of doubt, all Transferred Owned Real Property owned by Transferred Entities), calculated in accordance with the Purchase Price Calculation/Accounting Principles.

"<u>Payoff Letters</u>" means customary payoff letter(s) provided by the Seller Group prior to the Closing Date, signed by the Persons to which the Closing Debt is payable (or an agent or trustee on behalf of such Persons), setting forth the amount required to pay off in full at the Closing all amounts owing in connection with such Indebtedness (including, but not limited to, the outstanding principal, accrued and unpaid interest and prepayment and other penalties); wire transfer instructions for the payment of such amounts; and the commitment to release any and all Liens that such Person may hold on any of the Purchased Assets secured by such Closing Debt within a designated time period after the Closing Date upon receipt of the payoff amount set forth therein.

"Permitted Lien" means (a) Liens for Taxes, assessments or other charges by Governmental Authorities not yet due and delinquent or, if delinquent, the amount or validity of which is being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings and for which appropriate reserves have been established under GAAP, (b) mechanics', materialmen's, carriers', workmen's, warehouseman's, repairmen's, landlords' and similar Liens granted or which arise in the ordinary course of business and are not otherwise material or that are not yet delinquent or where the amount or validity of which is being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings and for which appropriate reserves have been established under GAAP, (c) with respect to Real Property, (i) Liens, conditions and restrictions under leases, subleases, licenses or occupancy agreements that are disclosed in the Disclosure Letter, including statutory Liens of landlords thereunder, (ii) Liens not created by any member of the Seller Group that affect the underlying fee interest of any leased Real Property, including any master leases or ground leases, (iii) minor defects or imperfections of title, easements, declarations, covenants, conditions, rights-of-way, permits, licenses, reciprocal easement agreements, encroachments and other similar restrictions; provided, that any such items do not and would not reasonably be expected to materially (A) interfere with the present use of the related Real Property or (B) impair the value of such Real Property, (iv) requirements of zoning, entitlement, building, land use and other similar Laws, or (v) any matters or set of facts that an up-to-date survey or inspection would show that do not and would not reasonably be expected to materially (A) interfere with the present use of the related Real Property or (B) impair the value of such Real Property, (d) Liens created by or for the benefit of the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates, (e) Liens discharged at or prior to the Closing (provided that such Liens shall not constitute "Permitted Liens" from and after Closing), (f) Liens incurred or deposits made in the ordinary course of business in connection with workers' compensation, unemployment insurance or other types of social security, (g) Liens arising under equipment or personal property leases with third parties entered into in the ordinary course of business, (h) purchase options, rights of first refusal and other Liens (including certain rights of set-off and title retention), as applicable, in favor of a Manufacturer arising under a Manufacturer Agreement or the documents executed and delivered in connection with any of the foregoing in this clause (h), (i) with respect to the Transferred Interests, transfer restrictions under applicable securities Laws or under the organizational documents of the Transferred Entities, (j) non-exclusive licenses with respect to Intellectual Property, (k) Liens in the ordinary course of business to secure floorplan financing and (1) those Liens set forth on Section 1.01(f) of the Disclosure Letter; provided, however, that no mortgages, deeds of trust, security interests, judgment Liens, Liens for Taxes (other than Liens for Taxes not yet due and delinquent or, if delinquent, the amount or validity of which is being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings), mechanics', materialmen's, carriers', workmen's, warehouseman's, repairmen's, landlords' and similar Liens (other than Liens described in clause (b) of this definition) or any other monetary Liens encumbering any Transferred Owned Real Property or encumbering the leasehold interest of any member of the Seller Group in any Transferred Leased Real Property shall be deemed or considered a Permitted Lien to the extent not fully released and satisfied at or prior to Closing.

"<u>Person</u>" means an individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, association, trust, unincorporated organization or any other entity, including a Governmental Authority.

"<u>Personally Identifiable Information</u>" means any information relating to an identifiable natural person and any other information that is considered "personally identifiable information," "personal information," or "personal data" under applicable privacy, data protection or security Laws.

"Purchase Price Calculation/Accounting Principles" means the principles set forth on Exhibit A and, to the extent not inconsistent therewith, GAAP, using and applying the same accounting principles, practices, procedures, policies and methods (with consistent classification, judgments, elections, inclusions, exclusions, and valuation and estimation methodologies) used and applied by the Seller Group in the preparation of the applicable Financial Statements; provided that if such accounting principles, practices, procedures, applicable policies and methods used and applied by the Seller Group in the preparation of the applicable Financial Statements; provided that if such accounting principles, practices, procedures, applicable policies and methods used and applied by the Seller Group in the preparation of the applicable Financial Statements and GAAP are inconsistent, the accounting principles, practices, procedures, policies or methods is clearly and expressly set forth in Exhibit A or otherwise described in the Financial Statements) in the preparation of the applicable Financial Statements shall control; provided further that the Purchase Price Calculation/Accounting Principles shall not include any purchase accounting or other adjustment arising out of the consummation of the Transactions and shall be based on facts and circumstances as they exist as of immediately prior to the Closing and shall exclude the effect of any act, decision or event occurring on or after the Closing and shall follow the defined terms contained in this Agreement.

"<u>Purchaser Fundamental Representations</u>" means <u>Section 5.01</u> (Organization; Standing), <u>Section 5.02(a)</u> (Authority; Noncontravention) and <u>Section 5.07</u> (Brokers and Other Advisors).

"<u>Real Property</u>" means all land, buildings and other structures, facilities or improvements located thereon and all easements, licenses, rights and appurtenances relating to the foregoing.

"<u>Records</u>" means all books and records, including all environmental assessments, audit reports, studies, and similar or related documentation and correspondence addressing potentially material environmental Liabilities relating to the Business or operations thereof or the Purchased Assets and all Tax records, Tax Returns and Tax related work papers, books of account, stock records and ledgers, financial, accounting and personnel records, invoices, customers' and suppliers' lists, customer sales, lease, finance and service records (both hard copy and electronic format, including deal jackets), other distribution lists, sales and purchase records and operating, production and other manuals, in any form or medium.

"<u>Release</u>" means any releasing, depositing, spilling, pumping, pouring, placing, emitting, discarding, abandoning, emptying, discharging, migrating, injecting, escaping, leaching, dumping, or disposing into the indoor or outdoor environment.

"<u>Representatives</u>" means, with respect to any Person, its officers, directors, employees, consultants, agents, financial advisors, investment bankers, attorneys, accountants, other advisors and other representatives.

"Required Information" means with respect to GPB Prime Holdings, LLC and its subsidiaries, audited consolidated balance sheets and related consolidated statements of income, members' capital and cash flows for the three most recently completed fiscal years ended at least 90 days prior to the Closing Date, unaudited consolidated balance sheets and related consolidated statements of operations and cash flows for each interim fiscal quarter ended since the last audited financial statements and at least 45 days prior to the Closing Date and internal consolidated balance sheets and related consolidated statements of income and cash flows for each interim fiscal month ended since the last quarterly financial statements and at least 30 days prior to the Closing Date and (b) with respect to the New York Metro Dealerships, (i) audited combined balance sheet and related combined statements of income, members' equity and cash flows as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020 and any additional completed fiscal years ended at least 90 days prior to the Closing Date, (ii) unaudited combined balance sheets and related combined statements of operations for each interim fiscal month ended since the last audited financial statements and at least 45 days prior to the Closing Date, (ii) unaudited combined balance sheets and related combined statement of operations for each interim fiscal quarter ended since the last audited financial statements and at least 45 days prior to the Closing Date, (ii) unaudited combined balance sheets and related combined statement of operations for each interim fiscal quarter ended since the last audited financial statements of operations for each interim fiscal month ended since the last audited combined statements of operations for each interim fiscal month ended since the last quarterly financial statements of operations for each interim fiscal month ended since the last quarterly financial statements and at least 30 days prior to the Closing Date.

"<u>Retained Businesses</u>" means all businesses, operations and activities directly or indirectly conducted or formerly conducted by the Seller Group other than the Business (including all businesses, operations and activities related to any dealerships sold or disposed of prior to the date hereof).

"<u>ROFR Assets</u>" means any Dealership and the Purchased Assets related thereto (including any Transferred Real Property related thereto and the Transferred Interests of any Transferred Entity that owns or leases such Transferred Real Property) that are subject to a right of first refusal or similar right that would restrict, prohibit or delay the transfer of such Dealership and related Purchased Assets to the Purchaser.

"<u>ROFR Notice</u>" means a notice of exercise of a right of first refusal or similar right by the applicable Manufacturer that complies with the terms of the applicable Manufacturer Agreement and is received by the Seller Group prior to the Closing Date with respect to any ROFR Assets.

"SEC Monitor" means Joseph T. Gardemal III, in his capacity as the court-appointed monitor over defendant GPB Capital Holdings, LLC pursuant to the *Order Appointing Monitor* dated February 11, 2021 [Dkt. No. 23], as amended on April 14, 2021 [Dkt. No. 39], in *SEC v. GPB Capital Holdings LLC, et al.*, No. 21-cv-00583-MKB-VMS, in the United States District Court Eastern District of New York.

"Seller Benefit Plan" means any "employee pension benefit plan" (as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA, whether or not subject to ERISA), "employee welfare benefit plan" (as defined in Section 3(1) of ERISA, whether or not subject to ERISA) or bonus, pension, profit sharing, deferred compensation, incentive compensation, stock or other equity ownership, stock or other equity purchase, stock or other equity appreciation, restricted stock or other equity, stock or other equity repurchase rights, stock or other equity option, phantom stock or other equity, performance, employment, change in control, retirement, vacation, severance, disability, death benefit, hospitalization, medical or other plan, agreement, arrangement or understanding, in each case, that is sponsored, contributed to or maintained by any Transferred Entity or any other member of the Seller Group or with respect to which any Transferred Entity could reasonably be expected to have any Liability, and, in each case, in which any Business Employee participates.

"<u>Seller Fundamental Representations</u>" means <u>Section 4.01</u> (Organization; Standing), <u>Section 4.02(a)</u> (Authority; Enforceability; Noncontravention), <u>Section 4.04</u> (Capitalization; Title to Transferred Interests); and <u>Section 4.20</u> (Brokers and Other Advisors).

"<u>Seller Group</u>" means, collectively, the Sellers and each of their respective direct and indirect Subsidiaries and the Real Estate Equity Seller and each of its direct and indirect Subsidiaries that are Transferred Entities.

"Seller Taxes" means (a) any and all Income Taxes imposed by any applicable Law on the Seller Group, any of the Seller Group's direct or indirect owners or Affiliates or any consolidated, affiliated, combined or unitary group of which any of the foregoing is or was a member, (b) any and all Taxes allocable to the Seller Parties pursuant to Section 7.11 (taking into account, and without duplication of, such Taxes effectively borne by the Seller Parties as a result of (i) any Taxes taken into account in the computation of Closing Current Liabilities and (ii) any payments made from one party to the other in respect of Taxes pursuant to Section 7.11(b)(iii)), (c) any and all Taxes resulting from a breach of the representations and warranties set forth in Section 4.11 (determined without regard to any materiality or Knowledge qualifiers or any scheduled items) or a breach by the Seller Parties of any covenant set forth in Section 6.01(b)(ix), (d) any and all Taxes imposed on or with respect to the ownership or operation of the Excluded Assets or that are attributable to any asset or business of the Seller Parties that is not part of the Purchased Assets and (e) any and all Taxes (other than the Taxes described in clauses (a), (b) or (c) of this definition) imposed on or with respect to the ownership or operation of the Purchased Assets, the Transferred Entities or the Business for any taxable period (or portion of any Straddle Period) ending before the Closing Date (determined by applying the Tax Allocation Principles).

"<u>Selling Entities</u>" means, collectively, the members of the Seller Group that own or have rights to or under any Purchased Assets or Transferred Interests or that have Liabilities in respect of, or that are otherwise subject to, any Assumed Liabilities, and "<u>Selling Entity</u>" means any of the Selling Entities.

"<u>SNDA</u>" means a subordination, non-disturbance and attornment agreement, executed by the holder of a fee simple mortgage or deed of trust encumbering the fee simple interest of the applicable landlord, sublandlord or licensor under a Transferred Real Property Lease, or by the holder of any master leases or ground leases of the underlying fee interest of any Real Property subject to a Transferred Real Property Lease, as the case may be, in the form requested by the Purchaser or by the Purchaser's lenders, or in the form required by such applicable Transferred Real Property Lease, as the case may be.

"Straddle Period" means any Tax period beginning before and ending on or after the Closing Date.

"Subsidiary" or "Subsidiaries" when used with respect to any Person, means any corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association, trust or other entity of which securities or other ownership interests representing more than 50% of the ordinary voting power (or, in the case of a partnership, more than 50% of the general partnership interests) are, as of such date, owned by such Person or one or more Subsidiaries of such Person or by such Person and one or more Subsidiaries of such Person.

"<u>Supplies</u>" means all of the Selling Entities' miscellaneous supply inventories constituting indirect materials used or usable in vehicle sales and service operations (including but not limited to the parts catalog, gas, oil and grease) but not held for sale, specifically excluding Manufacturer Parts and Accessories and Non-Manufacturer Parts and Accessories.

"<u>Tax</u>" or "<u>Taxes</u>" means any taxes, assessments, fees, and other charges of any kind or nature whatsoever imposed by any Governmental Authority, including income, profits, gross receipts, net proceeds, alternative or add on minimum, ad valorem, value added, turnover, sales, use, property, personal property (tangible and intangible), environmental, stamp, leasing, lease, user, excise, duty, franchise, capital stock, transfer, registration, license, withholding, social security (or similar), unemployment, disability, payroll, employment, social contributions, fuel, excess profits, occupational, premium, windfall profit, severance, estimated, or other taxes, together with any interest, fines, penalty, additions to or additional amounts imposed by any Governmental Authority with respect thereto or with respect to any Tax Return, whether disputed or not, and any liability in respect of any item described in clause (a) that arises by reason of a contract, assumption, transferee or successor liability, the operation of Law (including by participating in a consolidated, affiliated, combined or unitary Tax Return) or otherwise.

"<u>Tax Action</u>" means any audit, examination, contest, litigation or other proceeding with respect to Taxes with or against any Governmental Authority.

"Tax Allocation Principles" means the Tax allocation principles set forth in Section 7.11(b)(ii).

"<u>Tax Return</u>" means any return (including any return of a consolidated, affiliated, combined or unitary group), form, statement, report, information return, disclosure, claim or declaration, including any supplement, schedule or attachment thereto and any amendment thereof, with respect to Taxes that is filed or required to be filed with a Governmental Authority.

"<u>Technology</u>" means technology, accounts on third-party platforms and other embodiments of Intellectual Property, including social media, directory assistance, reputation management and e-commerce sites and accounts (including eBay, Facebook, Instagram, Twitter, Yelp, DealerRater, Edmunds and Google programs), and computer software, data, documentation, telephone and data numbers, website addresses, and e-mail addresses.

"<u>Tires</u>" means all of the Selling Entities' inventory of tires held for sale at the Dealerships, specifically excluding Manufacturer Parts and Accessories, Non-Manufacturer Parts and Accessories, and Supplies.

"Title Insurance Company" mean a title insurance company and underwriter selected by the Purchaser.

"<u>Title Policies</u>" means, collectively, ALTA "extended coverage" owner's and lender's policies of title insurance, with such endorsements as may be reasonably required by the Purchaser or its lenders (to the extent the same are available in the applicable jurisdiction), and otherwise in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Purchaser or its lenders, as the case may be (including coverage amount and deletion of the "gap" exception for matters arising between the effective date of the title commitment and the Closing Date), effective as of the Closing Date, insuring, as the case may be, the applicable Selling Entity or Transferred Entity member's good and marketable fee simple or leasehold title to the applicable parcel of Insured Transferred Real Property, or the Lien of any mortgage or deed of trust in favor of the Purchaser's lenders encumbering the Insured Transferred Real Property, in each case free and clear of all Liens, except for Permitted Liens of these types described in items (c) and (d) of the definition of "Permitted Liens", and with the standard printed exceptions endorsed or modified to the reasonable satisfaction of the Purchaser and its lenders.

"<u>Transaction Documents</u>" means, collectively, this Agreement and the agreements and instruments executed and delivered in connection with the Transactions, including the Ancillary Agreements and the other documents and agreements contemplated hereby and thereby.

"<u>Transactions</u>" means the consummation of the purchase and sale of the Purchased Assets (including the Transferred Interests) and the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents.

"<u>Transferred Employee</u>" means each Business Employee who, as of the Closing Date and each Delayed Business Employee who, as of the applicable Delayed Closing (or, in each case, if applicable, such later date that such employee commences employment with the Purchaser or one of its Affiliates), has received an offer of employment from the Purchaser or one of its Affiliates pursuant to <u>Section 7.06(b)</u>, and has accepted such offer (or has not expressly rejected such offer) and assumed employment with the Purchaser or its Affiliate.

"<u>Transferred Entities</u>" means each of AMR Real Estate Holdings, LLC, 510 Sunrise Realty, LLC, 3670 Oceanside Realty, LLC and 1855 Hylan Realty, LLC.

"<u>Transferred Interests</u>" means the issued and outstanding equity interests in the Transferred Entities held by the Selling Entities.

"Transferred Pre-Closing Contractual Liabilities" means Liabilities of any Selling Entity under any Transferred Contract to the extent arising out of breaches or violations by the applicable Selling Entity of such Transferred Contract to the extent occurring prior to the Closing Date, including any Liability relating to a suit, proceeding, demand or claim brought after the Closing Date with respect to such breaches or violations by the Selling Entity occurring prior to the Closing Date, but excluding in all cases any breaches or violations arising out of, caused by or related to the negotiation, execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement, the Transaction Documents or the consummation of the Transactions.

"<u>Transferred Real Property Lease Consents</u>" means Consents, in each case in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Purchaser, from the respective landlord, sublandlord or licensor under each of the Transferred Real Property Leases, consenting to the assignment or deemed assignment of such Transferred Real Property Lease as a result of the consummation the Transactions.

"<u>Used Vehicles</u>" means each of Selling Entities' vehicles, other than New Vehicles, Demonstrator Vehicles, Loaner Vehicles and vehicles used by the Seller Group in its operations or titled in the name of a Selling Entity.

"<u>We Owes</u>" means any obligations of any Dealership relating to (i) parts, accessories, or services due a customer where the Dealership has taken one or more of the following actions: (A) promised in writing on a Delivery Receipt/Accessories Due Form (or similar form) such part, accessory, service, or repair to the customer at the time of vehicle purchase; (B) received payment from a customer for a part or accessory order that is not in stock; or (C) scheduled a future repair for a customer and received payment for the repair in advance or (ii) any Marketing Program.

"<u>Work in Process</u>" means pending service orders written by Selling Entities in relation to the Business in the ordinary course of business.

SECTION 1.02. <u>Other Defined Terms.</u> The following terms are defined on the page of this Agreement set forth after such term below:

Terms Not Defined in Section 1.01	Section
Acquisition Engagement	Section 11.11(a)
Action	Section 4.09
Affiliate Agreement	Section 4.18(a)(vii)
Agreement	Preamble
Allocation	Section 3.05(a)
Alternative Financing	Section 7.18(d)
Announcement	Section 7.02

Assignment of Interests Assumed Liabilities Bankruptcy and Equity Exception Bill of Sale and Assignment and Assumption Agreement Chargeback Reserve Closing **Closing Amounts Closing Date Closing Purchase Price Closing Statement** COBRA **COBRA** Recipients Collective Bargaining Agreements Confidentiality Agreement **Continuation Period Contracting Parties** Credit Support Items Customer Deposits Debt Commitment Letter **Delayed** Closing **Delayed** Closing Date Delayed Closing Dealership Delayed Closing Purchased Assets Delayed Purchased Asset Delayed Purchased Asset Arrangement Deposit Deposit Interest Disclosure Letter **Disputed Environmental Matters** DOJ Environmental Consultant Environmental Defect Notice Environmental Laws Escrow Account Escrow Option **Excess COBRA Liabilities** Excess Recovery **Excluded Assets** Excluded Contracts **Excluded Liabilities Executive Employees Existing Counsel** Final Closing Amounts Final Purchase Price Adjustment FTC Goodwill Price Holdback Amount Termination Date Holdback Partial Release Date

Section 3.04(a)(iii) Section 2.03(a) Section 4.02(a) Section 3.04(a)(i)Section 7.23 Section 3.01 Section 2.01(b)(xviii) Section 3.01 Section 2.01(b) Section 2.01 Section 7.07 Section 7.07 Section 4.13(a) Section 7.03(i) Section 7.06(c)(i) Section 11.10(a) Section 7.13 Section 2.02(a)(xiii) Section 5.04(b) Section 3.02 Section 3.02 Section 3.02 Section 3.02 Section 2.04(a) Section 2.04(a) Section 2.10 Section 2.10 Article IV Section 7.03(g) Section 7.01(c) Section 7.03(g) Section 7.03(c) Section 4.14(a) Section 2.09(b) Section 7.03(c)Section 7.07 Section 10.09(a) Section 2.02(b) Section 2.02(b)(iii) Section 2.03(b) Section 7.06(b) Section 11.11(a) Section 2.07(e) Section 2.07(e) Section 7.01(c) Section 2.01(b)(i) Section 2.09(b) Section 2.09(b)



HSR Approval Inactive Employee Indemnified Party Indemnifying Party Judgment Laws Manufacturer Approval Marketing Programs Master Price List Material Business Contract MMR Value Multiemployer Plan Nonparty Affiliates Notice of Disagreement Other Holdback Partial Release Date Permits РРР Pre-Closing Insurance Claims Preliminary Environmental Holdback Price Reduction Option Property Review Period Purchased Assets Purchaser Purchaser Consultant Purchaser Indemnitees Purchaser Parties' Appraisal **Real Property Deposits** Real Estate Equity Seller Restraints **Revised Closing Statement** Securities Act Seller Indemnifying Parties Seller Indemnitees Seller Parties Seller Parties' Appraisal Seller Parties' Election Sellers Solvent **Termination Date** Third Party Claim Third Party Leases Transfer Taxes Transferred Contracts Transferred Entity Marks Transferred Intellectual Property Transferred Leased Real Property Transferred Owned Real Property **Transferred Permits**

Section 7.01(b) Section 7.06(b) Section 10.04(a)(i) Section 10.04(a)(i) Section 4.09 Section 4.10(a) Section 3.02 Section 4.17(b) Exhibit A Section 4.18(a) Exhibit A Section 4.12(d) Section 11.10(a) Section 2.07(a) Section 2.09(b) Section 4.10(b) Section 7.22 Section 7.05 Section 7.03(d) Section 7.03(c) Section 7.03(b) Section 2.02(a) Preamble Section 7.03(b) Section 10.02 Exhibit A Section 2.02(a)(xiii) Preamble Section 8.01(a) Section 2.07(a) Section 5.06 Section 10.07 Section 10.03 Preamble Exhibit A Section 7.03(c) Preamble Section 5.05 Section 9.01(b)(i)Section 10.04(a)(i) Section 4.16(b) Section 7.11(a) Section 2.02(a)(ix) Section 7.20 Section 2.02(a)(viii) Section 2.02(a)(i)Section 2.02(a)(i) Section 2.02(a)(vi)



Transferred Real Property Transferred Real Property Leases Transferred Records Transferred Registered Intellectual Property Used Vehicle Schedule WARN Act Section 2.02(a)(i) Section 2.02(a)(i) Section 2.02(a)(vii) Section 4.15(a) Exhibit A Section 7.06(f)

SECTION 1.03. Interpretation.

(a)The headings contained in this Agreement, in any Annex, Exhibit or Schedule hereto (including the Disclosure Letter) and in the table of contents to this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. All Annexes, Exhibits and Schedules attached hereto (including the Disclosure Letter) or referred to herein are hereby incorporated in and made a part of this Agreement as if set forth in full herein. Any capitalized terms used in any Annex, Exhibit or Schedule (including the Disclosure Letter) but not otherwise defined therein shall have the meaning defined in this Agreement.

(b)The specification of any dollar amount in any representation or warranty contained in <u>Article IV</u> or <u>Article V</u> is not intended to imply that such amount, or higher or lower amounts, are or are not material for purposes of this Agreement or any other Ancillary Agreement, and no party shall use the fact of the setting forth of any such amount in any dispute or controversy between or among the parties as to whether any obligation, item or matter not described herein or included in the Disclosure Letter is or is not material for purposes of this Agreement or any other Ancillary Agreement shall be deemed to be an exception or qualification with respect to all other applicable representations, warranties and covenants contained in this Agreement to the extent any description of facts regarding the event, item or matter disclosed is adequate so as to make reasonably apparent or otherwise make the other parties reasonably aware that such exception or qualification is applicable to such other representations, warranties or covenants whether or not such exception or qualification is so numbered or separately disclosed. The inclusion of information in any section of the Disclosure Letter hereto shall not be construed as an admission that such information is material to the Business or the Purchased Assets.

(c)The definitions of terms herein shall apply equally to the singular and plural forms of the terms defined. Whenever the context may require, any pronoun shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine and neuter forms.

(d)All references herein to "dollars", "U.S. Dollars" or "\$" shall be deemed to be references to the lawful money of the United States.

(e)The words "include", "includes" and "including" shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase "without limitation". The word "will" shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word "shall".

(f)If any time period for giving notice or taking action hereunder expires on a day which is not a business day, the time period shall automatically be extended to the business day immediately following such non-business day.

(g)Unless the context requires otherwise any definition of or reference or citation to any Law, Contract or other document herein shall be construed as referring or citing to such Law, Contract or other document as from time to time amended, supplemented or otherwise modified, including by succession of comparable successor Laws, and to the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, any reference herein to any Person shall be construed to include such Person's successors and permitted assigns, the words "herein", "hereof" and "hereunder", and words of similar import, shall be construed to refer to this Agreement in its entirety and not to any particular provision hereof, all references herein to Articles, Sections, Annexes, Exhibits and Schedules shall be construed to refer to Articles and Sections of, and Annexes, Exhibits and Schedules to, this Agreement, this

Agreement shall be deemed to have been drafted jointly by the Purchaser and the Sellers, and this Agreement shall not be construed against any party as the principal draftsperson hereof, the word "or" shall not be exclusive, the phrase "to the extent" shall mean the degree to which a subject or other item extends and shall not simply mean "if", each accounting term set forth herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meaning accorded it under GAAP, the phrases "provided", "delivered", or "made available" or words of similar import, when used in this Agreement, shall mean that the documents, items or information has been provided directly to the Purchaser or its Representatives or posted in the "data room" (virtual) hosted by Datasite and established by the Sellers or their Representatives and to which the Purchaser and its Representatives shall be deemed to have had access to such documents, items or information where the same was provided to a limited number of the Purchaser's Representatives pursuant to "clean team" or other agreed upon restrictions), any action or inaction by the Purchaser, the Seller Group or any of their respective Affiliates that are reasonably necessary to respond to COVID-19, COVID-19 Measures and any related Laws issued in connection therewith shall be deemed to be in the "ordinary course" and "consistent with past practice" as applicable and all references herein to the "parties" are to the parties hereto and a "party" means the Purchaser or the Seller Parties, as applicable.

Article II

Purchase and Sale; Assumption of Liabilities

SECTION 2.01. <u>Purchase and Sale</u>. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the Closing (or, solely with respect to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, the applicable Delayed Closing), the Seller Parties shall, and shall cause each of the other Selling Entities to, sell, assign, transfer, convey and deliver to the Purchaser, and the Purchaser shall purchase, acquire and accept from each Selling Entity all of such Selling Entity's right, title and interests in, to and under the Purchased Assets, in each case free and clear of any Liens (other than Permitted Liens) in exchange for:

(a)the assumption by the Purchaser of the Assumed Liabilities; and

(b)the payment by the Purchaser to the account or accounts designated by the Seller Parties pursuant to <u>Section 2.06</u> of an amount in cash in U.S. Dollars equal to the sum of the amounts set forth in <u>Section 2.01(b)(i)</u> through <u>Section 2.01(b)(xviii)</u> (the "<u>Closing Purchase Price</u>"), which, in the case of the amounts in <u>Section 2.01(b)(ii)</u> through <u>Section 2.01(b)(xviii)</u>, shall be as shown in the Closing Statement as described below:

(i)\$600 million (the "<u>Goodwill Price</u>"); provided, that if any ROFR Notice(s) have been received prior to Closing, the Goodwill Price shall be reduced by the goodwill amount allocated pursuant to <u>Section 3.05</u> to the Dealership(s) subject to such ROFR Notice(s); plus

(ii)the Owned Real Estate Price; plus

(iii)the Fixed Assets Price; plus

(iv)the Closing New Vehicles Price; plus

(v)the Closing Used Vehicles Price; plus

(vi)the Closing Loaner Vehicles Price; plus

(vii)the Closing Demonstrator Vehicles Price; plus

(viii)the Closing Manufacturer Parts and Accessories Price; plus

(ix)the Closing Non-Manufacturer Parts and Accessories Price; plus

(x)the Closing Supplies Price; plus

(xi)the Closing Tires Price; plus

(xii)the Closing Work in Process Price; plus

(xiii)the Closing Cash; plus

(xiv)the Closing Other Assets; plus

(xv)the Closing Current Assets, excluding all Cash and deferred Tax assets and the items set forth

above; plus

(xvi)the Capital Improvements Reimbursement Amount; minus

(xvii)the Transferred Pre-Closing Contractual Liabilities, if any, which are known in an amount to be mutually agreed to between the parties in good faith as of the Closing Date; minus

(xviii)the Closing Current Liabilities, excluding all Indebtedness and deferred Tax Liabilities (the items set forth in <u>Section 2.01(b)(iv)</u> through this <u>Section 2.01(b)(xviii)</u> together, the "<u>Closing Amounts</u>").

The Closing Purchase Price is subject to adjustment as set forth in <u>Section 2.07</u>. No later than three (3) business days prior to the anticipated Closing Date, the Seller Parties shall prepare in good faith and deliver to the Purchaser a statement (the "<u>Closing Statement</u>") setting forth the following, in each case, calculated and prepared in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Purchase Price Calculation/Accounting Principles: the Owned Real Estate Price, the Fixed Assets Price, and the Seller Parties' good faith estimate of each of the Closing Amounts, together with the information used to calculate each of the components thereof and a calculation of the Closing Purchase Price. The Seller Parties will also deliver to the Purchaser the Closing Debt Amount to be paid by the Purchaser at Closing in accordance with <u>Section 3.04(b)(v)</u>.

SECTION 2.02. Purchased Assets; Excluded Assets.

(a)<u>Purchased Assets</u>. The term "<u>Purchased Assets</u>" shall mean the Selling Entities' respective right, title and interest in, to and under, if any, the following assets at the time of the Closing (or, solely with respect to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, the applicable Delayed Closing) used in the Business:

(i)<u>Real Property</u>. The Real Property set forth on Section 2.02(a)(i)(A) of the Disclosure Letter (collectively, the "<u>Transferred Owned Real Property</u>") and Real Property set forth on Section 2.02(a)(i)(B) of the Disclosure Letter (the "<u>Transferred Leased Real Property</u>", and collectively with the Transferred Owned Real Property, the "<u>Transferred Real Property</u>") which is the subject of a lease, sublease, license or occupancy agreement (collectively, the "<u>Transferred Real Property Leases</u>") under which a member of the Seller Group is a party as lessee, sublessee, licensee or occupant thereunder;

(ii)<u>Vehicles</u>. All (w) New Vehicles, (x) Used Vehicles, (y) Demonstrator Vehicles and (z) Loaner

Vehicles;

(iii)<u>Parts, Accessories and Supplies; Tires</u>. All (w) Manufacturer Parts and Accessories, (x) Non-Manufacturer Parts and Accessories, (y) Supplies and (z) Tires;

(iv)<u>WIP</u>. All Work in Process;

(v)Goodwill. All goodwill generated by or associated with the Business;

(vi)Permits. All Permits used or held for use in the Business to the extent transferable (the "Transferred

Permits");

(vii)<u>Transferred Records</u>. All Records to the extent relating to the Purchased Assets, the Transferred Entities or the Business (but excluding any such Records to the extent not reasonably separable from Records that do not relate to the Business or the transfer of which is not permitted under applicable privacy Laws without Consent or any personnel Records (collectively, the "<u>Transferred Records</u>"); <u>provided</u>, that Purchased Assets shall not include any Excluded Tax Return;

(viii)<u>Intellectual Property</u>. All Intellectual Property (x) owned by any Selling Entity and (y) used or held for use in the Business (the "<u>Transferred Intellectual Property</u>");

Business;

(ix)<u>Technology</u>. All Technology (x) owned by any Selling Entity and (y) used or held for use in the

(x)<u>Contracts</u>. All Contracts that relate to the Business, including Contracts with annual payments by a Selling Entity or Transferred Entity or to a Selling Entity or Transferred Entity of more than \$75,000 and which are not terminable with no more than 90 days' notice without penalty, which such Contracts are set forth on Section 2.02(a)(x) of the Disclosure Letter (collectively, the "<u>Transferred Contracts</u>"), in each case specifically excluding the Excluded Contracts and any Transferred Real Property Leases which are identified separately in <u>Section 2.02(a)(i)</u>;

(xi)<u>Claims</u>. All affirmative claims, causes of action, rights to indemnification, rights of offset or counterclaim and defenses, in each case, to the extent related to the Business or the Purchased Assets (including all rights and claims in respect of any warranties extended by suppliers, manufacturers, or otherwise);

(xii)<u>Accounts Receivable</u>. All billed and unbilled accounts receivable, notes receivable and similar rights to receive payments or rebates existing as of immediately prior to the Closing (or, solely with respect to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, the applicable Delayed Closing) and arising out of the Business to the extent included in the calculation of Closing Current Assets;

(xiii)<u>Cash</u>. All Cash of any Transferred Entities as of immediately prior to the Closing to the extent included in the calculation of Closing Cash, amounts held on behalf of customers as deposits, including amounts held or reserved to fund We Owes, to the extent included in the calculation of Closing Current Assets and Closing Current Liabilities ("<u>Customer Deposits</u>") and Cash deposits (including security deposits and damages deposits) relating to the Transferred Real Properties to the extent included in the calculation of Closing Current Assets ("<u>Real Property Deposits</u>");

(xiv)<u>Prepaid Items</u>. All credits, prepaid expenses, deferred charges, advance payments and security and other deposits arising out of the operation or conduct of the Business to the extent included in the calculation of Closing Current Assets;

(xv)Fixed Assets. All Fixed Assets;

(xvi)Transferred Interests. One hundred percent (100%) of the Transferred Interests; and

(xvii)<u>Other Assets</u>. All other assets (tangible or intangible) used or held for use by the Business, in each case other than any such assets that are expressly listed as Excluded Assets in any of clauses (i) through (xv) of <u>Section 2.02(b)</u> or assets of the type described in clauses (i) through (xvi) of this <u>Section 2.02(a)</u>.

(b)<u>Excluded Assets</u>. The term "<u>Excluded Assets</u>" shall mean the right, title and interest in, to and under all assets of any member of Seller Group or any of their respective Affiliates that do not constitute Purchased Assets, including the following:

(i)<u>Accounts Receivable</u>. All (i) billed and unbilled accounts receivable, notes receivable and similar rights to receive payments or rebates of any member of the Seller Group or any of their respective Affiliates to the extent relating to the Retained Businesses or the other Excluded Assets, whether arising before, on or after the Closing Date and (ii) receivables considered Contracts in Transit;

(ii)<u>Cash</u>. All Cash of any member of the Seller Group or any of their respective Affiliates (other than Customer Deposits, Real Property Deposits and Cash of the Transferred Entities, in each case to the extent constituting a Purchased Asset);

(iii)<u>Guarantees</u>. Any guarantee, letter of credit, surety bond (including any performance bond), credit support arrangement or other assurance of payment issued by the any member of Seller Group or any of their respective Affiliates, including any of the same that are, in whole or in part, for the benefit of the Business or with respect to any Purchased Asset or Assumed Liability;

(iv)<u>Insurance</u>. All existing and prior insurance policies and agreements and documents related thereto or self-insurance programs arranged or maintained by any member of Seller Group or any of their respective Affiliates and all rights of any nature thereto except as expressly set forth in <u>Section 7.05</u>;

(v)<u>Tax Assets</u>. All Tax credits, Tax refunds, Tax reclaim rights and other Tax assets of any member of the Seller Group or any of their respective Affiliates with respect to Seller Taxes;

(vi)<u>Real Property</u>. All Real Property and leasehold, subleasehold and licensee interests, including any prepaid rent, security deposits and options to renew or purchase in connection therewith, in each case other than the Transferred Real Property and letters of credit securing any Transferred Real Property, including those set forth on Section 2.02(b)(vi) of the Disclosure Letter;

(vii)<u>Certain Records</u>. All Records not expressly identified as Transferred Records, personnel Records maintained by the Seller Group or any of their respective Affiliates, Excluded Tax Returns, Records (including accounting Records) relating to Excluded Tax Returns and all financial Records relating to the Business that form part of the Seller Group's or any of its Affiliates' general ledger or otherwise constitute accounting Records, Records prepared in connection with the Transactions and the sale process, including bids received from other Persons and internal and external analyses relating to the Business, the Purchased Assets, the Assumed Liabilities or the Retained Businesses, back-up copies of the Transferred Records retained by the Seller Group and their respective Affiliates in the ordinary course of business or pursuant to internal compliance, document retention or similar policies and procedures, Records subject to attorney work product protection, attorney-client or other established legal privilege if such Records cannot be transferred without losing such privilege, in each case whether generated before, on or after the Closing Date and (H) Records with respect to Excluded Assets or Excluded Liabilities (including any claims or Actions included therein);

(viii)<u>Contracts</u>. All rights of any member of the Seller Group or any of their respective Affiliates under this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, any Contracts other than the Transferred Contracts, any (x) Affiliate Agreements (except as otherwise mutually agreed by the parties in a Transaction Document), (y) Manufacturer Agreements (other than the Manufacturer Agreement specifically set forth on Section 2.02(b)(viii)-1 of the Disclosure Letter), and (z) Contracts described on Section 2.02(b)(viii)-2 of the Disclosure Letter and any Contracts relating exclusively to the Retained Businesses, in each case whether arising before, on or after the Closing Date (collectively, the "<u>Excluded Contracts</u>");

(ix)<u>Benefit Plans</u>. All the assets of or relating to, and all rights under, any employee compensation, benefit or welfare plan, agreement, arrangement or understanding or any related Contract between any Person and any member of the Seller Group or any of their respective Affiliates (including Seller Benefit Plans);

(x)<u>Corporate Organizational Records</u>. The organizational documents, qualifications to do business as a foreign corporation, arrangements with registered agents relating to foreign qualifications, taxpayer and other identification numbers, seals and blank stock certificates and minute books, stock transfer books and other Records relating to the organization, maintenance and existence of the Selling Entities and each of their Affiliates (other than, for the avoidance of doubt, any rights in the same with respect to the Transferred Entities to the extent arising out of the ownership of the Transferred Interests);

(xi)<u>Equity Interests</u>. All shares of capital stock, membership interests or other equity interests of any member of the Seller Group and each of their Affiliates or other Persons that are owned or held by any member of the Seller Group or any of their respective Affiliates (other than the Transferred Interests);

(xii)<u>Permits</u>. All Permits of the Seller Group or any of their respective Affiliates other than the Transferred Permits;

(xiii)<u>Excluded Claims</u>. All affirmative claims, causes of action, defenses, rights of offset or counterclaim (x) to the extent not relating to the Business or the Purchased Assets, including any of the same to the extent relating to the Retained Businesses or (y) to the extent related to the Excluded Assets or the Excluded Liabilities;

(xiv)<u>ROFR Assets</u>. Any assets (including assets that would otherwise be Purchased Assets) that, pursuant to a ROFR Notice, become ROFR Assets; and

(xv)<u>Additional Excluded Assets</u>. All escheatable deposits and other claims, causes of action and/or assets listed on Section 2.02(b)(xv) of the Disclosure Letter.

(c)Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any of the other Transaction Documents the Selling Entities shall not be required to transfer any assets of the Transferred Entities other than through the transfer of the Selling Entities' right, title and interest in the Transferred Interests, and the Purchaser's sole interest in the assets of the Transferred Entities shall be through its ownership of the Transferred Interests and the Purchaser is not purchasing, and no Selling Entities are selling, assigning, transferring, conveying or delivering, pursuant to this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents, any of the Selling Entities' (or any of their respective Affiliates') right, title or interest in any asset that is not a Purchased Asset.

(d)Notwithstanding any contrary provision in this Agreement, nothing in this Agreement is or is intended to be a sale or transfer of any Manufacturer Agreement or of rights pursuant to any Manufacturer Agreement (other than, in each case, the Contract specifically set forth on Section 2.02(b)(viii)-1 of the Disclosure Letter).

SECTION 2.03. Assumed Liabilities; Excluded Liabilities.

(a)<u>Assumed Liabilities</u>. The term "<u>Assumed Liabilities</u>" shall mean only the following Liabilities of the Seller Group and no other Liabilities (including Excluded Liabilities set forth in <u>subsections (i)</u> – (x) of <u>Section 2.03(b)</u>, which shall in no event constitute Assumed Liabilities):

(i)<u>Accounts Payable</u>. All accrued receipts and accounts payable and other current Liabilities of the Selling Entities or any of their respective Affiliates to the extent arising out of or relating to the operation or conduct of the Business and included in Closing Current Liabilities;

(ii)<u>Transferred Contract Liabilities</u>. All Liabilities to the extent arising under the Transferred Contracts (including any Transferred Pre-Closing Contractual Liabilities, without limitation of any rights of the Purchaser pursuant to <u>Section 10.02(d</u>)) but excluding any liability arising out of or relating to fraud or criminal actions by a Selling Entity;

(iii)<u>Taxes</u>. All Liabilities for Taxes to the extent arising out of, related to or in respect of the Purchased Assets or the Business and of the Transferred Entities, excluding, in each case, Seller Taxes;

(iv)<u>Environmental Liabilities</u>. All Liabilities to the extent arising out of or relating to the Business or any Purchased Asset and arising under or relating to any applicable Environmental Law, except for all Liabilities excluded under <u>Section 2.03(b)(vii)</u>;

(v)<u>Business Claims</u>. All Liabilities to the extent arising out of or relating to the operation or conduct of the Business or any Purchased Asset from and after the Closing;

(vi)<u>Employment Matters</u>. All employment, labor, compensation, employee welfare and employee benefits related Liabilities (including in respect of Actions and claims) to the extent relating to any Transferred Employee and arising from and after the Closing; any Liabilities as may be mutually agreed by the parties in a Transaction Document; Liabilities expressly and directly assumed by the Purchaser pursuant to <u>Section 7.06</u>; and (D) Excess COBRA Liabilities;

(vii)<u>Customer Deposits and Related</u>. All Liabilities in respect of Customer Deposits (including in respect of new vehicle orders of customers), We Owes, and Chargebacks; and

Property.

(viii)<u>Real Property</u>. All Liabilities to the extent arising out of or relating to the Transferred Real

(b)<u>Excluded Liabilities</u>. The Seller Group acknowledges and agrees that neither the Purchaser nor any of its Affiliates will be liable for and will not be deemed to have assumed any of the following liabilities (the "<u>Excluded Liabilities</u>"), all of which shall remain the sole responsibility of the Seller Group:

(i)Indebtedness. All Indebtedness of the Selling Entities or any of their respective Affiliates;

(ii)<u>Transaction Expenses</u>. All legal, accounting, financial advisory, consulting, finders and other fees and expenses, including any such fees and expenses related to the solicitation of any other potential purchasers of the Business or otherwise incurred in connection with the Transactions, in each case, incurred by or at the direction of the Selling Entities or their Affiliates on or before the Closing Date;

(iii)<u>Taxes</u>. Any and all Seller Taxes;

(iv)Employees and Benefits. Except as otherwise expressly set forth in Section 7.06 or except as may be mutually agreed by the parties in a Transaction Document, all employment, labor, compensation, employee welfare and employee benefits related Liabilities (including in respect of Actions and claims) in respect of any Transferred Employees arising prior to the Closing or in respect of any Employee or former employee of Seller or any of its Affiliates who is not a Transferred Employee and Liabilities related to any Seller Benefit Plan, including all Controlled Group Liabilities;

(v)Excluded Assets. All Liabilities to the extent arising out of or relating to any Excluded Asset;

(vi)Scheduled Items. All Liabilities set forth or described on Section 2.03(b)(vi) of the Disclosure

Letter;

(vii)<u>Environmental Matters</u>. Any (a) fines, penalties and other monetary sanctions imposed by a Governmental Authority prior to the Closing and arising from violations of or liability under Environmental Laws to the extent arising from events or occurrences in connection with or relating to the Business or any operation thereof or any Purchased Assets prior to the date of this Agreement, and (b)

Liabilities to the extent arising from any presence, Release or threatened Release of Hazardous Materials at, on, under or from any real property offsite of the Transferred Real Property where Seller or its Affiliates have transported or arranged for the transport or disposal of Hazardous Materials;

(viii)<u>Retained Businesses</u>. All Liabilities to the extent relating to or arising out of any of the Retained Businesses;

(ix)<u>Scheduled Disputes/Claims</u>. All Liabilities relating to or arising out of the matters set forth on Section 2.03(b)(ix) of the Disclosure Letter and any additional claims, proceedings and actions which may hereafter arise with respect to such matters or any other activities involving or constituting criminal or fraudulent activities on the part of the Seller Group or any of their Affiliates, including the Transferred Entities; and

(x)<u>Other Liabilities</u>. All other Liabilities of the Selling Entities or any of their respective Affiliates that are not Assumed Liabilities, whether or not relating to the conduct of the Business or ownership or use of the Purchased Assets prior to the Closing.

(c)At the Closing, the Purchaser shall assume the Assumed Liabilities and shall agree to pay, honor, discharge and perform the Assumed Liabilities in full when due in accordance with their terms.

SECTION 2.04. Non-Transferable Assets.

(a)To the extent that the sale, conveyance, assignment or transfer or attempted sale, conveyance, assignment or transfer to the Purchaser of any Purchased Asset is prohibited by or would contravene any applicable Law or would require any Consent of any Governmental Authority or other third party (such Consents including, without limitation, the Transferred Real Property Lease Consents) and such Consents shall not have been obtained at or prior to the Closing (or, solely with respect to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, the applicable Delayed Closing), this Agreement shall not constitute a sale, conveyance, assignment or transfer, or an attempted sale, conveyance, assignment or transfer of such Purchased Asset (any such Purchased Asset, a "Delayed Purchased Asset"). Other than with respect to Consents under the Antitrust Laws, which are the subject of Section 7.01, during the period commencing on the date hereof and continuing until one (1) year after the Closing Date (or, in the case of a Transferred Contract or Transferred Real Property Lease, at the option of the applicable Selling Entity, until the expiration of the term of such Contract or Transferred Real Property Lease (without giving effect to any extensions thereof following the Closing)) each party shall use reasonable best efforts to provide or cause to be provided to the other party such assistance as such other party reasonably requests in connection with securing such Consents and if any such Consents are not secured at or prior to the Closing, until the earlier of obtaining such Consent and the term set forth in the lead-in to this sentence, the parties shall use their respective reasonable best efforts to cooperate in any reasonable arrangement (any such arrangement complying with this Section 2.04, a "Delayed Purchased Asset Arrangement") proposed by either the Purchaser or the Seller Parties that is permitted by Law under which the Purchaser shall obtain the rights and benefits (as determined on an after-tax basis taking into account solely items related to such Delayed Purchased Asset Arrangement) and bear the burdens and obligations of ownership of any such Delayed Purchased Asset such that the parties would be placed in a substantially similar position as if such Delayed Purchased Asset had been conveyed at the Closing (or, solely with respect to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, the applicable Delayed Closing); provided that, no member of the Seller Group shall be required to pay any consideration therefor, commence, defend or participate in any Action, or offer or grant any accommodation (financial or otherwise) to any third party in connection therewith; provided further that the Purchaser shall indemnify and hold harmless each member of the Seller Group, their Affiliates and their respective Representatives from and against any and all Losses arising out of or relating to any Delayed Purchased Asset held by such Person for the benefit of the Purchaser pursuant to and arising during the term of any related Delayed Purchased Asset Arrangement. In furtherance of the foregoing, the Purchaser shall, or shall cause a designee to, promptly pay, perform or discharge when due any Liability arising under any Delayed Purchased Asset from and after the Closing Date. If any such Consent is obtained after the Closing, the Selling Entities shall transfer, assign and deliver (or cause to be transferred, assigned and delivered) such Delayed Purchased Asset to the Purchaser at no additional cost as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter.

(b)Within three (3) business days following the execution of this Agreement, the applicable Selling Entities shall provide notice to each Manufacturer whose Consent is required under the applicable Manufacturer Agreement of the execution of this Agreement, and as required pursuant to the applicable Manufacturer Agreement, a copy of this Agreement or other short form document with respect to the applicable Dealerships, the Purchaser's contact information and other customary materials. The Seller Parties will use their reasonable best efforts to cooperate with the Purchaser in order for the Purchaser to submit as promptly as reasonably practicable to each such Manufacturer (in accordance with the Manufacturer Agreements) whose Consent is required for the parties to consummate the sale or transfer of the applicable Purchased Assets or other transactions contemplated by this Agreement with respect to the applicable Dealerships a request for the Manufacturer's Consent to the applicable transactions; provided, that no member of the Seller Group or any of their Affiliates shall have any obligation to pay money or offer or make any concession or grant any accommodation (financial or otherwise) to any Manufacturer or other third party in connection with the cooperation provided hereunder. Without limitation of the foregoing, with respect to any such Consents required under any Manufacturer Agreements (including but not limited to any waiver of any rights of first refusal or similar rights thereunder), the Purchaser shall promptly take, or cause to be taken, any and all reasonable actions necessary to secure, and shall use reasonable best efforts to secure, any such Consents and resolve any objections asserted with respect to any of the Transactions raised by any Manufacturer. The Purchaser shall use reasonable best efforts to keep the Sellers hereto informed in all material respects and on a timely basis of any material communication received by the Purchaser from, or given by the Purchaser to, any Manufacturer in each case regarding any of the Transactions, and completion and submission of any application for Consent under or in relation to the Manufacturer Agreements.

SECTION 2.05. <u>Purchaser's Recording and Similar Responsibilities</u>. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this <u>Article II</u>, it shall be the Purchaser's responsibility to record any assignments contemplated by the Intellectual Property Assignment Agreement following execution thereof by a Selling Entity at the Closing and to bear all fees, duties and other costs (other than Transfer Taxes, which are governed by <u>Section 7.11(a)</u>) payable in connection with the transfer of such Intellectual Property and the recording and registration of title to the Purchased Assets, as and when required by applicable Law or local custom, in the name of the Purchaser and its Affiliates.

SECTION 2.06. Payment of Closing Purchase Price. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, at the Closing, the Purchaser shall pay or cause to be paid to the Selling Entities in immediately available funds by wire transfer to one or more bank accounts designated by the Seller Parties at least two (2) business days prior to the Closing Date, cash in U.S. Dollars in an amount equal to the Closing Purchase Price, less the Closing Debt Amount to be wired pursuant to Section 3.04(b)(v) below, less the Holdback Amount to be wired to the Escrow Agent pursuant to Section 3.02. The Closing Purchase Price is subject to further adjustment after the Closing Date as provided in Section 2.07.

SECTION 2.07. Closing Purchase Price Adjustment.

(a)Unless the parties shall have previously mutually agreed in writing that any portions of the estimated Closing Amounts are to be considered the Final Closing Amounts (as defined below) for purposes hereof (which agreement shall be irrevocable), or with respect to the Final Closing Amount for Used Vehicles which will be irrevocably finalized by the parties no later than five (5) days after the Closing, then, as promptly as practicable, and in any event within forty-five (45) days after the Closing Date (except the Final Closing Amounts for Used Vehicles), the Purchaser shall prepare and deliver to the Seller Parties a statement (the "Revised Closing Statement") setting forth the Purchaser's good faith calculation of the Closing Amounts (including all of the components thereof set forth in the definition thereof), together with such schedules and data with respect to the determination thereof as are appropriate to support the calculations set forth in the Revised Closing Statement. The Revised Closing Statement shall be prepared in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Purchase Price Calculation/Accounting Principles. The parties agree that the purpose of preparing the Revised Closing Statement and determining the Final Closing Amounts (and all components thereof) and the related adjustments contemplated by this Section 2.07 is to measure the amount of the Final Closing Amounts (and all components thereof) in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Purchase Price Calculation/Accounting Principles, and such process is not intended to permit the introduction of different accounting methods, policies, principles, practices, procedures, judgments, classifications or estimation methodologies for the purpose of determining the Final Closing

Amounts (and all components thereof) other than those set forth in the Purchase Price Calculation/Accounting Principles. Following the delivery of the Revised Closing Statement, the Purchaser shall provide the Seller Parties and their Representatives with reasonable access to the Transferred Records, work papers and other documents that were used in the preparation of, or otherwise relate to, the Revised Closing Statement, internal and external accountants, relevant personnel and properties of the Purchaser and its Subsidiaries, to permit the Seller Parties and their Representatives to review the Revised Closing Statement and the Purchaser's calculation of the Closing Amount (and all components thereof) as set forth therein. The Revised Closing Statement shall become final and binding upon the parties on the thirtieth (30th) day following receipt thereof by the Seller Parties, unless the Seller Parties give written notice of their disagreement with the Revised Closing Statement (a "Notice of Disagreement") to the Purchaser prior to such date. Any Notice of Disagreement shall specify in reasonable detail the nature of any disagreement so asserted and include the Seller Parties' calculation of the Closing Amounts. If a timely Notice of Disagreement is received by the Purchaser, then the Revised Closing Statement (as revised in accordance with this sentence) shall become final and binding upon the parties on the earlier of the date on which the Purchaser and the Seller Parties resolve in writing any differences they have with respect to the matters specified in the Notice of Disagreement and the date on which all such disputed matters are finally resolved in writing by the Independent Expert pursuant to the procedures set forth in this Section 2.07. During the thirty (30) day period following the delivery of a Notice of Disagreement, the Purchaser and the Seller Parties shall work in good faith to resolve in writing any differences that they may have with respect to the matters specified in the Notice of Disagreement. At the end of such thirty (30) day period, the Purchaser and the Seller Parties shall submit to the Independent Expert for review any and all matters that remain in dispute and were included in the Notice of Disagreement. The parties shall instruct the Independent Expert to render its decision as to such disputed items and the effect of its decision on the Revised Closing Statement as promptly as practicable but in no event later than sixty (60) days after the date of such submission. Each party shall furnish to the Independent Expert such working papers and other relevant documents and information relating to the disputed items, and shall provide interviews, answer questions and otherwise cooperate with the Independent Expert as the Independent Expert may reasonably request in connection with its determination of such disputed items. In the event either party shall participate in teleconferences or meetings with, or make presentations to, the Independent Expert, the other party shall be entitled to reasonable advance notice of, and to participate in, such teleconferences, meetings or presentations. The terms of appointment and engagement of the Independent Expert shall be as agreed upon between the parties in writing.

(b)In resolving any such disputed item, the Independent Expert shall act in the capacity of an expert and not as an arbitrator, shall limit its review to matters specifically set forth in the Notice of Disagreement as to a disputed item (other than matters thereafter resolved by mutual written agreement of the parties) and shall not assign a value to any disputed item greater than the greatest value for such item claimed by either party or less than the smallest value for such item claimed by either party in the Revised Closing Statement or in the Notice of Disagreement, as applicable. The Independent Expert is not authorized to, and shall not, make any other determination, including any determination with respect to any matter included in the Revised Closing Statement or the Notice of Disagreement that was not submitted for resolution to the Independent Expert, any determination as to whether the Purchase Price Calculation/Accounting Principles were followed with respect to the Financial Statements, any determination as to the accuracy of the representations and warranties in this Agreement, or any determination as to compliance by any party with any of its respective covenants in this Agreement. Any dispute not within the scope of the disputed items to be resolved by the Independent Expert pursuant to this <u>Section 2.07</u> shall be resolved as otherwise provided in this Agreement.

(c)The final determination by the Independent Expert of the disputed items submitted to it pursuant to this <u>Section 2.07</u> shall be in writing, include the Independent Expert's calculation of the Closing Amounts, include the Independent Expert's determination of each disputed item submitted to it pursuant to this <u>Section 2.07</u> and include a brief summary of the Independent Expert's reasons for its determination regarding each such disputed item.

(d)The final determination of the disputed items by the Independent Expert shall be final and binding upon the parties and an order may be entered in respect thereof by a court having jurisdiction over the party against which such determination is to be enforced. Each party agrees that it shall not have any right to, and shall not, institute any Action (as defined below) of any kind challenging such determination by the Independent Expert, which shall be the sole remedy of the parties with respect to the items properly subject to submission to Independent Expert under this Section 2.07, except that the foregoing will not preclude an Action to enforce such determination

or to challenge such determination on the ground that it is inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement. The fees and expenses of the Independent Expert incurred pursuant to this <u>Section 2.07</u> shall be borne 50% by the Seller Parties and 50% by the Purchaser.

(e)Following the Closing Amounts becoming final and binding upon the parties pursuant to this <u>Section 2.07</u> (such final amounts, the "<u>Final Closing Amounts</u>"), a payment (the "<u>Final Purchase Price Adjustment</u>") shall be made by or on behalf of the applicable party in accordance with this <u>Section 2.07(e)</u>. The Final Purchase Price Adjustment shall be an amount equal to the Closing Purchase Price <u>minus</u> the Final Purchase Price and, if the Final Purchase Price Adjustment is positive, an amount equal to the Final Purchase Price Adjustment shall be paid to the Purchaser (or one or more Affiliates designated by the Purchaser in such amounts designated by the Seller Parties) and if the Final Purchase Price Adjustment is negative, an amount equal to the absolute value of the Final Purchase Price Adjustment shall be paid to the Seller Parties (or one or more Affiliates designated by the Seller Parties designated by the Seller Parties) by the Purchaser (or one or more Affiliates designated by the Purchaser). Any payments pursuant to this <u>Section 2.07(e)</u> shall be made in U.S. Dollars by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account or accounts designated by the receiving party within five (5) days after the Closing Statement becomes final and binding upon the parties. The Final Purchase Price Adjustment shall be treated as an adjustment to the Closing Purchase Price for all applicable Tax purposes, except as otherwise required pursuant to a final "determination" (within the meaning of Section 1313(a) of the Code) or similar determination under applicable state, local or non-U.S. Tax Law.

SECTION 2.08. <u>Withholding</u>. The Purchaser and its Affiliates shall be entitled to deduct and withhold, or cause to be deducted and withheld, from any amount payable to any Person pursuant to this Agreement, any amounts that the Purchaser reasonably determines may be required to be deducted and withheld and paid to the applicable Governmental Authority under applicable Tax Law. Any amounts so deducted and withheld shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to such Person in respect of which such deduction and withholding was made. As soon as reasonably practicable in advance of the expected Closing Date, the Purchaser will deliver a schedule of any expected withholding amounts to the Seller Parties. The Purchaser and the Seller Parties shall reasonably cooperate, and shall cause their respective controlled Affiliates to reasonably cooperate, in order to reduce or eliminate to the extent permissible under applicable Tax Law the amount of any such deduction or withholding on payments made pursuant to this Agreement under applicable Tax Law.

SECTION 2.09. Holdback Amount.

(a)The Purchaser will deliver the Holdback Amount to the Escrow Agent at Closing to be held and disbursed by the Escrow Agent pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreement and this Agreement. The Holdback Amount shall be applied to satisfy the applicable obligations of the Seller Parties in accordance with the terms of this Agreement as set forth below, with any earnings or interest accruing on the Holdback Amount being for the benefit of the Seller Parties. All interest or other income earned with respect to the Holdback Amount shall be allocated to the Seller Parties and reported by the Escrow Agent to the Internal Revenue Service, or any other taxing authority, on IRS Form 1099 (or other appropriate form) as income earned from the Holdback Amount by the Seller Parties whether or not such income is distributed.

(b)Until twelve (12) months after the Closing Date (the "<u>Holdback Partial Release Date</u>"), any Holdback Amount remaining in the escrow account established for purposes of holding the Holdback Amount pursuant to the Escrow Agreement (the "<u>Escrow Account</u>") shall be available (subject to the terms of this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement) to compensate the Purchaser solely for indemnifiable Losses pursuant to <u>Section 10.02</u>. Promptly (but in any event within ten (10) business days) following the Holdback Partial Release Date, the Purchaser and the Seller Parties shall submit joint instructions to the Escrow Agent providing for the release of an amount equal to 50% of the Holdback Amount initially deposited with the Escrow Agent <u>less</u> the sum of (i) the amount of claims that have been paid prior to the Holdback Partial Release Date and (ii) any amounts then subject to a claim hereunder; <u>provided</u>, that if such sum is a negative amount, then no portion of the Holdback Amount shall be released on the Holdback Partial Release Date. Following the Holdback Partial Release Date until the date that is twenty-four (24) months following the Closing Date (the "<u>Holdback Amount Termination Date</u>") the remaining Holdback Amount remaining in the Escrow Account shall be available (subject to the terms of this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement) to compensate the Purchaser solely for indemnifiable Losses in accordance



with <u>Section 10.02</u>. Promptly (but in any event within ten (10) business days) following the Holdback Amount Termination Date, the Purchaser and the Seller Parties shall submit joint instructions to the Escrow Agent providing for the release of all amounts then remaining in the Escrow Account, less any amounts then subject to a claim hereunder, which amounts shall continue to be held by the Escrow Agent pursuant to this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement until such claim is resolved.

SECTION 2.10. Deposit. As soon as reasonably practicable following the execution of this Agreement, the Purchaser will deliver or cause to be delivered a deposit of cash in an amount equal to \$20,000,000 by wire transfer of immediately available funds into escrow to be held and disbursed by the Escrow Agent pursuant to the terms of an escrow agreement to be agreed by the Escrow Agent and the parties hereto (the "Deposit"). If the Transaction is consummated, at the Closing (as defined below) the Purchaser and the Seller Parties shall submit joint instructions to the Escrow Agent providing for the release of the Deposit and any earnings or interested accrued thereon ("Deposit Interest") to the Seller Parties, and the Deposit and any Deposit Interest will be applied against the Closing Purchase Price. If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to <u>Section 9.01(d)</u> prior to the Closing, the Purchaser and the Seller Parties shall submit joint instructions to the Escrow Agent providing for the release of the termination of the Agreement occurs other than pursuant to <u>Section 9.01(d)</u>, the Purchaser and the Seller Parties shall submit joint instructions to the Seller Parties shall submit joint instructions to the Purchaser and the Seller Parties acknowledge and agree that the retention of the Deposit pursuant to the preceding sentence shall not constitute a waiver or satisfaction of any claim for breach or default, and shall not constitute liquidated damages.

Article III

Closing; Closing Deliveries

SECTION 3.01. Closing.

(a)Initial Closing. The closing of the purchase and sale of the Purchased Assets, the transfer of the Transferred Employees (other than any Inactive Employee) and the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities (the "<u>Closing</u>") shall take place at 10:00 a.m., Central Time, at the offices of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, 155 N. Wacker Drive, Chicago, Illinois 60606 on the first Monday that is at least ten (10) business days after all conditions to the obligations of the Purchaser and the Seller Parties under <u>Article VIII</u> shall have been satisfied or, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, waived (other than those conditions that by their terms are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, waiver of such conditions at such time), or at such other place and date as the parties may agree; provided, that, unless the Purchaser otherwise consents in writing, the Closing shall not occur until the earlier of the 75th day after the date hereof and the date on which all necessary Consents under Manufacturer Agreements are obtained and each Manufacturer for each Dealership has issued to the Purchaser a dealership sales and service agreement for each Dealership, or commitment therefor, on terms and conditions reasonably acceptable to the Purchaser, that permits the Purchaser to operate such Dealership. The date on which the Closing occurs is referred to herein as the "<u>Closing Date</u>."

SECTION 3.02. <u>Delayed Closing</u>. If, on the Closing Date, a Manufacturer has not issued and delivered to the Purchaser a conditional approval letter or other correspondence confirming the Manufacturer's intent to enter into a new Manufacturer Agreement with the Purchaser on terms and conditions reasonably acceptable to the Purchaser ("<u>Manufacturer Approval</u>"), with respect to any particular Dealership (such Dealership, a "<u>Delayed Closing Dealership</u>"), then (a) such Delayed Closing Dealership and the Purchased Assets related thereto (collectively, the "<u>Delayed Closing Purchased Assets</u>") will not be transferred, assigned and conveyed to the Purchaser at Closing, but rather the Purchaser will deposit the portion of the Closing Purchase Price, as set forth in the Allocation or as otherwise mutually agreed in writing by the parties (the "<u>Delayed Closing Amount</u>"), into escrow to be held and disbursed by the Escrow Agent pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreement and as agreed by the parties hereto, and (b) the Delayed Business Employees will not be transferred to the Purchaser or its Affiliates on the Closing Date, but rather the Purchaser will, or will cause its Affiliates to, make conditional offers of employment to the Delayed Business Employees pursuant to <u>Section 7.06(b)</u>. Pending Manufacturer Approval, the Purchaser will not assume any Assumed Liabilities to the extent arising out of or in connection with the Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, and the Delayed Closing Purchased Assets will not be transferred by the Selling Entities

to the Purchaser, but will be retained and operated by Selling Entities until the closing of sale of the Delayed Closing Purchased Assets to the Purchaser or to a third party (a "<u>Delayed Closing</u>"). The date on which any Delayed Closing occurs is referred to herein as the "<u>Delayed Closing Date</u>" with respect to such Delayed Closing.

SECTION 3.03. <u>Effectiveness</u>. For all economic, accounting and Tax purposes (in each case, to the extent permitted by applicable Law), the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be deemed to take place on the Closing Date at 12:01 a.m., Central Time.

SECTION 3.04. Transactions to be Effected at the Closing.

(a)At the Closing, the Seller Parties shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Purchaser the following:

(i)a duly executed counterpart of a bill of sale and assignment and assumption agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit B (the "Bill of Sale and Assignment and Assumption Agreement");

(ii)a duly executed counterpart of the Intellectual Property Assignment Agreement;

(iii)with respect to any Transferred Interests an Assignment of Interests in substantially the form of <u>Exhibit C</u> ("<u>Assignment of Interests</u>") and with respect to Transferred Interests that are certificated, certificates representing such Transferred Interests, duly endorsed (or accompanied by stock powers endorsed in blank), and, to the extent any Transferred Interests are not in certificated form, other evidence of ownership or assignment;

(iv)with respect to each Transferred Leased Real Property for which lessor Consent was obtained (or was otherwise not required), an executed counterpart of the applicable Selling Entity (and if applicable, lessor) to an assignment of lease in the form reasonably agreed by the parties thereto;

(v)the certificates contemplated in Section 8.02;

(vi)as and to the extent customarily required to transfer title, all instruments of title for the New Vehicles, Used Vehicles, Demonstrator Vehicles and Loaner Vehicles (or an application for title with respect to Used Vehicles);

(vii)with respect to each Selling Entity (or if the separate existence of such Selling Entity is disregarded for U.S. federal income tax purposes, such Selling Entity's regarded owner), a certificate of non-foreign status for such Selling Entity (or, if applicable, its regarded owner) in the form attached as <u>Exhibit G</u>;

(viii)customary title affidavits, evidence of authority and resolutions, evidence of good standing, organizational documents and such other documents, agreements, instruments, certificates, affidavits and information reasonably and customarily required by the Title Insurance Company (in each case, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Sellers) in order to issue, at Closing, the Title Policies, executed (and acknowledged, as applicable) by the Seller Group members and such other Persons as may be reasonably requested by the Title Insurance Company;

(ix)a duly executed counterpart of the Escrow Agreement; and

(x)the Payoff Letters (other than with respect to any Closing Debt not paid by Seller Parties at the Closing pursuant to $\underline{Section 3.04(b)(v)}$ below).

(b)At the Closing, the Purchaser shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Seller Parties or the relevant designees the following:

(i)the Closing Purchase Price in accordance with Section 2.06(iii);

(ii)a duly executed counterpart of the Bill of Sale and Assignment and Assumption Agreement;

(iii)with respect to each Transferred Leased Real Property for which lessor Consent was obtained (or was otherwise not required), an executed counterpart of the Purchaser to an assignment of lease in the form reasonably agreed by the parties;

(iv)a duly executed counterpart of the Intellectual Property Assignment Agreement;

(v)the Closing Debt Amount to the holders thereof (as designated by the Seller Parties); provided that any Closing Debt that the Purchaser and the Seller Parties reasonably agree is related to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets need not be paid by the Seller Parties at the Closing to the extent so related to such Delayed Closing Purchased Assets and shall instead be paid by the Seller Parties no later than the applicable Delayed Closing;

(vi)duly executed counterparts of the Escrow Agreement, executed by the Purchaser and the Escrow

Agent;

(vii)the Holdback Amount and any Delayed Closing Amount to the Escrow Agent; and

(viii)the certificates contemplated in Section 8.03.

SECTION 3.05. Allocation of Closing Purchase Price.

(a)An allocation of the Goodwill Price among the Dealerships will be agreed to by the parties as promptly as practicable but in no event later than the tenth (10th) business day after the date hereof. At least ten (10) days prior to the expected Closing Date, the Seller Parties shall provide the Purchaser with an allocation, substantially in the format set forth as <u>Exhibit E</u> hereto, of the Closing Purchase Price (as determined as of the applicable date of such allocation) and the applicable Assumed Liabilities (together with any other amounts constituting consideration for U.S. Federal income tax purposes) among the Purchased Assets (including the Transferred Interests) and a further allocation of such amounts allocated to the Transferred Interests among the assets of the Transferred Entities in accordance with Section 1060 of the Code and the Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder and consistent with the amounts paid to the applicable Seller Parties (or their designees) pursuant to <u>Section 2.06(iii)</u> (the "<u>Allocation</u>") for the Purchaser's review and comment. The Purchaser and the Seller Parties shall use commercially reasonable efforts to agree to the Allocation within thirty (30) days following the Closing Date (or within such other time period as mutually agreed to between the Purchaser and the Seller Parties), any remaining disputed items shall be determined by the Independent Expert in accordance with the procedures set forth in <u>Section 2.07</u>.

³⁰

(b)The Seller Parties and the Purchaser shall, and shall cause their respective controlled Affiliates to, reasonably cooperate to adjust the Allocation to reflect any subsequent adjustments to the consideration paid for the Purchased Assets (including the Transferred Interests), the Closing Purchase Price or any other amounts constituting consideration for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The Seller Parties and the Purchaser shall report consistently with the Allocation on all Tax Returns, including IRS Form 8594, which the Purchaser and the Seller Parties shall timely file with the IRS, and neither the Purchaser nor any Seller Party shall take any position in any Tax Return that is inconsistent with the Allocation, as adjusted, in each case, unless required to do so by a final "determination" as defined in Section 1313(a) of the Code (or any similar provision of applicable state, local, or non-U.S. Tax Law); provided, however, that neither the Purchaser nor any Seller Party shall be unreasonably impeded in its ability and discretion to negotiate, compromise and/ or settle any Tax Action in connection with the Allocation.

Article IV

Representations and Warranties of the Seller Parties

Each Seller Party represents and warrants to the Purchaser that as of the date of this Agreement and the Closing Date (except in instances when a representation is made as of a specific date, and then such representations shall be made as of such date only), except as set forth in the confidential disclosure letter delivered by the Seller Parties to the Purchaser concurrently with or prior to the execution of this Agreement (the "Disclosure Letter"):

SECTION 4.01. <u>Organization; Standing</u>. Each Selling Entity and Transferred Entity is an entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its organization and has all requisite power and authority necessary to carry on the Business as it is now being conducted, except (other than with respect to such entity's due organization and valid existence) as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Business. Except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Business, each Selling Entity and Transferred Entity is duly licensed or qualified to do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the conduct of the Business by it or the character or location of the Purchased Assets owned or leased by it makes such licensing or qualification necessary.

SECTION 4.02. Authority; Enforceability; Noncontravention.

(a)Each Selling Entity has all necessary power and authority to execute and deliver the Transaction Documents to which such Selling Entity is or will be a party and to perform its respective obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the applicable Transactions. The execution, delivery and performance by each Selling Entity of the Transaction Documents to which such Selling Entity is or will be a party, and the consummation by it of the applicable Transactions, have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of such Selling Entity and no other corporate or similar action on the part of such Selling Entity is necessary to authorize the execution, delivery and performance by such Selling Entity of the Transaction Documents to which such Selling Entity is or will be a party and the consummation by it of the applicable Transactions. This Agreement has been, and each of the other Transaction Documents to which a Selling Entity is or will be a party has been or will be, as applicable, duly executed and delivered by each Selling Entity party thereto and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery hereof or thereof by the Purchaser or its applicable Affiliate, each Transaction Document constitutes (or upon the due authorization, execution and delivery hereof or thereof by the Purchaser or its applicable Affiliate will constitute) a legal, valid and binding obligation of each Selling Entity party thereto, enforceable against such Selling Entity in accordance with its terms, except that such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization, moratorium and other similar Laws of general application affecting or relating to the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and is subject to general principles of equity, whether considered in a proceeding at law or in equity (the "Bankruptcy and Equity Exception").

(b)Neither the execution and delivery by each Selling Entity of the Transaction Documents to which such Selling Entity is or will be a party, the consummation by such Selling Entity of the applicable Transactions, nor the performance or compliance by such Selling Entity with the applicable terms or provisions hereof or thereof, will conflict with or violate any provision of the organizational documents of such Selling Entity or any of the Transferred Entities or assuming that the Consents referred to in <u>Section 4.03</u> are obtained prior to the Closing and the filings referred to in <u>Section 4.03</u> are made and any waiting periods thereunder have terminated or expired prior to the Closing, and the Consents on Section 4.02(b) of the Disclosure Letter are obtained, violate any Law or Judgment applicable to such Selling Entity or any of the Purchased Assets, violate or constitute a default or an event that, with or without notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a default under, any Transferred Contract or any Permit included in the Purchased Assets or result in the creation of any Lien (other than a Permitted Lien) on any of the Purchased Assets, except, in the case of the foregoing clause (ii), as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to be material to the Business. The Transferred Entities have not conducted, and do not currently conduct, any material operations other than their respective ownership and leasing of the Transferred Real Property.

SECTION 4.03. <u>Governmental Approvals</u>. Except for filings required under, and compliance with other applicable requirements of, the HSR Act, no Consent of any Governmental Authority is necessary for the execution and delivery by each Selling Entity of the Transaction Documents to which such Selling Entity is or will be a party, and as set forth on Section 4.03 of the Disclosure Letter, the performance by such Selling Entity of its obligations hereunder or thereunder and the consummation by such Selling Entity of the applicable Transactions, other than such other Consents that, if not obtained, made or given, would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Business.

SECTION 4.04. Capitalization; Title to Transferred Interests.

(a)Section 4.04(a) of the Disclosure Letter sets forth the number of authorized, issued and outstanding equity interests in such Transferred Entity, the record and beneficial owners thereof and the jurisdiction of organization of such Transferred Entity. The Transferred Entities do not own, directly or indirectly, any equity interests in any other Person. True and complete copies of the organizational documents of the Transferred Entities have been made available to the Purchaser.

(b)The Transferred Interests have been duly authorized and validly issued. There are no outstanding warrants, options, agreements, subscriptions, convertible or exchangeable securities or other Contracts that have been entered into or issued with respect to any Transferred Entity pursuant to which the Transferred Entities are or may become obligated to issue, sell, purchase, return or redeem any limited liability company interests or other equity interests of the Transferred Entities, or any security convertible or exercisable or exchangeable therefor, and no equity securities or other equity interests of the Transferred Entities are reserved for issuance for any purpose. None of the issued and outstanding Transferred Interests was issued in violation of any preemptive rights, rights of first offer, rights of first refusal or similar rights. Other than, or as set forth in, the applicable organizational documents of the applicable Transferred Entities are provided to the Purchaser under <u>Section 4.04(a)</u>, there are no voting trusts, member agreements, proxies or other agreements or understandings in effect with respect to the voting or transfer of any of the Transferred Interests.

(c)A Selling Entity has good and valid title to each of the Transferred Interests and, upon consummation of the Transactions, good and valid title to the Transferred Interests shall pass to the Purchaser, free and clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Liens).

SECTION 4.05. <u>Title to Tangible Property</u>.

(a)A Selling Entity has good and valid title to, or a valid leasehold interest in or license to, all of the tangible Purchased Assets, free and clear of any Liens (other than Permitted Liens).

(b)Except in each case as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Business, or as set forth on Section 4.05(b) of the Disclosure Letter, all tangible Purchased Assets (i) have been maintained in accordance with the ordinary course policies, procedures and standards of the Business, and are not the subject of any deferred maintenance or deferred capital expenditures and (ii) are in normal operating condition and repair, ordinary course wear and tear excepted.

SECTION 4.06. <u>Sufficiency of Assets</u>. Except (a) as set forth in Section 4.06 of the Disclosure Letter, (b) for Manufacturer Agreements and licenses to operate as a motor vehicle dealer held by members of the Seller Group, (c) for insurance policies (including self-insurance) of the Business obtained by any member of the Seller Group or any of their Affiliates and (d) for services and other rights that are to be made available pursuant to the other Transaction Documents, the Purchased Assets and the assets owned by the Transferred Entities (and, to the extent applicable, the Delayed Closing Purchased Assets and the ROFR Assets) constitute all of the assets necessary for the conduct of the Business in all material respects as currently conducted by the Seller Group as of the date of this Agreement.

SECTION 4.07. <u>Financial Statements</u>. Section 4.07 of the Disclosure Letter sets forth true and correct copies of the Financial Statements. The Financial Statements (a) have been derived from the Records of the Business (as applicable), (b) have been prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto or, subject, in the case of interim Financial Statements, to the absence of footnotes and to normal year-end adjustments) and (c) fairly present in all material respects the financial position and results of operations of the Business as of or for the periods shown therein. With respect to the Business, the Seller Group has no material Liabilities included in the Assumed Liabilities, except (i) Liabilities reflected or recorded in the Financial Statements; (ii) Liabilities under Contracts (other than Liabilities arising with respect to a breach or default by the Seller Group); and (iii) Liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business since the Balance Sheet Date, and which are not, individually or in the aggregate, material to the Business. The Seller Group maintains a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of the Financial Statements in accordance with GAAP and to maintain accountability for assets.

SECTION 4.08. Absence of Certain Changes. Since the Balance Sheet Date through the date of this Agreement, (a) except for the execution and performance of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and the discussions, negotiations and transactions related thereto, the Business has been conducted in all material respects in the ordinary course of business and (b) taking into account any COVID-19 Measures as described in <u>Section 6.01(c)</u>, there has not been, nor has there occurred (i) any effect, change or event that has had, or would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, (ii) any knowing waiver of material claims or rights of material value of the Seller Group under any provision of any Material Business Contract, other than waivers granted in the ordinary course of business; (iii) any material modification of payment terms with customers or suppliers pursuant to any Material Business Contract; (iv) any material change in any method of accounting or accounting practice for the Business, except as required by GAAP (or any interpretation thereof) or by applicable Law, or as disclosed in the Financial Statements; (v) any change in any material method of accounting for Tax purposes with respect to the Purchased Assets, the assets of the Transferred Entities or the Business; (vi) any threatened in writing condemnation or eminent domain proceedings that would materially affect any Transferred Real Property or (vii) entry into any agreement or commitment, whether in writing or otherwise, that in any way legally binds Seller to take any action described in this Section 4.08(b)(ii)-(vi).

SECTION 4.09. Legal Proceedings. Except as set forth on Section 4.09 of the Disclosure Letter, there is no material (a) pending or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened in writing legal or administrative proceeding, suit, investigation, arbitration, petition, plea, charge, complaint, demand, litigation, mediation, hearing, inquiry, claim (including any counterclaim) or action (an "<u>Action</u>") against any Selling Entity or Transferred Entity arising out of or relating to the Business by or before any Governmental Authority or (b) outstanding order, judgment, settlement, injunction, ruling, writ, decree, decision, verdict, subpoena, mandate, precept, directive, consent, approval, award, assessment or arbitration award of any Governmental Authority (a "Judgment") arising out of or relating to any Selling Entity or Transferred Entity in connection with the Business.

SECTION 4.10. Compliance with Laws; Permits.

(a)Except as set forth on Section 4.10(a) of the Disclosure Letter, each Selling Entity and Transferred Entity is, and has at all times been, in compliance in all material respects with all state, local, foreign or federal laws (including common law), statutes, ordinances, codes, rules or regulations, constitutions, orders, Judgments or other legal requirements enacted, adopted, or promulgated, or applied by any Governmental Authority ("Laws") applicable to the Business.

(b)The licenses, permits, registrations, consents, exemptions, variances, certificates, approvals, quality certifications, rights and authorizations from Governmental Authorities (collectively, "<u>Permits</u>") held by the Selling Entities relating to the Business and constituting Purchased Assets (or held by Transferring Entities) constitute all material Permits necessary for the conduct of the Business as currently conducted. A list of all such material Permits as of the date hereof is set forth in Section 4.10(b) of the Disclosure Letter. Each Selling Entity and Transferred Entity, is, and has at all times been, in compliance in all material respects with the terms of the Transferred Permits.

SECTION 4.11. Tax Matters.

(a)All material Tax Returns required to be filed with respect to the Business, the Purchased Assets or the Transferred Entities have been duly and timely filed (taking into account any valid extensions of the due date for filing), and each such Tax Return is true, correct and complete in all material respects.

(b)All material Taxes owed with respect to the Business, the Purchased Assets or the Transferred Entities have been timely paid in full, whether disputed or not, and whether or not shown as due on any Tax Return.

(c)All material Tax withholding and deposit requirements imposed with respect to the Business, the Purchased Assets or the Transferred Entities have been satisfied in all material respects, and all information reporting requirements with respect to the Business, the Purchased Assets or the Transferred Entities have been complied with in all material respects.

(d)No claim has been made by a Governmental Authority in a jurisdiction where Tax Returns are not filed by a Transferred Entity that such Transferred Entity is or may be subject to taxation in that jurisdiction.

(e)There is no unresolved material Tax Action with respect to the Purchased Assets, the Business, or any Transferred Entity pending or ongoing or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, that has been threatened in writing, and no extension of time or waiver of the limitations period relating to material Taxes with respect to the Business, the Purchased Assets or any Transferred Entity has been granted, and no request for such extension or waiver is pending.

(f)There are no Liens (other than Liens for current period Taxes not yet due and payable) on any of the Purchased Assets currently existing, pending or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened in writing related to any unpaid Taxes.

(g)Except as set forth on Section 4.11(g) of the Disclosure Letter, no Transferred Entity is, or has been at any time, a member of any affiliated, consolidated, combined, unitary or similar group for U.S. federal, state or non-U.S. Tax purposes.

(h)No Transferred Entity is a party to any Tax sharing, Tax allocation, Tax indemnification agreement or similar agreement (other than any Tax sharing or indemnification provisions contained in any agreement entered into in the ordinary course of business and not primarily relating to Taxes (*e.g.*, customary leases, credit agreements or other customary commercial agreements)).

(i)None of the Purchased Assets or the assets of the Transferred Entities is subject to any tax partnership agreement (other than the tax partnership agreement of a Seller Party).

(j)Each Transferred Entity is, and has been since its formation, an entity disregarded as separate from its owner in accordance with Treasury Regulation Section 301.77013 for U.S. federal income tax purposes and any applicable provision of state or local income Tax Law.

(k)No Transferred Entity will be required to include any material item of income or gain in, or exclude any material item of deduction or loss from, taxable income for any taxable period (or portion thereof) beginning on the Closing Date as a result of any change in method of accounting for a taxable period and ending before the Closing Date, any installment sale or open transaction disposition, intercompany transaction or intercompany account made or existing before the Closing Date, any prepaid amount received since before the Closing Date or any "closing agreement" within the meaning of Section 7121 of the Code (or any corresponding or similar provision of applicable Tax Law) executed before the Closing Date.

(l)No Transferred Entity has deferred any obligation to pay Taxes pursuant to Section 2302 of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (or any corresponding or similar provision of any COVID-19 aid).

SECTION 4.12. Employee Benefits.

(a)Section 4.12(a) of the Disclosure Letter lists, as of the date of this Agreement, each material Seller Benefit Plan. With respect to each material Seller Benefit Plan (other than the Multiemployer Plans), the Seller Group has delivered or made available to the Purchaser or its Representatives, to the extent applicable, true, correct and complete copies of the current plan document (including any amendments thereto) and the summary plan descriptions, the most recent determination letter (or opinion letter or advisory letter) received from the IRS, and the most recent report filed on Form 5500 (with schedules attached).

(b)Each Seller Benefit Plan (other than the Multiemployer Plans) has been administered and operated in compliance in all material respects with its terms and the applicable provisions of ERISA, the Code, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and all other applicable Laws.

(c)Each Seller Benefit Plan (other than the Multiemployer Plans) that is intended to meet the requirements of a "qualified plan" under Section 401(a) of the Code has either received a favorable determination letter or is entitled to rely on an advisory or opinion letter issued with respect to an IRS approved master and prototype or volume submitter plan, and to the Knowledge of the Sellers, there are no existing circumstances or events that have occurred that would reasonably be expected to adversely affect such qualified status.

(d)Except as set forth on Section 4.12(d) of the Disclosure Letter, no member of the Seller Group or any of their ERISA Affiliates contributes to or is obligated to contribute to, or has at any time in the previous six years, contributed or had an obligation to contribute to, and no Seller Benefit Plan is, a "multiemployer plan," as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA. With respect to each member of the Seller Group or any of their ERISA Affiliates, there does not exist any Controlled Group Liability that would result in any material liability, at or after the Closing, to the Purchaser or any of its ERISA Affiliates. With respect to each such Seller Benefit Plan identified on Section 4.12(d) of the Disclosure Letter as a "multiemployer plan" (each a "<u>Multiemployer Plan</u>"), all contributions required to be paid by Sellers or their ERISA Affiliates have been timely paid to each such Multiemployer Plan, and neither the Sellers nor any ERISA Affiliate has incurred any withdrawal liability under Title IV of ERISA that remains unsatisfied.

(e)Except as set forth on Section 4.12(e) of the Disclosure Letter and other than as required under Sections 601 to 608 of ERISA or other applicable Law, no Seller Benefit Plan provides post-termination or retiree health benefits to any individual (other than death benefits when termination occurs upon death).

(f)Except as set forth on Section 4.12(f) of the Disclosure Letter, the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Seller Parties and the consummation of the Transactions will not (alone or in combination with any other event): result in an increase in the amount of compensation or benefits or the acceleration of the vesting or timing of payment of any compensation or benefits payable to any Business Employee, or result in "excess parachute payments" within the meaning of Section 280G(b) of the Code. No Seller Party, nor any of their

ERISA Affiliates, has any obligation to gross up, indemnify, or otherwise reimburse any Person for any excise taxes, interest, or penalties incurred under Section 409A or Section 4999 of the Code.

(g)The Transferred Entities do not sponsor, maintain, or contribute to, or have any Liability with respect to, a Seller Benefit Plan (other than in their capacity as ERISA Affiliates of the Seller Parties).

SECTION 4.13. Labor Matters.

(a)Section 4.13(a) of the Disclosure Letter sets forth, as of the date of this Agreement, a complete and accurate list of each collective bargaining arrangement and any other Contract with a labor union or similar representative of employees that is applicable to any Business Employees ("<u>Collective Bargaining Agreements</u>"). No demand for recognition as the bargaining representative of any Business Employee has been made by or on behalf of any labor or similar organization that does not already represent a Business Employee (as reflected on Section 4.13(a) of the Disclosure Letter), and there is no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened in writing, material strike, lockout, picketing, slowdown, work stoppage, or other labor disturbance by or with respect to any Business Employees.

(b)Except as set forth on Section 4.13(b) of the Disclosure Letter, there is no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened in writing material Action by or on behalf of any Business Employee by or before any Governmental Authority.

(c)Except as set forth on Section 4.13(c) of the Disclosure Letter, each Selling Entity, is, and has at all times been, in material compliance with all applicable Laws with respect to labor, employment and employment practices (including with respect to all Laws relating to wages and hours, overtime pay, classification of employees and independent contractors, anti-discrimination, anti-retaliation anti-harassment, employee leave, occupational health and safety, recordkeeping, immigration, meal and rest breaks, employee notices, satisfaction of obligations with respect to payment of accrued, unused vacation, collective bargaining and satisfaction of all requirements arising out of the Collective Bargaining Agreements).

(d)The Transferred Entities do not employ, and have not previously employed, any employees. The Business Employees, together with the independent contractors and temporary outsourced personnel engaged by the Selling Entities on the date hereof who are set forth on Section 4.13(d) of the Disclosure Letter, represent the entirety of the individuals necessary to manage and operate the Business as currently managed and operated.

SECTION 4.14 Environmental Matters. Except as disclosed on Section 4.14 of the Disclosure Letter:

(a)Each Selling Entity and Transferred Entity is, and, except for matters which have been fully resolved, has at all times been, in compliance in all material respects with all Laws and Judgments relating to pollution or the protection of the environment, natural resources, human health or safety (to the extent relating to exposure to Hazardous Materials), or the presence, Release or threatened Release of Hazardous Materials ("<u>Environmental Laws</u>") applicable to the Business or operation thereof or the Purchased Assets, and no such Selling Entity or Transferred Entity has received any written notice, which remains unresolved in any aspect, alleging a material violation of or material Liability or obligation under any Environmental Law in connection with the conduct or operation of the Business or operation thereof or the Sellers, there are no events or occurrences related to the Business or operation thereof or the Purchased Assets that are reasonably likely to result in the receipt of such notice.

(b)Each Selling Entity and Transferred Entity possesses and is in compliance in all material respects with any Permits required to be held by it under Environmental Laws for the operation of the Business as currently conducted.

(c)There is no material Action under or pursuant to any Environmental Law under which there are outstanding or unresolved material Liabilities that is pending or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened in writing against any Selling Entity or Transferred Entity with respect to the conduct of the Business.

(d)No Selling Entity or Transferred Entity has become subject to any Judgment under Environmental Law imposed by any Governmental Authority or to any assumption or retention by contract or operation of law of any Liabilities under Environmental Law or regarding any Hazardous Materials, in each case of which there are outstanding or unresolved material Liabilities on the part of such Selling Entity or Transferred Entity as applicable, with respect to the conduct of the Business.

(e)There have been no material Releases of Hazardous Materials on, at, under or from any Transferred Real Property and no Selling Entity or Transferred Entity has received written notice, which remains unresolved in any aspect, alleging that any of them has Liability or obligation under Environmental Law to perform any investigation, remediation, monitoring, corrective or curative action, treatment, clean-up, abatement, containment, removal, mitigation, or response or restoration work with respect to the presence, Release or threatened Release of Hazardous Materials at any real property offsite where any of them has transported or disposed or arranged for the transport or disposal of Hazardous Materials.

(f)To the Knowledge of the Sellers, there has been no exposure of Persons or property to Hazardous Materials as a result of any Selling Entity's or Transferred Entity's conduct of the Business that could form the basis of a material claim for damages or compensation.

(g)The Selling Entities have made available to the Purchaser complete and correct copies of all material environmental site assessments in the possession or control of the Selling Entities, addressing material environmental Liabilities under, or compliance with Environmental Laws and relating to the Business or operations thereof or the Purchased Assets.

SECTION 4.15. Intellectual Property.

(a)Section 4.15(a) of the Disclosure Letter sets forth a list, as of the date hereof, of all Patents, pending Patent applications, registered Trademarks, Trademark applications, registered Copyrights, Copyright applications and domain name registrations included in the Transferred Intellectual Property (the "<u>Transferred Registered Intellectual</u> <u>Property</u>"). All of the Transferred Registered Intellectual Property is subsisting and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, all Transferred Registered Intellectual Property (excluding applications for registration) are valid and enforceable.

(b)Except as set forth on Section 4.15(b) of the Disclosure Letter, each applicable Selling Entity exclusively owns all Transferred Intellectual Property transferred by it hereunder.

(c)No Actions are pending, and since January 1, 2015, no Selling Entity, Dealership or Transferred Entity has received any written notice or claim, challenging the ownership, validity or enforceability of any Transferred Intellectual Property or alleging that the Selling Entity or Transferred Entity is infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating the Intellectual Property rights of any Person in connection with the conduct of the Business in any material respect. To the Knowledge of the Sellers, since January 1, 2015, the conduct of the Business has not infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated and does not infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate the Intellectual Property rights of any Person, in each case in any material respect.

(d)To the Knowledge of the Sellers, since January 1, 2015, no Person has been infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating any Transferred Intellectual Property in any material respect.

(e) Each Selling Entity and Transferred Entity has at all times conducted the Business in material compliance with all applicable Information Security and Privacy Requirements in all material respects and no Action by any Governmental Authority, and no material Action by any other Person, is pending or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened in writing against any Selling Entity or Transferred Entity alleging a violation of any Person's privacy rights or Personally Identifiable Information by any of them, in connection with their conduct of the Business. No Selling Entity or Transferred Entity has provided or been legally required to provide any notice to data owners or a Governmental Authority in connection with any unauthorized access, use, or disclosure of Personally Identifiable Information. The Selling Entities and Transferred Entities have taken reasonable measures to protect the confidentiality of trade secrets and confidential information used in and material to the Business.

(f) To the Knowledge of the Sellers, the IT Systems used by the Business do not contain any malware that would reasonably be expected to interfere with the conduct of the Business in any material respect, and such IT Systems are reasonably sufficient for the operation of the Business as currently conducted by the Seller Group as of the date of this Agreement. The Selling Entities and Transferred Entities have taken commercially reasonable steps to provide for the back-up and recovery of data and information, have commercially reasonable disaster recovery plans, procedures and facilities, and, as applicable, take commercially reasonable steps to implement such plans and procedures, including by implementing plans and procedures designed to manage mobile devices, including those provided to employees or contractors by the Selling Entities and Transferred Entities, provide continuous monitoring and alerting of any problems or issues with the IT Systems, and monitor network traffic for threats and scan and assess vulnerabilities in the IT Systems of the Selling Entities and Transferred Entities or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, their contractors, that has caused any material disruption to the Business or resulted in any unauthorized disclosure of or access to any data owned, collected or controlled by the Selling Entities or the Transferred Entities, including Personally Identifiable Information.

SECTION 4.16. Transferred Real Property.

(a)Section 2.02(a)(i)(B) of the Disclosure Letter sets forth a complete and accurate list of the Transferred Leased Real Property, comprised of the addresses of such Transferred Leased Real Property. With respect to each Transferred Real Property Lease the applicable Selling Entity or Transferred Entity has a valid leasehold, subleasehold or licensee interest in the Transferred Leased Real Property subject to no Liens other than Permitted Liens, such Transferred Real Property Lease is in full force and effect, there exists no material default on the part of the relevant Selling Entity or Transferred Entity that is party to any such Transferred Real Property Lease, and, to the Knowledge of Sellers, no landlord, sublandlord or licensor under such Transferred Real Property Lease is in material default thereunder, neither the relevant Selling Entity nor Transferred Entity nor any other member of the Seller Group has received written notice of any material default or event that, with notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute a material default under any such Transferred Real Property Lease, and to the Knowledge of the Sellers, no event has occurred that, with or without notice or lapse of time or both, would result in a material default by the relevant Selling Entity or Transferred Entity under such Transferred Real Property Lease or by the landlord, sublandlord or licensor thereunder, and to the Knowledge of the Sellers, there exists no material unresolved dispute under any Transferred Real Property Leases with the applicable landlord, sublandlord or licensor thereunder. True, correct and complete copies of (i) the Transferred Real Property Leases and all material amendments, modifications, supplements, renewals, extensions and memoranda thereof have been made available to the Purchaser, and (ii) all estoppel certificates and subordination, non-disturbance and attornment agreements related to the Transferred Real Property Leases have been made available to the Purchaser to the extent that the foregoing are currently in the reasonable possession or control of the Seller Group as of the date hereof. Except as set forth on Section 4.16(a) of the Disclosure Letter, no Consent or approval by the landlord, sublandlord or licensor is required under any Transferred Real Property Lease as a result of the execution or performance of this Agreement or the consummation of the Transactions.

(b)Section 4.16(b) of the Disclosure Letter sets forth a list as of the date hereof of all leases, subleases, licenses or other agreements under which a Selling Entity or Transferred Entity has granted to any third party the right to use or occupy any portion of the Transferred Real Property ("Third Party Leases"). True, correct and complete copies of the Third Party Leases and all material amendments, modifications, supplements, renewals, extensions and memoranda thereof have been made available to the Purchaser, and all estoppel certificates and subordination, non-disturbance and attornment agreements related to the Third Party Leases have been made available to the Purchaser to the extent that the foregoing are currently in the possession or reasonable control of the Seller Group as of the date hereof. Except for the Third Party Leases and any leases to Affiliates of the Seller Group that will be terminated at and as of Closing, members of the Seller Group have exclusive possession of the applicable Transferred Real Property and have not leased, subleased, licensed, sublicensed or granted occupancy rights to any third party in or to any portion of the Transferred Real Property. No member of the Seller Group is in material breach or default under any Third Party Lease, and to the Knowledge of the Sellers, no tenant, lessee, subtenant, licensee or other counterparty is in material default under any Third Party Lease.

(c)Section 2.02(a)(i)(A) of the Disclosure Letter sets forth a complete and accurate list of the Transferred Owned Real Property comprised of the addresses of the Transferred Owned Real Property. The

applicable Selling Entities or Transferred Entities have good, valid and insurable fee simple title to all Transferred Owned Real Property, free and clear of all Liens, other than Permitted Liens.

(d)True, correct, and complete copies of all existing owner's title policies currently in effect, title reports, surveys, engineering consultants' reports and property condition reports relating to the Transferred Owned Real Property in possession of the Seller Group as of the date hereof have been made available to the Purchaser.

(e)Except as set forth on Section 4.16(e) of the Disclosure Letter: (i) the Transferred Real Property constitutes all of the Real Property interests owned, leased, licensed, used or held for use by the Seller Group in the conduct of the Business in the ordinary course, and, as a whole, are sufficient Real Property interests in all material respects for the continued conduct and operation of the Business in the ordinary course and (ii) the Seller Group members do not own, lease, license, use, or hold any Real Property or interest in Real Property that, in the twelve (12) months prior to the date of this Agreement, has not been used by the Seller Group in connection with the Business and is not reasonably expected to return to operational service.

(f)Except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Business, all buildings, structures, and improvements on the Transferred Real Property are in good operating condition and repair (ordinary wear and tear excepted) and are sufficient for the uses in which such property is presently employed.

(g)To the Knowledge of the Sellers, (x) the Transferred Real Property is in compliance, in all material respects, with all zoning, land use, and similar Laws applicable thereto and (y) no member of the Seller Group has received written notice of non-compliance with any applicable material restrictive covenants and building codes.

(h)No member of the Seller Group has received notice of any eminent domain, land-use, Permit-related or other similar Actions pending or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened in writing against any Transferred Real Property (and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, there is no such Action or proceeding pending or threatened in writing) which in each case would result in the termination or material and permanent impairment of any access by any of the Transferred Real Property to a dedicated public street, road, highway or other right-of-way.

(i)Except as set forth on Section 4.16(i) of the Disclosure Letter, there are no Actions which are pending or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, which have been threatened in writing against, or are affecting, the Transferred Real Property or any part thereof in any court or before any arbitrator, board or governmental or administrative agency or other Person or entity which would reasonably be expected to materially and adversely (A) affect the Transferred Real Property or any portion thereof or (B) impair the existing use and operation of the Transferred Real Property.

(j) There are no unexercised options, rights of first offer or rights of first refusal to purchase any portion of or interest in the Transferred Owned Real Property and to the Knowledge of the Sellers, there are no unexercised options, rights of first offer or rights of first refusal to purchase any portion of or interest in the Transferred Leased Real Property.

(k)Except for the Transferred Contracts, there are no service contracts, maintenance contracts, equipment contracts or operating agreements in existence with respect to any Transferred Real Property to which a member of the Seller Group is a party that burden such Transferred Real Property and will be binding upon the Purchaser from and after Closing.

SECTION 4.17. Manufacturers; Warranties; Customer Deposits; We Owes.

(a)Other than Contracts that have expired pursuant to their terms or that were terminated by a Selling Entity or Transferred Entity, in connection with the sale of a dealership business to a third party or terminations of or other such notices under Manufacturer Agreements that have been rescinded or otherwise made ineffective, or as set forth on Section 4.17(a) of the Disclosure Letter, since January 1, 2018 through the date of this Agreement, no Manufacturer has terminated its Manufacturer Agreement with such Selling Entity or Transferred Entity and no Manufacturer has provided written notice to a Selling Entity or Transferred Entity that it intends to

terminate its Manufacturer Agreement or cease doing business thereunder with a Selling Entity or Transferred Entity. Except as set forth on Section 4.17(a) of the Disclosure Letter, since January 1, 2018 through the date of this Agreement (except for such notices that have been rescinded or otherwise made ineffective), no Manufacturer has provided written notice to a Selling Entity of any material deficiency in Dealership operations (including, but not limited to, brand imaging, facility conditions, sales efficiency, customer satisfaction, warranty work and reimbursement, or sales incentives) or a present or future need for material facility improvements or upgrade. Since January 1, 2020 through the date of this Agreement (except for such notices that have been rescinded or otherwise made ineffective), no Manufacturer has provided written notice to a Selling Entity of the awarding or possible awarding of a Manufacturer dealership to any person or entity in the Metropolitan Statistical Areas in which a Business operates.

(b)Except as set forth on Section 4.17(b) of the Disclosure Letter, none of the Selling Entities or Transferred Entities have, and none have agreed in writing to accept for others, any warranty or service obligations to any third party Person, and none of the Selling Entities or Transferred Entities have offered their customers any marketing or added-value programs or plans for which such Selling Entities or Transferred Entities are responsible for administration or the liability thereof, including programs commonly called "tires for life", "oil changes for life", "car wash/detailing service plans", "rewards programs" or any similar offers (collectively, "Marketing Programs"), except as may be required by any Manufacturer with respect to programs, warranties and similar products pursuant to the terms of the applicable Manufacturer Agreement.

(c)The written reports, statements and financial statements prepared by the Seller Group for the Manufacturers and provided to the Manufacturers were prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with each of the Manufacturer's written standards and guidelines applicable to the Business.

SECTION 4.18. Contracts.

(a)Section 4.18(a) of the Disclosure Letter sets forth a list of all Material Business Contracts as of the date of this Agreement. For purposes of this Agreement, "<u>Material Business Contract</u>" means any Contract (other than Seller Benefit Plans and Transferred Real Property Leases) to which a Selling Entity or Transferred Entity is a party or bound:

(i)that provides for the formation, creation, governance, economics or control of any joint venture, partnership or similar arrangement with respect to the Business;

(ii)under which any Person guarantees, directly or indirectly, any material Indebtedness of a Selling Entity or Transferred Entity or any Selling Entity or Transferred Entity guarantees any material Indebtedness of any Person, in each case in connection with the conduct of the Business;

(iii)that grants a Lien (other than a Permitted Lien) on any material Purchased Asset (other than a Lien that will be released on or before the Closing Date);

(iv)that is a Contract (other than purchase orders, task orders or delivery orders or orders from the Manufacturers in the ordinary course) for the purchase or sale of inventory, materials, Supplies, goods, services, equipment or other assets in connection with the conduct of the Business, the performance of which will extend over a period of more than one year from the date of this Agreement and which provides for (or would reasonably be expected to involve) annual payments by a Selling Entity or Transferred Entity or to a Selling Entity or Transferred Entity of more than \$75,000 and is not terminable with no more than 90 days' notice without penalty;

(v)that is a Manufacturer Agreement;

(vi)contains provisions that prohibit a Selling Entity or Transferred Entity from competing in or entering any territory, market or field or freely engaging in business anywhere in the world, or grant a right of exclusivity to any Person, other than Contracts that can be terminated (including such restrictive provisions) by the Selling Entity or Transferred Entity on less than 90 days' notice without payment by the Selling Entity or Transferred Entity of any material penalty, any Manufacturer Agreement and license agreements for Intellectual Property rights limiting the Selling Entity's or Transferred Entity's use of such Intellectual Property rights to specified territories, markets or fields of use;

(vii)between a Selling Entity or Transferred Entity, on the one hand, and any member of the Seller Group or their Affiliates, on the other hand, to the extent related to the Business or any Purchased Asset, other than commercial arrangements between such Persons in the ordinary course of business and on substantially arm's length terms (each, an "<u>Affiliate Agreement</u>");

(viii)reflecting a settlement of any threatened or pending Action either entered into since January 1, 2019 and under which a payment in excess of \$100,000 was made by or on primarily on behalf of the Business or containing continuing obligations or restrictions on the Business or any Transferred Entity other than ordinary course obligations or restrictions such as confidentiality, non-disparagement, etc.;

(ix)pursuant to which a Person (other than the Purchaser) has a right to acquire all or any material portion of the Business or any dealership rights or contract rights of the Selling Entities (except pursuant to any of the Manufacturer Agreements);

(x)pursuant to which any Selling Entity or Transferred Entity has granted to any Person a license with respect to any material Transferred Intellectual Property other than non-exclusive licenses entered into in the ordinary course of business;

(xi)that contains a license for the Business to use any Person's material Intellectual Property, other than licenses for open source software or commercially available software or services (including software-as-a-service) involving total annual consideration of less than \$100,000; and

(xii)that grants a right of first refusal or similar purchase rights with respect to any Purchased Asset to a third party other than a Manufacturing Agreement.

(b) Each Material Business Contract is in full force and effect and is valid, binding and enforceable against the Selling Entity or Transferred Entity party thereto, and to the Knowledge of the Sellers, each other party thereto, in accordance with its terms, in each case subject to the Bankruptcy and Equity Exception, except where the failure to be valid, binding or in full force and effect would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to be materially adverse to the Business and the Purchased Assets, taken as a whole, and neither the Selling Entity or Transferred Entity party thereto nor, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, any other party to a Material Business Contract is in breach or violation of, or default under, any Material Business Contract and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, no event has occurred that with or without notice or lapse of time or both would constitute a breach or default (whether by lapse of time or notice or both) or give any Person a right of acceleration or early termination thereof, except as would not reasonably be expected to be, individually or in the aggregate, materially adverse to the Business and the Purchased Assets, taken as a whole. Prior to the date of this Agreement, the Seller Parties have made available to the Purchaser a true and complete copy of each Material Business Contract (including all material modifications and amendments thereto and waivers thereunder).

(c)To the Knowledge of the Sellers, as of the date of this Agreement, there are no Transferred Pre-Closing Contractual Liabilities existing as of the date of this Agreement. SECTION 4.19. Insurance. All insurance policies of the Seller Group, solely to the extent such policies provide coverage for the Business, are in full force and effect, no written notice of cancelation or modification has been received as of the date of this Agreement other than in connection with ordinary renewals, and there is no existing default or event which, with the giving of notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a default, by any insured thereunder. Section 4.19 of the Disclosure Letter identifies all material policies (including historic occurrence-based policies) of insurance currently maintained as of the date of this Agreement by, or on behalf of, the Seller Group with respect to the Business or the Purchased Assets, setting forth the name of the insurer, the holder of each such policy, the nature of coverage, and the expiration dates thereof. As of the date of this Agreement, with respect to the Business or the Purchased Assets, there is no material claim by the Seller Group currently pending under any such insurance as to which coverage has been denied or disputed by the insurers of such policies.

SECTION 4.20. <u>Brokers and Other Advisors</u>. Except for Jefferies LLC, the fees and expenses of which will be paid by the Seller Parties or their Affiliates (excluding any Transferred Entity), no broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other Person is entitled to any broker's, finder's, financial advisor's or other similar fee or commission, or the reimbursement of expenses in connection therewith, in connection with the Transactions based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of any member of the Seller Group.

SECTION 4.21. No Other Representations or Warranties. Except for the representations and warranties expressly made by the Seller Parties in this Article IV (qualified by the Disclosure Letter) and in the certificates required to be delivered by the Seller Parties under Section 8.02, no member of the Seller Group, their respective Affiliates nor any other Person (whether or not acting on behalf of the Seller Group or their respective Affiliates) has made or makes any other representation or warranty of any kind whatsoever, whether express or implied, written or oral, with respect to the Transferred Entities, the Purchased Assets, the Transferred Interests or the Assumed Liabilities or the Business (including the business, operations, properties, assets, Liabilities, condition (financial or otherwise) or prospects of the Business or any estimates, projections, forecasts and other forward-looking information or business and strategic plan information relating to the Business), including any representation or warranty as to accuracy or completeness of, or lack of errors or omissions in, any information regarding any of the foregoing furnished or made available (in any medium) to the Purchaser, any of its Affiliates or any of its and their respective Representatives or any other Person, notwithstanding the delivery or disclosure to the Purchaser, any of its Affiliates or any of its and their respective Representatives of any documentation, forecasts or other information (in any form or through any medium) with respect to any one or more of the foregoing. In particular, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, no member of the Seller Group, their respective Affiliates nor any other Person (whether or not acting on behalf of the Seller Group or their respective Affiliates) makes or has made any representation or warranty of any kind, whatsoever, express or implied, written or oral, to the Purchaser, any of its Affiliates or any of its and their respective Representatives or any other Person with respect to any forward-looking information, projections, forecasts, estimates, plans or budgets of future revenue, expenses or expenditures, future results of operations, future cash flows or the future financial condition of the Business, the Transferred Entities or the future business, operations or affairs of the Business or the Transferred Entities or any matter arising from, or which may otherwise be applicable because of the provisions of, any Law, including the warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose, in each case, except for the representations and warranties made by the Seller Parties expressly contained in this Article IV (as qualified by the Disclosure Letter) and in the certificates required to be delivered by the Seller Parties under Section 8.02.

Article V

Representations and Warranties of the Purchaser

The Purchaser represents and warrants to the Sellers as follows:

SECTION 5.01. <u>Organization: Standing</u>. The Purchaser is an entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its organization and has all requisite power and authority necessary to carry on its business as it is now being conducted, except (other than with respect to its due organization and valid existence) as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to prevent or materially delay, interfere with, hinder or impair the consummation of any of the Transactions on a timely basis or the compliance by the Purchaser with its obligations under the Transaction Documents. The Purchaser is duly

licensed or qualified to do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the nature of the business conducted by it or the character or location of the properties and assets owned or leased by it makes such licensing or qualification necessary, except where the failure to be so licensed, qualified or in good standing would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to prevent or materially delay, interfere with, hinder or impair the consummation of any of the Transactions on a timely basis or the compliance by the Purchaser with its obligations under the Transaction Documents.

SECTION 5.02. Authority; Noncontravention.

(a)The Purchaser has all necessary power and authority to execute and deliver the Transaction Documents and to perform its respective obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the Transactions. The execution, delivery and performance by the Purchaser of the Transaction Documents, and the consummation by it of the Transactions, have been duly authorized by the Purchaser and no other corporate or similar action on the part of the Purchaser is necessary to authorize the execution, delivery and performance by the Purchaser of the Transaction Documents and the consummation by it of the applicable Transactions. This Agreement has been, and each of the other Transaction Documents has been or will be, as applicable, duly executed and delivered by the Purchaser and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery hereof or thereof by the Seller Parties or their applicable Affiliates, each constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Purchaser, enforceable against the Purchaser in accordance with its terms, except insofar as such enforceability may be limited by the Bankruptcy and Equity Exception.

(b)Neither the execution and delivery by the Purchaser of the Transaction Documents, the consummation by the Purchaser of the Transactions, nor the performance or compliance by the Purchaser with the applicable terms or provisions hereof or thereof, will (i) conflict with or violate any provision of the organizational documents of the Purchaser or (ii) assuming that the Consents referred to in <u>Section 5.03</u> are obtained prior to the Closing and the filings referred to in <u>Section 5.03</u> are made and any waiting periods thereunder have terminated or expired prior to the Closing, (A) violate any Law or Judgment applicable to the Purchaser or (B) violate or constitute a default under any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any Contract to which the Purchaser is a party or give rise to a right of termination, cancelation or acceleration or loss of a material benefit under any such Contract, except, in the case of the foregoing clause (b), as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to prevent or materially delay, interfere with, hinder or impair (1) the consummation of any of the Transactions on a timely basis or (2) the compliance by the Purchaser with its obligations under the Transaction Documents.

SECTION 5.03. <u>Governmental Approvals</u>. Except for filings required under, and compliance with other applicable requirements of, the HSR Act, no Consent of any Governmental Authority is necessary for the execution and delivery by the Purchaser of the Transaction Documents, the performance by the Purchaser of its obligations hereunder or thereunder and the consummation by the Purchaser of the Transactions, other than such other Consents that, if not obtained, made or given, would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to prevent or materially delay, interfere with, hinder or impair (a) the consummation of any of the Transactions on a timely basis or (b) the compliance by the Purchaser with its obligations under the Transaction Documents.

SECTION 5.04. Financial Ability to Perform.

(a)The Purchaser has as of the date hereof, and at Closing will have, sufficient Cash, available lines of credit or other sources of immediately available funds available to it, in each case sufficient, when taken together with the net Cash proceeds of the debt financing contemplated by the Debt Commitment Letter (as defined below), assuming such debt financing is funded, to enable the Purchaser to perform all of its obligations hereunder, including delivering the Closing Purchase Price and any amount required to be delivered by it in accordance with Section 2.07, as and when contemplated by this Agreement and to pay all related costs, fees and expenses of the Purchaser that are necessary to consummate the Transactions, and the Purchaser has provided written evidence thereof to the Seller Parties prior to the date hereof. Without limiting Section 11.09, in no event shall the receipt or availability of any funds or financing by or to the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates, including any Debt Financing, or any other financing transaction be a condition to any of the obligations of the Purchaser hereunder, including to consummate the Transactions hereunder.

(b)The Purchaser has delivered to the Seller Parties, on or prior to the date hereof, a true, complete and correct copy of a duly executed debt commitment letter (as attached hereto as Exhibit F, including all related fee letters and side letters (as customarily redacted for a transaction of this nature with respect to fees, none of which redacted terms would reasonably be expected to adversely affect conditionality, amount or availability of the debt financing contemplated by the Debt Commitment Letter), and all exhibits, schedules, annexes, supplements and term sheets forming a part thereof), addressed to the Purchaser and dated as of the date hereof (as amended or modified only in accordance with Section 7.18, the "Debt Commitment Letter"), from the Financing Sources party thereto, pursuant to which such Financing Sources have committed to provide the Purchaser with debt financing for the transactions contemplated hereby in an aggregate amount as set forth therein. As of the date hereof, the Debt Commitment Letter is a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Purchaser and, to the Knowledge of the Purchaser, the other parties thereto, is in full force and effect, and is enforceable against the parties thereto in accordance with its terms, subject to the Bankruptcy and Equity Exception. There are no side letters or other Contracts, agreements or understandings to which the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates is a party relating to the debt financing contemplated by the Debt Commitment Letter other than as expressly set forth in the Debt Commitment Letter. Except as specifically set forth in the Debt Commitment Letter, there are no conditions precedent to the obligations of any Financing Sources to fund the debt financing contemplated by the Debt Commitment Letter and there are no contingencies pursuant to any Contract, agreement or other understanding relating to the transactions contemplated hereby to which the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates is a party that would permit the Financing Sources to reduce the total amount of the debt financing contemplated by the Debt Commitment Letter or impose any additional condition precedent that would adversely affect, prevent or delay the availability of the debt financing contemplated by the Debt Commitment Letter. As of the date of this Agreement, the Debt Commitment Letter has not been amended or modified (and no such amendment or modification is contemplated as of the date of this Agreement) and the commitments set forth in the Debt Commitment Letter have not been withdrawn or rescinded in any respect (and no such withdrawal or rescission is contemplated as of the date of this Agreement). No event has occurred, and the Purchaser has not received any notice or other communication from any other party to the Debt Commitment Letter with respect to the occurrence of any event, which, with or without notice, lapse of time or both, would or could reasonably be expected to result in any breach by the Purchaser of, or constitute a default by the Purchaser under, any term or condition to closing of the Debt Commitment Letter, and as of the date hereof, to the Knowledge of the Purchaser, no other party to the Debt Commitment Letter is in breach of the Debt Commitment Letter. The Purchaser (i) is not aware of any fact or occurrence that makes any of the representations or warranties of the Purchaser in the Debt Commitment Letter inaccurate in any material respect, (ii) has no reason to believe that it will be unable to satisfy on a timely basis any term or condition of closing to be satisfied by it or its Affiliates contained in the Debt Commitment Letter and (iii) has no reason to believe that any portion of the debt financing contemplated by the Debt Commitment Letter required to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby will not be made available to the Purchaser on the Closing Date. The Purchaser has fully paid any and all commitment fees and other fees required by the Debt Commitment Letter to be paid as of the date of this Agreement. To the extent this Agreement must be in a form acceptable to any Financing Source(s), such Financing Source(s) have approved this Agreement.

SECTION 5.05. Solvency. As of the Closing and immediately after giving effect to the Transactions and the payment of the Closing Purchase Price, payment of all amounts required to be paid by the Purchaser in connection with the consummation of the Transactions, and payment of all related fees and expenses of the Purchaser, the Purchaser and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis taken as a whole, will be Solvent. For the purposes of this Agreement, the term "Solvent", when used with respect to any Person and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, means that, as of any date of determination, (a) the amount of the "fair saleable value" of the assets of such Person and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, will, as of such date, exceed (i) the value of all "liabilities of such Person and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, including contingent and other liabilities", as of such date, as such quoted terms are generally determined in accordance with applicable Laws governing determinations of the insolvency of debtors, and (ii) the amount that will be required to pay the probable liabilities of such Person and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, as of such date, on their existing debts (including contingent and other liabilities) as such debts become absolute and mature, (b) such Person and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, will not have, as of such date, an unreasonably small amount of capital for the operation of the businesses in which they are engaged or proposed to be engaged following such date, and (c) such Person and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, will be able to pay their liabilities, including contingent and other liabilities, as they mature. For purposes of this definition, "not have an unreasonably small amount of capital for the operation of the businesses in which they are engaged or proposed to be engaged" and "able to pay their liabilities, including

contingent and other liabilities, as they mature" means that such Person and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, will be able to generate enough cash from operations, asset dispositions or refinancing, or a combination thereof, to meet their obligations as they become due.

SECTION 5.06. <u>Investment Representation</u>. The Purchaser is acquiring the Transferred Interests for its own account with the present intention of holding such securities for investment purposes and not with a view to, or for sale in connection with, any distribution of such securities. The Purchaser is an "accredited investor" within the meaning of Rule 501(a) of Regulation D under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder (the "<u>Securities Act</u>"). The Purchaser acknowledges that the Transferred Interests have not been registered under the Securities Act or any other securities Laws and may not be transferred or sold except pursuant to the registration provisions of the Securities Act or an applicable exemption therefrom and subject to state securities laws and regulations, as applicable. The Purchaser acknowledges that the Transferred Interests are being transferred to the Purchaser, in part, in reliance on the foregoing representation.

SECTION 5.07. <u>Brokers and Other Advisors</u>. Except for Lazard Freres & Co. LLC, the fees and expenses of which will be paid by the Purchaser, no broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other Person is entitled to any broker's, financial advisor's or other similar fee or commission, or the reimbursement of expenses in connection therewith, in connection with the Transactions based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of the Purchaser.

SECTION 5.08. Legal Proceedings. Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to prevent or materially delay, interfere with, hinder or impair (x) the consummation of any of the Transactions on a timely basis or (y) the compliance by the Purchaser with its obligations under the Transaction Documents, there is no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Purchaser, threatened Action against the Purchaser or Judgment imposed upon or affecting the Purchaser.

SECTION 5.09. <u>Manufacturer Approval</u>. Except as disclosed in Section 5.09 of the Disclosure Letter, as of the date hereof, the Purchaser has no Knowledge, and has not received any notice or indication from any Manufacturer, whether or not pursuant to any framework or other agreement of the Purchaser or its Affiliates with any Manufacturer, that the Purchaser will not receive, or is not likely to receive, such Manufacturer's approval to complete the Transactions.

SECTION 5.10. No Other Representations or Warranties; Non-Reliance. The Purchaser acknowledges that it and its Representatives have received access to such books and records, facilities, vehicles, Contracts and other assets of the Business which it and its Representatives have desired or requested to review, and that it and its Representatives have had full opportunity to meet with the management of the Business and to discuss the Business, the Transferred Entities, the Transferred Interests, the Purchased Assets and the Assumed Liabilities. Except for the representations and warranties expressly made by the Seller Parties set forth in Article IV (qualified by the Disclosure Letter) and in the certificates required to be delivered by the Seller Parties under Section 8.02, the Purchaser hereby acknowledges that no member of the Seller Group, any of their Affiliates, nor any other Person (whether or not acting on behalf of the Seller Group or their respective Affiliates), has made or makes any other representation or warranty of any kind whatsoever, whether express or implied, written or oral, with respect to the Transferred Entities, the Purchased Assets, the Transferred Interests or the Assumed Liabilities or the Business (including the business, operations, properties, assets, Liabilities, condition (financial or otherwise) or prospects of the Business or any estimates, projections, forecasts and other forward-looking information or business and strategic plan information relating to the Business), including any representation or warranty as to accuracy or completeness of, or lack of errors or omissions in, any information regarding any of the foregoing furnished or made available (in any medium) to the Purchaser, any of its Affiliates or any of its and their respective Representatives or any other Person, notwithstanding the delivery or disclosure to the Purchaser, any of its Affiliates or any of its and their respective Representatives of any documentation, forecasts or other information (in any form or through any medium) with respect to any one or more of the foregoing or will have or be subject to any Liability or indemnification obligation to the Purchaser resulting from the delivery, dissemination or any other distribution to the Purchaser or any of its Representatives (in any form whatsoever and through any medium whatsoever), or the use by the Purchaser or any of its Representatives, of any information, documents, estimates, projections, forecasts or other forward-looking information, plans or budgets of future revenue, expenses or expenditures, future results of operations, future cash flows or future financial condition of the Business, the Transferred Entities or the future



business, operations or affairs of the Business or the Transferred Entities or other material developed by or provided or made available to the Purchaser or any of its Representatives, including in due diligence materials, "data rooms" or management presentations (formal or informal, in person, by phone, through video or in any other format), in anticipation or contemplation of any of the Transactions. The Purchaser, on behalf of itself and on behalf of its Affiliates and its and their respective Representatives, expressly waives any such claim relating to the foregoing matters. The Purchaser hereby acknowledges (for itself and on behalf of its Affiliates and its and their respective Representatives) that it has conducted, to its satisfaction, its own independent investigation of the Business and the Transferred Entities and their respective operations, assets and financial condition and, in making its determination to proceed with the Transactions, the Purchaser and its Affiliates and its and their respective Representatives have relied on the results of their own independent investigation and the Purchaser is taking full responsibility for making its own evaluation of the adequacy and accuracy of all estimates, projections, forecasts and other forward-looking information, as well as such business plans, so furnished to it (including the reasonableness of the assumptions underlying such estimates, projections, forecasts, forward-looking information or business plans), and that the Purchaser has not relied on such information.

Article VI

Covenants Relating to Conduct of Business

SECTION 6.01. Conduct of Business Before the Closing.

(a) Except (x) as required by applicable Law, Judgment or a Governmental Authority, (y) as contemplated, required or permitted by this Agreement or (z) during the period from the date of this Agreement until the Closing (or such earlier date on which this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 9.01), unless the Purchaser otherwise consents in writing (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned), the Seller Parties shall, and shall cause the Selling Entities, the members of the Seller Group, and each of the Transferred Entities to, use its commercially reasonable efforts to:

(i)carry on the Business in all material respects in the ordinary course;

(ii)use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve intact the Business, including the Purchased Assets, the Contracts, the business organization and the goodwill of the Business, and the current relationships of the Seller Group with its customers, suppliers, Governmental Authorities and others with significant and recurring business dealings with the Business;

(iii)maintain all insurance policies and all Permits related to the Business or to the Seller Group in substantially the manner in effect as of the date hereof;

(iv)maintain the existence and good standing of each Selling Entity in its jurisdiction of organization and in each other jurisdiction in which the ownership or leasing of properties or its operations makes qualification or registration necessary;

(v)not transfer any inventory or employee of the Business to any Selling Entity's (or any Selling Entity's owners') other business (other than the Business), or transfer any inventory or employee of any of any Selling Entity's (or its owners') other businesses (other than the Business) to the Business; and

(vi)maintain the books, Records and accounts related to the Business, the Purchased Assets and Transferred Interests in the ordinary course of business, including with respect to the recording of revenue and expenses and the recording and collection of its accounts receivable;

<u>provided</u> that no action by any member of the Seller Group with respect to matters specifically addressed by <u>Section 6.01(b)</u> shall be deemed to be a breach of this <u>Section 6.01(a)</u> unless such action would constitute a breach of <u>Section 6.01(b)</u>.

(b)Except as required by applicable Law, Judgment or a Governmental Authority, as contemplated, required or permitted by this Agreement or as set forth on Section 6.01(b) of the Disclosure Letter, during the period from the date of this Agreement until the Closing (or such earlier date on which this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 9.01), unless the Purchaser otherwise consents in writing (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned), the Seller Parties shall not, and shall not permit the Selling Entities, and member of the Seller Group, or any of the Transferred Entities to (in each case, solely to the extent related to the Business, the Transferred Entities, the Business Employees, the Purchased Assets and the Assumed Liabilities):

(i)agree to issue, sell, grant, deliver, pledge, transfer, encumber or subject to any Lien (other than transfer restrictions under applicable securities Laws or under the organizational documents of the Transferred Entities) any Transferred Interests or grant any option, warrant or right to acquire any Transferred Interests or other equity securities of any Transferred Entity or issue any security convertible into or exchangeable for such securities;

(ii)sell, lease, transfer, assign, abandon, cancel, mortgage, pledge, place a Lien upon (other than a Permitted Lien) or otherwise dispose of any material Purchased Asset (other than Intellectual Property, which is addressed in clause (xi) below), including any Transferred Real Property, other than the sale of obsolete, worn-out or excess equipment or assets in the ordinary course of business or sales of vehicles, Supplies and other inventory, goods or services in the ordinary course of business or pursuant to Contracts in existence as of the date of this Agreement or, if required pursuant to the terms of any Contract;

(iii) merge or consolidate any Transferred Entity with any Person, acquire any Dealerships or acquire other material assets (other than vehicles, Supplies, inventory, machinery or equipment) that would constitute Purchased Assets outside the ordinary course of business, except in the case of clause (C), pursuant to Contracts in existence as of the date of this Agreement;

(iv) adopt, extend, amend, enter into or terminate any Seller Benefit Plan or Collective Bargaining Agreement with respect to any Business Employee, increase the compensation or benefits of any Business Employee, terminate the employment of any Business Employee (other than any termination for cause), hire any individual who would be a Business Employee (other than as necessary to replace a Business Employee whose employment has terminated as permitted herein and, in case, consistent with past practice), or take any action to accelerate the vesting or payment of any compensation or benefits for any Business Employee, except, with respect to each of (A)-(E), as required by any applicable Law, or any Seller Benefit Plan, any employment agreement or any Collective Bargaining Agreement in each case in effect as of the date hereof, in the ordinary course of business, as contemplated in Section 7.06 of this Agreement, and arrangements that will not result in any Liability under this Agreement or otherwise to the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates;

(v)make any material changes in financial accounting methods, principles or practices other than as may be required by GAAP (or any interpretation thereof) or by any applicable Law;

(vi)amend the organizational documents of any Selling Entity or Transferred Entity or convert any Transferred Entity into a different form of entity;

(vii)enter into any settlement or release with respect to any material Action relating to the Business that is, in whole or in part, an Assumed Liability other than any settlement or release that contemplates only the payment of money (prior to Closing) without any material ongoing limits on the conduct or operation of the Business and results in a release of the claims giving rise to such Action, or to the extent such Action and any associated Liabilities are Excluded Liabilities;

(viii)knowingly waive any material claims or rights of material value that constitute Purchased Assets other than waivers granted in the ordinary course of business;

(ix) change or revoke any material Tax election or Tax accounting method or make any new material Tax election or adopt any new Tax accounting method (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any election with respect to the tax classification of the Transferred Entities for U.S. federal (and applicable state and local) income tax purposes), settle or compromise any Tax Action, consent to an extension or waiver of the limitation period applicable to any Tax claim or assessment or Tax Action, or take any other action that would have the effect of increasing the Tax liability of the Purchaser or any Transferred Entity;

(x)liquidate, dissolve, recapitalize, reorganize or otherwise wind up the business or operations of, or fail to maintain the existence of, any Selling Entity or Transferred Entity;

(xi)transfer, assign, grant any license or sublicense, abandon, permit to lapse, or otherwise dispose of any material rights under or with respect to any Transferred Intellectual Property other than (i) non-exclusive licenses granted in the ordinary course of business and (ii) abandonment, lapse or disposal in the ordinary course of business pursuant to their business judgment;

(xii)incur any Indebtedness or impose or suffer to be imposed any Lien on any of the Business or any Purchased Asset, other than Permitted Liens and any such indebtedness or Liens to be satisfied or released as of Closing;

(xiii)enter into any new binding commitment for capital expenditures of any Seller Group member for the Business (excluding any ordinary course replacements of obsolete or worn out items) in excess of \$500,000 per project;

(xiv)enter into any new Contract that would constitute a Material Business Contract, Transferred Real Property Lease, or Third Party Lease if entered into prior to the date of this Agreement, or amend or voluntarily terminate any Material Business Contract, Transferred Real Property Lease, or Third Party Lease in effect on the date of this Agreement, except (1) for any Material Business Contract (other than a Manufacturer Agreement) that is an Excluded Contract or (2) for automatic renewals in accordance with the terms of any Material Business Contract, Transferred Real Property Lease, or Third Party Lease;

(xv)sell, enter into an agreement to sell, or dealer trade any New Vehicle that has been in stock for 60 days or less with a Manufacturer Suggested Retail Price as stated on the Monroney label of at least \$100,000 for an amount less than 95% of such price, or sell any Used Vehicle that has been in stock for 60 days or less for less than 85% of the current retail price found in Manheim Market Report;

(xvi)sell pursuant to any employee purchase program any vehicle in a manner inconsistent with the policy for new and used car employee purchases as in effect on the date 60 days prior to the date hereof; or

(xvii)commit or agree in writing to take any of, the foregoing actions.

(c)Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the contrary, any action taken, or omitted to be taken, by the Selling Entities or Transferred Entities that the Selling Entities or Transferred Entities reasonably believes in good faith is necessary or appropriate to comply with any COVID-19 Measure or is substantially consistent with the policies of the Seller Group in connection with COVID-19 or in response to COVID-19 Measures and is taken, or omitted to be taken, in good faith will, in all cases, be deemed, without further action and without consent of the Purchaser, to comply with the covenants and agreements of the Seller Parties contained in this <u>Section 6.01</u>; provided that, to the extent any such action (or omission) would reasonably be expected to materially adversely impact the Purchaser or its Affiliates following the Closing, then, to the extent practicable, the Seller Parties shall, or shall cause any applicable Selling Entity or Transferred Entity to, prior to taking, or omitting to take, any such action, notify the Purchaser of such action (or omission) and consider in good faith any suggestions of the Purchaser with respect to such action (or failure to act).

(d)The Purchaser acknowledges and agrees this <u>Section 6.01</u> shall not prohibit, limit or restrict the transfer of Excluded Assets and Excluded Liabilities prior to, at or after the Closing, in each case to an

Affiliate of the Seller Parties that is not a Transferred Entity in accordance with this Agreement, prior to the time of calculation of Closing Cash in accordance with the definition of Closing Cash, any Transferred Entity distributing Cash to an Affiliate of the Seller Parties, prior to the Closing, the repayment of Indebtedness and the extinguishment of Liens and the settlement, capitalization or cancellation of any intercompany Indebtedness or Contracts and other agreements that will not constitute Transferred Contracts. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing contained in this Agreement is intended to give the Purchaser, directly or indirectly, the right to control or direct the Seller Group's business, including, prior to the Closing, the Seller Group shall exercise, consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, complete control and supervision over its businesses and operations.

Article VII

Additional Covenants of the Parties

SECTION 7.01. Efforts.

(a)Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Purchaser and the Seller Parties shall, and each shall cause their respective controlled Affiliates to, use their respective commercially reasonable efforts (unless, with respect to any action, another standard of performance is expressly provided for herein) to promptly take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and do, or cause to be done, and assist and cooperate with the other parties in doing, all things necessary, proper or advisable to cause the conditions to the Closing to be satisfied and to consummate and make effective the Transactions, in each case as promptly as reasonably practicable, including preparing and filing promptly and fully all documentation to effect all necessary filings, notices, petitions, statements, registrations, submissions of information, applications and other documents, obtaining all Consents from any Governmental Authority or third party necessary, proper or advisable to consummate the Transactions, including, without limitation, all Conforming Estoppels, SNDAs, and Transferred Real Property Lease Consents, provided, in connection with any third party Consent and except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, that no member of the Seller Group shall be required to pay any consideration to or out of pocket costs of or to the third party therefor, commence, defend or participate in any Action in connection therewith or offer or grant any accommodation (financial or otherwise) to any third party in connection therewith, executing and delivering any additional instruments necessary to consummate the Transactions and defending or contesting in good faith any Action brought by a third party that could otherwise prevent or impede, interfere with, hinder or delay in any material respect the consummation of the Transactions, in the case of each of clauses (i) through (iv), other than with respect to filings, notices, petitions, statements, registrations, submissions of information, applications and other Consents relating to Antitrust Laws, which are dealt with in Section 7.01(b) and Purchased Assets, Manufacturer Consents or Transferred Interests, which are dealt with in Section 2.04.

(b)Each of the parties hereto agrees to make an appropriate filing of a Notification and Report Form pursuant to the HSR Act with respect to the Transactions within ten (10) business days following the date hereof (unless the parties otherwise agree) and any required notification under any other Antitrust Laws as promptly as reasonably practicable following the date of this Agreement, and supply as promptly as reasonably practicable any additional information and documentary material that may be requested pursuant to the HSR Act and such other Antitrust Laws and to use their respective commercially reasonable efforts to promptly take any and all steps necessary to avoid or eliminate each and every impediment and obtain all Consents under any Antitrust Laws that may be required by any foreign or U.S. federal, state or local Governmental Authority, in each case with competent jurisdiction so as to enable the parties hereto to consummate the Transactions as promptly as reasonably practicable. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 7.01, the Purchaser shall promptly take, or cause to be taken, any and all actions necessary to secure the expiration or termination of any applicable waiting period under the HSR Act ("HSR Approval") or any other Antitrust Law or any other Consent under Antitrust Laws, and resolve any objections asserted with respect to the Transactions under the Federal Trade Commission Act or any other applicable Law raised by any Governmental Authority, in order to prevent the entry of, or to have vacated, lifted, reversed or overturned, any Restraint that would prevent, prohibit or restrict the consummation of the Transactions or delay the consummation of the Transactions beyond the Termination Date, including (i) executing settlements, undertakings, consent decrees, stipulations or other agreements with any Governmental Authority or with any other Person, selling, divesting or otherwise conveying or holding separate particular assets or categories of assets or businesses of the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates (including, after the Closing, any Transferred Entities

and Purchased Assets), agreeing to sell, divest or otherwise convey or hold separate any particular assets or categories of assets or businesses of the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates (including, after the Closing, any Transferred Entities and Purchased Assets), terminating existing relationships, contractual rights or obligations of the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates (including, after the Closing, the Transferred Entities), terminating any joint venture or other arrangement, creating any relationship, contractual right or obligation of the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates (including, after the Closing, the Transferred Entities) or effectuating any other change or restructuring of the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates (including, after the Closing Date, the Transferred Entities) (and, in each case, entering into agreements or stipulating to the entry of any Judgment by, or filing appropriate applications with, the Federal Trade Commission (the "FTC"), the Antitrust Division of the Department of Justice (the "DOJ") or any other Governmental Authority in connection with any of the foregoing and, in the case of actions by or with respect to the Seller Parties, by consenting to such action by the Seller Parties (including any Consents required under this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents with respect to such action); provided that any such action may be conditioned upon the Closing) and (ii) defending through litigation any claim asserted in court or administrative or other tribunal by any Person (including any Governmental Authority) in order to avoid entry of, or to have vacated or terminated, any Restraint that would or would reasonably be expected to prevent the Closing from occurring prior to the Termination Date. No actions taken pursuant to this Section 7.01 shall be considered for purposes of determining whether a Material Adverse Effect has occurred or would reasonably be expected to occur.

(c)Each of the parties hereto shall use its reasonable best efforts to cooperate in all respects with each other in connection with any filing, submission or written communication with a Governmental Authority in connection with the Transactions and in connection with any investigation or other inquiry by or before a Governmental Authority relating to the Transactions, and allow the other parties to review in advance and consider in good faith the views of the other parties with respect to such filing, submission, or written communication, keep the other parties hereto informed in all material respects and on a reasonably timely basis of any material communication received by such party from, or given by such party to, the FTC, the DOJ or any other Governmental Authority in each case regarding any of the Transactions, subject to applicable Laws relating to the exchange of information, and to the extent reasonably practicable, consult with the other parties hereto with respect to information relating to the other parties submitted to, any third Person or any Governmental Authority in connection with the Transactions, other than "4(c) documents" as that term is used in the rules and regulations under the HSR Act, and to the extent permitted by the FTC, the DOJ or such other applicable Governmental Authority or other Person, give the other parties hereto prompt notice of, and the reasonable opportunity to attend and participate in, such meetings and conferences.

(d)Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the Seller Parties and their respective Affiliates shall have no obligation to pay money or offer or make any concession or grant any accommodation (financial or otherwise) to any Governmental Authority or other third party in connection with the performance of their respective obligations under this <u>Section 7.01</u>.

SECTION 7.02. <u>Public Announcements</u>. The parties hereto agree that the initial press release to be issued with respect to the Transactions following execution of this Agreement shall be in the form heretofore agreed to by the parties hereto (the "<u>Announcement</u>"). The Purchaser and the Seller Parties shall consult with each other before issuing, and give each other the opportunity to review and comment upon, any other press release or other public statements with respect to the Transactions, and shall not issue any such press release or make any such public statement without the prior consent of the other party following such consultation; <u>provided</u> that in the event that such press release or other public statement shall be required by applicable Law, Judgment, court process or the applicable rules and regulations of any national securities exchange or national securities quotation system, then the disclosing party shall be required to consult with the other party and, to the extent practicable, give such other party a reasonable opportunity to review and comment on such public statement prior to its release to the extent practicable by Law. Notwithstanding the forgoing, this <u>Section 7.02</u> shall not apply to any press release or other public statement made by any party hereto which is consistent with the Announcement and the terms of this Agreement and does not contain any information relating to the Transactions that has not been previously announced or made public in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

SECTION 7.03. Access to Information; Confidentiality; Property Inspection Period.

(a)Subject to applicable Law and any applicable Judgment, between the date (and after the time) of public announcement of the execution of this Agreement and the earlier of the Closing and the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.01, upon reasonable notice, the Seller Parties shall, and shall cause the other members of the Seller Group to, afford to the Purchaser and its Representatives reasonable access during normal business hours to the Dealerships (including, without limitation, the Transferred Real Property) (upon prior reasonable advance written notice to the Seller Parties) and the Records included in the Purchased Assets (other than with respect to Records to the extent relating to the negotiation and execution of this Agreement or any other Transaction Document or any proposals from other parties relating to any competing or alternative transactions), and the Seller Parties shall, and shall cause the other members of the Seller Group to, furnish to the Purchaser and its Representatives such information relating primarily to the Business as the Purchaser may reasonably request, in each case for the primary purposes of transition and integration planning (other than any Records covered by Section 2.02(b)(vii)); provided that the Purchaser and its Representatives shall conduct any such activities in such a manner as not to interfere in any material respect with the conduct of the Business and the Retained Businesses; provided further that no member of the Seller Group shall be obligated to provide such access or information if the Seller Parties determine, in their reasonable judgment, that doing so could violate or prejudice the rights of its customers or other key business parties, result in the disclosure of trade secrets or competitively sensitive or classified information to third parties, violate applicable Law, an applicable Judgment or a Contract or obligation of confidentiality owing to a third party, jeopardize the protection of an attorney-client privilege, attorney work product protection or other legal privilege, be adverse to the interests of a member of the Seller Group in any pending or threatened Action, expose a member of the Seller Group to risk of Liability for disclosure of sensitive or personal information or reasonably be prohibited by or inadvisable due to COVID-19 or any COVID-19 Measures. All requests for information made pursuant to this Section 7.03 shall be directed to the executive officer or other Person designated by the Seller Parties. Except to the extent permitted pursuant to Section 7.03(b), this Section 7.03 shall not entitle the Purchaser or its Representatives to undertake any invasive or intrusive testing or sampling of environmental media or building materials (including Phase II Activities) without the Seller Parties' prior written consent, which such consent will not be unreasonably delayed or denied.

(b)Commencing on the date hereof and ending at 5:00 PM Eastern Time on the date that is 75 days from the date hereof ("Property Review Period"), the Purchaser and its authorized Representatives will be provided reasonable access during normal business hours to the Transferred Real Property upon prior reasonable advance written notice to the Seller Parties to conduct an Environmental Assessment of the Transferred Real Property, which shall expressly include, without limitation, access by licensed surveyors engaged by the Purchaser for purposes of preparing ALTA/ NSPS surveys thereof, which surveys shall be expressly permitted; provided, that the Seller Parties shall have the option to have a Representative present during any such inspection. Upon reasonable written request of Seller, the Purchaser will provide to the Seller Parties copies of all third party-prepared Phase I and Phase II final reports obtained by the Purchaser as the result of the Purchaser's Environmental Assessment of the Transferred Real Property and any appraisals of the Transferred Real Property. The Seller Parties acknowledge that Partner Engineering and Science, Inc. ("Purchaser Consultant") is an acceptable environmental consultant for purposes of the Purchaser's performance of Environmental Assessment activities at any Transferred Real Property. Upon the Purchaser's or Purchaser Consultant's review of the Records or its materials resulting from performance of some or all of the Environmental Assessments, if the Purchaser elects to have Purchaser Consultant to perform Phase II Activities, then it will provide reasonable advance notice of the Transferred Real Property(ies) and planned scope of Phase II Activities at each such Transferred Real Property to the Seller Parties and the Seller Parties shall have the option to have a Representative present during any such activity.

(c)In the event that Purchaser identifies any event, circumstance or condition that, in its reasonable opinion, constitutes a Material Environmental Defect relating to any of the Transferred Real Property, then prior to the expiration of the Property Review Period, the Purchaser may provide the Seller Parties with a written objection notice (the "<u>Environmental Defect Notice</u>") setting forth in reasonable detail the Material Environmental Defect and the reasonable estimated costs to cure each such Material Environmental Defect, together with a copy of the applicable report(s) or other supporting documentation upon which such determination is based. Upon receipt thereof, the Seller Parties, must elect, within twenty (20) days, by written notice to the Purchaser (the "<u>Seller Parties</u>" <u>Election</u>") for the Seller Parties' remediation of the Material Environmental Defect disclosed by such report(s) by the Seller Parties, at the Seller Parties' sole cost (and to the extent any such remediation is not

completed by the Closing, the Purchaser shall provide reasonable access during normal business hours thereto for such purpose; provided, however, that the Seller Parties shall not unreasonably interfere with Purchaser's business operations and shall comply with Environmental Law and Purchaser's applicable safety requirements that are provided to the Seller Parties in writing prior to the conduct of remediation), funding an escrow account, accessible to the Purchaser to be used solely for the Purchaser's remediation of the Material Environmental Defect, with an amount equal to 125% of the reasonable estimated costs provided in the Environmental Defect Notice (the "Escrow Option"), or reducing the Closing Purchase Price by an amount equal to 125% of the reasonable estimated costs provided in the Environmental Defect Notice (the "Price Reduction Option"); provided further that the dispute resolution procedures set forth in Section 7.03(g) shall apply to any disputes regarding the existence of a Material Environmental Defect or the estimated costs to remedy it.

(d)In the event that the Closing will occur prior to the deadline for the Seller Parties' Election or the completion of the dispute resolution process for Material Environmental Defects, then the following will apply: (i) within 14 days of the Closing Date, the Purchaser will notify the Seller Parties of all Material Environmental Defects and the Purchaser's good faith estimate of the costs to remedy each one; (ii) the Purchaser and the Seller Parties shall work in good faith to agree to on the estimated costs to remedy the Material Environmental Defects and 125% of that agreed amount shall be held in an environmental escrow account (the "<u>Preliminary Environmental Holdback</u>"); and (iii) the Preliminary Environmental Holdback will be adjusted after Seller has submitted the Seller Parties' Election and any dispute resolution processes for the Material Environmental Defect based upon either the parties' agreed updated costs to remedy the Material Environmental Consultant.

(e)In the event that the Seller Parties select the Escrow Option, the following will apply: the parties will enter into an escrow agreement in a mutually agreed form; the Transferred Real Property shall be included in the Purchased Assets; and the Purchaser shall be solely responsible for remediating the Material Environmental Defect and the Seller Group shall have no liability whatsoever to the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates for such Material Environmental Defect (including but not limited to, liability under <u>Article X</u> hereof).

(f)In the event that the Seller Parties select the Price Reduction Option: the parties shall reduce the Closing Purchase Price by the parties' agreed upon Material Environmental Defect Estimated Cost (with or without undergoing dispute resolution procedures set forth in <u>Section 7.03(g)</u>) for the Transferred Real Property at issue; such Transferred Real Property shall be included in the Purchased Assets; and the Purchaser shall be solely responsible for remediating the Material Environmental Defect and the Seller Group shall have no liability whatsoever to the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates for such Material Environmental Defect (including but not limited to, liability under <u>Article X</u> hereof).

(g)Dispute Resolution Procedures for Material Environmental Defects. Seller Parties and the Purchaser shall attempt to agree on the existence of a Material Environmental Defect and the costs to remedy it. If Seller Parties and the Purchaser are unable to agree on any of the above (collectively or individually, as applicable, the "Disputed Environmental Matters") prior to the date the Seller Parties' Election is due, then Disputed Environmental Matters shall be exclusively and finally resolved by expert determination to be conducted pursuant to this Section 7.03(g). During the ten (10) day period following the date the Seller Parties' Election is due, all Disputed Environmental Matters shall be submitted to an environmental consultant with at least ten (10) years' experience in environmental site assessments and remediation matters as selected by: mutual agreement of the Purchaser and Seller; or absent such agreement during the ten (10) day period, by the Houston, Texas office of the American Arbitration Association (the "Environmental Consultant"). The Environmental Consultant shall not have been employed by any party within the five (5) year period preceding the arbitration. The Environmental Consultant, once appointed, shall have no ex parte communications with any of the parties concerning the determination required hereunder. All communications between any party and the Environmental Consultant shall be conducted in writing, with copies sent simultaneously to the other party in the same manner, or at a meeting or conference call to which the representatives of both the Seller Parties and the Purchaser have been invited and of which such parties have been provided at least five (5) days' notice. Within twenty (20) days of appointment of the Environmental Consultant, each of the Seller Parties and the Purchaser shall present the Environmental Consultant with a written statement of its position on the Disputed Environmental Matters, including a written statement of its position with respect to any disputes regarding the existence of any properly and timely asserted Material Environmental Defect and the costs to remedy it. The Environmental Consultant shall also be provided with a copy



of this Agreement. Within forty-five (45) days after receipt of such materials and after receipt of any additional information required by the Environmental Consultant, the Environmental Consultant shall make its determination, which shall be final and binding upon all parties, without right of appeal. In making its determination, the Environmental Consultant shall be bound by the rules set forth in this Section 7.03(g). In no event shall the Environmental Consultant select an amount lower than the amount proposed by Seller Parties nor higher than the amount proposed by the Purchaser, as applicable. The Environmental Consultant shall act as an expert for the limited purpose of determining the existence of any timely and properly asserted Material Environmental Defect and the costs to remedy it. The Environmental Consultant may not award damages, interest or penalties to any party with respect to any matter. The Seller Parties and the Purchaser shall each bear its own legal fees and other costs of presenting its case. The Seller Parties shall bear onehalf (1/2) and the Purchaser shall bear one-half (1/2) of the costs and expenses of the Environmental Consultant. In the event that the Environmental Consultant determines that the costs to remedy any Material Environmental Defect are less than the Material Environmental Defect Estimated Costs, then the parties shall, within five (5) days of the determination and in accordance with the escrow agreement, direct the escrow agent to pay the difference in the Material Environmental Defect Estimated Costs and the amount determined by the Environmental Consultant to the Seller Parties. In the event that the Environmental Consultant determines that there is no Material Environmental Defect, then the parties shall, within five (5) days of the determination and in accordance with the escrow agreement, direct the escrow agent to pay the full Material Environmental Defect Estimated Costs for such alleged Material Environmental Defect to the Seller Parties.

(h)All Environmental Assessment inspections and any appraisals conducted by or on behalf of the Purchaser pursuant to this Section 7.03 shall be done at the sole cost and expense of the Purchaser and shall be subject to such conditions as the Seller Parties may reasonably impose (including as set forth in Section 7.03(a)) in order not to unreasonably interfere in any material respect with the conduct of the Business and the Retained Businesses. The Purchaser shall restore the Transferred Real Properties to their approximate same condition immediately following any such inspection. The Purchaser and its Representatives shall perform services in compliance with applicable Law and at their own risk and peril. Prior to entering into any Transferred Real Property, the Purchaser will provide proof of its liability and workers' compensation insurance policies, and such policies will be deemed reasonably acceptable to the Seller Parties if liability limits of such policies are at least \$1,000,000 per occurrence and \$1,000,000 in vehicle liability coverage, and workers' compensation policies satisfy state insuring limits. The Purchaser hereby agrees to indemnify and hold each Seller Indemnite harmless from any Loss or Liability resulting from (i) (A) bodily injury or death; or (B) physical damages to the property arising from any inspection (including any Environmental Assessment) of the Transferred Real Properties by the Purchaser or any of its Representatives or (ii) the breach of any lease agreements as a result of performing any Phase II Activities; provided, however, the Purchaser shall have no obligation to indemnify or hold any Seller Indemnitee harmless from any such Losses or Liabilities: (i) for discovery of Hazardous Material or other Liability conditions or violations under Environmental Law that existed prior to the Purchaser's Environmental Assessment; or (ii) arising from the negligent actions of the Seller Parties.

(i)Until the Closing (or, solely with respect to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, the applicable Delayed Closing), all information provided by the Seller Parties pursuant to this <u>Section 7.03</u> will be subject to the terms of the letter agreement dated as of June 4, 2021 by and between Highline and the Purchaser (the "<u>Confidentiality Agreement</u>"). Effective upon, and only upon, the Closing (or, solely with respect to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, the applicable Delayed Closing), the confidentiality provisions of the Confidentiality Agreement shall terminate with respect to information relating solely to the Business; <u>provided</u> that the Purchaser acknowledges that all of its other obligations under the Confidentiality Agreement, including its obligations of confidentiality and non-disclosure with respect to any and all other information provided to it by or on behalf of the Seller Parties, their Affiliates or any of their respective Representatives concerning the Retained Businesses, the Seller Parties, their Affiliates or any of their respective Representatives (other than solely with respect to the Business, the Transferred Entities) shall continue to remain subject to the terms and conditions of the Confidentiality Agreement, any termination of the Confidentiality Agreement that has occurred or would otherwise occur notwithstanding.

SECTION 7.04. <u>Bulk Sale</u>. The Purchaser hereby waives compliance by the Seller Parties and any other member of the Seller Group with the provisions of any so called "bulk transfer laws" or similar Laws of any jurisdiction in connection with the Transactions.

SECTION 7.05 Insurance. As of the Closing (or, solely with respect to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, the applicable Delayed Closing), the Business, the Transferred Entities, the Purchased Assets and the Assumed Liabilities shall cease to be insured by the insurance policies of the Seller Parties or any of their Affiliates or by any of their respective self-insurance programs or policies, except solely to the extent provided in this Section 7.05. After the Closing (or, solely with respect to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, the applicable Delayed Closing) (but subject in any event to Section 10.09(b)), with respect to events related to the Business that occurred or existed prior to the Closing (or, solely with respect to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, the applicable Delayed Closing) and that are covered by the Seller Group's occurrence-based third-party liability insurance policies that are as of such time in effect, as reasonably requested in writing by the Purchaser, the Seller Group shall provide reasonable cooperation to the Purchaser to file claims on behalf of the Purchaser under such policies to the extent such coverage and limits are then available under such policies; provided that Purchaser shall promptly reimburse the Seller Group for (or the Seller Group may, at its option, deduct from any proceeds of such policy) any out-of-pocket costs or expenses incurred in connection with making such claims and any increased costs incurred by the Seller Group associated with claims made under such policies or programs and exclusively bear (and the Seller Group shall have no obligation to repay or reimburse the Purchaser for) the amount of any deductibles associated with claims made and paid under such policies and programs. This Section 7.05 shall not require the Seller Group to convert any "claims made" policy to an "occurrence based" policy and shall not obligate the Seller Group to maintain any insurance policy in effect after the Closing (or, solely with respect to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, the applicable Delayed Closing). The Purchaser shall cooperate with the Seller Group in connection with making any such claims, and shall provide the Seller Group with all reasonably requested information necessary to make any such claims. The Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that it is the Purchaser's sole responsibility to arrange for its own insurance policies or self-insurance programs with respect to the Business, the Transferred Entities, the Purchased Assets and the Assumed Liabilities covering the period following the Closing (or, solely with respect to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, the applicable Delayed Closing).

SECTION 7.06. Employee Matters.

(a)<u>Census Information</u>. To the extent permitted by applicable Law and as soon as reasonably practicable after the date of this Agreement, the Seller Parties shall supplement Section 1.01(a) of the Disclosure Letter to add each Business Employee's name, date of hire, position, base salary or hourly wage rate (as applicable), bonus opportunity range and target bonus, as applicable, employing entity, location of employment, leave status (including anticipated return date), and whether he or she is represented by a labor union or other collective bargaining representative or employed pursuant to the terms of a Collective Bargaining Agreement (and, if so, which union or representative and which agreement). The Seller Parties shall update such information periodically prior to the Closing Date or the applicable Delayed Closing Date, as applicable, as reasonably requested in writing by the Purchaser.

(b)Offers of Employment. Not less than ten (10) business days prior to the Closing, the Purchaser or one of its Affiliates shall offer employment, effective as of the Closing Date or the applicable Delayed Closing Date, as applicable, to each Business Employee in accordance with this Agreement; provided, however, the Purchaser or its Affiliate shall have the discretion (and shall not be required) to make offers of employment to those Business Employees in executive positions who are set forth on Section 7.06(b) of the Disclosure Letter (such Business Employees, the "Executive Employees"); provided further that the Purchaser or its Affiliate shall make offers of employment consistent with this Section 7.06(b) to those Executive Employees who the Purchaser or its Affiliate determine will receive offers of employment, if any, within fourteen (14) days following the date of this Agreement. If a Delayed Closing occurs, the offer of employment for such Delayed Business Employee shall be effective (x) as of the applicable Delayed Closing Date of such Dealership at which the Delayed Business Employee is primarily located or (y) as of a date that the parties reasonably agree upon, but which shall in no event be a later time than the last Delayed Closing or, if applicable, the closing of the last third party sale transaction with respect to a Delayed Closing Dealership. Offers pursuant to this Section 7.06(b) shall be for a comparable position at the same or a nearby geographic work location, but no further than ten (10) miles from the Business Employee's current work location, in each case, to those as of the Closing Date or the applicable Delayed Closing Date, as applicable, have terms and conditions consistent with Section 7.06(c) and otherwise comply in all respects with applicable Law (including with respect to compensation and benefits); provided, however, that the terms and conditions of employment for any Business Employee employed pursuant to the terms of a Collective Bargaining Agreement shall be on terms consistent with those set forth in the applicable Collective Bargaining Agreement. Offers pursuant to

this <u>Section 7.06(b)</u> may be subject to the condition that such Business Employee satisfies the standard employee qualifications and hiring process of the Purchaser or its applicable Affiliate; provided that the Purchaser or such Affiliate provides offers to, and begins the hiring process for, each Business Employee with sufficient time prior to the Closing or Delayed Closing, as applicable, to complete such hiring process to its satisfaction. With respect to any Business Employee who, as of the Closing Date or the applicable Delayed Closing Date, as applicable, is on long-term disability or short-term disability leave (each, an "Inactive Employee"), the Purchaser or its Affiliate shall offer employment to such individual on the earliest practicable date following the return of such individual to work with the Seller Parties and their Affiliates and otherwise on terms and conditions consistent with this <u>Section 7.06</u>; provided that such employee returns to work within 90 days following the Closing Date or the applicable Delayed Closing Date, as applicable. The Seller Parties shall promptly notify the Purchaser of the occurrence and end of any such leave of absence. In the case of any Inactive Employee who becomes a Transferred Employee on or after the day following the Closing Date" or to the "Delayed Closing Date, as applicable, all references in this Agreement to the "Closing" and the "Closing Date" or to the "Delayed Closing Date," as applicable (other than in this <u>Section 7.06(b)</u> and <u>Section 7.06(f)</u>) shall be deemed to be references to the time and date on which such individual becomes a Transferred Employee.

(c)Compensation and Employee Benefits.

(i)Compensation and Benefits Comparability. With respect to Transferred Employees, for the period commencing immediately following the Closing and ending on the date that is twelve (12) months following the Closing or the Delayed Closing, as applicable (the "Continuation Period"), the Purchaser shall, or shall cause its Affiliates to, provide to each Transferred Employee solely during the period of his or her employment with the Purchaser and its Affiliates (and, with respect to any compensation or benefits that apply following a termination of employment, the applicable period thereafter) base salary or base hourly wage rates that are no less favorable than those in effect for each such Transferred Employee immediately prior to the Closing or the applicable Delayed Closing, as applicable, target annual cash bonus opportunities or bonus opportunity ranges, as applicable, that are no less favorable than those in effect for each such Transferred Employee immediately prior to the Closing or the applicable Delayed Closing, as applicable, and other compensation and benefits (including retirement benefits, but excluding any defined benefit pension plans) that, in the aggregate, are substantially comparable to those in effect for similarly situated employees of the Purchaser or its applicable Affiliate. With respect to terminations that occur during the Continuation Period, the Purchaser shall or shall cause its Affiliate to provide to each Transferred Employee severance benefits that are substantially comparable to those that would have been provided to each such Transferred Employee in connection with an involuntary termination of employment by the Purchaser or one of its Affiliates under the terms of Seller Benefit Plans as in existence on the date of this Agreement, as applicable (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, any severance benefits under the Automile Holdings, LLC Transaction Bonus Plan, as amended, and any employment agreement set forth in Section 4.12(f) of the Disclosure Letter); provided, however, that any such severance benefits shall be subject to the applicable Transferred Employee's timely execution and return of a release of claims in a form reasonably acceptable to the Purchaser or its Affiliate. Notwithstanding the foregoing, with respect to Transferred Employees covered by any Collective Bargaining Agreement, effective from and after the Closing Date or the applicable Delayed Closing Date, as applicable, the Purchaser or its applicable Affiliate shall comply with applicable Law concerning such Collective Bargaining Agreement and the Purchaser's or its applicable Affiliate's obligations with respect to the compensation, benefits, and other terms of employment applicable to Transferred Employees covered by any Collective Bargaining Agreement shall be as set forth in the applicable Collective Bargaining Agreement or as otherwise determined pursuant to the applicable collective bargaining relationship. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Section 7.06(c)(i) shall not apply to Executive Employees and to the extent that any offers are made to Executive Employees, the terms of their compensation and benefits shall be governed by the provisions of offer letters or other individual agreements.

(ii)<u>Service Credit</u>. With respect to Transferred Employees, from and after the Closing Date or the applicable Delayed Closing Date, as applicable, the Purchaser shall, or shall cause its Affiliates to, provide credit (without duplication) to each Transferred Employee for his or her service recognized by the Seller Parties and their Affiliates and their respective predecessors before the Closing Date or the applicable Delayed Closing Date, as applicable, for purposes of eligibility, vesting, continuous

service, determination of service awards, vacation, paid time off, early retirement and severance entitlements to the same extent and for the same purposes as such service was credited under any similar Seller Benefit Plan in which such Transferred Employee participated or was eligible to participate immediately prior to the Closing Date or the applicable Delayed Closing Date, as applicable, <u>provided</u> that such service shall not be recognized for purposes of benefit accrual under any defined benefit pension plan or retiree medical plan; and to the extent that such recognition would result in a duplication of benefits. The Purchaser shall, or shall cause its Affiliates to, take commercially reasonable efforts to provide that no pre-existing conditions, exclusions or waiting periods shall apply to Transferred Employees under the benefit plans providing medical, dental, prescription drug, vision, and/or other welfare benefits for those employees except to the extent such condition or exclusion was applicable. With respect to the plan year during which the Closing or the applicable Delayed Closing Date, as applicable, occurs, the Purchaser shall provide each Transferred Employee with credit for deductibles and out-of-pocket requirements paid prior to the Closing Date or the applicable Delayed Closing Date, as applicable or out-of-pocket requirements under any employee benefit plan of the Purchaser or its Affiliates in which such Transferred Employee is eligible to participate following the Closing Date or the applicable Delayed Closing Date, as applicable.

(d)Transition of Employment. The Seller Parties and the Purchaser intend that the Transactions should not constitute a layoff or severance-triggering separation from employment of any Business Employee (other than those Executive Employees to whom the Purchaser or its Affiliate does not make an offer of employment in accordance with Section 7.06(b)) prior to or upon the occurrence of the Closing Date or the applicable Delayed Closing Date, as applicable, including for purposes of any Collective Bargaining Agreement. In furtherance of the foregoing, each Business Employee (other than those Executive Employees to whom the Purchaser or its Affiliate does not make an offer of employment in accordance with Section 7.06(b)) will be treated as resigning his or her employment with the Seller Parties and their Affiliates as of the Closing or the applicable Delayed Closing Date, as applicable. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the Purchaser or its Affiliates shall bear all the Liabilities relating to, and shall indemnify and hold harmless the Seller Indemnitees from and against, any claims made by any Business Employee (other than those Executive Employees to whom the Purchaser does not make an offer of employment in accordance with Section 7.06(b)) for any legally mandated payment obligations (including any compensation payable during a mandatory termination notice period and any payments pursuant to a Judgment of a court having jurisdiction over the parties hereto) and for any other claim or Liability related to compensation or benefits, in each case, solely to the extent directly or indirectly arising out of or in connection with the failure of the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates to make an offer of employment to such Business Employee in accordance with this Agreement and any claims relating to the employment of any Transferred Employee after the Closing or the applicable Delayed Closing Date, as applicable, in each case that arise from such Transferred Employee's employment with Purchaser or its Affiliate, including in respect of any act or omission relating to the employment of any Transferred Employee on or after the Closing or the applicable Delayed Closing Date, as applicable. Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything to the contrary herein, except as may be mutually agreed by the parties in a Transaction Document, the Purchaser and its Affiliates shall have no Liability (x) to or with respect to those Business Employees who do not accept the Purchaser's or its Affiliate's offer of employment made in accordance with Section 7.06(b) or who fail to meet the Purchaser's or its Affiliate's applicable prehiring requirements and (y) for severance under any Seller Benefit Plans to any Transferred Employee who voluntarily terminates employment with the Purchaser or an Affiliate.

(e)<u>Collective Bargaining Agreements</u>. Subject to <u>Section 2.03(b)(iv)</u>, immediately following the Closing or the applicable Delayed Closing Date, as applicable, so long as a majority of the Business Employees within the applicable bargaining unit become Transferred Employees, the Purchaser shall or shall cause its applicable Affiliate to assume each Collective Bargaining Agreement and any and all Liabilities thereunder arising and accruing with respect to the Transferred Employees subject to the applicable Collective Bargaining Agreement from and after the Closing or the Delayed Closing Date, as applicable; provided, however, that for the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this <u>Section 7.06(e)</u> shall be construed as requiring the Purchaser or any Affiliate to assume any Controlled Group Liability under any Seller Benefit Plan.

(f)<u>WARN</u>. The Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that: the Seller Parties shall not provide notice under the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988, as amended and any similar state or local Law (the "<u>WARN Act</u>") relating to employment losses resulting from the Transaction; and the Purchaser shall bear any and all obligations and liability under the WARN Act resulting from the failure of any of the Business Employees (including any Delayed Business Employees) who are not Executive Employees to receive an offer of employment from the Purchaser or its Affiliate or the termination or constructive termination of employment of any of the Business Employees by the Purchaser or its Affiliate following the Closing. Upon the Closing or the applicable Delayed Closing, as applicable, the Seller Parties shall provide the Purchaser with a schedule that sets forth each "employment loss" (as defined in 20 C.F.R. § 639.3(f)) within the preceding 90 days at each site of employment associated with the Business.

(g)<u>Payroll Reporting</u>. In the United States, pursuant to IRS Revenue Procedure 2004-53, the Purchaser and the Seller Parties and their respective Affiliates shall apply the "standard" method for purposes of employee payroll reporting with respect to any Business Employee.

(h)<u>Communications</u>. Prior to the Closing or the applicable Delayed Closing, as applicable, any employee notices or communication materials (including website postings) from the Purchaser or its Affiliates to the Business Employees that are intended for dissemination to multiple Business Employees, including notices or communication materials with respect to employment, compensation or benefits matters addressed in this Agreement or related, directly or indirectly, to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or employment thereafter, shall be disclosed in advance to the Seller Parties to give the Seller Parties a reasonable period of time to review and comment on the communication.

(i)<u>Cooperation</u>. Following the date hereof, including following the Closing and any Delayed Closing, as applicable, the parties hereto shall reasonably cooperate in all matters reasonably necessary to ensure the proper administration of any compensation and benefit plans, including the Seller Benefit Plans, and to facilitate the transfer of employment of Transferred Employees, including by exchanging information and data relating to the Business Employees (except to the extent prohibited by applicable Law) and providing access to Business Employees and representatives thereof. Any such information provided pursuant to this <u>Section 7.06(i)</u> shall be subject to the Confidentiality Agreement.

(j)No Third-Party Beneficiary Rights. This Section 7.06 is included for the sole benefit of the parties to this Agreement and their respective transferees and permitted assigns and does not and shall not create any right in any Person, including any Business Employee or representative thereof, who is not a party to this Agreement. Nothing contained in this Agreement (express or implied) is intended to create or amend, or to require the Purchaser or its Affiliates to establish or maintain, any employee benefit plan or arrangement or is intended to confer upon any individual any right to employment for any period of time, or any right to a particular term or condition of employment. No Business Employee, including any representative, beneficiary or dependent thereof, or any other Person not a party to this Agreement, shall be entitled to assert any claim against the Purchaser, the Seller Parties or any of their respective Affiliates under this <u>Section 7.06</u>.

SECTION 7.07. <u>COBRA Indemnification and Information</u>. To the extent the Purchaser is obligated to provide (and provides) continuation coverage under a group health plan pursuant to Part 6 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA and Section 4980B of the Code ("<u>COBRA</u>") to any person who is an "M&A qualified beneficiary" as such term is defined in Treasury Regulation Section 54.4980B-9 (each, a "<u>COBRA Recipient</u>"), the Purchaser shall be reimbursed by the Seller Parties to the extent the aggregate COBRA Recipients' claims for such COBRA benefits exceed the aggregate COBRA Recipients' premiums paid to the Purchaser during such period, to the extent not covered by other applicable insurance of the Purchaser (the "Excess COBRA Liabilities"), subject to, and in accordance with, <u>Section 10.02(e)</u> of this Agreement.

SECTION 7.08. Post-Closing Access.

(a)The Purchaser agrees that it shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, preserve and keep the books of accounts and financial and other Records held by it relating to the Business (including accountants' work papers) for a period of seven years from the Closing Date; <u>provided</u> that prior to disposing of any such Records after such period, the applicable Person shall provide written notice to the Seller Parties of its intent to dispose of such Records and shall provide the Seller Parties with the opportunity to take ownership and possession of such Records (at the Seller Parties' sole expense) within sixty (60) days after such notice is delivered. If the Seller Parties do not confirm their intention in writing to take ownership and possession of such Records within such sixty (60)-day period, the Person who possesses the Records may proceed with the disposition of such Records.

(b)After the Closing, the Seller Parties and the Purchaser shall make, or cause to be made, all Records and other information and all employees and auditors, in each case, relating to the Business (including by making them available for interviews, review of files or pleadings, preparation and provision of witness statements, depositions, interrogatories, testimony, investigation and preparation in connection with any negotiations, legal or arbitration Action) available to the other, at such times and places as may be reasonably required by such party, and at the sole expense of the requesting party, in connection with any audit or investigation of, insurance claims by, Actions or disputes involving, or governmental investigations of, a Seller Party or the Purchaser or any of their respective Affiliates, in order to enable the Seller Parties or the Purchaser to comply with its obligations under this Agreement, any of the other Transaction Documents and each other agreement, document or instrument contemplated hereby or thereby or for any other reasonable business purpose relating to a Seller Party, the Purchaser or any of their respective Affiliates, but excluding, in each case, any dispute between the Seller Parties or any of their respective Affiliates, on the one hand, and the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates, on the other hand, except as would be required by applicable civil process or applicable discovery rules; provided that the reviewing party and its Representatives shall conduct any such activities in such a manner as not to interfere in any material respect with the conduct of the Business or the Retained Businesses, as applicable; provided further that no party shall be obligated to provide such access or information if such party determines, in its reasonable judgment, that doing so could violate applicable Law, an applicable Judgment or a Contract or obligation of confidentiality owing to a third party or jeopardize the protection of an attorney-client privilege, attorney work product protection or other legal privilege. In any such event, at the requesting party's reasonable request, the parties shall use their commercially reasonable efforts to develop an arrangement to communicate, to the extent feasible, the applicable information or a portion thereof in a manner that would not violate applicable Law, Judgment or obligation or risk waiver of such privilege; provided that the disclosing party shall not be required to incur any costs or expenses in connection therewith and if a Seller Party is the disclosing party, such Seller Party may redact portions of any information provided pursuant to this Section 7.08(b) to the extent such portions relate exclusively to the Retained Businesses or the Excluded Assets. All requests for information made pursuant to this Section 7.08(b) shall be directed to the executive officer or other Person designated by the relevant disclosing party.

SECTION 7.09. Fees and Expenses. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, all fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Transactions shall be paid by the party incurring such fees or expenses. The reasonable out-of-pocket fees and expenses of a physical inventory of Purchased Assets in Section 2.02(a)(ii) (Vehicles), Manufacturer Parts and Accessories and Non-Manufacturer Parts and Accessories conducted on behalf of the Seller Parties shall be borne 50% by the Seller Parties and 50% by the Purchaser.

SECTION 7.10. Intercompany Accounts; Affiliate Agreements.

(a)Prior to the Closing, the Seller Parties shall cause any amounts owed to or by any member of the Seller Group or Affiliate thereof, on the one hand, from or to a Transferred Entity, on the other hand (other than pursuant to, or in accordance with, the Transaction Documents and amounts owed to or by any Transferred Entity from or to any other Transferred Entity), to be canceled, settled or otherwise discharged without any further or continuing Liability on the part of either party thereto.

(b)Except for Transferred Real Property Leases with respect to any Delayed Closing Dealerships, Seller Parties shall cause all Affiliate Agreements and Contracts entered into after the date hereof that would be Affiliate Agreements if in effect as of the date hereof, other than any Transaction Document or any such items set forth on Section 7.10(b) of the Disclosure Letter, to be settled or terminated with respect to the applicable Transferred Entity prior to the Closing without any further or continuing Liability on the part of either party thereto.

SECTION 7.11. Tax Matters.

(a)<u>Transfer Taxes</u>. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Purchaser shall pay (or otherwise bear) 100% of any transfer, documentary, sales, use, value-added, stamp, registration and other similar Taxes incurred as a result of the sale of the Purchased Assets and Transferred Entities by the Seller Parties to the Purchaser (and excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, any Taxes incurred as a result of any reorganization or restructuring transactions undertaken by the Seller Parties prior to the sale of the Purchased Assets and Transferred Entities by the Seller Parties to the Seller Parties to the Purchaser, which Taxes shall be paid (or otherwise borne) by the Seller Parties) (collectively, "<u>Transfer Taxes</u>"); provided that if the Seller Parties (or their Affiliates) are required under applicable Law to pay any such Transfer Taxes, the Seller Parties (or their Affiliates) shall pay such Transfer Taxes and the Purchaser shall promptly reimburse the Seller Parties (or their Affiliates) for such payment. The Purchaser shall prepare and file all Tax Returns required to be filed with respect to all Transfer Taxes to the extent permitted by applicable Law, and the Seller Parties shall cooperate in good faith to minimize, to the extent permissible under applicable Law, the amount of any such Transfer Taxes, including by signing and delivering such resale, occasional sale and other certificates or forms as may be necessary or appropriate to establish an exemption from (or otherwise reduce) any such Transfer Taxes.

(b)Tax Allocation Principles.

(i)The Seller Parties shall be allocated and bear any and all Income Taxes imposed by any applicable Law on the Transferred Entities and any and all Asset Taxes attributable to, in each case, any Tax period ending before the Closing Date and the portion of any Straddle Period ending immediately before the Closing Date. The Purchaser shall be allocated and bear (X) any and all Income Taxes imposed by applicable Law on the Transferred Entities and (Y) any and all Asset Taxes attributable to (1) any Tax period beginning on or after the Closing Date and (2) the portion of any Straddle Period beginning on and including the Closing Date.

(ii)For purposes of allocating Taxes to the periods before and after the Closing Date (including in determining Closing Current Assets and Closing Current Liabilities), the portion of any such Taxes that is attributable to the portion of the period ending immediately before the Closing Date shall be:

(A)in the case of Taxes that are either Income Taxes, or Asset Taxes that are based upon or related to sales or receipts or imposed on a transactional basis, deemed equal to the amount that would be payable if the relevant Tax period ended immediately before the Closing Date; <u>provided</u> that exemptions, allowances or deductions that are calculated on an annual basis (including depreciation and amortization deductions) shall be allocated between the period ending immediately before the Closing Date and the period beginning on and including the Closing Date in proportion to the number of days in each period; and

(B)in the case of Taxes that are ad valorem, property or other Asset Taxes that are imposed on a periodic basis, deemed to be the amount of such Taxes for the entire Straddle Period that includes the Closing Date (or, in the case of such Taxes determined on an arrears basis, the amount of such Taxes for the immediately preceding period), multiplied by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of calendar days in the portion of the period ending immediately before the Closing Date and the denominator of which is the number of calendar days in the entire period. For purposes of this clause (B), the period for such Asset Taxes shall begin on the date on which ownership of the applicable Purchased Asset or asset of a Transferred Entity gives rise to liability for the particular Asset Tax and shall end on the day before the next such date.

(iii)If the actual amount of a Tax is not determinable in connection with the preparation of the Closing Statement or the Revised Closing Statement, as applicable, the Purchaser and the Seller Parties shall utilize the most recent information available in estimating Closing Current Assets and Closing Current Liabilities. Upon determination of the actual amount of a Tax, to the extent the actual amount of such Tax allocable to the Purchaser or the Seller Parties under this Section 7.11 is determined to be different than the amount, if any, that was taken into account in the determination of the Closing Purchase Price (or was not taken into account in the determination of the Closing Purchase Price) as set forth in the Closing Statement or Revised Closing Statement, as applicable, timely payments shall be made from the Seller Parties to the Purchaser, or from the Purchaser to the Seller Parties, as applicable, to the extent necessary to cause the applicable party to bear the amount of such Tax that is allocable to such party under this Section 7.11.

(c)<u>Tax Cooperation</u>. The Seller Parties and the Purchaser shall, and shall cause their respective controlled Affiliates and Representatives to, reasonably cooperate in connection with the filing of any Tax Return or the conduct of any Tax Action and making employees available on a mutually convenient basis to provide additional information and explanation of any Records or materials provided under this Agreement, in each case with respect to the Purchased Assets, the Transferred Entities, the Business or Transfer Taxes, which cooperation shall include supplying any information in such Person's possession that is reasonably requested in connection with any such Tax Return or Tax Action, provided that in no event (including pursuant to Section 7.08) shall the Seller Parties be required to provide to any Person any Excluded Tax Return and neither the Purchaser nor any of its Affiliates shall have any rights with respect to any Tax Action involving a Seller Party that does not relate to the Purchased Assets or Transferred Entities.

(d)<u>Closing Date Actions</u>. The Purchaser shall not, and shall not cause or permit any Affiliate (including a Transferred Entity) to, cause or permit any Transferred Entity to take any action on the Closing Date after the Closing that would reasonably be expected to result in a material and adverse Tax consequence to the Seller Parties.

SECTION 7.12. <u>Transfer of Intellectual Property</u>. For a period of up to three (3) months after the Closing Date, the Seller Parties shall provide to the Purchaser the necessary information and deliver such assignments, transfers, Consents and other documents and instruments as may be reasonably required to permit the Purchaser at its expense to effect and perfect the transfer of the registrations of the Transferred Registered Intellectual Property and the Seller Parties shall reasonably cooperate with the Purchaser, at the Purchaser's expense, in filing appropriate documents if requested by the Purchaser and required by the local patent, trademark, or copyright office to record the change of ownership of such Transferred Registered Intellectual Property. After such period, the Seller Parties shall have no further obligation hereunder with respect to the Transferred Registered Intellectual Property.

SECTION 7.13. <u>Replacement of Seller Guarantees</u>. On or prior to the Closing, the Purchaser shall use its best efforts to cause the replacement, effective as of the Closing, of all guarantees, letters of credit and bonds, other sureties and performance guarantees provided by the Seller Parties or any of their respective Affiliates (other than the Transferred Entities) in respect of the Business, the Purchased Assets and the Transferred Entities (the "<u>Credit Support Items</u>"), including the Credit Support Items set forth on Section 7.13 of the Disclosure Letter, on a like-for-like basis, which replacement shall include a release, in a form reasonably acceptable to the Seller Parties, of all obligations undertaken by the applicable Seller Parties or the applicable Affiliate thereof effective as of the Closing; <u>provided</u> that if any Credit Support Item is not replaced effective as of the Closing, the Purchaser shall use its best efforts to replace such Credit Support Item promptly after the Closing (and the Purchaser shall have an ongoing obligation to use such efforts until each such Credit Support Item is replaced). The Purchaser shall indemnify the Seller Indemnitees against, and hold each of them harmless from, any and all Losses (including all out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by them to maintain any Credit Support Item after the Closing) arising after the Closing that are incurred or suffered by any Seller Indemnitee related to or arising out of any Credit Support Item.

SECTION 7.14. Payments from Third Parties. In the event that, on or after the Closing Date (or, solely with respect to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, the applicable Delayed Closing), the Seller Group, on the one hand, or the Purchaser, on the other hand, shall receive any payments or other funds due to the other pursuant to the terms of any of the Transaction Documents, then the party receiving such funds shall promptly forward such funds to the proper party. The parties acknowledge and agree there is no right of offset regarding such payments and a party may not withhold funds received from third parties for the account of the other party in the event there is a dispute regarding any other issue under any of the Transaction Documents.

SECTION 7.15. Further Assurances. After the Closing Date (or, solely with respect to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, the applicable Delayed Closing), subject to the terms of this Agreement, each party shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries to, execute and deliver such additional documents, instruments, conveyances and assurances and take such further actions as may be reasonably requested by the other party in order to evidence or consummate the Transactions and comply with the terms of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents. Such further acts include reasonably assisting the Purchaser (at the Purchaser's written request and at the Purchaser's cost) in its efforts to be restated as a successor employer solely for employment tax purposes with respect to the Selling Entities' employees hired by the Purchaser, including, but not limited to, the annual wage limitation for FICA tax, and to meet the requirements of Revenue Procedure 2004-53, Section 4, Standard Procedure, for federal payroll tax purposes. In furtherance of the foregoing, subject to <u>Section 2.02</u>, if after the Closing (or, solely with respect to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, the applicable Delayed Closing) either the Purchaser or a Seller Party becomes aware that any of the Purchaser, it shall promptly notify the other party and the parties hereto shall, as soon as reasonably practicable, ensure that such property is transferred with any necessary prior Consent, to:

(a)the Purchaser, in the case of any Purchased Asset which was not transferred at the Closing (or, solely with respect to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, the applicable Delayed Closing); or

(b)the Seller Parties, in the case of any Excluded Asset which was transferred at the Closing (or, solely with respect to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, the applicable Delayed Closing).

SECTION 7.16. <u>Correspondence</u>. From and after the Closing (or, solely with respect to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, the applicable Delayed Closing) for a period of one (1) year, the Purchaser shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause to be delivered promptly to the Seller Group any mail or other communications received by the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates or any Transferred Entity intended for any member of the Seller Group or any Retained Businesses. The provisions of this <u>Section 7.16</u> are not intended to, and shall not be deemed to, constitute an authorization by any member of the Seller Group to permit acceptance service of process on its behalf, and, from and after the Closing, none of the Purchaser, the Transferred Entities and their respective Subsidiaries is or shall be deemed to be the agent of any member of the Seller Group for service of process purposes.

SECTION 7.17. <u>Transition Services</u>. Prior to the Closing, the parties will in good faith negotiate a transition services agreement reasonably agreeable to the parties for provision of services by the Purchaser to the Seller Group to enable the Seller Group to wind up their remaining operations and/or resolve any objections asserted with respect to any of the Transactions raised by any Manufacturer, with the scope of services, duration and costs (which shall in no event be in an amount greater than the Purchaser's reasonable fully burdened costs (except with respect to services required to complete the obligations under <u>Section 2.04(a)</u>, which will be provided at no cost)).

SECTION 7.18. Financing Matters.

(a)The Seller Parties acknowledge that the Purchaser intends to obtain Debt Financing to finance a portion of the Closing Purchase Price and the other amounts required to be paid by the Purchaser to consummate the Transactions; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, the Purchaser confirms that it is not a condition to the Closing or any of its other obligations under this Agreement that the Purchaser obtain any Debt Financing (or any other financing) for or in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(b)The Purchaser shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, use commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable to consummate Debt Financing sufficient, when taken together with Cash, available lines of credit or other sources of immediately available funds available to it, to pay the Closing Purchase Price and the other amounts required to be paid by the Purchaser to consummate the Transactions as promptly as practicable after the date hereof, but in any event on or before the Closing, including, to the extent the debt financing contemplated by the Debt Commitment Letter is necessary to finance such amounts, using commercially reasonable efforts to comply with the terms and conditions of, and maintain in effect, the Debt Commitment Letter; negotiate, enter into and deliver definitive agreements with respect to the debt financing contemplated by the Debt Commitment Letter on the terms and conditions contained in the Debt Commitment Letter; satisfy (or obtain waivers of) on a timely basis all conditions applicable to such debt financing in such definitive agreements; and if all conditions to such debt financing are, or upon funding of such debt financing will be, satisfied, cause the other parties to the Debt Commitment Letter and such definitive agreements to comply with their obligations under the Debt Commitment Letter and such definitive agreements and to fund such debt financing at or prior to the Closing. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, it is understood and agreed that the commercially reasonable efforts of the Purchaser contemplated by this Section 7.18(b) shall be deemed to require the Purchaser to enforce its rights under the Debt Commitment Letter and the definitive agreements with respect to the debt financing contemplated thereunder (which may include seeking specific performance against the applicable Financing Sources or other parties thereto).

(c)Without the prior written consent of the Seller Parties, the Purchaser shall not permit any amendment, restatement, supplement or other modification to be made to, or any waiver of any provision or remedy under, or terminate or replace, the Debt Commitment Letter if such amendment, restatement, supplement, modification, waiver, termination or replacement would, or would reasonably be expected to, (i) delay, impede or prevent the Closing or the availability or funding of Debt Financing sufficient, when taken together with Cash, available lines of credit or other sources of immediately available funds available to it, to pay the Closing Purchase Price and the other amounts required to be paid by the Purchaser to consummate the Transactions, (ii) expand the conditions contained in the Debt Commitment Letter or create any new or additional condition to the debt financing thereunder (other than the conditions contained in the Debt Commitment Letter as in effect on the date of this Agreement) or otherwise make it less likely that Debt Financing sufficient, when taken together with Cash, available lines of credit or other sources of immediately available funds available to it, to pay the Closing Purchase Price and the other amounts required to be paid by the Purchaser to consummate the Transactions would be funded (including by making satisfaction of the conditions to such Debt Financing less likely to occur), (iii) reduce the net cash proceeds of the debt financing contemplated by the Debt Commitment Letter, including any reduction in the aggregate principal amount of the debt financing available thereunder or any increase in the aggregate amount of fees to be paid or original issue discount of such debt financing (unless alternative financing or financing commitments in such amount have been obtained that (x) do not contain new or additional conditions or otherwise expand, amend or modify any of the terms or conditions from the terms and conditions under the Debt Commitment Letter that would be reasonably likely to (1) prevent, delay or impair the ability of the Purchaser to consummate the Transactions or (2) adversely impact in any material respect the ability of the Purchaser to enforce its rights against the other parties to such alternative financing or financing commitments and (y) is provided by a Financing Source that is a nationally-recognized commercial bank or any other Person acceptable to the Seller Parties in their reasonable discretion), (iv) change the date for termination and/or expiration of the Debt Commitment Letter to an earlier date, or (v) adversely impact the ability of the Purchaser to enforce its rights against other parties to the Debt Commitment Letter. Without the prior written consent of the Seller Parties, the Purchaser shall not permit any assignment of rights or obligations under the Debt Commitment Letter other than as expressly set forth therein on the date of this Agreement, provided that the Financing Sources party thereto may syndicate the Debt Financing so long as each of such Financing Sources retains and remains obligated to fund its commitment under the Debt Financing until the Debt Financing is fully funded by the designated assignees and the syndicated sources of funding for the Debt Financing. For the avoidance of doubt, the Purchaser may modify, supplement or amend the Debt Commitment Letter to add lead arrangers, bookrunners, syndication agents, documentation agents or entities in similar roles. The Purchaser shall promptly (and in any event within five (5) business days) provide the Seller Parties written notice of any amendment, restatement, supplement, modification, waiver, termination or replacement relating to the Debt Commitment Letter.

(d)In the event that all or any portion of the debt financing becomes unavailable on the terms and conditions described in or contemplated by the Debt Commitment Letter for any reason, other than as a result of the replacement thereof with alternate financing or financing commitments in compliance with <u>Section 7.18(c)</u>, the Purchaser shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable to arrange and obtain, as promptly as practicable following the occurrence of such event, substitute financing on terms and conditions that are not less favorable to the Purchaser, taken as a whole, than the terms and conditions set forth in the Debt Commitment Letter (as applicable, including fees and "market flex" provisions) relating to the debt financing to be replaced, from the same or alternative sources in an amount sufficient to consummate the Transactions and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the "<u>Alternative Financing</u>") (and shall, promptly upon the execution and delivery thereof, provide to the Seller Parties true and complete copies of the commitment letters and definitive documents related to the Alternative Financing (in the case of a fee letter, as customarily redacted for a transaction of this nature)). All references to the term "Debt Commitment Letter" shall include any commitment letter or similar document for the Alternative Financing.

(e)The Purchaser shall give the Seller Parties prompt written notice upon obtaining knowledge thereof (and in any event within three (3) business days): (i) of any breach or default (or any event or circumstance that, with or without notice, lapse of time or both, could reasonably be expected to give rise to such breach or default) under the Debt Commitment Letter by any party thereto, (ii) of the receipt of any written notice from any party to the Debt Commitment Letter with respect to any actual or threatened breach, default, withdrawal, termination or repudiation of any provisions of the Debt Commitment Letter by such party, (iii) of any material dispute or disagreement between or among any parties to the Debt Commitment Letter and (iv) if for any reason the Purchaser believes in good faith that it will not be able to timely obtain all or any portion of the Debt Financing on the terms, in the manner or from the sources contemplated by the Debt Commitment Letter. Promptly following any reasonable written request by the Seller Parties therefor, the Purchaser shall provide the Seller Parties any information reasonably requested by the Seller Parties in writing relating to any circumstance referred to in the immediately preceding sentence subject to any applicable confidentiality requirements set forth in the Debt Commitment Letter or otherwise. The Purchaser shall keep the Seller Parties informed on a reasonably current basis of the status of its efforts to arrange any Debt Financing (or substitute financing obtained in accordance with Section 7.18(d) and provide to the Seller Parties, promptly upon request, copies of all definitive documentation relating to any Debt Financing (or substitute financing obtained in accordance with Section 7.18(d)). The Seller Group and their respective Representatives shall be given a reasonable opportunity to review all presentations, bank information memoranda and similar marketing materials, materials for rating agencies and other documents prepared by or on behalf of or used by the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates or used or distributed to any Financing Source or any of its Affiliates in connection with any Debt Financing that include any logos of or information about or provided by the Business, the Seller Group, their Affiliates, or their respective Representatives; provided that any authorization letters (or the bank information memoranda in which such letters are included) shall include language that exculpates the Seller Group, their Affiliates and their respective Representatives from any Liability in connection with the unauthorized use by the recipients thereof of the information set forth in any such bank confidential information memoranda or similar memoranda or report distribution in connection therewith.

(f)Prior to the Closing Date, the Seller Parties shall use commercially reasonable efforts to provide, and shall use their commercially reasonable efforts to cause their respective controlled Affiliates and their respective Representatives to provide, at the Purchaser's sole cost and expense, the Purchaser such cooperation as may be reasonably requested by the Purchaser with respect to the arrangement of the Debt Financing and is customarily required for financings of the type contemplated by the applicable Debt Financing; <u>provided</u> that such requested cooperation does not unreasonably interfere with the Business or the other businesses and operations of the Seller Group (or the operations of their respective Affiliates or their or their respective Affiliates' applicable Representatives) or cause competitive harm thereto and that any information requested by the Purchaser is reasonably available to the Seller Group via any of their respective controlled Affiliates or their respective Representatives), and <u>provided further</u> that such requests are timely made so as to not delay the Closing beyond the date that it would otherwise occur. Such cooperation may include, upon the Purchaser's written request, using commercially reasonable efforts to: (a) provide historical financial information and other similar information prepared in the ordinary course of business and all updates thereto made in the ordinary course of business and provide reasonable assistance to the Purchaser in each case in connection with and to the extent customarily required for the Purchaser's

preparation of (i) a description of the Purchased Assets and "Management's Discussion and Analysis" with respect to the Purchased Assets, (ii) pro forma financial information to be included in any marketing materials to be used in connection with the Debt Financing (it being agreed that in no event shall the Seller Group or their respective Representatives be required to provide any projections or other pro forma or other forward-looking financial information, or assistance relating to (x) the proposed aggregate amount of Debt Financing or other financing, together with assumed interest rates, dividends (if any) and fees and expenses relating to the incurrence of such Debt Financing or other financing, (y) any post-Closing or pro forma cost savings, synergies, capitalization, ownership or other pro forma adjustments desired to be incorporated into any information used in connection with the Debt Financing or (z) any financial information related to the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates or any adjustments that are not directly related to the acquisition of the Transferred Entities by the Purchaser) and (iii) any other relevant section of any offering memoranda, offering prospectuses, bank information memoranda, marketing materials, rating agency presentations and similar documents, and identify any information contained therein that would constitute material, non-public information with respect to the Seller Group, their Affiliates or their respective securities or the Purchased Assets for purposes of foreign, United States federal or state securities laws, in each case to the extent necessary in connection with the Debt Financing; (b) participate in a reasonable number of due diligence sessions, drafting sessions, road shows and sessions with ratings agencies in connection with the Debt Financing (with all of the foregoing to be virtual at the Seller Parties' or such persons' reasonable request) including using commercially reasonable efforts to facilitate direct contact between senior management (with appropriate seniority and expertise) and representatives (including, for the avoidance of doubt, accountants) of the Selling Entities, on the one hand, and the Financing Sources in connection with the Debt Financing, on the other hand, for purposes thereof, and permit prospective lenders and/or underwriters involved in the Debt Financing to conduct customary due diligence, in each case with respect to the cooperation provided pursuant to this clause (f), during normal business hours and with reasonable prior notice and subject to customary confidentiality arrangements; (c) reasonably cooperate in satisfying the conditions precedent to the Debt Financing to the extent such conditions require the cooperation of the Seller Group, any of their Subsidiaries or their respective Representatives; (d) requesting that auditors and accounting firms of the applicable members of Seller Group provide reasonable assistance as and to the extent requested by the Purchaser, including by obtaining and providing customary accountants' comfort letters and consents to the extent required, customary or reasonably appropriate in connection with the Debt Financing; (e) providing reasonable assistance in the review of disclosure schedules related to the Debt Financing for completeness and accuracy; (f) furnish at least eight (8) business days prior to the Closing Date all documentation and other information required by United States regulatory authorities under applicable "know your customer" and anti-money laundering rules and regulations, including the U.S.A. Patriot Act of 2001, in each case to the extent reasonably requested by the Purchaser in writing at least ten (10) business days prior to the Closing Date; (g) reasonably facilitate the Purchaser's preparation of the documentation necessary to pledge and mortgage the Purchased Assets that will be collateral under the Debt Financing, including to reasonably assist the Purchaser in its preparation of disclosure schedules relating to the Purchased Assets in connection with Debt Financing; and (h) furnishing the Purchaser and its Financing Sources with the Required Information within the timeframes expressly set forth in the Debt Commitment Letter. Notwithstanding anything in this Section 7.18 or otherwise in this Agreement to the contrary, neither the Seller Group nor any of their Affiliates or their respective Representatives shall be required (i) to cause any of their respective boards of directors or managers (or equivalent bodies) to adopt any resolution, grant any approval or authorization or otherwise take any corporate or similar action in each case for the purpose of approving the Debt Financing (other than those of a Transferred Entity that only take effect immediately prior to the Closing and that terminate with no Liability to any member of the Seller Group or any of its Affiliates or their respective Representatives upon termination of this Agreement); (ii) to pay any commitment or other fee or reimburse any expense in respect of or in connection with the Debt Financing or incur any actual or potential liability or give any indemnities (other than, in the case of any such fees or expenses, those of a Transferred Entity that only take effect upon the Closing and that terminate with no Liability to the Seller Group or any of its Affiliates or their respective Representatives upon termination of this Agreement); (iii) to deliver or obtain legal opinions of internal or external counsel in connection with the Debt Financing; (iv) to have any member of the Seller Group or any of its Affiliates or any of their respective Representatives (other than any Transferred Entity to the extent the same only take effect upon the Closing and that terminate with no Liability to the Seller Group or any of its Affiliates or their respective Representatives upon termination of this Agreement) enter into, execute, deliver or perform, or amend or modify, any agreement, certificate, document or instrument, including any financing agreement, with respect to the Debt Financing; (v) to cause any of their officers, directors, employees or other Representatives to take any action that could result in any actual or personal Liability with respect to any matters relating to the Debt Financing; (vi) to take any action that will (x) conflict with or violate the organizational documents of any member of the Seller Group or

any of their Affiliates or any Law or order, (y) cause any representation or warranty in this Agreement to be breached or become inaccurate, cause any breach of any covenant in this Agreement, or cause any condition to the Closing set forth in Article VIII to not be satisfied or (z) result in the contravention of, or that could reasonably be expected to result in a violation or breach of, or a default under, any Contract to which any member of the Seller Group or any of its Affiliates is a party or bound; (vii) to provide access to or disclose information constituting attorney work product or where the Seller Parties determine that such access or disclosure could jeopardize the attorney-client privilege or contravene any applicable Law or order; (viii) or to waive or amend any terms of this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement. No member of the Seller Group or any of its Affiliates or Representatives shall be required to make any representation or warranty in connection with the Debt Financing or the marketing efforts with respect thereto, except to the extent of any representation or warranty made by any member of the Seller Group pursuant to this Agreement, the accuracy of which is a condition to the closing of any Debt Financing. For the avoidance of doubt, the Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that the provisions contained in this Section 7.18(f) represent the sole obligations of the Seller Group, their Affiliates and their Representatives with respect to assistance and cooperation in connection with the arrangement of any financing (including the Debt Financing) to be obtained by the Purchaser with respect to the Transactions and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and no other provision of this Agreement (including the Exhibits and Schedules hereto) shall be deemed to expand or modify such obligations. All non-public or other confidential information provided by or on behalf of the Seller Group, their respective Affiliates or their respective Representatives pursuant to this Section 7.18, to the extent identified as such by the Seller Group, shall be kept confidential in accordance with, and shall be subject to the terms of, the Confidentiality Agreement.

(g)The Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that none of the Seller Parties, their Affiliates and each of their respective Representatives shall have any responsibility for, or incur any Liability to any Person under, any financing (including the Debt Financing) that the Purchaser may raise in connection herewith, or any cooperation provided pursuant to this <u>Section 7.18</u>. The Purchaser shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the Seller Indemnitees from and against any and all Losses suffered or incurred (directly or indirectly) by them in connection with the arrangement or consummation of the Debt Financing, any action taken by them pursuant to this <u>Section 7.18</u> or in connection with the arrangement of the Debt Financing or any information utilized in connection therewith, in each case, except to the extent suffered or incurred as a result of the bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Seller Indemnitee. The Purchaser shall promptly, upon request by any Seller Party, reimburse the Seller Indemnitees for all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees) incurred by them in connection with this <u>Section 7.18</u>.

SECTION 7.19. Title Insurance and Real Property Cooperation. In the event that the Purchaser or any of its lenders elects to obtain one or more Title Policies for any of the Insured Transferred Real Property, the Purchaser shall pay directly to the Title Insurance Company, at the Purchaser's sole cost and expense, the cost of all title insurance policy premiums (including, without limitation, the cost of any additional premiums required to secure extended title coverage and the cost of any modifications and endorsements to the Title Policies reasonably requested by the Purchaser) as well as the cost of any related title searches, title abstracting, lien searches, rundowns, photocopies, and all other costs and charges in connection with the obtaining or procurement of any Title Policies. The Seller Parties agree, both for themselves and on behalf of the Seller Group, to use commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate (at the Purchaser's expense) with the Purchaser in connection with the Purchaser's obtaining or procurement of the Title Policies, including, without limitation, cooperating with the Purchaser to seek to obtain or procure any estoppels, Consents, and title curative documents, to the extent necessary to cure any title defects that would materially impair the validity of title to the Insured Transferred Real Property for which a Title Policy is being obtained; provided, that no member of the Seller Group shall be required to pay any consideration or out of pocket costs therefor, commence, defend or participate in any Action or offer or grant any accommodation (financial or otherwise) to any third party in connection therewith. The Seller Parties further agree, both for themselves and on behalf of the Seller Group, and subject to the proviso in the immediately preceding sentence, upon the written request of the Purchaser, to use commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate with the Purchaser to cause to be executed and delivered any and all customary title affidavits, evidence of authority and resolutions, evidence of good standing, organizational documents, releases of Liens, and such other documents, agreements, instruments, certificates, affidavits and information (in each case, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Seller Parties) reasonably required by the Title Insurance Company in order to commit to issuing, at Closing, the Title Policies, executed (and acknowledged, as applicable) by the Seller Group and such other Persons as may be reasonably requested in connection therewith (provided, that the parties acknowledge that neither the issuance of the

Title Policies, nor the issuance of any endorsements reasonably requested by the Purchaser or its lenders shall be a condition to the Purchaser's obligation to effect the Closing).

SECTION 7.20. Use of Name. Except with respect to any Delayed Purchased Assets, Delayed Closing Purchased Assets or ROFR Assets, within thirty (30) days following the Closing Date, the Seller Parties shall, and shall cause their Subsidiaries to, use commercially reasonable efforts to cease using the terms set forth on Section 7.20 of the Disclosure Letter and any other word, expression or identifier of source confusingly similar thereto or constituting an abbreviation, derivation or extension thereof (the "<u>Transferred Entity Marks</u>"), including removing, or causing to be removed, all such names, marks or logos from wherever they may appear on a Seller's assets, and thereafter, the Seller Parties shall not, and shall cause their respective Subsidiaries not to, use the Transferred Entity Marks or any other Trademarks confusingly similar thereto. Each of the Seller Parties acknowledges that, after the Closing Date (or, solely with respect to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, the applicable Delayed Closing), it and its Subsidiaries have no rights whatsoever to the Intellectual Property included in the Purchased Assets. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this <u>Section 7.20</u> shall be deemed to prohibit the Seller Parties or their Subsidiaries from using any Transferred Entity Mark or any other Trademark in a manner that constitutes fair use (including nominative fair use) under applicable Law or in a manner that does not constitute use as a trademark (e.g., where the Trademark is not visible to the public) or in connection with public reporting or disclosure requirements under applicable Laws or the applicable rules and regulations of any national securities exchange or national securities quotation system.

SECTION 7.21. Manufacturer Payments. The parties shall use their commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that amounts due to the Seller Group but collected by the Purchaser (e.g., Manufacturer receivables, Manufacturer credits relating to items such as warranty claims or other claims, credit card payments, etc.) arising out of or in connection with the operation of the Business prior to Closing (or, solely with respect to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, the applicable Delayed Closing) will be paid over to the Seller Group promptly; amounts due to the Purchaser but collected by the Seller Group arising out of or in connection with the operation of the Business on or following the Closing (or, solely with respect to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, the applicable Delayed Closing) (and constituting a Purchased Asset) or as provided in this Agreement will be paid over to the Purchaser promptly; amounts paid by the Seller Group but owed by the Purchaser as a result of any Manufacturer erroneously billing the Seller Group for items arising out of or in connection with the operation of the Business following Closing (or, solely with respect to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, the applicable Delayed Closing) will be paid over to the Seller Group promptly; and amounts paid by the Purchaser but owed by the Seller Group under this Agreement as a result of any Manufacturer erroneously billing the Purchaser for items arising out of or in connection with the operation of the Business prior to Closing (or, solely with respect to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, the applicable Delayed Closing) will be paid over to the Purchaser promptly. If there are vehicles in-transit on the Closing Date (or, solely with respect to any Delayed Closing Purchased Assets, the applicable Delayed Closing) (whether or not they are physically present) that have not been funded by the Seller Group's floor plan lender and the parties do not know whether they will be paid for by the Purchaser's floor plan lender or the Seller Group's floor plan lender, then the parties may separately schedule those vehicles, the Purchaser will buy them but not pay for them, and, if such vehicles are funded by the Seller Group's floor plan lender, then the Seller Parties shall notify the Purchaser and the Purchaser shall promptly pay the Seller Group's floor plan lender such amounts. Any other payments related to such vehicles misdirected by any Manufacturer will be redistributed as contemplated by this Section 7.21. On a monthly basis, the Purchaser shall present the Seller Parties with a reconciliation of the amounts believed to owed by the Purchaser or the Seller Group (if any) and, to the extent the parties agree thereupon (and in any event except if such items have been addressed in connection with Section 2.07), the owing party shall pay any amounts owing the other party as promptly as practicable within ten (10) business days following such agreement thereupon.

SECTION 7.22. <u>PPP</u>. If, as of the Closing Date, any member of the Seller Group has any outstanding loan or loans issued pursuant to the Small Business Administration's Paycheck Protection Program ("<u>PPP</u>") that would be an Assumed Liability, the balance for which has not been paid to the PPP lender or forgiven pursuant to the PPP, then such member of the Seller Group shall escrow any outstanding loan balance with its respective PPP lender pursuant to SBA Notice, Control No. 5000-20057, effective October 2, 2020, and any updated guidance.

SECTION 7.23. <u>Chargebacks</u>. Prior to the Closing, the parties shall agree on, and the applicable Selling Entities shall establish, a commercially reasonable reserve or escrow (the "<u>Chargeback Reserve</u>") (based on the actual Chargebacks over the three (3) years prior to the Closing Date), with a third party professional administrator for Chargebacks and shall provide the Purchaser with documentation evidencing the same.

SECTION 7.24. <u>ROFR Exercise</u>. The Seller Parties shall provide prompt written notice to the Purchaser upon the receipt of a ROFR Notice by any Manufacturer (or its assignee) along with all relevant documentation received by the Seller Group related thereto.

SECTION 7.25. Customer Deposits; We Owes; Material Business Contracts.

(a)No earlier than three (3) business days prior to the Closing Date, the Selling Entities provide to the Purchaser a true, complete and correct list of all Customer Deposits, all We Owes (for clause (ii) of such definition it will be the ending balance on such date) and each Material Business Contract entered into after the date hereof that is still then in effect, in each case as of the business day immediately prior to such date.

(b)If following the Closing, the Purchaser performs the obligations of a Selling Entity with respect to any We Owes pertaining to vehicles sold or serviced by a Selling Entity prior to Closing, and the Purchaser did not receive a credit against the Closing Purchase Price, the Seller Parties shall reimburse the Purchaser for all out of pocket costs related to the performance of such We Owes pursuant to <u>Section 10.02(f)</u> of this Agreement.

SECTION 7.26. <u>Capital Improvements</u>. No less than five (5) business days prior to the Closing Date, the Seller Parties shall deliver to the Purchaser reasonable written evidence of the actual, out-of-pocket costs incurred by a Selling Entity to design, permit and construct each capital improvement project set forth on Section 1.01(b) of the Disclosure Letter, including, by way of example, bills, vouchers, invoices and receipts.

SECTION 7.27. <u>Notice of Certain Events</u>. From the date of this Agreement until the Closing, the Seller Parties will use reasonable best efforts to promptly provide notice to the Purchaser of any written notices received by the Seller Group described in <u>Section 4.17(a)</u> or <u>Section 4.19</u> that would have required disclosure thereof if received prior to the date of this Agreement.

Article VIII

Conditions to Closing

SECTION 8.01. <u>Conditions to Each Party's Obligations to Effect the Closing</u>. The respective obligations of each party to effect the Closing are subject to the satisfaction or (to the extent permitted by applicable Law) waiver at the Closing of the following conditions:

(a)<u>Legal Prohibition</u>. No Law shall have been adopted or promulgated, or shall be in effect, and no temporary, preliminary or permanent Judgment issued by a court or other Governmental Authority of competent jurisdiction shall be in effect, in each case having the effect of making the Transactions illegal or otherwise prohibiting consummation of the Transactions (collectively, "<u>Restraints</u>").

(b)<u>Governmental Approvals</u>. The waiting period (and any extension thereof) applicable to the Transactions under the HSR Act shall have been terminated or shall have expired.

SECTION 8.02. <u>Additional Conditions to Obligations of the Purchaser</u>. The obligations of the Purchaser to effect the Closing are further subject to the satisfaction or (to the extent permitted by applicable Law) waiver by the Purchaser at the Closing of the following additional conditions:

(a)<u>Representations and Warranties of the Seller Parties</u>. The Seller Fundamental Representations shall be true and correct in all material respects, in each case at and as of the Closing Date, as if made at and as of such date (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such date) and all other representations and warranties of the Seller Parties contained in <u>Article IV</u> herein shall be true and



correct at and as of the Closing Date, as if made at and as of such date (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such date), except, in the case of this clause (ii), where the failure of such representations and warranties to be so true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to "materiality" or "Material Adverse Effect" set forth therein) would not have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect. The Purchaser shall have received a certificate signed on the Seller Parties' behalf by a duly authorized officer of the Seller Parties to such effect, dated as of the Closing Date.

(b)<u>Performance of Obligations</u>. The Seller Parties shall have performed in all material respects and complied in all material respects with all agreements and covenants required to be performed or complied with by them under this Agreement at or prior to the Closing. The Purchaser shall have received a certificate signed on the Seller Parties' behalf by a duly authorized officer of the Seller Parties to such effect, dated as of the Closing Date.

(c)<u>No Material Adverse Effect</u>. Since the date of this Agreement, there shall not have occurred any Material Adverse Effect.

(d)<u>SEC Monitor</u>. The SEC Monitor's approval of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall have been received and not have been revoked.

SECTION 8.03. <u>Additional Conditions to Obligations of the Seller Parties</u>. The obligations of the Seller Parties to effect the Closing are further subject to the satisfaction or (to the extent permitted by applicable Law) waiver by the Seller Parties at the Closing of the following additional conditions:

(a)<u>Representations and Warranties of the Purchaser</u>. The Purchaser Fundamental Representations shall be true and correct in all material respects, in each case at and as of the Closing Date, as if made at and as of such date (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such date) and all other representations and warranties of the Purchaser contained in <u>Article V</u> herein shall be true and correct at and as of the Closing Date, as if made at and as of such date (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such date), except, in the case of this clause (ii), where the failure of such representations and warranties to be so true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to "materiality" or "prevent or materially delay, interfere with, hinder or impair" set forth therein) would not, individually or in the aggregate, prevent or materially delay, interfere with, hinder or impair the consummation of any of the Transactions or the compliance by the Purchaser with its obligations under this Agreement. The Seller Parties shall have received a certificate signed on the Purchaser's behalf by a duly authorized officer of the Purchaser to such effect, dated as of the Closing Date.

(b)<u>Performance of Obligations of the Purchaser</u>. The Purchaser shall have performed in all material respects and complied in all material respects with all agreements and covenants required to be performed or complied with by it under this Agreement at or prior to the Closing. The Seller Parties shall have received a certificate signed on the Purchaser's behalf by a duly authorized officer of the Purchaser to such effect, dated as of the Closing Date.

SECTION 8.04. <u>Frustration of Closing Conditions</u>. Neither the Purchaser, on the one hand, nor the Seller Parties, on the other hand, may rely on the failure of any condition set forth in this <u>Article VIII</u> to be satisfied if such failure was caused by such Person's failure to use the efforts to cause the Closing to occur as required in this Agreement, including as required by <u>Section 7.01</u>.

Article IX

Termination

SECTION 9.01. <u>Termination</u>. This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Closing (and may not be terminated after the Closing including with respect to any Delayed Closing):

(a)by mutual written consent of the Seller Parties and the Purchaser;

(b)by the Seller Parties, on the one hand, or the Purchaser, on the other hand by written notice to the

other:

(i) if the Closing shall not have occurred on or before the date that is 180 days after the date of this Agreement (the "<u>Termination Date</u>"); provided that the right to terminate this Agreement under this <u>Section 9.01(b)(i)</u> shall not be available to any party whose breach of any material covenant or obligation under this Agreement has been the primary cause of the failure of the Closing to occur on or before the Termination Date; or

(ii)if any Restraint permanently preventing the consummation of the Transactions shall have become final and nonappealable; <u>provided</u> that the right to terminate this Agreement under this <u>Section 9.01(b)(ii)</u> shall not be available to any party whose breach of any material covenant or obligation under this Agreement has been the primary cause of the issuance of such Restraint;

(c)by the Purchaser, if the Seller Parties shall have breached any of their representations and warranties contained in <u>Article IV</u> or failed to perform any of their covenants or agreements set forth in this Agreement, which breach or failure to perform would give rise to the failure of a condition contained in <u>Section 8.02(a)</u> or <u>8.02(b)</u> and has not been or is incapable of being cured prior to the earlier of the Termination Date and the date that is thirty (30) days following receipt by the Seller Parties of written notice of such breach or failure to perform from the Purchaser stating the Purchaser's intention to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this <u>Section 9.01(c)</u> and the basis for such termination; <u>provided</u> that the Purchaser shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this <u>Section 9.01(c)</u> if the Purchaser is then in breach of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements hereunder such that such breach would give rise to the failure of a condition set forth in <u>Section 8.03(a)</u> or <u>8.03(b)</u>; or

(d)by the Seller Parties, if the Purchaser shall have breached any of its representations and warranties in <u>Article V</u> or failed to perform any of its covenants or agreements set forth in this Agreement, which breach or failure to perform would give rise to the failure of a condition contained in <u>Section 8.03(a)</u> or <u>8.03(b)</u> and has not been or is incapable of being cured prior to the earlier of Termination Date and the date that is thirty (30) days following receipt by the Purchaser of written notice of such breach or failure to perform from the Seller Parties stating the Seller Parties' intention to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this <u>Section 9.01(d)</u> and the basis for such termination; <u>provided</u> that the Seller Parties shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this <u>Section 9.01(d)</u> if the Seller Parties are then in breach of any of their representations, warranties, covenants or agreements hereunder such that such breach would give rise to the failure of a condition set forth in <u>Section 8.02(a)</u> or <u>8.02(b)</u>.

The party terminating this Agreement pursuant to this <u>Section 9.01</u> shall give written notice of such termination to the other party or parties in accordance with <u>Section 11.01</u>, specifying the provision of this Agreement pursuant to which such termination is effected and the basis for such termination, described in reasonable detail.

SECTION 9.02. Effect of Termination. In the event of termination of this Agreement by either the Seller Parties or the Purchaser as provided in <u>Section 9.01</u> then this Agreement shall forthwith become void and have no effect, without any Liability or obligation on the part of any party, their Affiliates or their respective Representatives, other than the first sentence of <u>Section 7.03(i)</u>, the Purchaser's obligations under <u>Section 7.03(h)</u>, <u>Section 7.18(g)</u>, this <u>Section 9.02</u> and <u>Article XI</u> and the Confidentiality Agreement, all of which shall survive such termination in accordance with their terms; <u>provided</u> that such termination shall not relieve any party from any Liability to the other party or parties from an intentional breach of any covenant or agreement set forth in this Agreement by such first party or parties or Fraud by such first party or parties.

Article X

Indemnification

SECTION 10.01. <u>Survival</u>. The representations and warranties in this Agreement (including in the certificates contemplated in <u>Section 8.02</u> and <u>Section 8.03</u>) shall survive until the twenty-four (24) month anniversary of the Closing Date. Any claims with respect to any Excluded Liability and any claims pursuant to

<u>Section 10.02(d)</u> will survive until the twenty-four (24) month anniversary of the Closing Date. Any claims pursuant to <u>Section 10.02(f)</u> and <u>Section 10.02(g)</u> shall survive until the twenty-four (24) month anniversary of the Closing Date. The Seller Parties' covenants and agreements in this Agreement shall survive until the twenty-four (24) month anniversary of the Closing Date. Any claims made against the Holdback Amount (or portion thereof) shall survive until the resolution of such claim in accordance with <u>Section 2.09</u>. After the Closing, no party may bring any Action seeking to rescind the Transactions or this Agreement for any reason or upon any basis whatsoever; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u> that this provision shall in no way limit any of the other rights and remedies of a party either under this Agreement or as otherwise provided by law.

SECTION 10.02. <u>Indemnification by the Selling Entities</u>. Subject to the provisions of this <u>Article X</u>, from and after the Closing, the Seller Parties shall, and shall cause the Selling Entities to, jointly and severally, indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Purchaser and each of its Affiliates and their respective Representatives (collectively, the "<u>Purchaser Indemnitees</u>") from and against any and all Losses which such Purchaser Indemnitee may suffer or incur, to the extent arising out of or resulting from any of the following:

(a) any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation or warranty of a Seller Party contained in this Agreement;

(b)any of the Excluded Liabilities;

(c)any breach of any covenant or agreement of the Seller Parties hereunder;

(d)any Transferred Pre-Closing Contractual Liabilities, to the extent not included in the calculation of the Final Purchase Price;

(e)any Excess COBRA Liabilities;

(f)Liabilities (1) in respect of Chargebacks, to the extent they exceed the amount set aside in the Chargeback Reserve and (2) in respect of We Owes and Customer Deposits, to the extent they exceed the amounts included in Closing Current Assets; and

(g)fines, penalties and other monetary sanctions imposed by a Governmental Authority following the Closing and arising from violations of or liability under Environmental Laws to the extent arising from events or occurrences in connection with or relating to the Business or any operation thereof or any Purchased Assets prior to the date of this Agreement.

Notwithstanding that a claim for Losses may fall into multiple categories of this <u>Section 10.02</u>, a Purchaser Indemnitee may recover for the same Losses one time only.

SECTION 10.03. <u>Indemnification by the Purchaser</u>. Subject to the provisions of this <u>Article X</u>, from and after the Closing, the Purchaser shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Seller Parties and each of their respective Affiliates and their respective Representatives (collectively, the "<u>Seller Indemnitees</u>") from and against any and all Losses which such Seller Indemnitee may suffer or incur, to the extent arising out of or resulting from any of the following:

(a) any of the Assumed Liabilities other than Transferred Pre-Closing Contractual Liabilities or Excess COBRA Liabilities;

(b) any claims or Liabilities arising out of or related to the Purchaser's ability or inability to obtain Consents under, or new or replacement agreements for, Manufacturer Agreements in connection with the Transactions; including as contemplated by <u>Section 2.04(b)</u>; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that nothing herein obligates the Purchaser to indemnify Seller Indemnitees with respect to actions or inactions of the Seller Group with respect to Manufacturer Agreements prior to date of this Agreement; and

(c)any breach of any covenant or agreement of the Purchaser hereunder.

Notwithstanding that a claim for Losses may fall into multiple categories of this <u>Section 10.03</u>, a Seller Indemnitee may recover for the same Losses one time only.

SECTION 10.04 Indemnification Procedures.

(a)Procedures Relating to Indemnification of Third Party Claims.

(i)If any Person that may be entitled to indemnification under this <u>Article X</u> (the "<u>Indemnified Party</u>") receives written notice of the commencement of any Action or the assertion of any claim by a third party or the imposition of any penalty or assessment for which indemnity may be sought under <u>Section 10.02</u> or <u>Section 10.03</u>, as applicable (a "<u>Third Party Claim</u>"), and such Indemnified Party intends to seek indemnification pursuant to this <u>Article X</u>, the Indemnified Party shall promptly provide the other party (or parties) (the "<u>Indemnifying Party</u>") with written notice of such Third Party Claim, stating in reasonable detail the facts and circumstances with respect to the subject matter of such Third Party Claims (including the nature, basis and the amount thereof), in each case to the extent known, along with copies of the relevant documents evidencing such Third Party Claim and the basis for indemnifying Party from Liability in respect of its indemnification obligation, except if and to the extent that the Indemnifying Party is materially prejudiced thereby. Upon receipt of a notice of a Third Party Claim from an Indemnified Party, the Indemnifying Party shall have the right, by giving written notice to the Indemnified Party against the Third Party Claim with counsel selected by the Indemnifying Party.

(ii)So long as the Indemnifying Party has assumed the defense and control of the Third Party Claim in accordance herewith, the Indemnified Party may retain separate counsel at its sole cost and expense (except as contemplated by the following sentence) and may have a reasonable opportunity to participate in the defense of the Third Party Claim (subject to the Indemnifying Party's right to control such defense), the Indemnified Party shall not consent to the entry of any Judgment or enter into any settlement or compromise with respect to the Third Party Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnifying Party and the Indemnifying Party shall not consent to the entry of any Judgment or enter into any settlement or compromise with respect to any Third Party Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), other than, in the cause of this clause (ii), a compromise, Judgment or settlement that provides for solely monetary damages for which the Indemnified Party is fully indemnified hereunder, does not involve any finding or admission of violation of Law or admission of wrongdoing by the Indemnified Party and provides an unconditional release of, or dismissal with prejudice of, all claims against any Indemnified Party potentially affected by such Third Party Claim. In the event that the Indemnified Party and the Indemnifying Party reasonably agree that a conflict of interest exists in respect of a Third Party Claim, then the Indemnified Party shall have the right to retain separate counsel selected by the Indemnified Party and reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnifying Party to represent the Indemnified Party in the defense of the Third Party Claim, and the reasonable legal fees and expenses of the Indemnified Party shall be paid by the Indemnifying Party.

(iii)Notwithstanding the foregoing in this <u>Section 10.04</u>, the Indemnifying Party shall not be entitled to assume the defense of any Third Party Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party if the Third Party Claim seeks an injunction or other equitable relief or relief other than monetary damages against the Indemnified Party or seeks a finding or admission of a violation of Law (including any Third Party Claim seeking to impose criminal fines, penalties or sanctions) against the Indemnified Party. If the Indemnifying Party does not assume (or is not entitled to assume) the defense and control of any Third Party Claim pursuant to this <u>Section 10.04</u>, the Indemnified Party shall be entitled to assume and control such defense, but the Indemnifying Party may nonetheless participate in the defense of such Third Party Claim with its own counsel and at its own expense.

(iv)Each party shall use commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate Losses from Third Party Claims and shall act in good faith in responding to, defending against, settling or otherwise dealing with such claims. The parties hereto shall also cooperate in any such defense and give each other reasonable access to all information relevant thereto, including those employees necessary to assist in the investigation, defense and resolution of the Third Party Claim, subject, where deemed reasonably necessary by the disclosing party, to the entry into customary joint defense agreements and similar arrangements to protect information subject to attorney work product protection, attorney client privilege or other established legal privilege. Whether or not the Indemnifying Party has assumed the defense and control of such Third Party Claim, the Indemnifying Party shall not be obligated to indemnify the Indemnified Party hereunder for any settlement or compromise entered into or any Judgment that was consented to by the Indemnified Party without the Indemnifying Party's prior written consent.

(b)<u>Notice of Non-Third Party Claims</u>. The Indemnified Party shall notify the Indemnifying Party in writing promptly of its discovery of any matter that does not involve a Third Party Claim that the Indemnifying Party has determined has given or would reasonably be expected to give rise to the claim of indemnification pursuant to this Agreement, describing in reasonable detail, to the extent known by the Indemnifying Party, the facts and circumstances with respect to the subject matter of such claim; <u>provided</u>, that the failure so to notify the Indemnifying Party shall not relieve the Indemnifying Party from Liability in respect of its indemnification obligation, except if and to the extent that the Indemnifying Party is materially prejudiced thereby. Each party shall use commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate Losses from such claims.

SECTION 10.05. <u>Calculation of Indemnity Payments</u>. The amount of any Loss for which indemnification is provided under this <u>Article X</u> shall be net of any amounts actually recovered by the Indemnified Party under insurance policies (other than self-insurance programs) with respect to such Loss (net of the deductible for such policies, costs of enforcement and reasonable associated costs and expenses). Except as otherwise provided in this <u>Article X</u>, in any case where the Indemnified Party subsequently recovers from third parties any amount in respect of a matter with respect to which an Indemnifying Party has indemnified it pursuant to this <u>Article X</u>, such Indemnified Party shall promptly pay over to the Indemnifying Party the lesser of (x) the amount of such proceeds, less reasonable attorneys' fees and all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred in connection with such recovery and (y) the Excess Recovery (in each case solely to avoid duplicative recovery for the same Losses). The amount of any Loss arising out of any item included as a Closing Current Liability (as finally determined pursuant to <u>Section 2.07</u>), or that is otherwise included as an adjustment to the Closing Purchase Price or Final Purchase Price, if any, shall be calculated net of the amount so included. In no event shall any Indemnifying Party be obligated to pay for the same Losses more than once under this <u>Article X</u> or otherwise, even if a claim for indemnification in respect of such Losses has been made as a result of a breach of more than one representation, warranty, covenant or agreement in this Agreement.

SECTION 10.06. Environmental Matters. With respect to the Seller Indemnifying Parties' indemnification obligations under Section 10.02(a) (as it relates to a breach of the representation set forth in Section 4.14), Section 10.02(b) (as it relates to any Excluded Liabilities under Section 2.03(b)(vii)) or Section 10.02(g), the Seller Parties shall have no obligation to indemnify the Purchaser Indemnitees for Losses to the extent such Losses arise or result from: (i) any increases in the amount of the Losses due to an act or omission by Purchaser, its Affiliates or any of their respective Representatives; (ii) following the Closing, any change in use of a property or the operations conducted (including as a result of the closure or sale of a facility or business); or (iii) following the Closing, any investigation, sampling, assessment, study or remedial action undertaken to the extent they are not required by applicable Environmental Law or the Purchaser's secured lenders; or (iv) any disclosure or reporting to a Governmental Authority that is not required by applicable Environmental Law unless such disclosure or reporting is consistent with the actions of a reasonably prudent operator in the ordinary course of business. The Seller Indemnifying Parties' obligation to indemnify Purchaser Indemnitees for such Losses is only applicable to the extent that the least restrictive remediation standard (taking into consideration the use of the property as of the Closing Date and any requirement to obtain the written approval of the applicable landowner of any Transferred Leased Real Property), including the use of engineering or institutional controls, applicable to the property and consistent under Environmental Law are used. For avoidance of doubt, this Section 10.06 is not applicable to, and shall have no effect on, any of the provisions under Section 7.03, including without limitation, with respect to any Material Environmental Defects. If the Selling Entities incur costs under Section 7.03(c), Section 7.03(d) or to the Purchaser under Section 10.02(a) (as it relates to a breach of the representation set forth in Section 4.14), Section 10.02(b) (as it relates to any Excluded Liabilities under Section 2.03(b)(vii) or Section 10.02(g), to the extent such costs are a consequence of or any third party's actions, or are the liability or responsibility of any third party (including but not limited to any third party landlord with respect to any Transferred Leased Real Property or an

owner of adjacent property), the Selling Entities shall be subrogated to the Purchaser's respective rights of recovery against any such third party based upon, arising out of or relating to any costs or liabilities any of the Selling Entities are required to incur as set forth above. The Purchaser shall, and to the extent reasonably possible shall cause their respective Affiliates to, at the Selling Parties' sole cost and expense, execute all papers required and take all steps reasonable, necessary or advisable to enable the Selling Entities to secure, exercise and further the subrogation rights, directly or in the name of the Purchaser. In no event shall the Purchaser waive, or to the extent reasonably possible permit their respective Affiliates to waive, any rights that would reasonably be expected to adversely affect any such subrogation or assignment rights without the prior written consent of the Seller Parties (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld). The Purchaser shall take commercially reasonable steps to preserve any indemnification or other rights against any third person for any such costs and liabilities and preserve the Selling Entities' subrogation rights with respect thereto.

SECTION 10.07. Additional Matters. In no event shall an Indemnifying Party be liable for any Losses reflected or reserved for in the Financial Statements or special, punitive, exemplary, incidental, consequential or indirect damages, or lost profits, whether based on contract, tort, strict liability, other Law or otherwise, except, in the case of this clause (ii), Losses arising from a breach of confidentiality under Section 7.03(i) or to the extent that such damages are actually payable by the Indemnified Party in connection with a Third Party Claim, provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, the limitation in this sentence shall not apply to limit the payment obligations of the parties with respect to Taxes provided for in Section 7.11 (except for the amount of any Taxes taken into account in the computation of Closing Current Liabilities pursuant to Section 2.01(b)). For purposes of the calculation of Losses pursuant to this Agreement and for purposes of determining whether or not a representation or warranty was breached or inaccurate, all materiality and Material Adverse Effect qualifiers will be disregarded such that each representation or warranty shall be deemed to be made or given without any such materiality or Material Adverse Effect qualifications; provided, that other than for any Loss arising from any inaccuracy in or breach of the Seller Fundamental Representations or the representations and warranties set forth in Section 4.11, (1) no indemnifiable Loss will be deemed to exist for any claim (or series of related claims) under Section 10.02(a) or for Transferred Pre-Closing Contractual Liabilities described on Section 1.01(g) of the Disclosure Letter until the amount of such indemnifiable Loss (excluding attorney's and other professional fees and expenses of the Indemnified Party incurred in connection with investigating or making such claim under this Agreement) exceeds \$50,000 and (2) no Seller Parties or Selling Entities (the "Seller Indemnifying Parties") shall be required to indemnify any Purchaser Indemnitees under Section 10.02(a) unless the aggregate amount of all Losses incurred by the Purchaser Indemnitees thereunder exceeds \$5,000,000, and in such case the Seller Indemnifying Parties will only be required to indemnify the Purchaser Indemnitees for such Losses in excess of \$5,000,000. The maximum aggregate amount of Losses for which the Seller Indemnifying Parties will be obligated to indemnify the Purchaser Indemnitees under Section 10.02(a), Section 10.02(e), Section 10.02(f) and Section 10.02(g) shall be the amount then-remaining in the Escrow Account in accordance with Section 2.09 and otherwise subject to the terms of this Agreement. The maximum aggregate amount of Losses for which the Seller Indemnifying Parties will be obligated to indemnify the Purchaser Indemnitees for Transferred Pre-Closing Contractual Liabilities described on Section 1.01(g) of the Disclosure Letter shall be the amount then-remaining in the Escrow Account in accordance with Section 2.09 and otherwise subject to the terms of this Agreement. Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement and subject to all applicable limitations on indemnification under this Agreement, any indemnifiable Losses payable to a Purchaser Indemnitee under this Article X may be satisfied from the Escrow Account or from the Seller Parties. In respect of any indemnifiable matter under this Article X, the Indemnified Party shall use reasonable efforts to mitigate Losses.

SECTION 10.08. <u>Adjustment to Purchase Price</u>. Any payment under this <u>Article X</u> shall be treated as an adjustment to the Closing Purchase Price for all applicable Tax purposes, except as otherwise required pursuant to a final "<u>determination</u>" (within the meaning of Section 1313(a) of the Code) or similar determination under applicable state, local or non-U.S. Tax Law.

SECTION 10.09. Order of Recourse; Sole and Exclusive Remedy.

(a)If any Purchaser Indemnitee actually receives such insurance proceeds prior to being indemnified with respect to such Losses under this Agreement, the payment under this Agreement with respect to such Losses shall take into account the amount of such insurance proceeds, less reasonable attorneys' fees and all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred in connection with such recovery. If any Purchaser Indemnitee

actually receives such insurance proceeds or indemnity or contribution payments after being indemnified with respect to such Losses such that such Purchaser Indemnitee (after taking into account reasonable attorneys' fees and all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred in connection with such recovery) actually receives an amount in connection therewith in excess of its related Losses (the "<u>Excess Recovery</u>"), the Purchaser shall pay to the applicable Seller Party or Affiliate designated by the Seller Parties the lesser of (x) the amount of such insurance proceeds, less reasonable attorneys' fees and all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred in connection with such recovery and (y) the Excess Recovery.

(b)Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement or any Transaction Document, the Purchaser (i) acknowledges that the Selling Entities (and certain other members of the Seller Group) intend to liquidate, wind up their remaining operations and/or dissolve following the Closing Date (but no sooner than 24 months following the Closing Date) and (ii) hereby agrees that nothing in this Agreement or any Transaction Document shall prevent such actions and the members of the Seller Group shall be released from any post-Closing obligations as of immediately prior to such liquidation, winding up and/or dissolutions (except any pending claims against the Escrow Account); provided, that the Seller Parties that have any obligations under this Agreement or any Transaction Document shall not be so released until twenty-four (24) months following the Closing Date. The Seller Parties and the Purchaser acknowledge and agree that, following the Closing, except for claims based on Fraud, claims of either party pursuant to Section 2.09, and claims of Seller Indemnitees pursuant to Section 7.03(h), Section 7.13 and Section 7.18(g), and except as may be otherwise expressly agreed in a Transaction Document, the Seller Parties' and the Purchaser's (and each of their respective Affiliates') sole and exclusive remedy with respect to any and all claims for monetary relief in respect of Losses (including claims for breach of contract, warranty, tortious conduct (including negligence) or otherwise and whether predicated on common law, statute, strict liability or otherwise) that such party (or its Affiliates) may from time to time suffer of incur, or become subject to, as a result of or in connection with or relating to this Agreement, the Transactions, the Business, the Transferred Interests, the Purchased Assets, the Excluded Assets, the Assumed Liabilities or the Excluded Liabilities shall be pursuant to the provisions set forth in this Article X.

Article XI

Miscellaneous

SECTION 11.01. <u>Notices</u>. All notices, requests, claims, demands and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or sent, postage prepaid, by registered, certified or express mail or overnight courier service and shall be deemed given when so delivered by hand, or if mailed, three (3) calendar days after mailing (or one (1) business day in the case of express mail or overnight courier service), as follows (or at such other address for a party as shall be specified by like notice):

If to the Purchaser:

Group 1 Automotive, Inc. 800 Gessner, Suite 500 Houston, Texas 77024 Attention: General Counsel

with a copy to (such copy not to constitute notice):

Vinson & Elkins LLP 1001 Fannin, Suite 2500 Houston, Texas 77002 Attention: Gillian Hobson E-mail: ghobson@velaw.com If to the Seller Parties:

c/o Highline Management Inc. 535 W 24th Street, 6th Floor New York, NY 10011 Attention: General Counsel

with a copy to (such copy not to constitute notice):

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP
155 N. Wacker Drive
Chicago, IL 60606
Attention: Howard L. Ellin
Kimberly A. deBeers
E-mail: howard.ellin@skadden.com
kimberly.debeers@skadden.com

Akerman LLP 98 Southeast Seventh Street, Suite 1100 Miami, FL 33131 Attention: Jonathan L. Awner E-mail: jonathan.awner@akerman.com

SECTION 11.02. <u>Amendment</u>. This Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument in writing signed by each of the parties hereto.

SECTION 11.03. Extension; Waiver. At any time prior to the Closing Date, the parties may extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the other parties, waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties contained in this Agreement or in any document delivered pursuant to this Agreement or waive compliance with any of the agreements or conditions contained in this Agreement. Any agreement on the part of a party to any such extension or waiver shall be valid only if set forth in an instrument in writing signed on behalf of such party. The failure of any party to this Agreement to assert any of its rights under this Agreement or otherwise shall not constitute a waiver of such rights.

SECTION 11.04. <u>Severability</u>. If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced by any rule or Law, or public policy, all other conditions and provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in an acceptable manner to the end that the Transactions are fulfilled to the extent permitted by applicable Law.

SECTION 11.05. <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts (including by digital or other electronic means), and delivered by e-mail or facsimile, all of which shall be considered one and the same agreement and shall become effective when two or more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties and delivered to the other parties. Any copy of this Agreement made by reliable means (e.g., photocopy or facsimile) is considered an original.

SECTION 11.06. Entire Agreement; Third-Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement, together with the other Transaction Documents and the Confidentiality Agreement, constitutes the entire agreement, and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among the parties with respect to the Transactions and except for this Section 11.06 and as provided in this clause (b), is not intended to confer upon any Person other than the parties any rights or remedies, it being understood that (i) the Persons released pursuant to Section 11.10 shall have the right to enforce their respective rights under Section 11.10, (ii) from and after the Closing, the Purchaser Indemnitees and the Seller Indemnitees shall be third-party beneficiaries of Article X and each shall have the right to enforce their respective rights thereunder, and (iii) the Existing Counsel is a third-party beneficiary of Section 11.11 and shall have the right to enforce its rights thereunder; provided, that Section 11.10 is



intended for the benefit of and is enforceable by the Financing Sources, provided that in each case such party will be subject to all the limitations and procedures of this Agreement as if it were a party hereunder. For the avoidance of doubt, the Financing Sources shall be deemed third party beneficiaries of the provisions set forth in Section 11.10, each of which shall be enforceable by each Financing Source and none of which shall be amended or otherwise modified in any way that adversely affects the rights of any Financing Source without the prior written consent of the Financing Sources.

SECTION 11.07. <u>Governing Law</u>. Subject to <u>Section 11.10</u>, this Agreement, and all matters, claims or causes of action (whether at law, in equity, in Contract, in tort or otherwise) based upon, arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the negotiation, execution or performance of this Agreement, shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware, regardless of the laws that might otherwise govern under applicable principles of conflicts of laws thereof.

SECTION 11.08. Assignment. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations under this Agreement shall be assigned, in whole or in part, by operation of Law or otherwise by any of the parties without the prior written consent of the other parties; provided that (1) within ten (10) business days following the date of this Agreement, the Purchaser may designate by written notice to the Seller Parties and (2) thereafter prior to, and in any event at least thirty (30) days in advance of, the Closing, the Purchaser may designate, with the written consent of the Seller Parties (not to be unreasonably withheld), in each case, one or more wholly owned Subsidiaries to, at the Closing, (i) acquire all or part of the Purchased Assets or Transferred Interests, (ii) assume all or part of the Assumed Liabilities, as the case may be, in which event all references herein to the Purchaser will be deemed to refer to such Affiliates, as appropriate; provided, however, that no such designation will in any event limit or affect the obligations of the Purchaser under this Agreement to the extent not performed by such Affiliates. Any purported assignment without such consent shall be null and void. This Agreement will be binding upon, inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, the parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

SECTION 11.09. Enforcement; Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process; Waiver of Jury Trial.

(a)The parties agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is accordingly agreed that the parties shall be entitled to seek an injunction or injunctions, specific performance or other equitable relief to prevent breaches or threatened breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement, without proof of damages or otherwise, this being in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity. The right of specific enforcement is an integral part of the Transactions and without that right, neither the Seller Parties nor the Purchaser would have entered into this Agreement. Each party agrees that it will not oppose the granting of an injunction, specific performance and other equitable relief on the basis that the other party has an adequate remedy at law or an award of specific performance is not an appropriate remedy for any reason at law or in equity. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that any party seeking an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches or threatened breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement in accordance with this Section 11.09 shall not be required to provide any bond or other security in connection with any such order or injunction, and the party opposing such injunction or injunctions hereby agrees that it shall not contest the amount or absence of any such bond or other security requested or offered by the party seeking such injunction or injunctions. If, prior to the Termination Date, any party hereto brings any Action, in each case, in accordance with this Section 11.09, to enforce specifically the performance of the terms and provisions hereof by any other party, the Termination Date shall automatically be extended by such time period as established by the court presiding over such Action. Upon any Action between or among the parties to enforce any provisions or rights hereunder, the predominately non-prevailing party shall pay to the predominately prevailing party therein all costs and expenses of such party (and any of such party's agents, such as attorneys or accountants) expressly including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys' fees and court costs incurred therein by such successful party, which costs, expenses and attorneys' fees will be included in and as a part of any judgment rendered in such litigation.

(b)Each of the parties hereto (i) consents to submit itself to the personal jurisdiction of the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and any state or federal court within the State of Delaware in the event any dispute arises out of this Agreement or the Transactions, (ii) agrees that it will not attempt to deny or defeat such

personal jurisdiction by motion or other request for leave from any such court, (iii) agrees that it will not bring any Action relating to this Agreement or the Transactions in any court other than the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, or, if (and only if) such court finds it lacks subject matter jurisdiction, the federal court of the United States sitting in the State of Delaware, and the appellate courts thereof, UNCONDITIONALLY AND IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY WITH RESPECT TO ANY ACTION RELATED TO OR ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS, (v) waives the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of any Action related to or arising out of this Agreement or the Transactions and (vi) consents to service of process being made through the notice procedures set forth in <u>Section 11.01</u>. The consents to jurisdiction set forth in this paragraph shall not constitute general consents to service of process in the State of Delaware. The parties hereto agree that a final Judgment in any such Action shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the Judgment or in any other manner provided by applicable Law.

SECTION 11.10. No Recourse Against Nonparty Affiliates.

(a)Claims, causes of action or Liabilities (whether in Contract or in tort, in law or in equity, or granted by statute) that may be based upon, in respect of, arise under, out or by reason of, be connected with, or relate in any manner to this Agreement or any other Transaction Document, or the negotiation, execution, or performance of this Agreement or any other Transaction Document (including any representation or warranty made in, in connection with, or as an inducement to, this Agreement or any other Transaction Document), may be made only against (and are those solely of) the entities that are expressly identified as parties in the Preamble to this Agreement or in the applicable Transaction Document ("Contracting Parties"), and then only with respect to the specific obligations set forth herein (with respect to the parties identified in the Preamble to this Agreement) or therein (with respect to the parties to such Transaction Document). No Person who is not a Contracting Party, including any director, manager, officer, employee, incorporator, member, limited or general partner, unitholder, stockholder, affiliate, agent, attorney, or Representative of, and any financial advisor or lender to, any Contracting Party ("Nonparty Affiliates"), shall have any Liability (whether in Contract or in tort, in law or in equity, or granted by statute) for any claims, causes of action or Liabilities arising under, out of, in connection with, or related in any manner to this Agreement or such other Transaction Document, as applicable, or based on, in respect of, or by reason of this Agreement or such other Transaction Document, as applicable, or its negotiation, execution, performance, or breach; and, to the maximum extent permitted by applicable Law, each Contracting Party hereby waives and releases all such claims, causes of action and Liabilities against any such Nonparty Affiliates. Without limiting the foregoing, to the maximum extent permitted by applicable Law, (i) each Contracting Party hereby waives and releases any and all rights, claims, demands or causes of action that may otherwise be available in law or in equity, or granted by statute, to avoid or disregard the entity form of a Contracting Party or otherwise impose Liability of a Contracting Party on any Nonparty Affiliate, whether granted by statute or based on theories of equity, agency, control, instrumentality, alter ego, domination, sham, single business enterprise, piercing the veil, unfairness, undercapitalization, or otherwise and (ii) each Contracting Party disclaims any reliance upon any Nonparty Affiliates with respect to the performance of this Agreement or any other Transaction Document or any representation or warranty made in, in connection with, or as an inducement to this Agreement or any other Transaction Document. No Seller Party, nor any of its Affiliates or their respective officers, employees or Representatives, (A) will have any rights or claims against any Financing Source (solely in their respective capacities as Financing Sources) in connection with this Agreement or any other Transaction Document or otherwise in respect of the Transactions, including any commitments by the Financing Sources in respect of financing the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (B) will seek to enforce this Agreement against any Financing Source (solely in their respective capacities as Financing Sources) or (C) will bring any claim or cause of action against any Financing Source (solely in their respective capacities as Financing Sources) under this Agreement or any other Transaction Document or otherwise in respect of the Transactions, including any commitments by the Financing Sources in respect of financing the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. In addition, in no event will any Financing Source (solely in their respective capacities as Financing Sources) be liable for consequential, special, exemplary, punitive or indirect damages (including any loss of profits, business or anticipated savings) or damages of a tortious nature in connection with this Agreement or any other Transaction Document or otherwise in respect of the Transactions, including any commitments by the Financing Sources in respect of financing the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(b)Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, to the extent the provisions of Section 11.10(a) are determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to not be enforceable, the parties hereto acknowledge and irrevocably agree (i) that any proceeding, whether involving claims in law or in equity, whether in contract or in tort or otherwise, involving the Financing Sources arising out of, or relating to, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Transaction Documents, the Debt Financing or the performance of services thereunder or related thereto shall be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of any state or federal court sitting in the Borough of Manhattan, New York, New York, and any appellate court thereof and each party hereto submits for itself and its property with respect to any such proceeding to the exclusive jurisdiction of such court, (ii) not to bring or permit any of their controlled Affiliates to bring or support anyone else in bringing any such proceeding in any other court, (iii) that service of process, summons, notice or document by registered mail addressed to them at their respective addresses provided in Section 11.01 shall be effective service of process against them for any such proceeding brought in any such court, (iv) to waive and hereby waive, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable legal requirements, any objection which any of them may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of, and the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of, any such proceeding in any such court, (v) to waive and hereby waive any right to trial by jury in respect of any such proceeding, (vi) that a final judgment in any such proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by applicable legal requirements, and (vii) that any such proceedings shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York without regard to the conflicts of law rules of such State that would result in the application of the laws of any other State.

SECTION 11.11. Legal Representation.

(a)Each of the parties to this Agreement acknowledges and agrees that Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP and Akerman LLP (collectively, "<u>Existing Counsel</u>") has acted as counsel for an Affiliate of the Seller Parties and may have acted as counsel for Seller Parties (including the Transferred Entities) in connection with this Agreement and the Transactions (the "<u>Acquisition Engagement</u>").

(b)Each of the parties to this Agreement acknowledges and agrees that all confidential communications between a member of the Seller Group or any of their respective Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities), on the one hand, and any Existing Counsel or internal counsel of the Seller Group or any of its Affiliates, on the other hand, in the course of the Acquisition Engagement, and any attendant attorney-client privilege, attorney work product protection, and expectation of client confidentiality applicable thereto, shall be deemed to belong solely to the Seller Parties and their retained Affiliates, and shall not pass to or be claimed, held, or used by the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities) upon or after the Closing. Accordingly, the Purchaser shall not have access to any such communications, or to the files of any Existing Counsel or such internal counsel relating to the Acquisition Engagement, whether or not the Closing occurs. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, upon and after the Closing, (i) to the extent that files of any Existing Counsel or such internal counsel in respect of the Acquisition Engagement constitute property of the client, only the Seller Parties and their respective Affiliates shall hold such property rights, and (ii) Existing Counsel shall have no duty whatsoever to reveal or disclose any such attorney-client communications or files to the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates or any Transferred Entity by reason of any attorney-client relationship between Existing Counsel and the Transferred Entities or otherwise. If and to the extent that, at any time subsequent to Closing, the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates shall have the right to assert or waive any attorney-client privilege with respect to any communication between a member of the Seller Group or its Affiliates and Existing Counsel or such internal counsel that occurred at any time prior to the Closing, the Purchaser, on behalf of itself and its Affiliates and the Transferred Entities shall be entitled to waive such privilege only with the prior written consent of the Seller Parties.

(c)Each of the parties to this Agreement acknowledges and agrees that any Existing Counsel may represent or continue to represent the Seller Parties or any of their respective Affiliates in future matters. Accordingly, the Purchaser, on behalf of itself and its Affiliates expressly: (i) consents to each Existing Counsel's representation of the Sellers and any of their respective Affiliates in any matter, including any post-Closing matter in which the interests of the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates (including the Transferred Entities), on the one hand, and the Seller Parties or any of their respective Affiliates, on the other hand, are adverse, including any matter relating to the Transactions, and whether or not such matter is one in which Existing Counsel may have previously advised the Seller Parties or any of its Affiliates; and (ii) consents to the disclosure by each Existing Counsel to the Seller Parties or any of their respective Affiliates of any information learned by such Existing Counsel in the course of its representation of the Seller Parties or any of their respective Affiliates, whether or not such information is subject to attorney-client privilege, attorney work product protection, or such Existing Counsel's duty of confidentiality.

(d)The Purchaser, on behalf of itself and its Affiliates, further covenants and agrees that each shall not assert any claim, and that it hereby waives any claim, against any Existing Counsel in respect of legal services provided to or on behalf of the Business or the Transferred Entities by such Existing Counsel in connection with the Acquisition Engagement.

(e)The Transferred Entities and the Purchaser and its Affiliates that acquire the Purchased Assets shall not have any attorney-client relationship with any Existing Counsel from and after the Closing, unless and to the extent such Existing Counsel is specifically engaged in writing by the Purchaser or the Transferred Entities to represent such entity after the Closing. Any such representation by such Existing Counsel after the Closing shall not affect the foregoing provisions hereof.

(f)The Purchaser and the Seller Parties consent to the arrangements in this <u>Section 11.11</u> and agree to take, and to cause their respective controlled Affiliates to take, all steps necessary to implement the intent of this <u>Section 11.11</u> and not to take or cause their respective controlled Affiliates to take positions contrary to the intent of this <u>Section 11.11</u>. The Purchaser and the Seller Parties further agree that each Existing Counsel is a third-party beneficiary of this <u>Section 11.11</u>.

SECTION 11.12. <u>Schedules</u>. All Schedules attached hereto are incorporated herein and expressly made a part of this Agreement as though completely set forth herein. All references to this Agreement herein or in any of the Schedules shall be deemed to refer to this entire Agreement, including all Schedules and Exhibits. The disclosure of an item in one schedule shall be deemed to disclose an exception to another representation or warranty in this Agreement if it is reasonably apparent on its face that the disclosure would apply to such representation and warranty. Neither the specification of any dollar amount in any representation or warranty contained in this Agreement, nor the inclusion of any specific item in a Schedule is intended to imply that such amount, or any higher or lower amount, or the item so included or other items, are or are not material, and no party shall use the fact of the setting forth of any such amount or the inclusion of any such item in any dispute or controversy between the parties as to whether any obligation, item or matter not included in a Schedule is or is not material for purposes of the Agreement.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

79

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed and delivered as of the date first above written.

GROUP 1 AUTOMOTIVE, INC.

By /s/ Daniel J. McHenry Name: Daniel J. McHenry Title: Chief Financial Officer

GPB PORTFOLIO AUTOMOTIVE, LLC

By /s/ Wes Pandoff Name: Wesley Pandoff Title: Chief Financial Officer

CAPSTONE AUTOMOTIVE GROUP, LLC

By <u>/s/ Wes Pandoff</u> Name: Wesley Pandoff Title: Chief Financial Officer

CAPSTONE AUTOMOTIVE GROUP II, LLC

By /s/ Wes Pandoff Name: Wesley Pandoff Title: Chief Financial Officer

AUTOMILE PARENT HOLDINGS, LLC

By <u>/s/ Wes Pandoff</u> Name: Wesley Pandoff Title: Chief Financial Officer

AUTOMILE TY HOLDINGS, LLC

By /s/ Wes Pandoff Name: Wesley Pandoff Title: Chief Financial Officer

PRIME REAL ESTATE HOLDINGS, LLC

By /s/ Rob Chmiel Name: Robert Chmiel Title: Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 10.1

Execution Version

Subject to the Confidentiality Provisions Set Forth in the Credit Agreement

Consent Letter

Effective Date: October 8, 2021

Automile Holdings, LLC, Borrower Representative 425 Providence Highway Westwood, MA 02090 Attn: Todd R. Skelton, Chief Executive Officer

Re: Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of October 4, 2017, as amended (as so amended, "Credit Agreement") among Automile Holdings, LLC and the other undersigned Borrowers (collectively, "Borrowers"), GPB Prime Holdings, LLC ("GPB Prime"), Automile Parent Holdings, LLC ("Automile Parent Holdings," and together with the Borrowers, collectively, the "Loan Parties"), Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, as Administrative Agent (the "Administrative Agent"), and the "Lenders" that are parties thereto.

Dear Mr. Skelton:

Automile Holdings, Inc., as Borrower Representative on behalf of all of the Loan Parties, has requested from the Lenders the consent set forth below. This letter is issued in connection with the Credit Agreement, including, without limitation, the Eleventh Amendment thereto, Effective Date June 23, 2021 (*"Eleventh Amendment"*). All capitalized terms used in this Consent Letter without definition shall have the meanings given such terms in the Credit Agreement.

In connection with settlement of the Rosenberg Obligations and with respect to Section 6.07 ("*Restricted Payments*") of the Credit Agreement, the Borrower Representative hereby requests the consent of the Lenders to the following (collectively, the "*Distribution Dollar Amount Adjustments*"): (i) that the Dollar amount presently referenced in clause (d) of Section 6.07 as "\$15,000,000" be hereby reduced to "\$10,000,000" and (ii) that the Dollar amount referenced in clause (e) of Section 6.07 and set forth on <u>Schedule 6.07(e)</u> to the Eleventh Amendment be hereby increased from such Dollar amount to the Dollar amount set forth on <u>Schedule 6.07(e)</u> attached hereto.

By signing below and to induce the Lenders to execute and deliver this Consent Letter, the Borrower Representative and each of the Loan Parties hereby represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders that: (a) as of the date of this Consent Letter, no Defaults or Events of Default have occurred and are continuing under the Credit Agreement; (b) the Credit Documents are the valid and binding obligation of each of them that is a signatory thereto; (c) the Credit Documents are enforceable in accordance with all stated terms; (d) none of them has any defenses, claims of offset, or counterclaims against enforcement of the Credit Documents in accordance with all stated terms; (e) all representations and warranties set forth in the Eleventh Amendment are true, complete, and correct in all respects, giving effect to the amendments set forth in paragraph 2 below; (f) the Loan Parties have determined that giving effect to the Distribution Dollar Amount Adjustments is in the best interests of the Loan Parties; and (g) this Consent Letter and all matters set forth herein have been approved by the Monitor.

1. <u>Consent</u>. Each of the undersigned Lenders hereby grants its consent to the Distribution Dollar Amount Adjustments, and Sections 6.07(d) and (e) are hereby amended to give effect to the Distribution Dollar Amount Adjustments.

2. <u>Amended Terms</u>. In connection with the consent and the Distribution Dollar Amount Adjustments, certain terms and schedules are hereby amended as set forth below:

(a) *"Rosenberg Litigation"* shall include, without limitation, as item "(iii)" of such definition, that certain that certain civil action commenced pursuant to the Verified Complaint (civil

Automile Holdings, LLC Borrower Representative October 8 2021 Page 2

action no. 655467/2021) filed in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York, on September 13, 2021 by David Rosenberg, The Rosenberg Family Nominee Trust, and the Rosenberg Family Nominee Trust/Sawdran as Plaintiffs against GPB Capital Holdings, LLC Robert Chmiel, Todd Skelton, GPB Prime Holdings, LLC, Automile Parent Holdings, LLC, Jefferies LLC, Clifton Larson Allen LLP f/k/a Blum, Shapiro & Company, P.C., and M&T Bank Corporation.

- (b) <u>Schedule 6.05</u> attached to the Eleventh Amendment and referenced in Section 6.05 of the Eleventh Amendment, is hereby replaced in its entirety with <u>Schedule 6.05</u> attached hereto. The representations and warranties set forth in Section 6.05 of the Eleventh Amendment are hereby ratified and confirmed in all respects by the Loan Parties, as so amended.
- (c) <u>Schedule 6.07(e)</u> to the Credit Agreement is hereby replaced in its entirety with <u>Schedule</u> <u>6.07(e)</u> attached hereto.
- (d) To correct a typographical error and for clarity, the term "Eleventh Amendment Effective Date" set forth in the Eleventh Amendment means June 23, 2021, rather than June 22, 2021.

3. <u>Confirmation of Conditions Precedent</u>. Notwithstanding the Distribution Dollar Amount Adjustments and the consent set forth in paragraph 1 above, all of the Specified Distribution Conditions Precedent shall remain in full force and effect and, for the avoidance of doubt, shall apply with respect to any and all Restricted Payments made pursuant to Sections 6.07(d) and (e), upon giving effect to the Distribution Dollar Amount Adjustments and this Consent Letter. For the avoidance of doubt, (x) the consent of the Monitor shall be required with respect to the Rosenberg Settlement Agreement and (y) no distributions shall be made under Section 6.07 of the Credit Agreement, unless all respective conditions precedent thereto set forth in the Credit Documents are satisfied.

4. <u>Limitations</u>. Except to the extent of the consent expressly provided in paragraph 1 herein, nothing herein shall constitute a consent to, or waiver by the Lenders of, any term, covenant, condition, or provision of the Credit Agreement or any of the other Credit Documents. Except to the extent of the Distribution Dollar Amount Adjustments and the amended terms set forth in paragraph 2 above, all of the terms, covenants, conditions, and provisions set forth in the Credit Agreement, the Eleventh Amendment, and all other Credit Documents shall remain in full force and effect and are hereby ratified and confirmed by the Loan Parties. The consents and amendments provided herein shall not constitute a course of dealing. Nothing contained herein shall be construed as a novation or refinancing of any of the "Obligations," as such term is defined in the Credit Agreement. Upon full execution and delivery hereof, this Consent Letter shall be come one of the Credit Documents.

5. <u>Reimbursement of Administrative Agent's Expenses</u>. The Borrower Representative agrees to reimburse to the Administrative Agent promptly upon receipt of an invoice therefor, all Credit Party Expenses incurred by the Administrative Agent in connection with the negotiation and preparation of this Consent Letter, and all other expenses incurred by the Administrative Agent as of that date in connection with the consummation of the transactions and matters described herein

6. <u>Counterparts And Delivery</u>. This Consent Letter may be executed and delivered in counterparts (and by different parties hereto in different counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single contract. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Consent Letter electronically or via facsimile shall be just as effective as the delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Consent Letter. Further, each person executing this Consent Letter agrees that the electronic signatures, whether pdf, scanned, digital, encrypted, captured or otherwise attached or imposed hereto, are intended to authenticate this Consent Letter and to have the same force and effect of manual signatures. By signing below, each person, in their individual capacity, executing this Consent Letter on behalf of a Loan Party represents and warrants to and covenants to the Credit

Parties that said signer is executing this Consent Letter on behalf of such Loan Party in the stated capacity and is duly authorized and empowered to do so and to bind such Loan Party to the terms hereof.

Automile Holdings, LLC Borrower Representative October 8 2021 Page 3

RELEASE. IN ORDER TO INDUCE THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND THE LENDERS 7. TO ENTER INTO THIS CONSENT LETTER AND GRANT THEIR CONSENT, EACH OF THE LOAN PARTIES FOREVER RELEASES AND DISCHARGES THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND THE LENDERS AND EACH OF THEIR RESPECTIVE OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES, ATTORNEYS, AND AGENTS (COLLECTIVELY, THE "RELEASED PARTIES") FROM ANY AND ALL CLAIMS, CAUSES OF ACTION, SUITS AND DAMAGES (INCLUDING CLAIMS FOR ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS), ARISING OUT OF A COMMISSION OR OMISSION OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT OR ANY OF THE LENDERS EXISTING OR OCCURRING ON OR PRIOR TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE, WHICH ANY OF THE LOAN PARTIES, JOINTLY OR SEVERALLY, EVER HAD OR MAY NOW HAVE AGAINST ANY OF THE RELEASED PARTIES FOR ANY SUCH CLAIMS ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED IN ANY WAY TO THE OBLIGATIONS, THE CREDIT DOCUMENTS, THIS CONSENT LETTER OR THE ADMINISTRATION THEREOF, WHETHER KNOWN OR UNKNOWN, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO ANY AND ALL SUCH CLAIMS BASED UPON OR RELYING ON ANY ALLEGATIONS OR ASSERTIONS OF DURESS, ILLEGALITY, UNCONSCIONABILITY, BAD FAITH, BREACH OF CONTRACT, REGULATORY VIOLATIONS, NEGLIGENCE, MISCONDUCT, OR ANY OTHER TORT, CONTRACT OR REGULATORY CLAIM OF ANY KIND OR NATURE. THIS RELEASE IS INTENDED TO BE FINAL AND IRREVOCABLE AND IS NOT SUBJECT TO THE SATISFACTION OF ANY CONDITIONS OF ANY KIND.

8. <u>Choice Of Law; Consent To Jurisdiction; Agreement As To Venue</u>. This Consent shall be construed, performed and enforced and its validity and enforceability determined in accordance with the Laws of the Governing State. Each of the parties hereto confirms the provisions set forth in Sections 10.21 (Jurisdiction), 10.22 (Venue), 10.23 (Service of Process) of the Credit Agreement, each of which are incorporated herein by reference and applicable to this Consent Letter.

9. <u>Waiver of Jury Trial</u>. All parties to this Consent Letter waive the right to a trial by jury in any action brought to enforce or construe this Consent Letter or which otherwise arises out of or relates to this Consent Letter or the transactions contemplated herein.

[Signatures Begin On The Following Page]

Automile Holdings, LLC Borrower Representative October 8 2021 Page 4

Please indicate your consent by executing and returning this Consent Letter as soon as possible to the Administrative Agent.

MANUFACTURERS AND TRADERS TRUST COMPANY,

A New York Banking Corporation, In Its Capacity As Administrative Agent

By: /s/ John E. Brissette

Name: John E. Brissette Title: Vice President

READ, ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED BY THE UNDERSIGNED, as of the Effective Date first above written:

BORROWER REPRESENTATIVE:

AUTOMILE HOLDINGS, LLC, A Delaware limited liability company

By: /s/ Todd R. Skelton Todd R. Skelton, Chief Executive Officer

GPB PRIME:

GPB PRIME HOLDINGS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

By: /s/ Todd R. Skelton Todd R. Skelton, Chief Executive Officer

PARENT HOLDINGS GUARANTOR:

AUTOMILE PARENT HOLDINGS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

By: /s/ Todd R. Skelton Todd R. Skelton, Chief Executive Officer

READ, ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED BY THE UNDERSIGNED, as of the Effective Date first above written:

BORROWERS:

AMR AUTO HOLDINGS – PA, LLC, AMR AUTO HOLDINGS – VH, LLC, SACO AUTO HOLDINGS – VW, LLC, HANOVER AUTOMOTIVE HOLDINGS, LLC, AMR AUTO HOLDINGS – SM, LLC, AMR AUTO HOLDINGS – VWN, LLC, Each a Delaware limited liability company

By: <u>/s/ Kevin P. Westfall</u> Kevin P. Westfall, Interim CEO

AMR REAL ESTATE HOLDINGS, LLC, A Delaware limited liability company

By: <u>/s/ Todd R. Skelton</u> Todd R. Skelton, Chief Executive Officer AUTOMILE TY HOLDINGS, LLC, AMR AUTO HOLDINGS - LN, LLC, LUPO LLC, AMR AUTO HOLDINGS - BG, LLC, AMR AUTO HOLDINGS - NC, LLC, AMR AUTO HOLDINGS - MW, LLC, AMR AUTO HOLDINGS - AC, LLC, AMR AUTO HOLDINGS - HN, LLC, AMR AUTO HOLDINGS - MH. LLC. AMR AUTO HOLDINGS - FA, LLC, AMR AUTO HOLDINGS - MM, LLC, SACO AUTO HOLDINGS - FLMM, LLC, SACO AUTO HOLDINGS - HN, LLC, SAWDRAN, LLC, AMR AUTO HOLDINGS - PO, LLC, AMR AUTO HOLDINGS - LC, LLC, AMR AUTO HOLDINGS - JS, LLC, AMR AUTO HOLDINGS - MINR, LLC, AMR AUTO HOLDINGS - LH, LLC, AMR AUTO HOLDINGS - MN, LLC, AMR AUTO HOLDINGS - BN, LLC, AMR AUTO HOLDINGS - BR, LLC, AMR AUTO HOLDINGS - HNR, LLC, Each a Delaware limited liability company

By: <u>/s/Todd R. Skelton</u> Todd R. Skelton, Chief Executive Officer

AUTOMILE HOLDINGS, LLC, A Delaware limited liability company

By: <u>/s/ Todd R. Skelton</u> Todd R. Skelton, Chief Executive Officer

MANUFACTURERS AND TRADERS TRUST COMPANY,

A New York Banking Corporation, In Its Capacity As A Lender

By: <u>/a. John E. Brissette</u>

Name: John E. Brissette Title: Vice President

TRUIST BANK, In Its Capacity As A Lender

By: /s/ Andrew C. Carter

Name: Andrew C. Carter Title: Senior Vice President

MERCEDES-BENZ FINANCIAL SERVICES USA LLC,

In Its Capacity As A Lender

By:/s/ Richard A. BeagleName:Richard A. BeagleTitle:Regional Dealer Credit Manager

TOYOTA MOTOR CREDIT CORPORATION,

In Its Capacity As A Lender

By: /s/ Gerald Jules

Name: Gerald Jules Title: National Manager, National Accounts

NYCB SPECIALTY FINANCE COMPANY, LLC,

A wholly owned subsidiary of New York Community Bank In Its Capacity As A Lender

By: /s/ Mark C. Mazmanian

Name: Mark C. Mazmanian Title: First Senior Vice President

KEY BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,

In Its Capacity As A Lender

By: /s/ Andrew Scott

Name: Andrew Scott Title: SVP

TD BANK, N.A., In Its Capacity As A Lender

By: <u>/s/ Katherine Brunelle</u> Name: Katherine Brunelle Title: VP

VW CREDIT, INC., In Its Capacity As A Lender

By: /s/ William J. Zozokos

Name: William J. Zozokos Title: SMCC

Schedule 6.05

Rosenberg Claims

Matter	Action Type	Commencement
David Rosenberg; The Rosenberg Family Nominee Trust; and the Rosenberg Family Nominee Trust/Sawdran, Plaintiffs, v. GPB Prime Holdings, LLC and Automile Parent Holdings, LLC., Defendants, Norfolk, Massachusetts Superior Court Civil Action No: 1982-CV-0925	Civil Action	7/19/19; Amended 11/26/19
<i>David Rosenberg, Claimant, v. Automile Holdings, LLC, Respondent,</i> JAMS Boston, JAMS Arbitration, Case No. 1400018385	Arbitration proceeding for disputes under Rosenberg employment agreement.	Amended Demand for Arbitration filed 6/8/2020
Verified Complaint (civil action no. 655467/2021) filed in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York, on September 13, 2021 by David Rosenberg, The Rosenberg Family Nominee Trust, and the Rosenberg Family Nominee Trust/Sawdran as Plaintiffs against GPB Capital Holdings, LLC Robert Chmiel, Todd Skelton, GPB Prime Holdings, LLC, Automile Parent Holdings, LLC, Jefferies LLC, Clifton Larson Allen LLP f/k/a Blum, Shapiro & Company, P.C., and M&T Bank Corporation		Filed 09/13/2021

Schedule 6.07(e)

Rosenberg Settlement Agreement Payment Limit

\$30,000,000

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Michael Frost, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of GPB Automotive Portfolio, LP;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - (b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - (c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: November 15, 2021

/s/ Michael Frost Michael Frost President Highline Management Inc. (Principal Executive Officer)

Copyright © 2021 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved. Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Robert Chmiel, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of GPB Automotive Portfolio, LP;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - (b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - (c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: November 15, 2021

/s/ Robert Chmiel Robert Chmiel Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Copyright © 2021 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved. Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code), the undersigned officer of GPB Automotive Portfolio, LP (the "Company"), does hereby certify, to such officer's knowledge, that:

The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2021 (the "Form 10-Q") of the Company fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented in the Form 10-Q.

Dated: November 15, 2021

/s/ Michael Frost

Michael Frost President Highline Management Inc. (Principal Executive Officer)

The foregoing certification is being furnished as an exhibit to the Form 10-Q pursuant to Item 601(b)(32) of Regulation S-K and Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code) and, accordingly, is not being filed as part of the Form 10-Q for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is not incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code), the undersigned officer of GPB Automotive Portfolio, LP (the "Company"), does hereby certify, to such officer's knowledge, that:

The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2021 (the "Form 10-Q") of the Company fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented in the Form 10-Q.

Dated: November 15, 2021

/s/ Robert Chmiel

Robert Chmiel Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

The foregoing certification is being furnished as an exhibit to the Form 10-Q pursuant to Item 601(b)(32) of Regulation S-K and Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code) and, accordingly, is not being filed as part of the Form 10-Q for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is not incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.

Document and Entity Information - shares				
Document and Entity Information				
Document Type	10-Q			
Document Quarterly Report	true			
Document Period End Date	Sep. 30, 2021			
Document Transition Report	false			
Entity File Number	000-56285			
Entity Registrant Name	GPB Automotive Portfolio, LF)		
Entity Incorporation, State or Country Code	<u>e</u> DE			
Entity Tax Identification Number	35-2484347			
Entity Address, Address Line One	535 W. 24th Street, 6th Floor			
Entity Address State Or Province	NY			
Entity Address, City or Town	New York			
Entity Address, Postal Zip Code	10011			
City Area Code	877			
Local Phone Number	489-8484			
No Trading Symbol Flag	true			
Entity Current Reporting Status	Yes			
Entity Interactive Data Current	Yes			
Entity Filer Category	Non-accelerated Filer			
Entity Small Business	false			
Entity Emerging Growth Company	false			
Entity Shell Company	false			
Entity Common Stock, Shares Outstanding		0		
Entity Central Index Key	0001578742			
Current Fiscal Year End Date	12-31			
Document Fiscal Year Focus	2021			
Document Fiscal Period Focus	Q3			
Amendment Flag	false			

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets - USD (\$) \$ in Thousands

Sep. 30, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020

\$ In Thousands		
Current assets:		
Cash	\$ 148,155	\$ 120,985
Contracts in transit	17,840	38,464
Receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts	19,889	36,441
Assets held for sale	3,396	94,532
Due from related parties, current portion	4,929	4,943
Inventories	128,895	260,116
Leased rental/service vehicles	10,755	12,463
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	19,000	11,814
Total current assets	352,859	579,758
Non-current assets:		
Restricted cash, net of current portion	14,322	14,427
Property and equipment, net	238,605	248,613
Goodwill	142,065	142,065
Franchise rights	126,139	126,139
Right-of-use assets - operating	47,725	51,479
Right-of-use assets - finance	24,468	25,953
Other assets	12,617	10,538
Total non-current assets	605,941	619,214
Total assets	958,800	1,198,972
Current liabilities:		
Floorplan payable	104,040	280,953
Accounts payable	32,640	35,246
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities	41,762	32,080
Liabilities held for sale	-	2,340
Notes payable - related party, current portion	962	12,308
Long-term debt, current portion	6,719	21,119
Operating lease liabilities, current portion	4,604	4,532
Finance lease liabilities, current portion	1,432	1,471
Leased vehicle liability	10,755	12,510
Redeemable non-controlling interests, current portion	24,943	18,450
Due to related parties	3,973	2,471
Total current liabilities	231,830	423,480
Non-current liabilities:		-)
Long-term debt, net of current portion	137,197	242,913
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion	45,088	48,354
Finance lease liabilities, net of current portion	25,102	26,237
Notes payable - related party, net of current portion	14,667	2,871
Redeemable non-controlling interests, net of current portion		9,973
Other liabilities	2,655	5,205
	_,	-,00

Total non-current liabilities	229,612	335,553
Total liabilities	461,442	759,033
Commitments and contingencies (see Footnote 11)		
Partners' capital:		
Partners' capital attributable to the Partnership	343,165	308,865
Non-controlling interests	154,193	131,074
Total partners' capital	497,358	439,939
Total liabilities and partners' capital	\$ 958,800	\$ 1,198,972

Condensed Consolidated	3 Mont	ths Ended	9 Months Ended		
Statements of Operations - USD (\$) \$ in Thousands	Sep. 30, 2021	Sep. 30, 2020	Sep. 30, 2021	Sep. 30, 2020	
Revenues:					
Total revenues	\$ 519,804	\$ 713,489	\$ 1,628,942	\$ 1,826,014	
Costs of sales:					
Total cost of sales	415,447	593,146	1,331,024	1,535,047	
Gross profit	104,357	120,343	297,918	290,967	
Operating expenses:					
Selling, general and administrative expenses	78,935	89,366	223,755	240,655	
Loss (gain) on sale of dealerships, property and equipmen	<mark>t.</mark> 281	4,299	(2,180)	4,273	
net		-			
Managerial assistance fee, related party	3,235	3,233	9,702	9,700	
Rent Expense	2,543	2,226	6,350	6,148	
Asset impairment	0	0	867	0	
Depreciation and amortization	2,584	2,994	7,854	8,110	
Total operating expenses	87,578	102,118	246,348	268,886	
Operating income	16,779	18,225	51,570	22,081	
Other income (expense):					
Floorplan interest	(614)	(1,920)	(2,772)	(9,385)	
Interest expense	(1,927)	(2,388)	(5,849)	(11,300)	
Interest expense to related parties	(744)	(1,195)	(2,208)	(4,738)	
Other income, primarily gain on forgiveness of debt	148	673	19,246	1,644	
Total other income (expense), net	(3,137)	(4,830)	8,417	(23,779)	
Net income (loss)	13,642	13,395	59,987	(1,698)	
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests	6,745	8,352	25,662	9,233	
Net income (loss) attributable to the Partnership	6,897	5,043	34,325	(10,931)	
New vehicle retail					
Revenues:					
<u>Total revenues</u>	244,159	368,116	823,145	935,038	
Costs of sales:					
Total cost of sales	213,851	340,470	742,435	877,507	
Used vehicle retail					
Revenues:					
Total revenues	165,812	209,088	482,784	531,866	
Costs of sales:					
Total cost of sales	151,456	190,707	443,958	492,884	
Used vehicle wholesale					
Revenues:					
Total revenues	26,859	28,949	77,765	72,816	
Costs of sales:					
Total cost of sales	23,946	26,832	68,853	69,606	
Service, body, and parts					

<u>Revenues:</u>				
Total revenues	61,635	80,574	177,416	213,136
Costs of sales:				
Total cost of sales	26,194	35,137	75,778	95,050
Finance and insurance				
Revenues:				
Total revenues	\$ 21,339	\$ 26,762	\$ 67,832	\$ 73,158

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Partners Capital - USD (\$) \$ in Thousands	GPB Auto SLP, LLC	Class A Limited Partners	Class A-1 Limited Partners	Class B Limited Partners	Class B-1 Limited Partners	Intorosta	Non- Controlling Interests	g Total
Partners' capital, Beginning balance at Dec. 31, 2019	\$0	\$ 188,951	\$ 85,151	\$ 38,429	\$ 16,061	\$ 328,592	\$ 124,226	
Partners' capital Beginning		100,931						\$
balance at Dec. 31, 2019								ф 452,818
Partners' capital contributions	0						80	80
Unit issuance costs	0			(71)	(20)	(91)		(91)
Distributions	0						(3)	(3)
Net (loss) income	0	(6,805)	(3,039)	(1,368)	(548)	(11,760)	(450)	(12,210)
Partners' capital, Ending balance at Mar. 31, 2020	0	182,146	82,112	36,990	15,493	316,741	123,853	
Partners' capital Ending								
balance at Mar. 31, 2020								440,594
Partners' capital, Beginning	0	100 051	05 151	29 420	16.061	228 502	124 226	
balance at Dec. 31, 2019	0	188,951	83,131	38,429	16,061	328,592	124,226	
Partners' capital Beginning								452,818
balance at Dec. 31, 2019								210
<u>Unit issuance costs</u> Net (loss) income								319 (1,698)
Partners' capital, Ending								(1,098)
balance at Sep. 30, 2020	0	182,483	82,408	36,917	15,534	317,342	133,713	
Partners' capital Ending								451 055
balance at Sep. 30, 2020								451,055
Partners' capital, Beginning	0	182,146	82.112	36,990	15,493	316,741	123,853	
balance at Mar. 31, 2020	0	102,110	02,112	50,770	10,195	510,711	125,055	
Partners' capital Beginning								440,594
balance at Mar. 31, 2020 Partners' capital contributions	0						84	84
<u>Unit issuance costs</u>	0			(88)	(36)	(124)	04	(124)
Net (loss) income	0	(2,469)	(1,078)	(487)	(180)	(4,214)	1,331	(12.1) (2,883)
Partners' capital, Ending				. ,				
balance at Jun. 30, 2020	0	179,677	81,034	36,415	15,277	312,403	125,268	
Partners' capital Ending								437,671
balance at Jun. 30, 2020	0						o -	-
Partners' capital contributions	0			(70)	(2.4)	(104)	95	95
Unit issuance costs	0			(70)	(34)	(104)	(2)	(104)
Distributions Net (loss) income	0 0	2,806	1,374	572	291	5,043	(2) 8,352	(2) 13,395
Partners' capital, Ending						-		15,575
balance at Sep. 30, 2020	0	182,483	82,408	36,917	15,534	317,342	133,713	
Partners' capital Ending								151 055
balance at Sep. 30, 2020								451,055

Partners' capital, Beginning balance at Dec. 31, 2020	0	177,570	80,294	35,883	15,118	308,865	131,074	308,865
Partners' capital Beginning balance at Dec. 31, 2020								439,939
Partners' capital contributions	0						98	98
Unit issuance costs	0			(16)	(9)	(25)		(25)
Net (loss) income	0	3,064	1,497	1,026	(91)	5,496	7,519	13,015
Partners' capital, Ending balance at Mar. 31, 2021	0	180,634	81,791	36,893	15,018	314,336	138,691	
Partners' capital Ending								
balance at Mar. 31, 2021								453,027
Partners' capital, Beginning balance at Dec. 31, 2020	0	177,570	80,294	35,883	15,118	308,865	131,074	308,865
Partners' capital Beginning balance at Dec. 31, 2020								439,939
Unit issuance costs								25
Net (loss) income								59,987
Partners' capital, Ending balance at Sep. 30, 2021	0	197,152	89,282	40,284	16,447	343,165	154,193	343,165
Partners' capital Ending								407 250
balance at Sep. 30, 2021								497,358
Partners' capital, Beginning balance at Mar. 31, 2021	0	180,634	81,791	36,893	15,018	314,336	138,691	
Partners' capital Beginning								452 027
balance at Mar. 31, 2021								453,027
Partners' capital contributions	0						130	130
Distributions	0						(36)	(36)
Net (loss) income	0	12,521	5,759	2,578	1,074	21,932	11,398	33,330
Partners' capital, Ending balance at Jun. 30, 2021	0	193,155	87,550	39,471	16,092	336,268	150,183	
Partners' capital Ending								486,451
balance at Jun. 30, 2021								480,431
Partners' capital contributions	0						114	114
Distributions	0						(2,849)	(2,849)
Net (loss) income	0	3,997	1,732	813	355	6,897	6,745	13,642
Partners' capital, Ending	\$0	\$	\$ 89.282	\$ 40.284	\$ 16.447	\$ 343,165	\$ 154,193	343,165
balance at Sep. 30, 2021	ΨV	197,152	\$ 0 7,2 02	\$ 10 <u>,</u> 201	<i>~</i> 10,117	<i>\$ 5 10,100</i>	÷ 10 19190	-
Partners' capital Ending								\$
balance at Sep. 30, 2021								497,358

Condensed Consolidated	9 Months Ended			
Statements of Cash Flows - USD (\$) \$ in Thousands	Sep. 30, 2021	Sep. 30, 2020		
Cash flows from operating activities:				
Net income (loss)	\$ 59,987	\$ (1,698)		
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating				
<u>activities:</u>				
Depreciation	6,369	6,598		
Amortization of right-of-use assets - finance	1,485	1,512		
Amortization of right-of-use assets - operating	3,693	3,500		
Amortization of capitalized guarantee costs in interest expense to related party	62	95		
Amortization of debt issuance costs in interest expense to related party	392	1,636		
Amortization of debt issuance costs in interest expense	1,418	1,075		
Asset impairment	867	0		
(Gain) loss on disposal of property and equipment, net	(3,877)	357		
Loss on disposal of dealerships, net	1,697	3,916		
(Decrease) increase in interest rate swap liability in interest expense	(526)	1,014		
Bad debt recovery, net	(709)	(105)		
Forgiveness of debt	(19,811)			
Other adjustments to reconcile net income (loss)	237	(113)		
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:				
Contracts in transit	20,624	16,762		
Receivables	17,261	(7,623)		
Due from related parties	73	2,828		
Inventories	135,485	205,119		
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	(7,260)	12,147		
Leased rental/service vehicles	1,708	2,438		
Other assets	(2,140)	549		
<u>Floorplan payable, trade, net</u>	(6,891)	(37,482)		
Accounts payable	(2,606)	26,115		
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities	11,081	(16,126)		
Payments on lease liabilities - operating	(3,443)	(3,268)		
Due to related parties	704	3,210		
Leased vehicle liability	(1,754)	(2,389)		
Redeemable non-controlling interests	1,115			
Other liabilities	806	(861)		
Net cash provided by operating activities	216,047	219,206		
Cash flows from investing activities:				
Purchase of property and equipment	(16,821)	(2,278)		
Proceeds from disposition of property and equipment	48,138	30,331		
Proceeds from disposition of dealerships	40,640	18,279		
(Payment) from note receivable from related party		(3,700)		
Net cash provided by investing activities	71,957	42,632		

Cash flows from financing activities:

Payments of floorplan debt, non-trade, net	(155,708)	(169,085)
Proceeds from long-term debt		33,148
Payments of long-term debt	(99,007)	(26,102)
Payments of finance lease liabilities	(1,175)	(1,029)
Payments of deferred financing costs	(2,190)	(782)
Payments of notes payable to related parties		(15,412)
Capital contributions from non-controlling interests	342	259
Capital contributions from redeemable non-controlling interests		3,700
Unit issuance costs	(25)	(319)
Distributions to partners and non-controlling interests	(2,885)	(5)
Distributions to mandatorily redeemable capital	(291)	
Net cash used in financing activities	(260,939)	(175,627)
Net increase in cash	27,065	86,211
Cash, beginning of period	135,412	67,686
Cash, end of period	162,477	153,897
Reconciliation of cash and restricted cash		
Cash	148,155	131,940
Restricted cash, current portion		7,500
Restricted cash, net of current portion	14,322	14,457
Total cash and restricted cash	162,477	153,897
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:		
Cash payments for interest	\$ 10,943	\$ 27,248

Organization, Basis of Presentation, and Liquidity Organization, Basis of Presentation, and Liquidity Organization, Basis of Presentation, and Liquidity

9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2021

1. Organization, Basis of Presentation, and Liquidity

Correction of an immaterial error for the three months ended March 31, 2020

During the financial statement preparation of the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, management identified a classification error between revenue and cost categories in its Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2020, previously reported in the Partnership's Form 10/A (as described below). The gross profit reported for the three months ended March 31, 2020, was unaffected. Management concluded that this classification error did not materially affect the previously reported consolidated financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2020. As a result, in accordance with ASC 250, "Accounting Changes and Error Corrections," a reclassification was recorded to correct the immaterial error and is reflected in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 presented herein. Effects of the reclassification are as follows:

(Dollars in thousands)	Mar	months ended ch 31, 2020 As nally Reported	(Increase) Decrease	 e months ended rch 31, 2020 As Adjusted
New vehicle retail sales	\$	288,025	\$ 6,522	\$ 281,503
Service, body, and parts sales		80,327	2,055	78,272
Finance and insurance				
sales		13,603	(7,387)	20,990
Total revenues		572,035	1,190	570,845
New vehicle retail cost		268,195	1,190	267,005
Total cost of sales		482,156	1,190	480,966
Gross profit		89,879		89,879

Organization

GPB Automotive Portfolio, LP (the "Partnership", "we", or "our") is a holding company which was organized as a Delaware limited partnership on May 27, 2013 and commenced operations on that date. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC ("General Partner", "Capital Holdings" or "GPB"), a Delaware limited liability company and registered investment adviser, is the Partnership's general partner pursuant to the terms of the Fifth Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement dated April 27, 2018 (as the same may be amended from time to time, the "LPA"). Pursuant to the LPA, GPB, through its affiliation with Highline Management, Inc., conducts and manages our business. The Partnership has no material assets or standalone operations other than its ownership in its consolidated subsidiaries.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements as of September 30, 2021, and for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP") for interim financial information and in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and notes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements. Additionally, operating results for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results that can be expected for a full year.

The unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements herein should be read in conjunction with our audited Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto included in Amendment No. 3 to the Form 10 filed with the SEC on September 9, 2021 (the "Form 10/A").

Principles of Consolidation

The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Partnership and its subsidiaries in which we have a controlling interest. Upon consolidation, all intercompany accounts, transactions, and profits are eliminated. The Partnership has a controlling interest when it owns a majority of the voting interest in an entity or when it is the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity ("VIE"). When determining which enterprise is the primary beneficiary, management considers (i) the entity's purpose and design, (ii) which variable interest holder has the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the entity's economic performance, and (iii) the obligation to absorb losses of the entity or the right to receive benefits from the entity that could potentially be significant

to the VIE. When certain events occur, the Partnership reconsiders whether it is the primary beneficiary of that VIE. A VIE is an entity in which the equity investment holders have not contributed sufficient capital to finance its activities or the equity investment holders do not have defined rights and obligations normally associated with an equity investment.

Nature of Business

The Partnership's principal business is the retail sale of automobiles in the northeast United States. The Partnership offers a diversified range of automotive products and services, including new vehicles, used vehicles, parts and service and automotive finance and insurance products, which include vehicle service and other protection products, as well as the arranging of financing for vehicle purchases through third party finance sources.

Recent Events

Pending sale of the business

On September 12, 2021, GPB Portfolio Automotive, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, Capstone Automotive Group, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, Automile Parent Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and Automile TY Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, which are direct or indirect subsidiaries of the Partnership, (the "Selling Entities") entered into a Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") with Group 1 Automotive, Inc., (the "Purchaser"). The Selling Entities agreed to sell substantially all of the assets of the Selling Entities, including, but not limited to the Selling Entities' real property, vehicles, parts and accessories, goodwill, permits, intellectual property and substantially all contracts, that relate to their automotive dealership and collision center businesses, and excluding certain assets such as cash and certain receivables (collectively, the "Transaction") for a cash purchase price of approximately \$880.0 million, subject to certain customary adjustments described in the Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Price").

At the closing of the Transaction, \$45.0 million of the Purchase Price will be deposited into escrow as a contingent reserve to be used, if necessary, to compensate the Purchaser for any post-closing indemnifiable losses pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement, with 50% to be released to the Selling Entities 12 months after the closing of the Transaction and the remainder to be released to the Selling Entities 24 months after the closing of the Transaction, subject to pending claims, if any.

The closing of the sale is expected to be substantially completed by year-end, and is subject to various closing conditions, such as receipt of approval or expiration of the waiting period required by the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and the approval of the court-appointed monitor overseeing GPB. The closing of the Transaction is not conditioned upon the Purchaser's ability to obtain financing. The Purchase Agreement also contains certain

termination rights of the Purchaser and the Sellers. As of the date of this filing, the Monitor has approved the Transaction, and the requisite waiting period of the HSR Act has expired.

The completion of the pending sale of the business may have an impact on several of the legal matters disclosed. See "Footnote 11. Commitments and Contingencies".

Federal Matters

On February 4, 2021, the SEC filed a contested civil proceeding against GPB; Ascendant Capital, LLC ("Ascendant"), GPB's placement agent for the investments in question; Ascendant Alternative Strategies ("AAS"), which marketed the investments in question; David Gentile, the founder, owner and Chief Executive Officer of GPB; Jeffry Schneider, owner and CEO of Ascendant; and Jeffrey Lash, former managing partner of GPB, in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York (the "EDNY Court" and the "SEC Action"). No GPB-managed Partnership was sued. The SEC Action alleges several violations of the federal securities laws, including securities fraud. The SEC is seeking disgorgement and civil monetary penalties, among other remedies.

Also, on February 4, 2021, the United States Attorney's Office for the Eastern District of New York (the "USAO") brought a criminal indictment against Mr. Gentile, Mr. Schneider, and Mr. Lash. The indictment in the criminal case alleges conspiracy to commit securities fraud, conspiracy to commit wire fraud, and securities fraud against all three individuals. Mr. Gentile and Mr. Lash were also charged with two counts of wire fraud. The USAO intends to seek criminal forfeiture. Mr. Gentile resigned from all management and board

positions with GPB, the GPB-managed funds, including the Partnership, and subsidiaries of the Partnership, promptly following his indictment.

State Matters

On May 27, 2020, the Massachusetts Securities Division of the Office of the Secretary of the Commonwealth ("Massachusetts") filed an Administrative Complaint against GPB for alleged violations of the Massachusetts Uniform Securities Act. No GPB-managed fund is a named defendant. The Complaint alleges, among other things, that the offering documents for several GPB-managed funds, including the Partnership, included material misstatements or omissions. Massachusetts is seeking both monetary and administrative relief, including disgorgement and rescission to Massachusetts residents who purchased the GPB-managed funds. This matter is currently stayed, pending resolution of the Criminal Case.

On February 4, 2021, seven State securities regulators (from Alabama, Georgia, Illinois, Missouri, New Jersey, New York, and South Carolina, collectively the "States") each filed suit against GPB. No GPB-managed fund is a named defendant in any of the suits. Several of the suits also named Ascendant, AAS, Mr. Gentile, Mr. Schneider, and Mr. Lash as defendants. The States' lawsuits allege, among other things, that the offering documents for several GPB-managed funds, including the Partnership, included material misstatements and omissions. The States are seeking both monetary and administrative relief, including disgorgement and rescission. The cases brought by Alabama, Georgia, Illinois, Missouri, New York, and South Carolina have been stayed pending the conclusion of the related Criminal Case. The State of New Jersey has voluntarily dismissed its case, without prejudice to re-file it following the conclusion of the Criminal Case.

Appointment of Monitor

On February 11, 2021, the EDNY Court in the SEC Action appointed Joseph T. Gardemal III as an independent monitor over GPB (the "Monitor") (the "Order") until further Order of the Court. Pursuant to the Order, Capital Holdings shall (i) grant the Monitor access to all non-privileged books, records and account statements for the GPB-managed Funds, including the Partnership, as well as their portfolio companies; and (ii) cooperate fully with requests by the Monitor reasonably calculated to fulfill the Monitor's duties. As noted below, the Order was amended on April 14, 2021

The Monitor is required to assess the Partnership's operations and business, and make recommendations to the EDNY Court, which may include continuation of GPB's operations subject to the Monitorship, a liquidation of assets, or filing for reorganization in bankruptcy. The Order provides that the Monitor will remain in place until terminated by order of the EDNY Court, and grants the Monitor the authority to approve or disapprove proposed material corporate transactions by GPB, the Partnership or its subsidiaries, extensions of credit by them outside the ordinary course of business, decisions to resume distributions to the limited partners of the Partnership, or any decision to file any bankruptcy or receiver petition for any of them, among other actions. The Monitor is not required to approve the issuance of these consolidated financial statements nor has management sought or obtained approval from the Monitor.

On April 14, 2021, the EDNY Court entered an Amended Order, providing that, in addition to the SEC and GPB, certain State regulators will receive access to the periodic reports filed by the Monitor pursuant to the Order. See "Footnote 11. Commitments and Contingencies" for more information on the appointment of the Monitor.

Liquidity

The accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. Accordingly, the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability of assets and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Partnership be unable to continue as a going concern.

Upon issuance of the Partnership's most recent audited financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, Management had determined that the following factors existed that raised substantial doubt about the Partnership's ability to continue as a going concern:

• As of December 31, 2020, the Partnership and its subsidiaries had total cash and restricted cash of \$135.4 million, of which \$3.5 million was held directly by and available to satisfy general obligations of the Partnership. Included in total cash on hand was \$26.9 million held by certain subsidiaries of the Partnership that was available for use and upstreaming without restriction. The balance of \$105.0 million was held by GPB Prime Holdings, LLC ("GPB Prime"), (the Partnership's largest subsidiary) and was restricted to use and upstreaming to the Partnership pursuant to restrictions imposed by its lender. At December 31, 2020, obligations of the Partnership and its subsidiaries, excluding GPB Prime, due within one year exceeded its available cash on hand.

• The Partnership relies on its ability to upstream funds from its operating subsidiaries to meet its obligations in the normal course of business and also to allocate to other subsidiaries in need. The Partnership and GPB Prime are party to financing agreements with M&T Bank as part of an eight-member credit syndication (the M&T Credit Agreement). Borrowings under the M&T Credit Agreement are available for the purposes of financing the purchase of new, used and loaner vehicles, and for providing operational liquidity in the form of mortgages and term debt. Amendments to the M&T Credit Agreement dated September 21, 2018 and June 14, 2019 restricted GPB Prime's ability to pay distributions, make additional requests for delayed draw loans, make any additional acquisitions (other than those already in process at that date) greater than \$2.0 million, or to make any distribution to the Partnership as well as pay any put, redemption, or equity recapture options or agreements to any person. Our ability to meet our obligations over the shorter and longer term is dependent upon freeing up the restrictions that currently do not allow the upstreaming of funds from certain of our operating subsidiaries and negotiating extensions or replacement of our subsidiaries' financing arrangements.

• GPB Prime's M&T Credit Agreement was set to expire and become fully due and payable in February 2022.

The M&T Credit Agreement was Amended and Restated (Eleventh Amendment) on June 24, 2021. This Eleventh Amendment alleviated the conditions which previously caused management

to conclude that substantial doubt existed about the Partnership's ability to continue as a going concern. Specifically, the Eleventh Amendment provides for the following amended terms:

• The Partnership is entitled to a distribution of up to approximately \$10.0 million previously restricted cash held at GPB Prime. As of September 30, 2021, \$5.7 million of the \$10.0 million was distributed to and held by the Partnership and is available to satisfy its general obligations.

• The maturity date of the M&T Credit Agreement was extended from February 24, 2022 until December 31, 2022.

Based on these amended terms, and the improved liquidity they provide the Partnership, Management concludes that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its financial obligations for the period of at least 12 months from November 15, 2021 (management's assessment date), and therefore further concludes that there is no longer substantial doubt about the Partnership's ability to continue as a going concern. See also "Footnote 11. Commitments and Contingencies" for discussion of the role of the Monitor with respect to the Partnership's use of cash as well as indemnification obligations to GPB.

Significant Accounting Policies

Significant Accounting Policies Significant Accounting Policies

9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2021

2. Significant Accounting Policies

The significant accounting policies used in preparation of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are disclosed in our annual consolidated financial statements included in the Form 10/A, and there have been no changes to the Partnership's significant accounting policies during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021.

PPP Loan Forgiveness

In 2020, the Partnership's subsidiaries entered into Paycheck Protection Program loans ("PPP Loans"), for a total initial amount of \$20.0 million across 30 loans. Interest accrues at 1% per annum. Per H.R. 7010, the Paycheck Protection Program Flexibility Act of 2020, all payment of principal, interest, and fees is deferred until the date on which the amount of loan forgiveness, as determined by the SBA, is

remitted to the lender. Twenty-nine loans have been approved for forgiveness in whole or in part. For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, \$0.5 million and nil, respectively, was forgiven and is included in other (expense) income on the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, \$19.8 million and nil, respectively, was forgiven and is included in other (expense) income on the Condensed Consolidated Statement Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Risks and Uncertainties

We are subject to a number of legal proceedings at both the Partnership and dealerships, as described in "Footnote 11. Commitments and Contingencies." While we are vigorously defending our position in these proceedings, there is uncertainty surrounding their related outcomes and timing. The cost to defend and the outcomes of these proceedings could affect the liquidity of the Partnership and the use of available cash, and the assessment of our ability to continue as a going concern.

We purchase substantially all of our new vehicles and inventory from various manufacturers at the prevailing prices charged by auto manufacturers to all franchised dealers. Our new vehicle sales could be impacted by the auto manufacturers' inability or unwillingness to supply dealerships with an adequate supply of popular models. Our concentration of new vehicle sales has not materially changed from the percentages reported for the year ended December 31, 2020.

We depend on our manufacturers to provide a supply of vehicles which supports expected sales levels. In the event that manufacturers are unable to supply the needed level of vehicles, our financial performance may be adversely impacted.

We depend on our manufacturers to deliver high-quality, defect-free vehicles. In the event that manufacturers experience future quality issues, our financial performance may be adversely impacted.

We are subject to a concentration of risk in the event of financial distress, including potential reorganization or bankruptcy, of a major vehicle manufacturer. Our sales volume could be materially adversely impacted by the manufacturers' or distributors' inability to supply the dealerships with an adequate supply of vehicles. We also receive incentives and rebates from our manufacturers, including cash allowances, financing programs, discounts, holdbacks, and other incentives. These incentives are recorded as receivables in our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets until payment is received. Our financial condition could be materially adversely impacted

by the manufacturers' or distributors' inability to continue to offer these incentives and rebates at substantially similar terms, or to pay our outstanding receivables.

The Partnership and GPB Prime are party to financing agreements with M&T Bank as part of an eight-member credit syndication, including three manufacturer-affiliated finance companies (the M&T Credit Agreement). These financial institutions provide vehicle financing for new and used vehicles, term loans, mortgage loans and a delayed draw facility. The M&T Credit Agreement is the primary source of floor plan financing for our new and used vehicle inventory for GPB Prime. The Partnership also relies on its ability to upstream funds from GPB Prime and its other operating subsidiaries to meet its obligations in the normal course of business and also to allocate to other subsidiaries in need.

The term of the M&T Credit Agreement was extended on June 24, 2021 through December 2022 (see also "Footnote 1. Organization, Basis of Presentation, and Liquidity" to these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements), in conjunction with the Eleventh Amendment. Our financial condition could be materially adversely impacted if we are unable to extend or renew the M&T Credit Agreement or reach agreements with other third party lenders to meet some or all of our liquidity needs on terms and conditions that are acceptable to us. Because the term of the M&T Credit Agreement extends beyond the going concern assessment's look-forward period, it alone does not raise substantial doubt about the Partnership's ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, absent any other condition or event, substantial doubt is not raised because it is not probable we will be unable to meet our obligations during the look-forward period. Additionally, our financial condition could be materially adversely impacted if we fail to comply with our contractual covenants. Our lenders could terminate or adversely modify our financing arrangements which could cause us to sell one of our dealerships or group of dealerships below what we perceive to be fair value in an effort to access capital. There can be no assurances that the Partnership and/or GPB Prime will be able to obtain sufficient additional liquidity or renew its debt on terms acceptable to them or us.

We enter into Franchise Agreements with the manufacturers. The Franchise Agreements generally limit the location of the dealership and provide the auto manufacturer approval rights over changes in dealership management and ownership. The auto manufacturers are also entitled to terminate the Franchise Agreement if the dealership is in material breach of the terms. Our ability to expand operations depends, in part, on obtaining consents of the manufacturers for the acquisition of additional dealerships.

We are currently party to litigation with two manufacturers arising from the termination of the former Chief Operating Officer ("Former CEO of Automile") (David Rosenberg) of Automile Parent Holdings, LLC, a dealership group acquired in 2017 with a concentration in the northeastern United States, and have resolved a dispute with a third manufacturer arising from the same termination by divesting two dealerships selling such manufacturer's vehicles and resolved a dispute with a fourth manufacturer by divesting one dealership selling such manufacturer's vehicles. Following the developments on February 4, 2021, including the indictment of the owner and former officer of GPB, the filing by the SEC and other government agencies of litigations against GPB, and the appointment of the Monitor, we received additional termination notices from a manufacturer representing two existing dealerships and two planned new dealerships subject to letters of intent, which were settled and these termination notices were withdrawn. If termination notices are issued by any manufacturer and are not resolved, it could lead to litigation between the affected dealerships and those manufacturers in which our dealerships would protest the terminations under state law. If, as a result of any termination notices, we are required to sell one of our dealerships or group of dealerships, we may be unable to realize what we perceive to be fair value or may be required to dispose of dealerships at depressed prices. The loss of franchise rights due to terminations could also lead to lenders terminating or adversely modifying our financing arrangements, other vendors terminating or adversely modifying business relationships, loss of employees and other adverse results, including on our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and business operations.

The Monitor is required to assess certain aspects of the Partnership's operations and make recommendations to the Court which may include continuation or expansion of the Monitorship, conversion of the Monitorship to a Receivership, and/or filing a bankruptcy petition. The Monitor's initial recommendation and report was filed with the court on April 12, 2021, and the Monitor recommended the monitorship continue for 180 days. On April 12, 2021, the court entered an amended order providing that the Monitor will remain in place until terminated by order of the court, and granting the Monitor the authority to approve or disapprove proposed extensions of credit outside the ordinary course of business, decisions to resume distributions to the limited partners of the Partnership, or any decision to file any bankruptcy or receiver petition for any of them, among other actions, by GPB, the Partnership or its subsidiaries.

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a "Public Health Emergency of International Concern." The outbreak of COVID-19 has contributed to, and will likely continue to contribute to, volatility in financial markets, including changes in interest rates. Additionally, COVID-19 has posed significant challenges for supply chains globally, affecting automobile inventory shortages in both the new and used markets. COVID-19 and other outbreaks like it have negative impacts on economic fundamentals and consumer confidence, may increase the risk of default of particular dealerships, reduce the availability of debt financing to the Partnership, and potential purchasers of dealerships, negatively impact market values, cause credit spreads to widen, and impair liquidity and capital resources. While the Partnership's operations have rebounded from the 2020 COVID-19 related dealership shutdowns with an increase in revenue and gross profit for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, no assurance can be given as to the effect of these COVID-19 related events on the value of the Partnership's investments in the future. The impact of a public health crisis such as COVID-19 (or any future pandemic, epidemic or other outbreak of a contagious disease) is difficult to predict, which presents material uncertainty and risk with respect to the long-term performance of the Partnership.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2021

3. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2020-04, "Reference Rate Reform" (Topic 848): The ASU provides optional expedients and exceptions for companies that have contracts, hedging relationships and other transactions that reference LIBOR or other reference rates expected to be discontinued because of reference rate reform. The optional expedients and exceptions apply during the transition period and are intended to ease the financial reporting burdens mainly related to contract modification accounting, hedge accounting and lease accounting. The transition period is effective as of March 12, 2020 and will apply through December 31, 2022. LIBOR is used as an interest rate "benchmark" in the majority of the Partnership's floorplan notes payable, as well as its mortgages, other debt and lease contracts. Additionally, the Partnership's derivative instruments are benchmarked to LIBOR. The Partnership is currently working with its lenders to determine the impact of the discontinuation of LIBOR on the Partnership's Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Dispositions

Dispositions Dispositions

9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2021

4. Dispositions

See Pending Dispositions in "Footnote 1. Organization, Basis of Presentation, and Liquidity" for more information on a material pending disposition.

In April 2021, GPB Prime sold the Prime Chevrolet Hyannis and Prime Subaru Hyannis dealerships to a third-party. The Partnership received net proceeds of \$6.6 million, and recognized a net loss on disposal of the dealership of \$0.6 million recorded in gain on sale of dealerships, property and equipment, net in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2021. The proceeds relating to this disposition were used to pay down debt.

In March 2021, GPB Prime sold Prime Toyota Boston to a third-party. The Partnership received net proceeds of \$10.3 million, and recognized a net loss on disposal of the dealership of \$0.4 million recorded in loss (gain) on sale of dealerships, property and equipment, net in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for nine months ended September 30, 2021. The proceeds relating to this disposition were used to pay down debt.

In March 2021, GPB Prime sold Hyannis Toyota and Orleans Toyota dealerships and the related real estate to a third-party. The Partnership received net proceeds of \$23.8 million and \$16.6 million, respectively, and recognized a net loss on disposal of the dealership of \$0.7 million and a net gain on disposal of related real estate of \$1.4 million, respectively, recorded in loss (gain) on sale of dealerships, property and equipment, net in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2021. The proceeds relating to this disposition were used to pay down debt.

In September 2020, Capstone Automotive Group, LLC, a holding company subsidiary of the Partnership ("Capstone"), sold all of the remaining FX Caprara dealerships and the related real estate to a third-party. The Partnership received net proceeds of \$1.6 million and \$5.6 million, respectively, and recognized a net loss on disposal of the dealership and related real estate of \$0.8 million and \$0.8 million, respectively, recorded in loss (gain) on sale of dealerships, property and equipment in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2020.

In September 2020, Capstone sold four of the Kenny Ross Auto Group ("KRAG") dealerships and the related real estate to a third-party. The Partnership received net proceeds of \$16.7 million and the related real estate for net proceeds of \$23.6 million, respectively, and recognized a net loss on disposal of the dealership and related real estate of \$2.3 million and \$0.3 million, respectively, recorded in loss (gain) on sale of dealerships, property and equipment in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2020.

All of the dispositions that have closed during the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were in the ordinary course of business within the mandate for the automotive strategy outlined in the Private Placement Memorandum ("PPM"), and thus were not considered a strategic shift in the Partnership's operation and as such, are not considered discontinued operations.

Receivables, Net

9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2021

Receivables, Net

Receivables, Net

5. Receivables, Net

Receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts, consisted of the following:

September 30,		De	cember 31,	
	2021	2020		
\$	9,986	\$	22,633	
	6,918		9,682	
	3,618		5,866	
	20,522		38,181	
	(633)		(1,740)	
\$	19,889	\$	36,441	
	\$	2021 \$ 9,986 6,918 3,618 20,522 (633)	\$ 9,986 \$ 6,918 3,618 20,522 (633)	

Inventories

9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2021

Inventories

Inventories

6. Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following:

	Sep	otember 30,	December 31,
(Dollars in thousands)		2021	2020
Inventories			
New vehicles	\$	35,109	\$ 167,018
Used vehicles		59,215	61,344
Parts and accessories		12,922	10,115
Rental/service loaner vehicles, net		21,649	21,639
Total inventories, net	\$	128,895	\$ 260,116

As of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, nil and \$21.8 million, respectively, of inventory was re-classified into assets held for sale. See "Footnote 9. Assets Held for Sale".

Property and Equipment

9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2021

Property and Equipment

Property and Equipment

7. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

Sej	<u> </u>	De	ecember 31, 2020
	2021		2020
\$	110,275	\$	121,106
	124,556		145,918
	5,196		7,605
	28,900		27,515
	268,927		302,144
	(26,926)		(24,331)
	242,001		277,813
	(3,396)		(29,200)
\$	238,605	\$	248,613
	<u>Se</u>	124,556 5,196 28,900 268,927 (26,926) 242,001 (3,396)	$\begin{array}{c c} \hline 2021 \\ \hline 2021 \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ 2021 \\ \hline \\ 2021 \\ \hline \\ 2021 \\ \hline \\ \hline 2021 \\ \hline \\ 2021 \\ \hline \\ 20$

In May 2021, GPB Prime, sold a parcel of land relating to the Prime Toyota Boston, to a thirdparty. The Partnership received net proceeds of \$16.1 million, and recognized a net gain on disposal of the real estate of \$4.0 million recorded in loss (gain) on sale of dealerships, property and equipment, net in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations. The proceeds relating to this disposition were used to pay down debt.

In April 2021, the Partnership, sold the remaining KRAG related real estate to a third-party. The Partnership received net proceeds of \$11.8 million, and recognized a net loss on disposal of the real estate of \$0.5 million recorded in loss (gain) on sale of dealerships, property and equipment, net in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations. The proceeds relating to this disposition were used to pay down debt.

In March 2021, the Partnership sold a vacant parcel of real estate for net proceeds of \$2.9 million and a net loss of \$0.1 million recorded in loss (gain) on sale of dealerships, property and equipment, net in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations. The proceeds were used in part to repay all outstanding debt relating to real estate.

Goodwill and Franchise
Rights9 Months Ended
Sep. 30, 2021Goodwill and Franchise
RightsGoodwill and Franchise RightsGoodwill and Franchise Rights

The carrying values of goodwill and franchise rights were \$142.1 million and \$126.1 million, respectively as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, there were no triggering events that would require an interim impairment test to be performed and as such no impairment charges were recorded to the carrying values.

Assets Held for Sale

Assets Held for Sale

Assets Held for Sale

9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2021

9. Assets Held for Sale

During the nine months ended September 30, 2021, GPB's Acquisition Committee committed to a plan to dispose of two properties, KRAG related real estate and 750 Bridgeport Ave. As part of the required evaluation under the held for sale guidance, the Partnership determined that the approximate fair value less costs to sell the property did not exceed the net assets.

For the three months ended September 30, 2021 there were no additional plans to dispose of assets that met the criteria to be classified as assets held for sale. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, property and equipment re-classified to assets held for sale was impaired by nil and \$0.9 million, respectively, to adjust to fair value which has been recorded as a component of asset impairment on the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, there was no impairment recorded for the Partnership.

As of September 30, 2021, a parcel of real estate, 750 Bridgeport Ave, remained in assets held for sale on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The following table reconciles the major classes of assets classified as held for sale as part of continuing operations as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets:

	September 30,		December 3	
(Dollars in thousands)		2021		2020
Assets held for sale				
Inventories	\$		\$	21,780
Franchise rights				23,720
Goodwill				17,559
Property and equipment		3,396		29,200
Right of use assets				2,273
Total assets held for sale	\$	3,396	\$	94,532
Liabilities held for sale				
Operating lease liabilities	\$	<u> </u>	\$	(2,340)

Related Party Transactions

9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2021

Related Party Transactions Related Party Transactions

10. Related Party Transactions

FEES AND EXPENSES

The Partnership has incurred the following fees and expenses:

Managerial Assistance Fee

Per the LPA and PPM, GPB is entitled to receive an annualized managerial assistance fee (the "Managerial Assistance Fee"), for providing managerial assistance services to the Partnership and the dealerships. Those services include the identification, management and disposition of underlying portfolio companies and/or dealerships, and other duties assumed and stated under the LPA. The Managerial Assistance Fee does not include expenses related to in-house services and operations support services provided to the Partnership or its operating companies. Such expenses are in addition to, and not in lieu of, the Managerial Assistance Fee. The Managerial Assistance Fee is payable by the Partnership quarterly in advance at 2.0% per annum for Class A and B Units and 1.75% per annum for Class A-1 and B-1 Units calculated on each Limited Partners' Gross Capital Contributions. GPB, in its sole discretion, may defer, reduce or waive all or a portion of the Managerial Assistance Fee with respect to one or more Limited Partners for any period of time (and intends to waive the Managerial Assistance Fee with respect to the Special LP, as defined below, and its affiliates that invest in the Partnership). Managerial Assistance Fees charged to expense and included in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were \$3.2 million and \$3.2 million, respectively. Managerial Assistance Fees charged to expense and included in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were \$9.7 million and \$9.7 million, respectively.

Partnership Expenses

The Partnership pays its own operating expenses. GPB is responsible for its or its affiliates' general and administrative costs and expenses and its day-to-day overhead expenses of managing the Partnership and is not entitled to be reimbursed by the Partnership for such expenses other than for the portion of the total compensation of GPB's or its affiliates (including holding companies) officers and employees relating to the time such officers or employees provide In-House services or Operations Support Services to the Partnership or its dealerships. Such expenses are in addition to, and not in lieu of, the Managerial Assistance Fee. "In-House services" include but are not limited to accounting, legal, compliance, information technology, human resources, and operational and management services to the Partnership or the dealerships. Operations Support Services include but are not limited to operational support and consulting services and similar services to, or in connection with, the identification, acquisition, holding and improvement of the dealerships. In addition, GPB pays expenses on the Partnership's behalf when operationally feasible and obtains reimbursement. Partnership expenses included as a component of selling, general and administrative expenses in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were \$2.8 million and \$0.3 million, respectively. Partnership expenses included as a component of selling, general and administrative expenses in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were \$5.5 million and \$1.6 million, respectively. The balance associated with Partnership expenses payable was \$1.2 million and \$0.7 million as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively, and was included as a component of due to related parties in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

TRANSACTIONS WITH FORMER MEMBERS AND MANAGER

In 2014, the Partnership entered into an agreement with Patrick Dibre ("Former Manager"), who at the time was a manager and 15% interest holder of one of the operating subsidiaries of the Partnership and one of the operating subsidiaries of GPB Holdings, LP, another GPB-managed partnership. The Partnership advanced the Former Manager, in the form of a convertible loan, \$10.8 million towards the Partnership's purchase of a dealership owned by the Former Manager.

On December 9, 2015, the purchase agreement with the Former Manager was amended to provide that the target dealership pay an annual interest rate of 8% from December 9, 2015, through the date of the dealership's sale to the Partnership. Prior to December 9, 2015, the dealership paid the Partnership its net cash flows pursuant to the terms of the agreement.

On November 14, 2016, the purchase agreement with the Former Manager was amended to, among other things, 1) terminate the convertible loan and convert the original principal amount into a deposit, 2) change the initial target dealership to a new target dealership, Honda of Aventura ("HOA") that was to be acquired by the Partnership, 3) provide the acquisition price and terms for HOA, and 4) provide that the Former Manager would surrender all of his membership interests in the GPB entities noted above effective immediately.

This arrangement is currently the subject of ongoing litigation, see "Footnote 11. Commitments and Contingencies." As part of the legal proceedings, the Partnership has charged legal expenses included as a component of selling, general and administrative expenses on the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 of \$0.0 million and \$0.0 million, respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Partnership has charged legal expenses included as a component of selling, general and administrative expenses on the Condensed Statement of Operations of \$0.0 million and \$0.1 million, respectively. These expenses were paid for by GPB on behalf of the Partnership and the unpaid reimbursement was recorded as a component of due to related parties on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 for \$0.8 million and \$0.7 million, respectively.

NOTES PAYABLE TO RELATED PARTIES

In October 2015, the Partnership entered into a loan agreement with GPB Borrower LLC, an affiliate of the General Partner, and received proceeds in the form of a loan of \$12.0 million, maturing in October 2019. The loan accrued interest and was paid monthly in arrears at 13.5% per annum. In August 2016, the note was restructured and certain incremental procurement costs incurred at the loan's inception were added to the existing principal, increasing the principal balance to \$15.4 million ("AISF Note 1"). As part of the restructuring, AISF Note 1 was assigned by GPB Borrower LLC to an affiliate of the Partnership, GPB Automotive Income Sub-Fund, Ltd. ("GPB AISF"). GPB AISF is an offshore financing facility formed primarily for the benefit of the Partnership.

The increase in principal of \$3.4 million represented the incremental procurement costs directly related to the issuance of the note and was classified as debt issuance costs on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. These costs, along with the change in interest rate, were accounted for as a modification to the existing debt with no gain or loss recognized. It was subsequently determined that the actual debt issuance costs on AISF Note 1 totaled \$2.1 million. The difference was applied to AISF Note 2 (defined below) and a note issued to HA (defined below) for which the debt issuance costs relate. The \$2.1 million was capitalized as debt issuance costs and is being amortized over the four-year life of the note using the effective interest rate method.

In 2016, the Partnership entered into three loan agreements ("AISF Note 2, AISF Note 3, and AISF Note 4") with GPB AISF for a total of \$18.0 million and incurred debt issuance costs of \$2.9 million. In 2017, the Partnership entered into two loan agreements ("AISF Note 5 and AISF Note 6") with GPB AISF for a total of \$11.8 million and incurred debt issuance costs of \$2.0 million. In 2019, the Partnership entered into one loan agreement ("AISF Note 7") with GPB AISF for \$3.3 million and incurred debt issuance costs of \$0.6 million.

Each AISF note matures four years from the issuance date, and accrues interest at 8.75% per annum, payable monthly in arrears. In July 2021, AISF Note 5 and AISF Note 6 were amended to increase the interest rate to 12.5% and to extend the maturity date to December 2022. Interest expense relating to these loans reflected as a component of interest expense to related parties on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 was \$0.4 million and \$0.9 million, respectively. Interest expense relating to these loans reflected as a component of interest expense to related parties on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 was \$1.1 million and \$3.1 million, respectively. The amortization of the capitalized debt issuance costs reflected as a component of interest expense to related parties in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 was \$0.0 million and \$0.5 million, respectively. The amortization of the capitalized debt issuance costs reflected as a component of interest expense to related parties in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 was \$0.4 million and \$1.6 million, respectively. The balance of accrued interest associated with these loans was \$0.1 million and \$0.1 million as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively, and was included as a component of due to related parties in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

AISF Note 1 matured in August 2020 and was repaid in full in September 2020. AISF Note 2 and AISF Note 3 matured in September 2020 and October 2020, respectively, and both were repaid in full in October 2020. AISF Note 4 was repaid in full by the

Partnership prior to maturity in October 2020. AISF Note 5, AISF Note 6, and AISF Note 7 entered into default in 2021. In August 2021, a waiver for the event of default was issued and the interest payments have been deferred until December 2022 for AISF Note 5, AISF Note 6, and AISF Note 7.

In October 2017, a subsidiary of the Partnership entered into a loan agreement with GPB Holdings II, LP, another GPB-managed partnership, for \$0.7 million (the "DSR Note"). The loan bears interest at 12% annually, payable monthly in arrears. All outstanding principal and unpaid interest was originally due and payable on October 11, 2018, but was extended until June 30, 2019. As of December 31, 2019, the loan and accrued interest had not yet been repaid as a result of a repayment restriction pursuant to an amendment to a credit agreement dated June 14, 2019 (see Note 11). However, the loan continues to accrue interest at the stated rate. The outstanding note payable balance, including accrued interest, was \$1.0 million and \$0.9 million, as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively, which is included as a component of due to related parties in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Notes payable - related party consisted of the following:

(Dollars in thousands)			September 30,	December 31,
Note	Face Value	Maturity Date	2021	2020
AISF Note 5	6,556	12/31/2022	6,556	6,366
AISF Note 6	5,203	12/31/2022	5,126	5,039
AISF Note 7	3,272	4/24/2023	2,985	2,871
DSR Note	652	6/30/2019	962	903
Total			15,629	15,179
Less: current portion			962	(12,308)
Total Notes payable -				
related party, net of				
current portion			\$ 14,667	\$ 2,871

DUE FROM AFFILIATED COMPANIES

The Partnership incurred expenses for payroll and employee benefits, professional fees, consulting and outside services, and other services on behalf of affiliated entities. These expenses were initially paid by the Partnership and then charged on a pro-rata basis to each of the other limited partnerships managed by GPB, which operate dealerships. The Partnership had non-interestbearing receivables from these holding companies for allocated expenses of \$1.5 million and \$1.4 million on September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively, which are included as a component of due from related parties in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. The receivables as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, are gross of a \$1.2 million allowance for doubtful accounts.

OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, certain dealerships owned by the Partnership purchased vehicles from dealerships owned by an affiliate, GPB Holdings, LP totaling nil and nil, respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, certain dealerships owned by the Partnership purchased vehicles from dealerships owned by an affiliate, GPB Holdings, LP totaling nil and \$0.9 million, respectively.

For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, certain dealerships owned by the Partnership purchased vehicles from a dealership owned by an affiliate, GPB Holdings II, LP totaling \$0.7 million and \$0.3 million, respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, certain dealerships owned by the Partnership purchased vehicles from a dealership owned by an affiliate, GPB Holdings II, LP totaling \$1.4 million and \$1.2 million, respectively.

For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, certain dealerships owned by the Partnership sold vehicles to a dealership owned by GPB Holdings II, LP totaling \$0.3 million and \$0.1 million, respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, certain dealerships owned by the Partnership sold vehicles to a dealership owned by GPB Holdings II, LP totaling \$0.9 million and \$0.4 million, respectively.

For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Partnership made a distribution of redeemable non-controlling interests to be used for tax payments totaling nil and nil, respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Partnership made a distribution of redeemable non-controlling interests totaling \$0.2 million and nil, respectively.

GPB's principals, certain other individuals and entities that have assisted and may in the future assist in our operations are and / or will be members in GPB Auto SLP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the "Special LP"). The Special LP will receive a profit allocation, commonly referred to as "carried interest", from the Partnership in accordance with the waterfall provisions in the LPA. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 there have been no profit allocations allocated to the Special LP.

As compensation for the services to be rendered by Highline, the Partnership pays an operation service provider fee ("OSP") to Highline for an annual amount agreed to by GPB and Highline, subject to the Highline Board's approval, following Highline's delivery of the annual written budget to GPB detailing the fees, costs and expenses that will be incurred by Highline in providing its Services. The Partnership recorded OSP fees as a component of selling, general and administrative expenses in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations of \$1.0 million and \$3.1 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 respectively. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 there were no OSP fees recorded for the Partnership.

From commencement of operations through December 31, 2018, there have been various amendments in the LPA and PPM relating to the redemption terms for Limited Partners. Those changes resulted in differentiated redemption terms and calculations. Following the advice of outside legal counsel, the General Partner made the decision to apply the redemption provision that was most beneficial to the redeeming investors who made a redemption request prior to the suspension of redemptions. This analysis was completed in 2019 and based on the final calculations, if a Limited Partner was originally overpaid, the General Partner will reimburse the Partnership and will not seek to claim those funds back from the Limited Partner. During the period from August 2015 through September 2018, the Partnership overpaid applicable redeeming investors \$0.3 million. The balance

of the receivable from the General Partner was \$0.3 million as of December 31, 2020 and was included as a component of due to related parties in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. In June 2021, the balance was repaid in full.

Guarantees

The member of the General Partner (David Gentile, "Member") provided personal guarantees on certain floorplan and real estate loans prior to 2018. The initial amounts guaranteed totaled \$48.7 million. Pursuant to the PPM, the Member of the General Partner can charge a fee to the Partnership for providing such guarantee services. The guarantee fees payable to the Member of the General Partner was calculated at \$1.0 million based on 1.99% of the amount of the loans initially guaranteed. \$1.0 million was due and payable to the Member of the General Partner which is reflected as a component of due to related parties in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020. The guarantee fees are amortized over the life of the loans. The unamortized portion of the guarantee fee asset of \$0.1 million and \$0.1 million is included as a component of other assets on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.

Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments and Contingencies Commitments and Contingencies

9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2021

11. Commitments and Contingencies

We, our General Partner, and our dealerships are involved in a number of regulatory, litigation, arbitration and other proceedings or investigations many of which exposes us to potential financial loss. We are indemnifying officers, directors and representatives of the dealerships, as well as GPB, its principals, representatives, and affiliates, for any costs they may incur in connection with such disputes as required by various agreements or governing law. This indemnification does not cover any potential future outcomes or settlements that result from these disputes.

We establish reserves or escrows for legal actions when potential losses associated with the actions become probable and the costs can be reasonably estimated. The actual costs of resolving legal actions may be substantially higher or lower than the amounts reserved or placed in escrow for those actions. Distributions may be delayed or withheld until such reserves are no longer needed or the escrow period expires. If liabilities exceed the amounts reserved or placed in escrow, Limited Partners may need to fund the difference by refunding some or all distributions previously received. For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Partnership recorded \$1.7 million and nil of legal indemnification expenses in selling, general and administrative expenses in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Partnership recorded \$3.7 million

and nil of legal indemnification expenses in selling, general and administrative expenses in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations.

With respect to all significant litigation and regulatory matters facing us, our General Partner, and our dealerships, we have considered the likelihood of an adverse outcome. It is possible that we could incur losses pertaining to these matters that may have a material adverse effect on our operational results, financial condition or liquidity in any future reporting period. We understand that the General Partner is currently paying legal costs associated with these actions for itself and certain indemnified parties. The Partnership expects to provide partial reimbursement to the General Partner as required by various agreements or governing law, but the amount is not reasonably estimable at this time.

Regulatory and Governmental Matters

GPB and certain of its principals and affiliates face various regulatory and governmental matters. GPB seeks to comply with all laws, rules, regulations and investigations into any potential or alleged violation of law. In such situations where GPB disagrees with the allegations made against it, GPB intends to vigorously defend itself in court. These matters could have a material adverse effect on GPB and the Partnership's business, acquisitions, or results of operations.

Appointment of Monitor

On February 11, 2021, the EDNY Court, in the SEC Action, appointed Joseph T. Gardemal III as an independent Monitor over GPB (the "Monitor") (the "Order") until further Order of the Court. Pursuant to the Order, Capital Holdings shall (i) grant the Monitor access to all non-privileged books, records and account statements for the GPB-managed Funds, including the Partnership, as well as their portfolio companies, and (ii) cooperate fully with requests by the Monitor reasonably calculated to fulfill the Monitor's duties. As noted below, the Order was amended on April 14, 2021

The Monitor has the authority to approve or disapprove the following actions: (i) any proposed material corporate transactions by Capital Holdings and/or Highline, the GPB-managed funds,

including the Partnership, or the Portfolio Companies (as defined in the Order), or any other proposed material corporate transactions as the Monitor may, in the Monitor's sole discretion, deem appropriate. The Monitor will negotiate a protocol with Capital Holdings for the review of information concerning proposed material transactions; (ii) any extension of credit by Capital Holdings, Highline, the GPB-managed funds, or the Portfolio Companies outside the ordinary course of business, or to a related party, as defined under the federal securities laws. The Monitor will negotiate a protocol with Capital Holdings for the review of information concerning such extensions of credit; (iii) any material change in business strategy by Capital Holdings or any of the GPB-managed funds; (iv) any material change to compensation of any executive officer, affiliate, or party of Capital Holdings or Highline; (v) any retention by Capital Holdings or Highline of any management-level professional or person (with the exception of any professional retained in connection with litigation commenced prior to this Order, over which approval shall not be required), subject to an acceptable procedure agreed to with the Monitor; (vi) any decision to resume distributions to investors in any of the GPB-managed funds, consistent with the investment objectives of the GPB-managed funds; and (vii) any decision to file, or cause to be filed, any bankruptcy or receivership petition for Capital Holdings or Highline, or for the Portfolio Companies.

The Monitor is authorized and empowered to: (i) review the finances and operations of the GPBmanaged funds and, if necessary, individual Portfolio Companies and will negotiate a protocol with Capital Holdings for the review of this information; (ii) review historical corporate transactions by GPB and/or Highline, the GPB-managed funds or the Portfolio Companies, to the extent covered by Capital Holdings' forthcoming audited financial statements and any restatements covered therein, for the purposes of executing the authority discussed above, and consistent with the authority to share any findings, documents, or information with the SEC, provided, however, the Monitor will not interfere with ongoing audits and will negotiate a protocol with Capital Holdings for the review of this information; (iii) review historical compensation of all executive officers or affiliates of Capital Holdings or Highline; (iv) review the retention of all consultants currently retained by Capital Holdings; (v) review audited financial statements of the GPB-managed funds, which Capital Holdings will promptly deliver to the Monitor upon completion; (vi) review the minutes of all meetings of all boards of directors of the Portfolio Companies, Highline, and the GPB-managed funds; (vii) review the status of all litigation involving Capital Holdings or Highline, and the status of any litigation outside the ordinary course of business involving any of the Portfolio Companies; (viii) review any commencement or settlement of any litigation involving Capital Holdings and Highline, and any commencement or settlement of any litigation outside of the ordinary course of business involving any of the Portfolio Companies; (ix) review any material

changes to material leases or real estate holdings, including the signing of any new leases, the termination of leases, material changes to lease terms, or the purchase or sale of any material property by Capital Holdings, Highline, or any of the Portfolio Companies, provided, however, if the material change involves a Capital Holdings, Highline, or Portfolio Company related party or affiliate, the Monitor shall have the power to approve or disapprove of the material change; (x) review insurance policies covering Highline, Capital Holdings, and the GPB-managed funds, as well as affiliates, officers, and directors of such entities; and (xi) review promptly and approve any investor-wide communications intended to be sent by Capital Holdings to investors in the GPB-managed funds.

Within 30 days after the end of each calendar quarter, the Monitor is required to file with the Court under seal or in redacted form to protect sensitive, proprietary information, a full report reflecting (to the best of the Monitor's knowledge as of the period covered by the report) the status of the reviews contemplated in the Order.

The Monitor was required to submit a report to the court within 60 days of his appointment recommending either continuation of the monitorship, converting it to a receivership, and/or filing of bankruptcy petitions for one or more of the various entities. The Monitor submitted this report on April 12, 2021, and recommended continuation of the Monitorship.

On April 14, 2021, the EDNY Court entered an Amended Order, providing that, in addition to the SEC and GPB, certain State regulators will receive access to the periodic reports filed by the Monitor pursuant to the Order.

Federal Matters

On February 4, 2021, the SEC filed a contested civil proceeding against GPB, Ascendant, AAS, David Gentile, Jeffry Schneider and Jeffrey Lash in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of New York (the previously-defined the "EDNY Court" and the "SEC Action"). No GPB-managed partnership was sued. The SEC Action alleges several violations of the federal securities laws, including securities fraud. The SEC is seeking disgorgement and civil monetary penalties, among other remedies.

Also, on February 4, 2021, the USAO brought a criminal indictment against Mr. Gentile, Mr. Schneider, and Mr. Lash (the "Criminal Case"). The indictment in the Criminal Case alleges conspiracy to commit securities fraud, conspiracy to commit wire fraud, and securities fraud against all three individuals. Mr. Gentile and Mr. Lash were also charged with two counts of wire fraud. The USAO intends to seek criminal forfeiture. Mr. Gentile resigned from all management and board positions with GPB, and the GPB-managed funds, including the partnership, and subsidiaries of the partnership, promptly following his indictment.

State Matters

On May 27, 2020, the Massachusetts Securities Division of the Office of the Secretary of the Commonwealth ("Massachusetts") filed an Administrative Complaint against GPB for alleged violations of the Massachusetts Uniform Securities Act. No GPB-managed fund is a named defendant. The Complaint alleges, among other things, that the offering documents for several GPB-managed funds, including the Partnership, included material misstatements or omissions. Massachusetts is seeking both monetary and administrative relief, including disgorgement and rescission to Massachusetts residents who purchased the GPB-managed funds. This matter is currently stayed, pending resolution of the Criminal Case.

On February 4, 2021, seven State securities regulators (from Alabama, Georgia, Illinois, Missouri, New Jersey, New York, and South Carolina, collectively the "States") each filed suit against GPB. No GPB-managed fund is a named defendant in any of the suits. Several of the suits also named Ascendant, AAS, Mr. Gentile, Mr. Schneider, and Mr. Lash as defendants. The States' lawsuits allege, among other things, that the offering documents for several GPB-managed funds, including the Partnership, included material misstatements and omissions. The States are seeking both monetary and administrative relief, including disgorgement and rescission. The cases brought by Alabama, Georgia, Illinois, Missouri, New York, and South Carolina have been stayed pending the conclusion of the related Criminal Case. The State of New Jersey has voluntarily dismissed its case, without prejudice to re-file it following the conclusion of the Criminal Case.

Actions Asserted Against GPB and Others, Not Including the Partnership

Ismo J. Ranssi, derivatively on behalf of Armada Waste Management, LP, v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. (New York County, Case No. 654059/2020)

In August 2020, plaintiffs filed a derivative action against GPB, Ascendant Capital, Ascendant AAS, Axiom, David Gentile, Mark D. Martino, and Jeffry Schneider in New York Supreme Court. The Partnership is not a named defendant. The Complaint alleges, among other things, that the offering documents for certain GPB managed funds include material misstatements and omissions. The plaintiffs are seeking disgorgement, unspecified damages, and other equitable relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Galen G. Miller and E. Ruth Miller, derivatively on behalf of GPB Holdings II, LP, v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. (New York County, Case No. 656982/2019)

In November 2019, plaintiffs filed a derivative action against GPB, Ascendant, AAS, Axiom, Michael Cohn, Steven Frangioni, David Gentile, William Jacoby, Minchung Kgil, Mark D. Martino, and Jeffry Schneider in New York Supreme Court. The Partnership is not a named defendant. The Complaint alleges, among other things, that the offering documents for certain GPB-managed funds include material misstatements and omissions. The plaintiffs are seeking disgorgement, unspecified damages, and other equitable relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Actions Asserted Against GPB and Others, Including the Partnership

For all matters below in which the Partnership is a defendant, we intend to vigorously defend against the allegations, however no assurances can be given that we will be successful in doing so.

Michael Peirce, derivatively on behalf of GPB Automotive Portfolio, LP v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, Ascendant Capital, LLC, Ascendant Alternative Strategies, LLC, Axiom Capital Management, Inc., Steven Frangioni, David Gentile, William Jacoby, Minchung Kgil, Mark D. Martino and Jeffry Schneider, -and- GPB Automotive Portfolio, LP, Nominal Defendant (New York County, Case No. 652858/2020)

In July 2020, plaintiff filed a derivative action in New York Supreme Court against GPB, Ascendant, AAS, Axiom, Steve Frangioni, David Gentile, William Jacoby, Minchung Kgil, Mark Martino, and Jeffry Schneider. The Complaint alleges various breaches of fiduciary duty, aiding and abetting the breaches of fiduciary duty, breach of contract, and unjust enrichment, among other claims. Plaintiffs are seeking declaratory relief and unspecified damages, among other forms of relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Alfredo J. Martinez, et al. v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC (Delaware Chancery Court, Case No. 2019-1005)

In December 2019, plaintiffs filed a civil action in Delaware Court of Chancery to compel inspection books and records from GPB, as general partner, and from the Partnership, GPB Holdings I, GPB Holdings II, and GPB Waste Management. In June 2020, the court dismissed plaintiffs' books and records request, but allowed a contract claim for specific performance to proceed as a plenary action. The plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages and penalties. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Alfredo J. Martinez and HighTower Advisors v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. (Delaware Chancery Court, Case No. 2020-0545)

In July 2020, plaintiff filed a complaint against GPB, Armada Waste Management GP, LLC, Armada Waste Management, LP, the Partnership, GPB Holdings II, LP, and GPB Holdings, LP in the Delaware Court of Chancery to compel inspection of GPB's books and records based upon specious and unsubstantiated allegations regarding GPB's business practices, among other things. The plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages and penalties. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Lance Cotton, Alex Vavas and Eric Molbegat v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, Automile Holdings LLC D/B/A Prime Automotive Group, David Gentile, David Rosenberg, Philip Delzotta, Joseph Delzotta, and any other related entities (Nassau County, Case No. 604943/ 2020)

In May 2020, plaintiffs filed a civil action in New York Supreme Court against GPB, Automile Holdings LLC d/b/a Prime Automotive Group, David Gentile, David Rosenberg, Philip Delzotta, Joseph Delzotta, and any other related entities. The complaint alleges that defendants engaged in systematic fraudulent and discriminatory schemes against customers and engaged in retaliatory actions against plaintiffs, who were employed by Garden City Nissan from August until October 2019. The plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages and penalties. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Monica Ortiz, on behalf of herself and other individuals similarly situated v. GPB Capital Holdings LLC; Automile Holdings, LLC d/b/a Prime Automotive Group; David Gentile; David Rosenberg; Philip Delzotta; Joseph Delzotta; and other affiliated entities and individuals (Nassau County, Case No. 604918/2020)

In May 2020, plaintiffs filed a class action in New York Supreme Court against GPB, Automile Holdings LLC d/b/a Prime Automotive Group, David Gentile, David Rosenberg, Philip Delzotta, Joseph Delzotta, and other affiliated entities and individuals. The Complaint alleges deceptive and misleading business practices of the named Defendants with respect to the marketing, sale, and/ or leasing of automobiles and the financial and credit products related to the same throughout the State of New York. The plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages and penalties. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

In re: GPB Capital Holdings, LLC Litigation (formerly, Adam Younker, Dennis and Cheryl Schneider, Elizabeth Plaza, and Plaza Professional Center Inc. PFT Sharing v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. and Peter G. Golder, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. (New York County, Case No. 157679/2019)

In May 2020, plaintiffs filed a consolidated class action complaint in New York Supreme Court against GPB, GPB Holdings, GPB Holdings II, GPB Holdings III, the Partnership, GPB Cold Storage, GPB Waste Management, David Gentile, Jeffrey Lash, Macrina Kgil, a/k/a Minchung Kgil, William Edward Jacoby, Scott Naugle, Jeffry Schneider, Ascendant Alternative Strategies, Ascendant Capital, and Axiom Capital Management. The Complaint alleges, among other things, that the offering documents for certain GPB-managed funds, include material misstatements and omissions. The plaintiffs are seeking disgorgement, unspecified damages, and other equitable relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Phillip J. Cadez, et al. v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. (Delaware Chancery Court, Case No. 2020-0402)

In May 2020, plaintiffs filed a derivative action in Delaware Court of Chancery against GPB, David Gentile, Jeffrey Lash, and Jeffry Schneider, Defendants, and GPB Holdings I, and the Partnership, as nominal defendants. Previously, plaintiffs had filed a complaint to compel inspection of books and records, which had been dismissed without prejudice.

In the current action, plaintiffs are alleging various breaches of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment, and with regard to GPB, breach of the Partnerships' LPAs. Plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages, declaratory, and equitable relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Jeff Lipman and Carol Lipman, derivatively on behalf of GPB Holdings II and Auto Portfolio v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. (Delaware Chancery Court, Case No. 2020-0054)

In January 2020, plaintiffs filed a derivative action in Delaware Court of Chancery against GPB, David Gentile, Jeffrey Lash, and Jeffry Schneider. The Complaint alleges various breaches of fiduciary duty, fraud, gross negligence, and willful misconduct. The plaintiffs seek unspecified damages among other forms of relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Mary Purcell, et al. v. GPB Holdings II, LP, et al. (Cal. Supreme Court, Orange County, Case No. 30-2019-01115653-CU-FR-CJC)

In December 2019, plaintiffs filed a civil action in Superior Court in Orange County, California against Rodney Potratz, FSC Securities Corporation, GPB Holdings II, the Partnership, GPB, David Gentile, Roger Anscher, William Jacoby, Jeffrey Lash, Ascendant, Trevor Carney, Jeffry Schneider, and DOES 1 - 15, inclusive. The Complaint alleges breach of contract, negligence, fraud and breach of fiduciary duty. Plaintiffs are seeking rescission, unspecified damages, and

other equitable relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Stanley S. and Millicent R. Barasch Trust and Loretta Dehay, individually and on behalf of others similar situated v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. (W.D. Texas, Case No. 19 Civ. 1079)

In November 2019, plaintiffs filed a putative class action in the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas against, certain limited partnerships, including the Partnership, for which GPB is the general partner, AAS, and Ascendant, as well as certain principals of the GPB-managed funds, auditors, a fund administrator, and individuals. (Please note that the original Complaint named Millicent R. Barasch as the plaintiff, but since her death, her trust has successfully moved to substitute for all purposes in this litigation.) The Complaint alleges civil conspiracy, fraud, substantial assistance in the commission of fraud, breach of fiduciary duty, substantial assistance in the breach of fiduciary duty, negligence, and violations of the Texas Securities Act. The plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages, declaratory relief, among other forms of relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Barbara Deluca and Drew R. Naylor, on behalf of themselves and other similarly situated limited partners, v. GPB Automotive Portfolio, LP et al. (S.D.N.Y., Case No. 19-CV-10498)

In November 2019, plaintiffs filed a putative class action complaint in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against GPB, GPB Holdings II, the Partnership, David Gentile, Jeffery Lash, AAS, Axiom, Jeffry Schneider, Mark Martino, and Ascendant. The Complaint alleges, among other things, fraud and material omissions and misrepresentations to induce investment. The plaintiffs are seeking disgorgement, unspecified damages, and other equitable relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Kinnie Ma Individual Retirement Account, et al., individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, v. Ascendant Capital, LLC, et al. (W.D. Texas, Case No. 19-CV-1050)

In October 2019, plaintiffs filed a putative class action in the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas against GPB, certain limited partnerships, including the Partnership, for which GPB is the general partner, AAS, and Ascendant, as well as certain principals of the GPB-managed funds, auditors, broker-dealers, a fund administrator, and other individuals. The Complaint alleges violations of the Texas Securities Act, fraud, substantial assistance in the commission of fraud, breach of fiduciary duty, substantial assistance in breach of fiduciary duty, and negligence. The plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages and certain equitable relief. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

GPB Capital Holdings, LLC et al. v. Patrick Dibre (Nassau County, Case No. 606417/2017)

In July 2017, GPB, the Partnership, GPB Holdings I, GPB Holdings Automotive, LLC, and GPB Portfolio Automotive, LLC filed suit in New York State Supreme Court against Patrick Dibre, one of their former operating partners, for breach of contract and additional claims arising out of the Defendant's sale of certain automobile dealerships to the GPB Plaintiffs. Mr. Dibre answered GPB's Complaint, and asserted counterclaims alleging breach of contract and unjust enrichment.

Both parties are currently engaged in court-supervised mediation and are negotiating a potential partial settlement. However, there can be no assurance that the parties will reach a settlement on any of the issues raised in the litigation. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Concorde Investment Services, LLC v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC, et al. (New York County, Index No. 650928/2021)

In February 2021, Concorde Investment Services, LLC filed suit in New York State Supreme Court against GPB, certain limited partnerships for which GPB is the general partner, and others.

The Complaint alleges breaches of contract, fraudulent inducement, negligence, interference with contract, interference with existing economic relations, interference with prospective economic advantage, indemnity, and declaratory relief, and includes a demand for arbitration. Plaintiff's demands include compensatory damages of at least \$5.0 million and a declaration that Concorde is contractually indemnified by the Defendants.

In October 2021, the Supreme Court ordered the action be stayed so that the Plaintiffs could pursue claims in arbitration. By the same Order, the Court denied the Defendants' motions to dismiss the Complaint. Any potential losses associated with this action cannot be estimated at this time.

Dealership Related Litigation

David Rosenberg, et al. v. GPB Prime Holdings LLC et al. (Case No. 1982CV00925)

In June 2019, the former COO of GPB Prime, David Rosenberg, brought a breach of contract action against GPB Prime and Automile Parent Holdings, LLC in Massachusetts Superior Court. In November 2019, an amended complaint was filed, naming GPB Prime, LLC, Automile Parent Holdings, LLC, Automile Holdings, LLC ("Automile"), Automile TY Holdings, LLC, David Gentile, Jeffrey Lash, Kevin Westfall, Jovan Sijan, James Prestiano, Manuel Vianna, Nico Gutierrez and Michael Frost. The amended complaint alleges breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, breach of fiduciary duty (both direct and derivatively), aiding and abetting the breach of fiduciary duty, fraud, conspiracy, conversion, and equitable relief/specific performance.

Mr. Rosenberg's breach of contract claims relating to his employment agreement with Automile Holdings, LLC were submitted to Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services, Inc. ("JAMS") for binding arbitration.

In November 2021, the parties to both actions involving Mr. Rosenberg agreed to a full and final settlement of the pending litigation and arbitration of \$30.0 million, which resulted in an additional accrual of \$6.0 million recorded in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, to cover the excess over the redeemable non-controlling interest already recorded in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet, and to a full release from any and all pending claims. Upon full execution of the settlement, the parties filed a joint stipulation, dismissing with prejudice the pending litigation in Massachusetts, and withdrawing from the JAMS arbitration.

VWoA v. GPB Capital Holdings, LLC (S.D.N.Y., Case No. 1:20-cv-01043)

On or about February 7, 2020, Volkswagen of America ("VWoA") filed a complaint against GPB in the Southern District of New York.

VWoA seeks declaration that: (a) GPB's change of directors entitles VWoA to the remedies agreed upon by the parties in the Business Relationship Agreement, as Amended ("BRA"), which allegedly includes a requirement for GPB to cause the divestiture of the Volkswagen dealerships owned by the Partnership upon certain events; (b) GPB's removal and/or termination of David Rosenberg is an event under the BRA that enables VWoA to enforce the requirement that the Partnership divest all ownership interests in the dealerships; (c) GPB failed to abide by the BRA's divestiture requirement, thus entitling VWoA to enforce the termination remedy; (d) a declaration that: (1) GPB caused, directed or permitted its dealerships to file the Arbitration Action; (2) the filing of the Arbitration Action is a breach of GPB's covenant not to contest or sue; and (3) VWoA is entitled full enforcement of the BRA, including enforcement of its right to recoup all attorney fees and costs associated with the defense of this proceeding and the Arbitration Action, and that GPB is required to indemnify and hold VWoA harmless from any monetary damages, equitable judgments, or fees and costs resulting from any legal, administrative, or (4) equitable proceeding; (e) judgment awarding VWoA specific performance of the BRA, including ordering GPB to cause the Dealership Agreements for the Prime, Caprara, and Norwood dealerships to be terminated; (f) judgment awarding

VWoA relief from the Arbitration Action, including but not limited to ordering GPB to cause the dealer to dismiss the Arbitration Action with prejudice; and (g) judgment awarding VWoA all of its attorneys' fees and legal costs incurred in this proceeding and also in defense of VWoA's rights regarding the Arbitration Action.

This lawsuit has been amended although it has not been filed against the Volkswagen dealerships owned by the Partnership, and is not a lawsuit against those dealerships to terminate the relevant Volkswagen Franchise Agreements. VWoA has filed this suit to try to avoid arbitration sought by the dealerships, despite VWoA's dealership agreement having provisions to allow a dealer to seek arbitration, and to enforce alleged contract rights against the Partnership. GPB filed an answer generally denying the allegations. The parties are engaged in discovery. The Caprara Volkswagen dealership was sold for commercial reasons unrelated to this litigation in 2020. In April 2020, Saco Auto Holdings VW, LLC d/b/a Prime Volkswagen ("Prime VW"), the entity operating the Volkswagen dealership in Saco, Maine, filed a separate action before the Maine Motor Vehicle Franchise Board protesting VWoA's efforts to cause GPB to divest the Volkswagen dealerships, which would result in the effective termination of that dealership. Consistent with the legal position being taken by GPB in the SDNY case, Prime VW contends that VWoA's attempt to force the divestiture of the dealerships violates state law and Prime VW intends to vigorously contest VWoA's efforts to cause the divestiture of the dealership in Maine's Motor Vehicle Franchise Board. Plaintiffs have not tendered a monetary value on relief sought. GPB believes VWoA's allegations have little to no basis and has been and will continue to vigorously defend itself in this matter. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time. The completion of the pending sale of the business may cause this matter to be dismissed without prejudice.

AMR Auto Holdings – PA, LLC d/b/a Westwood Audi v. Audi of America, Inc., an operating unit of Volkswagen Group of America, Inc. (Dist. of Massachusetts, No. 1:20-cv-10861)

AMR Auto Holdings - PA, LLC (a subsidiary of the Partnership), is a Massachusetts based motor vehicle dealership with a franchise to sell and service new Audi products. This dealership entity is wholly owned by Automile Holdings, LLC. On September 16, 2019, the Board of Managers of Automile Holdings, LLC, terminated its Chief Executive Officer for cause and communicated its action to the various motor vehicle manufacturers and distributors with which it or its subsidiaries have franchises, including Audi of America, Inc. ("AoA"). Certain manufacturers, including AoA, raised concerns that various provisions of underlying agreements had been breached by terminating the CEO without providing prior notice and receiving prior consent from the distributor. On February 5, 2020, AoA sent a notice of termination, seeking to terminate AMR Auto Holdings-PA LLC's franchise agreement. On April 3, 2020, AMR Auto Holdings – PA, LLC, filed a lawsuit in the Superior Court of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, Norfolk County, protesting Audi's notice of termination which, by agreement with Audi, stays termination of the franchise pending resolution of the lawsuit. The case was removed in May 2020 to, and is presently pending in, the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts. As of July 2021, the parties have been engaged in discovery, which they anticipate to continue into 2022. AMR Auto Holdings – PA, LLC, is and will continue to vigorously protest AoA's notice of termination through this litigation. Any potential losses associated with this matter cannot be estimated at this time.

Certain of these outstanding matters include speculative, substantial or indeterminate monetary amounts. We record a liability when we believe that it is probable a loss will be incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. If we determine that a loss is reasonably possible and the loss or range of loss can be estimated, we disclose the reasonably possible loss. We evaluate developments in our legal matters that could affect the amount of liability that has been previously accrued, if any, and the matters and related reasonably possible losses disclosed, and make adjustments as appropriate. Significant judgement is required to determine both the likelihood of there being and the estimated amount of a loss related to such matters. The completion of the pending sale of the business may cause this matter to be dismissed without prejudice. Significant Accounting Policies (Policies) Significant Accounting

9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2021

PPP Loan Forgiveness PP

PPP Loan Forgiveness

In 2020, the Partnership's subsidiaries entered into Paycheck Protection Program loans ("PPP Loans"), for a total initial amount of \$20.0 million across 30 loans. Interest accrues at 1% per annum. Per H.R. 7010, the Paycheck Protection Program Flexibility Act of 2020, all payment of principal, interest, and fees is deferred until the date on which the amount of loan forgiveness, as determined by the SBA, is

remitted to the lender. Twenty-nine loans have been approved for forgiveness in whole or in part. For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, \$0.5 million and nil, respectively, was forgiven and is included in other (expense) income on the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, \$19.8 million and nil, respectively, was forgiven and is included in other (expense) income on the Condensed Consolidated Statement Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Risks and Uncertainties

Policies

Risks and Uncertainties

We are subject to a number of legal proceedings at both the Partnership and dealerships, as described in "Footnote 11. Commitments and Contingencies." While we are vigorously defending our position in these proceedings, there is uncertainty surrounding their related outcomes and timing. The cost to defend and the outcomes of these proceedings could affect the liquidity of the Partnership and the use of available cash, and the assessment of our ability to continue as a going concern.

We purchase substantially all of our new vehicles and inventory from various manufacturers at the prevailing prices charged by auto manufacturers to all franchised dealers. Our new vehicle sales could be impacted by the auto manufacturers' inability or unwillingness to supply dealerships with an adequate supply of popular models. Our concentration of new vehicle sales has not materially changed from the percentages reported for the year ended December 31, 2020.

We depend on our manufacturers to provide a supply of vehicles which supports expected sales levels. In the event that manufacturers are unable to supply the needed level of vehicles, our financial performance may be adversely impacted.

We depend on our manufacturers to deliver high-quality, defect-free vehicles. In the event that manufacturers experience future quality issues, our financial performance may be adversely impacted.

We are subject to a concentration of risk in the event of financial distress, including potential reorganization or bankruptcy, of a major vehicle manufacturer. Our sales volume could be materially adversely impacted by the manufacturers' or distributors' inability to supply the dealerships with an adequate supply of vehicles. We also receive incentives and rebates from our manufacturers, including cash allowances, financing programs, discounts, holdbacks, and other incentives. These incentives are recorded as receivables in our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets until payment is received. Our financial condition could be materially adversely impacted by the manufacturers' or distributors' inability to continue to offer these incentives and rebates at substantially similar terms, or to pay our outstanding receivables.

The Partnership and GPB Prime are party to financing agreements with M&T Bank as part of an eight-member credit syndication, including three manufacturer-affiliated finance companies (the M&T Credit Agreement). These financial institutions provide vehicle financing for new and used vehicles, term loans, mortgage loans and a delayed draw facility. The M&T Credit Agreement is

the primary source of floor plan financing for our new and used vehicle inventory for GPB Prime. The Partnership also relies on its ability to upstream funds from GPB Prime and its other operating subsidiaries to meet its obligations in the normal course of business and also to allocate to other subsidiaries in need.

The term of the M&T Credit Agreement was extended on June 24, 2021 through December 2022 (see also "Footnote 1. Organization, Basis of Presentation, and Liquidity" to these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements), in conjunction with the Eleventh Amendment. Our financial condition could be materially adversely impacted if we are unable to extend or renew the M&T Credit Agreement or reach agreements with other third party lenders to meet some or all of our liquidity needs on terms and conditions that are acceptable to us. Because the term of the M&T Credit Agreement extends beyond the going concern assessment's look-forward period, it alone does not raise substantial doubt about the Partnership's ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, absent any other condition or event, substantial doubt is not raised because it is not probable we will be unable to meet our obligations during the look-forward period. Additionally, our financial condition could be materially adversely impacted if we fail to comply with our contractual covenants. Our lenders could terminate or adversely modify our financing arrangements which could cause us to sell one of our dealerships or group of dealerships below what we perceive to be fair value in an effort to access capital. There can be no assurances that the Partnership and/or GPB Prime will be able to obtain sufficient additional liquidity or renew its debt on terms acceptable to them or us.

We enter into Franchise Agreements with the manufacturers. The Franchise Agreements generally limit the location of the dealership and provide the auto manufacturer approval rights over changes in dealership management and ownership. The auto manufacturers are also entitled to terminate the Franchise Agreement if the dealership is in material breach of the terms. Our ability to expand operations depends, in part, on obtaining consents of the manufacturers for the acquisition of additional dealerships.

We are currently party to litigation with two manufacturers arising from the termination of the former Chief Operating Officer ("Former CEO of Automile") (David Rosenberg) of Automile Parent Holdings, LLC, a dealership group acquired in 2017 with a concentration in the northeastern United States, and have resolved a dispute with a third manufacturer arising from the same termination by divesting two dealerships selling such manufacturer's vehicles and resolved a dispute with a fourth manufacturer by divesting one dealership selling such manufacturer's vehicles. Following the developments on February 4, 2021, including the indictment of the owner and former officer of GPB, the filing by the SEC and other government agencies of litigations against GPB, and the appointment of the Monitor, we received additional termination notices from a manufacturer representing two existing dealerships and two planned new dealerships subject to letters of intent, which were settled and these termination notices were withdrawn. If termination notices are issued by any manufacturer and are not resolved, it could lead to litigation between the affected dealerships and those manufacturers in which our dealerships would protest the terminations under state law. If, as a result of any termination notices, we are required to sell one of our dealerships or group of dealerships, we may be unable to realize what we perceive to be fair value or may be required to dispose of dealerships at depressed prices. The loss of franchise rights due to terminations could also lead to lenders terminating or adversely modifying our financing arrangements, other vendors terminating or adversely modifying business relationships, loss of employees and other adverse results, including on our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and business operations.

The Monitor is required to assess certain aspects of the Partnership's operations and make recommendations to the Court which may include continuation or expansion of the Monitorship, conversion of the Monitorship to a Receivership, and/or filing a bankruptcy petition. The Monitor's initial recommendation and report was filed with the court on April 12, 2021, and the Monitor recommended the monitorship continue for 180 days. On April 12, 2021, the court entered an amended order providing that the Monitor will remain in place until terminated by order of the court, and granting the Monitor the authority to approve or disapprove proposed extensions of credit outside the ordinary course of business, decisions to resume distributions to the limited

partners of the Partnership, or any decision to file any bankruptcy or receiver petition for any of them, among other actions, by GPB, the Partnership or its subsidiaries.

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a "Public Health Emergency of International Concern." The outbreak of COVID-19 has contributed to, and will likely continue to contribute to, volatility in financial markets, including changes in interest rates. Additionally, COVID-19 has posed significant challenges for supply chains globally, affecting automobile inventory shortages in both the new and used markets. COVID-19 and other outbreaks like it have negative impacts on economic fundamentals and consumer confidence, may increase the risk of default of particular dealerships, reduce the availability of debt financing to the Partnership, and potential purchasers of dealerships, negatively impact market values, cause credit spreads to widen, and impair liquidity and capital resources. While the Partnership's operations have rebounded from the 2020 COVID-19 related dealership shutdowns with an increase in revenue and gross profit for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, no assurance can be given as to the effect of these COVID-19 related events on the value of the Partnership's investments in the future. The impact of a public health crisis such as COVID-19 (or any future pandemic, epidemic or other outbreak of a contagious disease) is difficult to predict, which presents material uncertainty and risk with respect to the long-term performance of the Partnership.

Organization, Basis of Presentation, and Liquidity (Tables)

Organization, Basis of Presentation, and Liquidity Schedule of error corrections and prior period

adjustments

9 Months Ended

Sep. 30, 2021

(Dollars in	Three months ended March 31, 2020 As (Increase)		(Increase)	e months ended rch 31, 2020 As
thousands)	Origin	ally Reported	Decrease	 Adjusted
New				
vehicle				
retail				
sales	\$	288,025	\$ 6,522	\$ 281,503
Service,				
body,				
and parts				
sales		80,327	2,055	78,272
Finance				
and				
insurance				
sales		13,603	(7,387)	20,990
Total				
revenues		572,035	1,190	570,845
New				
vehicle				
retail				
cost		268,195	1,190	267,005
Total				
cost of				
sales		482,156	1,190	480,966
Gross				
profit		89,879		89,879

Receivables, Net (Tables)

Receivables, Net

accounts

Schedule of receivables, net of allowance for doubtful Receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts, consisted of the following:

	Sep	September 30,		cember 31,
(Dollars in thousands)		2021		2020
Receivables				
Manufacturer receivables	\$	9,986	\$	22,633
Trade receivables		6,918		9,682
Finance and insurance				
receivables		3,618		5,866
Total		20,522		38,181
Less: Allowance for				
doubtful accounts		(633)		(1,740)
Receivables, net of				
allowance for doubtful				
accounts	\$	19,889	\$	36,441
	-		-	

9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2021

Inventories (Tables)

9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2021

Inventories

Schedule of inventories

Inventories consisted of the following:

	Se	ptember 30,	December 31,
(Dollars in thousands)		2021	2020
Inventories			
New vehicles	\$	35,109	\$ 167,018
Used vehicles		59,215	61,344
Parts and accessories		12,922	10,115
Rental/service loaner			
vehicles, net		21,649	21,639
Total inventories, net	\$	128,895	\$ 260,116

Property and Equipment (Tables)

9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2021

Property and Equipment

Summary of property and equipment Property and equipment consisted of the following:

	September 30,	December 31,
(Dollars in thousands)	2021	2020
Property and Equipment		
Land	\$ 110,275	\$ 121,106
Buildings and improvements	124,556	145,918
Construction in progress	5,196	7,605
Furniture, fixtures and equipment	28,900	27,515
Total	268,927	302,144
Less: Accumulated depreciation	(26,926)	(24,331)
Total property and equipment, net of		
accumulated depreciation	242,001	277,813
Less: property and equipment reclassed to		
assets held for sale	(3,396)	(29,200)
Total	\$ 238,605	\$ 248,613

Assets Held for Sale (Tables)

Assets Held for Sale

Schedule of reconciliation of the major classes of assets classified as held for sale

9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2021

	Sep	tember 30,	Dec	cember 31,
(Dollars in				
thousands)		2021		2020
Assets				
held for				
sale				
Inventories	\$		\$	21,780
Franchise				
rights				23,720
Goodwill				17,559
Property				
and				
equipment		3,396		29,200
Right of				
use assets				2,273
Total				
assets held				
for sale	\$	3,396	\$	94,532
Liabilities				
held for				
sale				
Operating				
lease				
liabilities	\$		\$	(2,340)

Related Party Transactions (Tables)

Related Party Transactions

<u>Schedule of notes payable -</u> related party

9 Months Ended Sep. 30, 2021

(Dollars in thousands)			September 30,	December 31,
Note	Face Value	Maturity Date	2021	2020
AISF Note 5	6,556	12/31/2022	6,556	6,366
AISF Note 6	5,203	12/31/2022	5,126	5,039
AISF Note 7	3,272	4/24/2023	2,985	2,871
DSR Note	652	6/30/2019	962	903
Total			15,629	15,179
Less: current portion			962	(12,308)
Total Notes payable				
- related party, net of				
current portion			\$ 14,667	\$ 2,871

Organization, Basis of Presentation, and Liquidity (Details) \$ in Thousands	Sep. 12, 2021 USD (\$)	Sep. 30, 2021 USD (\$)	Feb. 04, 2021 item	Dec. 31, 2020 USD (\$)	Sep. 30, 2020 USD (\$)	Dec. 31, 2019 USD (\$)	Jun. 14, 2019 USD (\$)	Sep. 21, 2018 USD (\$)
Restricted cash				\$ 105,000				
Cash and restricted cash		\$ 162,477		135,412	\$ 153,897	\$ 67,686	<u>,</u>	
Cash available to satisfy general obligations of the Partnership		5,700		3,500				
Cash				\$ 26,900				
Restrictions on additional acquisitions amount under the amendment agreement							\$ 2,000	\$ 2,000
Maximum amount of restricted cash entitled for distribution		\$ 10,000						
Purchase Agreement with Group 1 Automotive, Inc.								
Cash purchase price	\$ 880,000)						
Restricted cash	\$ 45,000							
Percentage of purchase price released to the seller with in the 12 months from the closing of the transaction	50.00%							
Period for release of remaining amount to seller from the closing of the transaction	24 months							
Mr. Gentile and Mr. Lash Number of counts of wire fraud charged item			2					

Organization, Basis of Presentation, and Liquidity -	3 N	Ionths E	nded	9 Montl	ns Ended
Error Correction (Details) - USD (\$) \$ in Thousands	Sep. 30 2021	, Sep. 30 2020	, Mar. 31, 2020	, Sep. 30, 2021	Sep. 30, 2020
Revenues:	\$	¢		¢	¢
<u>Gross profit</u>		\$ 120,343		\$ 297,918	\$ 200.067
Classification error between revenue and cost categories	104,557	120,343		297,910	290,907
Revenues:					
			\$		
<u>Total revenues</u>			љ 570,845		
<u>Cost of sales</u>			480,966		
Gross profit			480,900		
			89,879		
Originally Reported Classification error between revenue and cost categories					
Revenues:					
			572 025		
<u>Total revenues</u> Cost of sales			572,035		
			482,156		
<u>Gross profit</u> (Income) Decrease Classification error between record			89,879		
(Increase) Decrease Classification error between revenue and cost categories					
Revenues:					
Total revenues			1,190		
Cost of sales			1,190		
New vehicle retail Classification error between revenue and cost			1,190		
categories					
Revenues:					
Total revenues			281,503		
New vehicle retail Originally Reported Classification error			201,505		
between revenue and cost categories					
Revenues:					
Total revenues			288,025		
New vehicle retail (Increase) Decrease Classification error			200,025		
between revenue and cost categories					
Revenues:					
Total revenues			6,522		
Service, body, and parts Classification error between revenue and	1		0,022		
cost categories	<u></u>				
Revenues:					
Total revenues			78,272		
Service, body, and parts Originally Reported Classification erro	r				
between revenue and cost categories	_				
Revenues:					
<u>Total revenues</u>			80,327		

Service, body, and parts (Increase) Decrease Classification error	
between revenue and cost categories	
Revenues:	
Total revenues	2,055
Finance and insurance Classification error between revenue and	
cost categories	
Revenues:	
Total revenues	20,990
Finance and insurance Originally Reported Classification error	
between revenue and cost categories	
Revenues:	
Total revenues	13,603
Finance and insurance (Increase) Decrease Classification error	
between revenue and cost categories	
Revenues:	
Total revenues	(7,387)
New vehicle retail cost Classification error between revenue and	
cost categories	
Revenues:	
Cost of sales	267,005
New vehicle retail cost Originally Reported Classification error	
between revenue and cost categories	
Revenues:	
Cost of sales	268,195
New vehicle retail cost (Increase) Decrease Classification error	
between revenue and cost categories	
Revenues:	
Cost of sales	\$ 1,190

				3 Months Ended		onths ded	12 Months Ended	
Significant Accounting Policies (Details) \$ in Millions	Apr. 12, 2021	Feb. 04, 2021 item	Sep. 30, 2021 USD (\$)	Sep. 30, 2020 USD (\$)	Sep. 30, 2021 item USD (\$)	Sep. 30, 2020 USD (\$)	Dec. 31, 2020 USD (\$) loan	
<u>Debt Instrument [Line Items]</u>								
Litigation with number of manufacturers					2			
Number of dealerships sold for resolving the					2			
dispute with third manufacturer					2			
Number of dealerships sold for resolving the					1			
dispute with fourth manufacturer					1			
Number of existing dealerships for which		2						
additional termination notices received		2						
Number of planned new dealerships for which		2						
additional termination notices received		2						
Number of days recommended by the monitor to	180							
continue monitorship	days							
PPP Loan								
<u>Debt Instrument [Line Items]</u>								
Initial amount \$							\$ 20.0	
Number of loans loan							30	
Interest rate							1.00%	
Number of loans approved for forgiveness loan							29	
Amount forgiven, included in other (expense) income \$			0.5	0.0	19.8	0.0		

Dispositions (Details) - USD		Montl	9 Months Ended			
(\$) \$ in Thousands	May 31, 2021	Apr. 30, 2021	31,	Sep. 30, 2020	30,	Sep. 30, 2020
Income Statement, Balance Sheet and Additional Disclosures by Disposal Groups, Including Discontinued Operations [Line Items]						
Net proceeds					\$	\$
Recognized net gain (loss) on disposal					48,138 \$ 3,877	\$
Disposal Group, Not Discontinued Operations Real Estate						
Income Statement, Balance Sheet and Additional Disclosures by Disposal Groups, Including Discontinued Operations [Line						
<u>Items</u>						
<u>Net proceeds</u>			\$ 2,900			
Disposal Group, Not Discontinued Operations Prime Toyota Boston	L		_,, ,, ,,			
Real Estate						
Income Statement, Balance Sheet and Additional Disclosures by Disposal Groups, Including Discontinued Operations [Line						
<u>Items</u>]	÷.					
<u>Net proceeds</u>	\$ 16,100					
Disposal Group, Not Discontinued Operations Hyannis Toyota						
Income Statement, Balance Sheet and Additional Disclosures by						
Disposal Groups, Including Discontinued Operations [Line						
<u>Items</u>]			22 000			
Net proceeds			23,800			
Recognized net gain (loss) on disposal			700			
Disposal Group, Not Discontinued Operations Orleans Toyota Real Estate						
Income Statement, Balance Sheet and Additional Disclosures by						
Disposal Groups, Including Discontinued Operations [Line						
<u>Items</u>						
Net proceeds			16,600			
Recognized net gain (loss) on disposal			1,400			
Disposal Group, Not Discontinued Operations Kenny Ross Auto						
Group Member						
Income Statement, Balance Sheet and Additional Disclosures by						
Disposal Groups, Including Discontinued Operations [Line						
Items]				¢		
<u>Net proceeds</u>				\$ 16,700)	
				10,700	,	

Recognized net gain (loss) on disposal Disposal Group, Not Discontinued Operations Kenny Ross Auto		2,300
<u>Group Member Real Estate</u> Income Statement, Balance Sheet and Additional Disclosures by		
Disposal Groups, Including Discontinued Operations [Line		
Items]		
Net proceeds	\$	
	11,800	
Disposal Group, Not Discontinued Operations Kenny Ross Auto		
Group Member Real Estate Kenny Ross Auto Group		
Income Statement, Balance Sheet and Additional Disclosures by		
Disposal Groups, Including Discontinued Operations [Line		
Items]		22 (00
Net proceeds		23,600 300
Recognized net gain (loss) on disposal		300
Disposal Group, Disposed of by Sale, Not Discontinued Operations Real Estate		
Income Statement, Balance Sheet and Additional Disclosures by		
Disposal Groups, Including Discontinued Operations [Line		
Items]		
Recognized net gain (loss) on disposal		100
Disposal Group, Disposed of by Sale, Not Discontinued Operations		
Real Estate FX Caprara Capstone Automotive Group, LLC		
Income Statement, Balance Sheet and Additional Disclosures by		
Disposal Groups, Including Discontinued Operations [Line		
<u>Items</u>]		
Net proceeds		5,600
Recognized net gain (loss) on disposal		800
Disposal Group, Disposed of by Sale, Not Discontinued Operations		
Prime Chevrolet Hyannis and Prime Subaru Hyannis		
Income Statement, Balance Sheet and Additional Disclosures by Disposal Crowns, Including Discontinued Operations II inc		
Disposal Groups, Including Discontinued Operations [Line Items]		
Net proceeds	6,600	
Recognized net gain (loss) on disposal	600	
Disposal Group, Disposed of by Sale, Not Discontinued Operations	000	
Prime Toyota Boston		
Income Statement, Balance Sheet and Additional Disclosures by		
Disposal Groups, Including Discontinued Operations [Line		
<u>Items]</u>		
Net proceeds		10,300
Recognized net gain (loss) on disposal	e e	\$ 400
Disposal Group, Disposed of by Sale, Not Discontinued Operations		
Prime Toyota Boston Real Estate		

Income Statement, Balance Sheet and Additional Disclosures by		
Disposal Groups, Including Discontinued Operations [Line		
<u>Items</u>]		
Recognized net gain (loss) on disposal	\$	
	4,000	
Disposal Group, Disposed of by Sale, Not Discontinued Operations	L	
FX Caprara Capstone Automotive Group, LLC		
Income Statement, Balance Sheet and Additional Disclosures by		
Disposal Groups, Including Discontinued Operations [Line		
<u>Items</u>		
Net proceeds		1,600
Recognized net gain (loss) on disposal		\$ 800
Disposal Group, Disposed of by Sale, Not Discontinued Operations	L	
Kenny Ross Auto Group Member Real Estate		
Income Statement, Balance Sheet and Additional Disclosures by		
Disposal Groups, Including Discontinued Operations [Line		
<u>Items</u>]		
Recognized net gain (loss) on disposal	\$ 500	0

Receivables, Net (Details) -USD (\$)

Sep. 30, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020

\$ in Thousands

Accounts, Notes, Loans and Financing Receivable [Line Items]						
Total	\$ 20,522	\$ 38,181				
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts	(633)	(1,740)				
Receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts	19,889	36,441				
Manufacturer receivables						
Accounts, Notes, Loans and Financing Receivable [Line Items	<u>s</u>]					
Total	9,986	22,633				
Trade receivables						
Accounts, Notes, Loans and Financing Receivable [Line Items	5]					
Total	6,918	9,682				
Finance and insurance receivables						
Accounts, Notes, Loans and Financing Receivable [Line Items	<u>5</u>]					
Total	\$ 3,618	\$ 5,866				

Inventories (Details) - USD (\$)	Sep. 30, 2021	Dec. 31, 2020
\$ in Thousands		
<u>Inventories</u>		
New vehicles	\$ 35,109	\$ 167,018
Used vehicles	59,215	61,344
Parts and accessories	12,922	10,115
Rental/service loaner vehicles, ne	<u>t</u> 21,649	21,639
Total inventories, net	\$ 128,895	\$ 260,116

Inventories - Additional Information (Details) - USD (\$) \$ in Thousands	Sep. 30, 202	1 Dec. 31, 2020
Inventories		
Inventory re-classified into assets held for sal	<u>e</u> \$0	\$ 21,800

Property and Equipment (Details) - USD (\$) \$ in Thousands

Sep. 30, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020

Property, Plant and Equipment [Line Items]

<u>rroperty, r lant and Equipment [Entertents]</u>		
Total	\$ 268,927	\$ 302,144
Less: Accumulated depreciation	(26,926)	(24,331)
Total property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation	242,001	277,813
Less: property and equipment reclassed to assets held for sale	(3,396)	(29,200)
Property and equipment, net	238,605	248,613
Land		
Property, Plant and Equipment [Line Items]		
Total	110,275	121,106
Buildings and improvements		
Property, Plant and Equipment [Line Items]		
Total	124,556	145,918
Construction in progress		
Property, Plant and Equipment [Line Items]		
Total	5,196	7,605
Furniture, fixtures and equipment		
Property, Plant and Equipment [Line Items]		
Total	\$ 28,900	\$ 27,515

Property and Equipment -		1 Mont		9 Months Ended		
Additional Information (Details) - USD (\$) \$ in Thousands	May 31, 2021	Apr. 30, 2021	Mar. 31, 2021	Sep. 30, 2020	Sep. 30, 2021	Sep. 30, 2020
Long Lived Assets Held-for-sale [Line Items]						
Net proceeds					\$	\$
Descentional and a single set and imposed					-	30,331
Recognized net gain (loss) on disposal Disposal Group, Not Discontinued Operations Real Estate					\$ 3,877	\$ (357)
Long Lived Assets Held-for-sale [Line Items]						
Net proceeds			\$ 2,900			
Disposal Group, Not Discontinued Operations Prime Toyota			+ _,			
Boston Real Estate						
Long Lived Assets Held-for-sale [Line Items]						
<u>Net proceeds</u>	\$					
	16,100					
Disposal Group, Not Discontinued Operations Kenny Ross						
<u>Auto Group Member</u> Long Lived Assets Held-for-sale [Line Items]						
Net proceeds				\$		
<u>iver proceeds</u>				[†] 16,700		
Recognized net gain (loss) on disposal				\$ 2,300		
Disposal Group, Not Discontinued Operations Kenny Ross						
Auto Group Member Real Estate						
Long Lived Assets Held-for-sale [Line Items]						
<u>Net proceeds</u>		\$				
Discuss I Course Discuss 1 of the Gala Net Discussion of		11,800				
Disposal Group, Disposed of by Sale, Not Discontinued Operations Real Estate						
Long Lived Assets Held-for-sale [Line Items]						
Recognized net gain (loss) on disposal			100			
Disposal Group, Disposed of by Sale, Not Discontinued						
Operations Prime Toyota Boston						
Long Lived Assets Held-for-sale [Line Items]						
Net proceeds			10,300			
Recognized net gain (loss) on disposal			\$ 400			
Disposal Group, Disposed of by Sale, Not Discontinued						
Operations Prime Toyota Boston Real Estate						
Long Lived Assets Held-for-sale [Line Items] Recognized net gain (loss) on disposal	\$ 4,000					
Disposal Group, Disposed of by Sale, Not Discontinued	\$ 4,000					
Operations Kenny Ross Auto Group Member Real Estate						
Long Lived Assets Held-for-sale [Line Items]						
Recognized net gain (loss) on disposal		\$ 500				

Goodwill and Franchise Rights (Details) - USD (\$) \$ in Thousands	Sep. 30, 202	21 Dec. 31, 2020
Goodwill and Franchise Right	<u>ts</u>	
<u>Goodwill</u>	\$ 142,065	\$ 142,065
Franchise rights	\$ 126,100	\$ 126,100

Assets Held for Sale (Details)) 3 Mor	ths Ended	9 Mon	ths Ended	
- USD (\$) \$ in Thousands	Sep. 30, 20	21 Sep. 30, 20	20 Sep. 30, 202	21 Sep. 30, 202	20 Dec. 31, 2020
Assets Held for Sale					
Asset impairment charges	\$ 0	\$ 0	\$ 867	\$ 0	
Assets held for sale					
<u>Inventories</u>					\$ 21,780
Franchise rights					23,720
<u>Goodwill</u>					17,559
Property and equipment	3,396		3,396		29,200
Right of use assets					2,273
Total assets held for sale	\$ 3,396		\$ 3,396		94,532
Liabilities held for sale					
Operating lease liabilities					\$ (2,340)

	1	1 Months I	Ended	3 Month	s Ended	9 Month	s Ended	12	2 Months En	ded			
Related Party Transactions (Details)	Oct. 31, 2017 USD (\$)	Aug. 31, 2016 USD (\$)	Oct. 31, 2015 USD (\$)	Sep. 30, 2021 USD (\$)	Sep. 30, 2020 USD (\$)	2021	Sep. 30, 2020 USD (\$)	Dec. 31, 2019 USD (\$) item	Dec. 31, 2017 USD (\$) item	Dec. 31, 2016 USD (\$) item	2020	09,	Dec. 31, 2014 USD (\$)
Related Party Transactions											¢		
<u>Convertible loan to related</u> party				\$ 4,929,00	0	\$ 4,929,000	0				\$ 4,943,000)	
Due to related parties				3,973,000		3,973,000					2,471,000)	
Legal expenses Interest expense to related				1,700,000		3,700,000							
parties				744,000	1,195,00	02,208,000	4,738,000						
Amortization of debt issuance <u>costs</u>						1,418,000	1,075,000						
<u>GPB Holdings II, LP</u> <u>Related Party Transactions</u>													
Interest rate	12.00%												
Proceeds from related party loan	\$ 700,000												
Notes payable including	700,000			\$		\$							
<u>accrued interest to related</u> party				1,000,000.	0	[‡] 1,000,000.0	0				900,000		
AISF Note 5 and AISF Note 6													
[Member] Related Party Transactions													
Interest rate				12.50%		12.50%							
Managerial Assistance Fees													
Related Party Transactions Percentage of management													
assistance fees payable in						2.00%							
advance for class A and B units													
Percentage of management assistance fees payable in						1.75%							
advance for Class A1 and B1 Units						1.7570							
Related party expenses				\$ 3,200,00	03,200,00	0\$9,700,000	09,700,000						
Partnership Expenses													
Related Party Transactions Related party expenses				2,800,000	300,000	5,500,000	1,600,000						
Due to related parties				1,200,000	,	1,200,000					700,000		
Transactions with Former Members and Manager													
Related Party Transactions													
<u>Convertible loan to related</u> party													\$ 10,800,000
Interest rate												8.00%	
Due to related parties Legal expenses				800,000 \$ 0.0	0.0	800,000 \$ 0.0	100,000				700,000		
Transactions with Former				\$ 0.0	0.0	\$ 0.0	100,000						
Members and Manager Patrick Dibre Former													
Manager													
Related Party Transactions Percentage of ownership													
interest held by the related													15.00%
<u>party</u> Notes payable to related													
parties													
Related Party Transactions			13.50%	8.75%		8.75%							
<u>Interest rate</u> Debt issuance costs		\$	15.50%	8./370		8.7370							
		3,400,000											
Gain or loss on modification of the existing debt		0											
Capitalized debt issuance costs	5	2,100,000											
Maturity term of AISF Note Interest expense to related						4 years							
parties				\$ 400,000	900,000	\$ 1,100,000	03,100,000						

Amortization of debt issuance costs		0.0	\$ 500,000 400,000	\$ 1,600,000)		
Accrued interest payable to		\$ 100,000	\$ 100,000				\$ 100,000
<u>related party</u> Notes payable to related							
parties GPB Borrower LLC							
Related Party Transactions							
Proceeds from related party	\$						
loan	12,000,000	.0			¢ (00 000		
<u>Debt issuance costs</u> Number of loan agreements					\$ 600,000		
entered item					1		
Face Value					\$		
					3,300,000		
Notes payable to related							
parties AISF Note 1 [Member]							
Related Party Transactions							
Principal balance of related	15 400 000						
party debt	15,400,000						
Capitalized debt issuance costs	\$						
NT / 11 / 1 / 1	2,100,000						
Notes payable to related parties AISF Note 2, AISF							
Note 3 and AISF Note 4							
[Member]							
Related Party Transactions							
Debt issuance costs						\$ 2,900,000)
Number of loan agreements entered item						3	
Face Value						\$	
						18,000,000	.0
Notes payable to related							
parties AISF Note 5 and							
AISF Note 6 [Member] Related Party Transactions							
Debt issuance costs					\$		
					2,000,0	00.0	
Number of loan agreements					2		
entered item							
Face Value					\$ 11,800,9	000	
					11,000,	000	

Related Party Transactions - Related party notes payable (Details) - USD (\$) \$ in Thousands	Apr. 24, 2023	Nov. 30, 2021	Sep. 30, 2021	May 01, 2021	Dec. 31, 2020	Jun. 30, 2019
Related Party Transaction [Line Items]						
Total			\$ 15,629		\$ 15,179	
Less: current portion			962		(12,308)	
<u>Total Notes payable - related party, net of</u> <u>current portion</u>			14,667		2,871	
AISF Note 7						
<u>Related Party Transaction [Line Items]</u>						
Face Value	\$ 3,272		2,985		2,871	
AISF Note 6						
Related Party Transaction [Line Items]						
Face Value		\$ 5,203	5,126		5,039	
AISF Note 5						
<u>Related Party Transaction [Line Items]</u>						
Face Value			6,556	\$ 6,556	6,366	
DSR Note						
Related Party Transaction [Line Items]						
Face Value			\$ 962		\$ 903	\$ 652

Dalada Danda Turuna di ma	2 Months Ended		nths En	ded	9 Mo	onths End	ed	12 Months Ended	24 Months Ended	
Related Party Transactions - Other related party transactions (Details)	Sep. 30, 2015 USD (\$)	Sep. 30, 2021 USD (\$)	Sep. 30, 2020 USD (\$)	Dec. 31, 2015 USD (\$)	Sep. 30, 2021 USD (\$)	Sep. 30, 2020 USD (\$)	2018	Dec. 31, 2020 USD (\$)	Dec. 31, 2017 USD (\$)	Jun. 30, 2021 USD (\$)
Related Party Transaction										
[Line Items]										
Allowance for doubtful								\$ 1,200,000)	\$
accounts								¢ 1, <u> </u>		1,200,000
Due from Related Parties,		\$ 4,929,000)		\$ 4,929,000)		4,943,000		
<u>Current</u>		2 072 000			2 072 000			2 471 000		
Due to related parties		3,973,000			3,973,000			2,471,000		
Other related party transactions										
Related Party Transaction										
[Line Items]										
Distribution of redeemable		0	.		• • • • • • •	.				
non-controlling interests		0	\$ 0		200,000	\$ 0				
Profit allocations allocated to		0	0		0	0				
the Special LP						0				
Operation service provider fee		1,000,000.0)		3,100,000					
Amount overpaid to applicable	-			\$			\$	_	\$	
redeeming investors	300,000)		300,000)		300,000)	300,000)
Amount underpaid to	\$)		\$,		\$		\$)
applicable redeeming investors Due from Related Parties,	300,000)		300,000)		300,000)	300,000)
Current								300,000		
GPB Holdings										
Related Party Transaction										
[Line Items]										
Due from affiliate companies		1,500,000			1,500,000			1,400,000		
GPB Holdings Other related					, ,					
party transactions										
Related Party Transaction										
[Line Items]										
Amount of vehicles purchased					0	900,000		0		
from related party					•	,				
<u>GPB Holdings II, LP Other</u>										
related party transactions Related Party Transaction										
[Line Items]										
Amount of vehicles purchased										
from related party		700,000	300,000)	1,400,000	1,200,000)			
Amount of vehicles sold to		200.000	\$		000 000	¢ 400.000				
related party		300,000	100,000)	900,000	\$ 400,000	J			
David Gentile										
Related Party Transaction										
[Line Items]										
Initial amount guaranteed		48,700,000			48,700,000					

Guarantee fee payable	1,000,000.0	\$ 1,000,000.0	1,000,000.0
Percentage on initially guaranteed amount as a fee		1.99	
<u>Unamortized portion of</u> guarantee fee	\$ 100,000	\$ 100,000	\$ 100,000

Commitments and			onths ded	3 Months Ended	9 Months Ended	
Contingencies (Details) \$ in Millions		Nov. 30, 2021 USD (\$)	Feb. 28, 2021 USD (\$)	Sep. 30, 2021 USD (\$)	Sep. 30, 2021 USD (\$)	Feb. 04, 2021 item
Loss Contingencies [Line Items]						
Indemnification expenses			\$ 5.0			
<u>Threshold number of days for filing report by the monitor</u> to the court after the end of each calendar quarter					30 days	
Threshold number of days to submit the report to the court					60 days	
after the appointment of the monitor					00 days	
Number of days recommended by the monitor to continue	180					
monitorship	days					
Mr. Gentile and Mr. Lash						
Loss Contingencies [Line Items]						
Number of counts of wire fraud charged item						2
David Rosenberg (former COO)						
Loss Contingencies [Line Items]						
additional accrual expenses				\$ 6.0	\$ 6.0	
David Rosenberg (former COO) Subsequent event						
Loss Contingencies [Line Items]						
Settlement amount for pending litigation and arbitration		\$ 30.0				

 $\label{eq:second} \begin{array}{c} u_{\rm second} \\ & = {\rm encoded} ({\rm Second} ($ h Hanner (1997) Hanner (1997) Hanner (1997) Hanner (1997) Hanner (1997) Pania²
 Parameter () Pa , mail * Lamant * Lamant * Caracter * Tangan
 Tangan

 $\label{eq:2.1} \begin{array}{l} & \mbox{Prime}^{\rm Prime}^{\rm Prim}^{\rm Prime}^{\rm Prime}^{\rm Prime}^{\rm Prime}^{\rm Prime}^$ The second secon $\label{eq:constraints} \begin{array}{l} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1}$ set state statestta I Index (- Table - T International Control of Statistical Statistics and Statistics * and ' "Analog".
* The page of the set of t Tennio
 Canadari Manadali Malakari, Suri, J., Malak, ang ang antara manakari makani maka

Yang, Yang, Y. Yan Telephanet (* 1 Sector Fig., Frank, Frank, Frank, F., Antonio and Anton
 Yeards

 Backarn + respectively limited

 Yes
 Yes</td Yan'i Yan'a Yan'i Yangari yi kathologi gaartaatii kath'i Yang aga reegari yi kathologi gaartaatii kathologi ya Yan'i Yan'i Yan'i Yan'i te Thereasters (Th) Martin () Martin (

*sustaint's "Anima" (Symposities") - Maint's (Youngounget's "Animatics of the second s Martin Y, Ma Testing's
 International and the second Barray C. J. S. Sandara and S. S. Sandara and Sand "August / august
 Yession
 Yession

 Yession
 < ¹ Journal M. Marinano, Vandanish Manakano, Nananish Marinano, Katakano Katakano, Katakano Katakano, Katakano Katakano, Nananish Marina, Katakano Katakano Katakano Katakano Katakano, Nananish Marinano, Katakano Katakano, Katakano Katakano, Nananish Marinano, Katakano Katakano, Nananish Marinano, Katakano Katakano, Nananish Marinano,
 Total
 <t "Band" "Concerner", "Sector (2016), Sector (2016), Zummer Andersonnen
 Zummer Andersonne Martin () Barton S. S. Santa S. Sant * August Constrainty - Marcal Science (Constraint), Scienc I Martin () Martin (
 Procession
 Procession

 Description
 Procession

 Procession
 Procession
 le meneration (meneration) (men The second secon * Margin Standard T. Standard S. M. S. Margine and M. S. Margin l Martin (M Parality of the second s

A contrast of the contrast of $Large_{-1}$ (Muset = 1 , Harney L. Tender L. "Anomaly and the second second second second second second "Anomaly Control of Mathematical Second Second Control of Patients' Additional Additional Social Second Control of Patients' Additional Additional Social Second Seco Annotation ** "Include the additional additionadditional additionadditional additional additional additional control to the second sec / interview management of a status and (a) and a set of the set of th Lampin 1 Products 1 "Product Limburger and the setting follow the report as specified "Second Second Sec

imp": { "Anima": { "Anima": { "Animatication": Penninent Fing Shart in tena when the regionment in "Animatic": "Animatic tengongs" } Annow Santan, S. Martin, S. Mar Constraints of the state of th set*i (transitions*i) "state") (satism") Perpresents the information pertaining to an "satel") Fermi none (* A constraint of the second sec ¹ Particular 1. ¹ States - Marco 1¹ ¹ ¹ Southeast², ¹ Second trajectory is a strategistic

)) Construction of the second seco "manifer" - Li (a) - Li (b) - Li (any) ("min") (" A second / Constraints and an an an an analysis of the second secon The second secon $\frac{1}{2}$. The second Pauliper n.e. Pauliper A.e. Paulin Mathematical Sciences of sectoralization of sectoralistic Pauline (Pauline) (Pauline angel (Menale) (Menales) (Menalestation²) Mappanets information particles to model measure (Manalest Menalement (Menalement)) manufacture processing of the second se () στηματή - Prasilish, Tenting () Tenting () Tenting () - Paraly () - Male, restriction intrinsics for another of industrialistic forgions by the - Paraly () - Male, restriction intrinsics business forgionalist() - Paraly () - Male, restriction intrinsics business forgionalist() - Paraly () - Male, restriction intrinsics business forgionalist() - Paraly () - Male, restriction intrinsics business forgionalist() - Paraly () - Male, restriction intrinsics business forgionalist() - Paraly () - Pa The second secon A constraints of the second se A sector of the secto n men and a second I consistent a final sector and the Automation of the second second

Internet "Internet Responses" Internet "Internet Responses in the Internet Response in the Inte laner mann,

)) Contrast of the second s $\label{eq:constraint} \begin{array}{c} \mbox{constraint} \$ Long and the second secon A second Support 1.13 Support 1.14 Support 1 Suppo Northern Franklin', Health Totallin', Health (Health) Health) Health (Health) Health) Health) Health (Health) Healt The second of the second secon) Partiel Manin's Party's (Party)s (Party's (Party's (Party)s (Pa I concernent of the second sec

12122-1212-12122

1 Tonicana - Nangari antinina antina antina antina anti-Yana - Yangari ya kata antina antina antina di antina ya Yangari ya Kata antina antina di Antoni ya Yangari ya Kata antina ya

1 Manchanger, "Managerial Status on a consequences," Manchanger, "Managerial Status on a series and managerial Managerial Status on a series and managerial series and a series of the Managerial Status on a series and managerial Managerial Status on a series and series of the Managerial Status on a series of the series of the Managerial Status on a series of the series of the Managerial Status of the series of the series of the Managerial Status of the series of the series of the Managerial Status of the series of the series of the Managerial Status of the series of the series of the series of the Managerial Status of the series of the series of the series of the Managerial Status of the series of the series of the series of the series of the Managerial Status of the series of the series of the series of the series of the Managerial Status of the series of the series of the series of the series of the Managerial Status of the series of the series of the series of the series of the Managerial Status of the series of the series of the series of the series of the Managerial Status of the series of the series of the series of the series of the Managerial Status of the series of the Managerial Status of the series of the series

1 Andreas and P. Margaring and Antonio Sciences and Antonio Sciences Manager A. Margaring and Antonio Sciences a

1 2 Mandowski – Manazaria Jakoba Jakoba Mandowski – Manazaria Jakoba Mangola Jakoba Mango

$$\label{eq:second} \begin{split} & \int_{-\infty}^{1} S_{22}(x_{22},x_{23},x_$$

| Charlowski', "Announced and the second se

1000 -

Construction S.¹. "Analysis of the polynomial and adaption is a research construct in construct of polynomial and adaption of polynomial and adaption of the polynomial and adaption polynomial and adaption of the polynomial and adaption of the polynomial and adaption of polynomial and adaption of the polynomial adaption of the polynomial adaption of the polynomial and adaption of the polynomial adaptiop

ening": ["Notion": ["Notion": Notion": "Represents notion of loans.", "Notion": Notion", Notion", "Notion": Notion: A Notion",

y ¹ Romanna V., ¹mantana Ganagparantina margina ana "y Nana V. 2004 (Spanna), ang Salahan Shiri, ¹Panga Shiri ang Panghang ang Salahan ang Salahan (Spanna), ang Salahan (

 $\tau=1$, ($\tau=1$ -momentum τ sparsing lass limitivist halt-formula that are not part of a "half-1" sparsing has shall been with formula, we next of signal analy conserve τ "measure" measurements (

$\mbox{"subsystem} \{ | j \}_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \\ \mbox{"space"} \\ \mbox{"space"} \{ | j \}_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \\ \mbox{"space"} \\ \mbox$

The second secon

enfs (more) (more

"manging" is in a "state", 'state", "state", 'state", "state", 'state", "state", "state",

A monocord and a mono

I construction of the second s

*magnity is a frame, is a second of the second of the second of the frame, is a second of the second of the second of the framework is a second of the second of the second of the second of the "second of the second of the second of the second of the second of the "second of the second of the

Constraints of the second second

num" i (Mananatanin' "Ma persentapi of mempiane antistates dan popula in attante der time all and di tella "Anazi" / Neuroinpi of manpanet antistates dan popula in denne der time si and si mino". "Manata" / Neuroinpi of manpanet antistates dan popula in denne der time all and si mino".

(apr) 1 (apr) 1 (apr) 1 (apr) 2 (apr) 2 (apr) 4 (ap

Termination of the second seco

Construction of the second secon

 Theorem (* 1, 1)
 Yangari (* 1, 2)
 Yangari (* 1, 2)

- magnet'' i Li - Magnet'' i Li - Magnet'' - Magnet

Posin's ("Assumption's Pagement the information participant to po-"state": Postham Agramma with strong Landsmood, no. 7 (1) Page 7 default appropriate and page 2 default appropriate additional to a transmission of the transmi And A sector (
 And A s -Ranger's Lo. States', Manach, States', Marcol J. Ma , constrainty constrainty (reaction) (r (and), Samaray, Samaray 1 Manaray 1 Manaray 1 Manaray 1, Jonaton and apply of two parts, hald/formalis that are bet part of a single manaray. Napole the base status and a single formalis, the sum of singless using, non-sety, - manifold (Section 2) (Section 2). entry (insure) ('man') Manufacture') Mappagenesis information partaining to service, body, and parts. Natalit' "Service, body, and parts". I an annue and annue a γ¹ Theoremistration of the statement into the statement into the statement into the statement is the statement in the statement is the sta $\frac{1}{2}$. The second second

12122-1212-12122

Training Training

A contrast of the second second paper tableaters (contrast of the second second paper tableaters) response to the second seco

Project Technical and the first international association and association Technical association and association and association "processing", the first "processing", the first processing of the first processing association and the social devices that association to the first processing of the first processing association and the social devices that association the first processing of the first processing association and the social devices that association the first processing of the first processing association and the social devices that association and the social technical association association and the first processing association and the social devices that association technical association association association association and the social devices the

, segna () Second () Marchen () March

"parameter (* - Son page, Label internetions), (*) (

Chapter Control C

17110 - 1711-

¹ Source and the probability of the second sec

The second secon A second ""sim" "Interface of the second seco interactions = final a statistic matrix = f $\label{eq:second} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} 1 \\ maximum (t, t, maximum (t, t, max)) \\ maximum (t, t, max) \\ max \\ ma$ * spin

Sectional Y States (Section Section 2014) Section Y States (Section 2014) and page (Section 2014) Section 2014 (Section 2014) Section 2014

Haningan Homourynamgar Ir Naciag Jackschaltspinslamatraryingsl

 Accurate a second Henner", I. Manufall, M. Markan, M. Hand, and Kash Anglonderne, and reals and reals applicable "bash", "study, real-specialization, particular, particular, and applicable applicable and manufalling and particular particular, and applicable applicable and applicable applicable particular, and applicable applicable applicable applicable "memory applicable", "memory applicable applicable applicable "memory applicable", "memory applicable applicable applicable "memory applicable", "memory applicable applicable applicable applicable applicable applicable applicable "memory applicable", "memory applicable applicable applicable applicable applicable applicable "memory applicable", "memory applicable "memory applicable", "memory applicable appl $\label{eq:constraint} \left(\begin{array}{c} & \mbox{ are set as set as set as a set of the set of th$ Hall Marcan II Marca International Control of Control ______ Table and sourceparately for the second source of the second sour The second secon $\label{eq:second-seco$ The second secon Construction of the second secon $L_{\rm exp(r)}$ ($P_{\rm exp(r)}$) $P_{\rm exp(r)}$ ($L_{\rm exp(r)}$) $R_{\rm exp(r)}$ ($R_{\rm exp(r)}$) $R_{\rm exp(r)}$ ($R_{\rm exp(r)}$) $R_{\rm exp(r)}$) $R_{\rm exp(r)}$ ($R_{\rm exp(r)}$) $R_{\rm exp(r)}$ ($R_{\rm exp(r)}$) $R_{\rm exp(r)}$) $R_{\rm exp(r)}$ ($R_{\rm exp(r)}$) $R_{\rm exp(r)}$) $R_{\rm exp(r)}$ ($R_{\rm exp(r)}$) $R_{\rm exp(r)}$) $R_{\rm exp(r)}$ ($R_{\rm exp(r)}$) $R_{\rm exp(r)}$) $R_{\rm exp(r)}$ ($R_{\rm exp(r)}$) $R_{\rm exp(r)}$) $R_{\rm exp(r)}$) $R_{\rm exp(r)}$ ($R_{\rm exp(r)}$) $R_$

1907 1907 1909 1909
Nang Nang Nang Nang
Naming Naming Naming (
¹ ¹ ¹ ¹ ¹ ¹ ¹ ¹
Term Term Term Market Start 1 Term Term Term Market Term Term Term Term Term Term Term Term
Youngstrongel, Youngs, Hou consistent and antibiation, and a fair insures rates. Includes, but one instruction, particular data insures rates. Includes, but one instruction, particular data insures rates. In Particular Vision and International Internationae Internationae Interna
2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
δύντρος - δύντρος - παρεχαρισμότιστη (- τομος - προγραφικό - το τη
nor Manian M. 1 Mania J. Mariana M. Mariana Matana Matana Matana Matana Matana Maria Maria Mana Matana Matan Matana Matana
Tampin La Campin La Campin La Campin La Campin La
You's (in proceeding) the general of appendix to the network period that referre the allowers of the net of heights assess rule the assess' sublic lines. Include production sizes dependences y the second of the period of the second seco
2 Ver Teilen Stear Ste
Sample* S
University of the second secon
Angenita Santa Carlo Car Carlo Carlo Car Carlo Carlo
Markan 1 Marka 1 Marka 7 Magazinan 4
Sec. Sec. Sec. Sec. Sec. Sec. Sec. S
****** [] Construction** y dispute (spin functional), Construction*** y dispute (spin functional), Construction************************************
Nanga ¹ , "Anagangga" In ang Angangganggangangangangganggangganggangg
The second s
Newsensories, "Negati pop dar be her her d. holise Republic functions of particular," Negati "Negati biog states, the Schemater and Apartment", Negati "Negati biog states, the Schemater and Apartment",
Van (gen) - Manager Marken - Ma Marken - Marken - Ma Kantan - Marken - Ma Kantan - Marken - M
Manufactoria Manuf
¹ ¹ ¹ ¹ ¹ ¹ ¹ ¹
Marger's Manager's Marger
¹ ¹ ¹ ¹ ¹ ¹ ¹ ¹
n en
Starsylt Starsylt Starsylt Starsylt<
Anno (anno parales) des la desemperativa de la desemperativa de la desemperativa de la desemperativa desemper
사이지 있다. 사이지 사이지 사이지 사이지 사이지 사이지 사이지 사이지 사이지 사이지
Figure Values', Figure V Figure 1 Figure 1
Parameter Mar Etha Etha Etha Etha Etha Etha Etha Etha
Nak (Jan 1) Nak (Jan 2) Nak (Jan 2) Nak (Jan 2)
NA ² Security 1 Secur
amper and Search and Search and Search and S
Nation Nation National National Natio National National National National National Natio National National Nati
Yanzi''' Yanzi''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''
Angol (group and visc) main consolicitation representational content or a state of the state of

*mojetty 1.6 () *motety 5.6 (*motety 5.6 (

1 Container 1 - Principal and a set of professional set of the se

) maps - inte) and - inter-Standy - inter-Standy - inter-Standy - inter-- Standy - Standy - Standy of pairs (inter) on saids or Mappeal of assatta, include - Standy - Standy - Standy (pairs) inter-- Standy - Standy

"Ballet" I II.0 "Second Provided" Second P. Second P. Second P. "Second P.

) - Constraints¹, "Annual III", - Support (Section 2019), and a section 2019 and a se

The second se

"Samp" | "Anam" | "Anam" | "Anam" | "Anam" | Neuroint' Meinimum af information data a Alapsani group, torining, but is not initial or, a diaron "Anam" | Meinim" | Neuroint and a second data data and generations (Meinim").

The second secon

constant particular
 constant
 constant particular
 constant particular
 constant par

Tangent i.i.i. a maximum and Alatta termination of the second se The second secon $^{\rm Margerry}_{\rm Margerry}$ is a $^{\rm Margerry}_{\rm Margerry}$, $^{\rm Margerry}_{\rm Margerry}$, $^{\rm Margerry}_{\rm Margerry}$, $^{\rm Margerry}_{\rm Margerry}$, $^{\rm Margerry}_{\rm Margerry}$, and search relationships and search relationships and search relationships and search relation of the search Marchard Strategies and Marchard Strategi Pauggers 1.5 Martin V. Maaka Martin J. Ma I and the same of
 Target,

 Antipe

 Antipe
 <) Venetic Vasaloty Venetic I V nonen Santa eta este el la construcción de la cons "Maight", 1.0 (2007). "Analos", "Staff", (2007). "Staf

Paralogget - Names approximpted In-Designed parallelities (* 1) Paralog (* 1) // initiality * mail initiality *
// mail init - August () a group program and a group of the second seco Account of the second s The second secon The second of the second secon

noninent¹¹, "comparementation are set σ¹, "consistent", "comparementation are set of the set of the second set of the "comparement of the set of the set of the set of the "comparement of the set of the

// impact of the second s "mapper" 1: 1 1: March 1
$$\label{eq:constraints} \begin{split} & (\mbox{traints}) = (\m$$
Face", 1 Name", 1 "Mean status, 1 "Mean status, 1997, "Ma amine alarianses for sharps in arranging prioriple, melaka, het "Adal?" "Automating status, and enables a arrange in a arrange prioriple, melaka, het "Adal?", "Automating mean defendence processing mixing and arrange in a status priori and a status and a status of processing mixing and a status of pro-physical status and a status of processing manufactures and a status of pro-physical status of the status of processing manufactures and a status of pro-physical status of the status of processing manufactures and a status of pro-physical status of the status of processing manufactures and a status of pro-sent status of the status of the status of processing manufactures and pro-sent status of the status of the status of the status of pro-sent status of the status of) maps to a second seco

 $\label{eq:second} \begin{array}{c} & \ldots \\ & \ldots \\$) Poster's "Master's Paramet's ("Master's ("Masteriation") Parametelly meaning one "Masteriation" (Parametelly meaning approach "Masteriation") "Parametelly approach "Masteriation" (Parametelly approach) "August" (s.) * ** "sea", "reaction," "sea", "seators," "august (s.) **) martin (n. 1997) Yanger (n. 1997) Yang - Sangers, Alas Mangers, Maans, Mangers, I Mangers, I Mangers, I Mangers, I Mangers, I Mangers, Manger The second langt" (*min") *min": " *min": "Automaticalise": "Automaticalise by type or class of permat's capital account. *mant': "Automaticalise": "permaticalise (permaticalise). neueri ('min') ('Anonenenenen') Popital accounts of auch type of class of partner. Mampias of ('Nabal') 'Pustmar Type of Partners' registal account, mass (Ionain)*)

1 Manadaman Manadamangka Miry Manadaman Manadamangka Mirkonsko Kiry Manadaman Manadaman Mirkonsko Karaka Manadaman Manadaman Manadaman Mirkonsko Karaka Manadaman Manadaman Mirkonsko Karaka Manadaman Manadaman Mirkonsko Karaka Manadaman erszere (*) szere (*) szer nome" ('mine" ('Anomaterian'') "estal distributions to anti-class of partners (i.e., protein, limited ant prof 'Another 'express' exploit across, scientifications', 'superscheduly' 'exercises:esta' ¹⁰ March 1 Marchine Lawrence, "Amount of partners," registal partners, and strain partners, "partners, "partners," registal, toristic partners, metriconals on successful and partners, "partners," registant, metric and partners," "partners, and partners, and partners, and partners, "partners, and partners, and partners," optical and partners, "partners, partners, partners, and partners, pa Year, Year Year, Year Year, Y. S. Sanakar, Year, Y. S. Sanakar, Year, Y. S. Sanakar, Sanakar, S. Sanakar, S. Sanakar, S. Sanakar, S. Sanakar, S 1 Δ contains and the second state of the second state balance and the second state the second state of the second state o - Manarit, s. 1 Marine Manari, S. 1 - Manarit, S. 1 - Manarita, S. 1 - Manarit, S. 1 - Manarit, S. 1 -"near", "Anna's, Sanger, I. "Annaer', I. "Nearastation": "Ma such infine from a long-near in "Nearastation": "Monomale from minute horsy mint", "Nearastation": "Monomale from minute horsy mint", "Nearastation": "Monomale from minute party long". *maint [] *anameteristic*/ who consultances profits or loss for the period, and of income tesses, *anameteristic resultance income provide metricontals to measured ling torouver *anamatal*/ *any losses (losser);

1 γματαί ματά τη ποροχορηγεία καταιδημό (μημοτορηγεία κατά τη τη προστή τη ποροχή τη ποροχορηγεία κατά παραγορηγεία το το τους τη προστή τη ποροχή τη ποροχορηγεία τη ποροχορη τη ποροχορη τη ποροχή τη τη προστή τη ποροχή τη ποροχορη τη ποροχή τη ποροχή τη ποροχή τη τη ποροχή τη ποροχη τη ποροχή τη ποροχή τη ποροχή τη ποροχή τη ποροχή τη ποροχη τη πο ing": 1 Martin | main states Teach states T 1 Construction 1, receptor prior to construct a protocol to construct a record of the construction of the Manari (Manari) "Anomination": Mushiat distinguna dipipiral assess and in "Anomin" managery, tian ant spiper finit marking, "anaminati": Manary of property as apopean" Langer, J. Measurer, S. Measurer, S. Measurer, S. Manager, Manager, Measurer, and Anna, Land. Supersymmetry and An Manager, Manag langto (Testino") (Testino") (Testino") (Testinoing arrange Testino") (Testinoing (Testino)) (1 Inninan*i *meninahianhernari*j Nami*i Nenger/Main.org/nengagi/i Namirga*i *nengerangga* [1] Constanting T, Marine Marrier, province of Konstanting T, Security T, Kerney J, Vanning J, Sang J, Sali Karlin K, Sali Y, The method Security J. Marrier J. (1) Security J. (2) Security S land"s (Manual's ("estate") (Manual's Manual States Annual States (Manual's Manual States (Manual's Manual States (Manual's Manual States (Manual)) $\label{eq:second} \begin{array}{c} & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & &$ Longer, | Monica's | Monica's (Longer), Monicardine by type of solarat party. Holosal partias | National Monicard Harry (Dock)* And a set of the set o

"Product" Product P

1 The Second Sec

lang** () "Anna" ()

The second set of the second se

Testar Testar

(any): (Youky): (Youky): (Youky): (Youky): (Youkuka of sometray, means of the surgicy assess as of the balant Youky): (Youkuka of sometray, means (Youky): (Youkuka of sometray); (Youky): (You

, must have been been as a set of the set of

angho (Natario) Talaini (Natarianianini) Natarianana ad information aloon phy Natarianini Nonparty, Plant and Repiptent (Nataria) -

Langung et al. The stranges of the strangest s

(a)(*) [] (*)(*)(*) [*decomposition** **ma series stationers for all significant armosting policies of the reporting antity.* *adars** **mightisant Annumentag Policies (Next Monie).* *manamal** **mightisant Annumentag Ministar*

*security: *security () *procession and () *security , Carlon Marcano, Mar Marcin, San Markin, Carlon Markin, San Marki)¹ Consistence¹, ⁴ Processor of Proceedings of Social Social Society of Years of Social Socia Nationgan Anningsangan Despacy charges manager National Control (Nati instyle (Messark (Messark ("Messark inste Messarking against the "Messark instead of the Messark (Mess $\label{eq:constraints} \begin{array}{c} & -\mathcal{A}^{(0)}_{i}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r},$ imp": { "anne": { "minit": { "minit": { "minit": ministration": Person that annexed after the balance "ministration": "ministration": "gas [consist]" . contrast contras // control in the second Internet 1 Network 1 Netwo Telling and the second s